
  

CALL TO ORDER 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

GUESTS 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

COMMUNICATIONS 

1. I & M - Notice of Hearing April 27, 2023 

2. I & M Notice of Hearing May 10 2023 @ 9:30am 

3. Michigan State Police - News Release HazMat Teams 

4. Van Buren County Road Commission - News Release Work Zone Safety 

5. Area Agency on Aging Event May 24, 10am 

6. Hartford Council For Recreation Meeting Minutes - 2023 March 

REPORT OF OFFICERS BOARDS & COMMITTEES 

Police & Ordinance 

7. HPD 2023 March 

Fire Department 

8. HFD - Board 

9. HFD - 2023March - Chief 

Ambulance 

10. AMB - 2023March 

Van Buren County 

11. VBC - December 2022 Winter Storm Report 

Public Works 

 

City of Hartford 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan 

Commission Business Meeting Agenda 
Monday, April 24, 2023 at 7:30 PM 

 

1



 
 

12. DPW - 2023 March 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 

13. WWTP - 2023April 

Treasurers, Investment & List of Bills 

14. List of Bills - 2023 April 24 

City Manager 

15. CM - 2023 April 14 - Weekly Update 

16. PZ - 2023April10 

APPROVAL OF COMMISSION MINUTES 

17. 2023 March 27 Business Meeting 

18. 2023 April 4 Special Meeting 

19. 2023 April 5 Special Joint Meeting 

20. 2023 April 11 Special Business Meeting 

APPROVAL OF REPORTS 

GOALS/OBJECTIVES 

21. SWOT Analysis - Strengths 

OLD BUSINESS 

22. Streetscape - USDA RDBG - Request to Amend 

23. Employee Handbook - Update 

24. Application for Special Use Engagement at 301 Bowie Street 

25. Request for Proposals - Recreational Marihuana Licenses 

26. Procurement Policy  

27. Fee Schedule - Committee Report 

NEW BUSINESS 

28. Set Public Hearing Date June 13, 2023 - Sewer Rate's 

29. Set Public Hearing Date June 13, 2023 - Water Rate's 

30. Ely Park Request Special Event - Picnic in the Park with Police & Fire June 2, 2023 

2



 
 

31. Consider - Med Leaf Commercial adult Use Recreational Marihuana Facility Provisioning/Retail 

Center Renewal Application 

32. 2023/2024 Preliminary Budget - Discussion 

33. Planning Commission Compliance 

34. City Manager Review/Goals 

INTRODUCTION OF RESOLUTIONS OR AMENDMENTS 

35. 2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 94 Soil, Waste & 

Fill Material Section 94.05 Permit Fee  

36. 2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 150 Buildings & 

Building Regulations Section 150.52 Fees  

37. 2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Chapter 52 Sewer Use Ordinance  

38. 2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Code of Ordinances Anti Blight Ordinance 304-

07  

39. 2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 52 Sewers Section 

52.08 Rates & Charges  

40. 2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Ordinance no. 314-17 Permit & Regulate 

Mobile Food Vehicle Vendors  

41. 2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Proposed Ordinance No. 323-2023 To Establish A Code of 

Conduct & Ethics 

42. 2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Proposed Ordinance No. 322-2023 To Require Liquor Licenses 

& Permits  

43. 1st Reading - Proposed Amendment Chapter 151.290 Planning Commission Transfer of Zoning 

Power  

ADJOURNMENT 

3



4

Item 1.



5

Item 1.



6

Item 2.



7

Item 2.



1

Roxann Isbrecht

From: Michigan State Police <MichStatePolice@govsubscriptions.michigan.gov>
Sent: Monday, April 17, 2023 2:48 PM
To: Roxann Isbrecht
Subject: News Release: Michigan HazMat Teams Prepare for Hazardous Material Threats

 

Michigan HazMat Teams Prepare for Hazardous Material 
Threats 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE:                                                                          April 17, 2023 

LANSING, MICH. To learn how to better prepare for chemical disasters, hazmat teams from across 
the state are assembling with local emergency managers and other first responders for the second 
annual Michigan State Police (MSP) Michigan HazMat Responder Conference at Crystal Mountain 
Resort in Thompsonville, from April 17 – 19.   

“Dealing with hazardous materials is a dangerous job,” said Capt. Kevin Sweeney, deputy state 
director of Emergency Management and commander of the MSP/Emergency Management and 
Homeland Security Division (EMHSD). “Our goal in bringing these teams together is to enhance 
capabilities across the state to respond effectively and safely to all 
hazmat incidents.”                                                                                                                       

The need for HazMat team training and coordination was demonstrated on a large scale in Michigan’s 
Upper Peninsula last fall. On Oct. 6, 2022, an industrial fire sparked at a paper plant and a neighboring 
warehouse on the Menominee River in the city of Menominee. Multiple local teams worked together 
to successfully contain toxic chemicals, protect the local drinking water supply, and keep residents 
informed.  

“Responding to railroad incidents is an important topic this year,” Captain Sweeney said. “There is no 
doubt that rail safety and the ability to respond to hazmat situations involving trains are at the forefront 
for us now and will continue to be well into the future.” 

The MSP offers resources and training through the Emergency Management and Homeland Security 
Training Center located in Dimondale, Mich. Its programs focus on hazardous materials response, 
offering classroom and hands-on training for first responders and the private sector. This conference 
is designed to be an extension of the training center. 

For more information on how to prepare before, during, and after an emergency or disaster, visit 
www.michigan.gov/miready or follow MSP/EMHSD on Twitter at @MichEMHS. 

### 

8

Item 3.



2

The Michigan State Police, Emergency Management and Homeland Security Division is responsible 
for coordinating state and federal resources to assist local government in response and relief activities 
in the event of an emergency or disaster, as well as coordinating homeland security initiatives and 
various federal grants. 

FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: 

Lauren Thompson-Phillips, MSP/EMHSD Public Information Officer, 517-216-0103 

Note: The conference runs from 8 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., April 17-19. Media is invited to attend but are 
encouraged to RSVP to Wendy Galbreath, 517-449-8956 

  

 NR-007 HazMat Conference.pdf 

 

     

  

SUBSCRIBER SERVICES: 
Manage Your Preferences  |  Unsubscribe |  Help | Contact Us |  www.michigan.gov/msp  

  

This email was sent to cityclerk@cityofhartfordmi.org using GovDelivery Communications Cloud on behalf of: Michigan State Police · P.O. Box 30634 · 
Lansing, MI 48909  
 

 

9

Item 3.



VAN BUREN COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION

NEWS RELEASE

BETTER HIGHWAYS: SAVE LIVES, SAVE TIME, SAVE MONEY
_________________________________________________________________________________
 Lawrence, Michigan    2023-06_________________________________________________________________________________
DATE:   April 18, 2023 CONTACT: Bret Witkowski, Managing Director

Van Buren County Road Commission
RELEASE: Immediately 325 W. James St., Post Office Box 156

Lawrence, Michigan 49064
PHONE: (269) 674-8011

WORK ZONE SAFETY IS A TOP OF MIND PRIORITY
AS ROAD CONSTRUCTION SEASON BEGINS

Orange barrels, cones and signs are popping up across the state like flowers in springtime signaling the start of a
new construction season.  For Michigan drivers, orange cones are a signal to be extra cautious when navigating
work zones.  Patience can run thin, or drivers can be tempted by distractions, but both can lead to crashes, injuries
and deaths for road workers and motorists.  In fact, most people killed in work zones are motorists!

For the Van Buren County Road Commission, work zone safety is a major concern.  “It only takes a split second of
distraction to change lives forever,” said Bret Witkowski, Managing Director of the Van Buren County Road
Commission. “When approaching a work zone, motorists should always slow down, follow posted signs, be alert,
and remain calm.  Risky driving behavior affects more than just the driver - everyone’s lives and families are at
stake.”

“We can fix our roads and bridges safely if we all work together,” added Bret Witkowski.  “Work zone safety begins
with workers who are dedicated to safety.  If we all work together, we can achieve zero deaths on our roads and
work zones!”

When driving through work zones, even the smallest mistake can be deadly.  These simple tips could save your life
in a work zone:

C Expect Changes - Work zone speed limits are usually reduced.  Traffic lanes may change, and workers,
vehicles or equipment may enter the traffic lane unexpectedly.

C Minimize Distractions - Don’t use cell phones or engage in distracting activities.  Lives are at stake.
C Obey Workers and Signs - Road crews know what is best for moving traffic safety.  Follow all signs and

instructions to merge, slow down or stop.
C Don’t Speed or Tailgate - Fines double for speeding in a Michigan work zone.  Slow down!  Keep a safe

distance between you and the vehicle ahead of you.
C Pay Attention - Vehicles may slow, stop, or change lanes unexpectedly.  Watch for brake lights and be

prepared to react to traffic.
C Be Patient and Calm - Work zones are a necessary step to improve our roads and make your future drive

better!

Work Zones need everyone’s undivided attention.  Watch for our Road Commission crews, and  private sector
employees.  “You Play a Role in Work Zone Safety.  Work with Us.”

VAN BUREN COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION
BW/jb 10

Item 4.



11

Item 5.



 HARTFORD     COUNCIL     FOR     RECREATION 
 PO     BOX     332,     HARTFORD,     MI     49057 

 www.hartfordrecreation.org 

 INTERLOCAL     BOARD     OF     COMMISSIONERS     &     HARTFORD     COUNCIL     FOR 
 RECREATION 

 Thursday,     March     16,     2023 
 7:00     PM     Hartford     High     School     Library 

 THE     BOARD     MEETS     THE     3RD     THURSDAY     OF     THE     MONTH 

 7:05     Meeting     called     to     order 

 Present:     Jason     May,     Joe     Morsaw,     Bianca     Deckard,     Megan     Mireles,     Sandy     Barchett,     Andy     Bachman 

 Absent:     Rick     Hall 

 Public     present:     Angela     Glover,     Craig     Moore,     Hannah     Moore,     Nicole     Sewell,     Neil     and     Kailee     Friday,     Michelle 
 Mattimore,     Krystin     Rhinehart,     Veronica     Wolf,     Jesus     and     Amber     Guajardo,     Lindsey     Weeden,     Brad     Geesaman. 

 Approved     February     Minutes: 
 Motion:     Joe     Morsaw 
 Second:     Megan     Mireles 
 4-0 

 Status     of     contract     workers     and     positions: 
 A.     Jeff     Christner     will     be     back     as     our     Park     Director     for     2023 
 B.     Kellan     Nichols     will     be     back     as     head     umpire     along     with     Jerrod     Birmele. 
 C.     Concessions-     Fishes     not     interested,     Angela     Glover     expressed     interest.     Motion     for     vote:     Megan,     Second     Joe.     All 
 in     favor     4-0. 

 Honor     accounts     set     up.     Will     close     Huntington     after     online     sign     ups     close     and     Janell     can     meet     Bianca     there. 

 Budget:     Honor     accounts     only 
 Concession     account:     $1,400.00 
 League     of     Miracles:     $256.40 
 General     Fund:     $4,599.00 

 Bills     to     pay:     Water,     Electric,     Boys     Bball     jerseys,     trophies     for     boys     and     girls     basketball. 

 To     add:     Concession     profit     and     sign     ups 

 Audit-     2019-     completed 

 Baseball/softball: 
 213     Registered     participants 
 Need     to     order     balls. 

12

Item 6.



 Online     spirit     wear     store     being     set     up     by     Hannah     Moore     going     until     April     9th. 
 Indoor     clinics     set     for     March     18th     and     25th. 
 Practices     starting     April     10th     for     baseball     and     April     11th     for     softball. 
 Lindsy     Morsaw     willing     to     order     jerseys     for     us     again     this     year. 
 Picture     day     is     set     for     April     25th     and     April     26th. 
 Popcorn     fundraiser     headed     up     by     Bianca     Deckard. 

 Season     going     5/1/23-6/14/23 
 Football/cheer:     out     of     season,     revisit     in     spring     to     set     sign     up     days     and     prices. 
 7     new     Helmets     came     in. 

 Basketball: 
 Girls-Award     night     to     come. 
 Boys-Awards     night     to     come. 

 League     of     Miracles     update:     Fundraiser     at     Coloma     Lanes,     March     18     from     1:30-5:30. 
 Need     practice     times     and     games     for     spring     baseball     season 

 Old     Business- 
 Clinics     for     coaches     and     umps 
 Set     a     meeting     day     in     stone     for     2023 
 AED-     signed     up     to     receive     one. 
 501(c)3-     progress,     we     have     an     EIN 
 Sponsorships 

 Mr.     Geesaman     gave     update     that     clubhouse     is     included     in     the     facilities     assessment     as     it     is     need     of     a     new     roof. 
 Report     coming. 
 New     Business- 
 Renaming     of     the     park 
 Logo     restructuring 
 Bulletin     board     on     concessions 
 Communication     specialist:     Neil     Friday 
 Clean     up     day     April     15     at     11:00 

 Public     comments:     ideas     for     more     open     communication     with     coaches     and     parents. 

 Next     meeting-     April     20,     2023     at     7:30pm     at     Indian     Pride     Park 

 Meeting     Adjourned-     8:20     4-0 

13

Item 6.



14

Item 7.



15

Item 8.



16

Item 8.



17

Item 8.



18

Item 8.



19

Item 8.



20

Item 8.



21

Item 8.



22

Item 8.



23

Item 8.



24

Item 8.



25

Item 8.



26

Item 8.



27

Item 8.



28

Item 8.



29

Item 8.



30

Item 8.



31

Item 8.



32

Item 8.



33

Item 8.



34

Item 8.



35

Item 8.



36

Item 8.



37

Item 8.



38

Item 8.



39

Item 8.



40

Item 8.



Hartford, MI
This report was generated on 4/3/2023 9:54:08 AM

Hartford Fire Department

Incident Type Count per Zone for Date Range

Start Date: 03/01/2023 | End Date: 03/31/2023

ZONES INCIDENT TYPE COUNT

 Hartford Township - Hartford

143 - Grass fire 1

311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 4

321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 12

324 - Motor vehicle accident with no injuries. 1

442 - Overheated motor 1

444 - Power line down 1

500 - Service Call, other 1

611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 1

Total Incidents for  Hartford Township - Hartford: 22

Bangor Township - Bangor

111 - Building fire 1

311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 1

Total Incidents for Bangor Township - Bangor: 2

Covert - Covert

321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 1

Total Incidents for Covert - Covert: 1

Hartford City - Hartford

311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 9

321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 11

353 - Removal of victim(s) from stalled elevator 1

Doc Id: 1404
emergencyreporting.com

Zone information is defined on the Basic Info 3 screen of an incident.
 Only REVIEWED incidents included.

Page # 1 of 2
41

Item 9.



ZONES INCIDENT TYPE COUNT

412 - Gas leak (natural gas or LPG) 2

500 - Service Call, other 1

554 - Assist invalid 1

611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 2

735 - Alarm system sounded due to malfunction 1

Total Incidents for Hartford City - Hartford: 28

Highway - I 94

611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 1

Total Incidents for Highway - I 94: 1

Red Arrow Highway - Red Arrow Highway

311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 1

Total Incidents for Red Arrow Highway - Red Arrow Highway: 1

Total Count for all Zone: 55

Doc Id: 1404
emergencyreporting.com

Zone information is defined on the Basic Info 3 screen of an incident.
 Only REVIEWED incidents included.

Page # 2 of 2
42

Item 9.



Hartford, MI
This report was generated on 4/3/2023 9:56:38 AM

Hartford Fire Department

Incident Count per User-Defined Fields for Date Range

ANSWERS # INCIDENTS

USER-DEFINED FIELD: Dispatch Priority (Required)
1 28

2 18

3 9

USER-DEFINED FIELD: Lift Assist (Required)
No 49

Yes 6

Start Date: 03/01/2023 | End Date: 03/31/2023

Doc Id: 805
emergencyreporting.com

Only User-Defined values selected in the CUSTOM field of an incident Included.  Only REVIEWED incidents included 
in count.

Page # 1 of 1
43

Item 9.



Hartford, MI
This report was generated on 4/3/2023 9:53:01 AM

Hartford Fire Department

Response Percentage per Station per Personnel for Incident Types for Personnel
Personnel: All Personnel | Incident Type(s): All Incident Types | Start Date: 03/01/2023 | End Date: 03/31/2023

Personnel Calls Attended % of Calls for
Selected Incident Types

Station: Hartford Fire Department

 Fry, Steven 9 16.4%

 McGrew, Kevin 47 85.5%

 VanDeWiele, Cary 3 5.5%

Bodary, Brandon 22 40.0%

Eastman , Scott 7 12.7%

Flemming, Lisa 2 3.6%

Harting, Robbie 17 30.9%

Hunt, Cole 8 14.5%

Reed , Kevin 1 1.8%

Roberts, Khelun 12 21.8%

Sharpe, Ian 7 12.7%

Weberg , Scott 11 20.0%

Total Incidents for Station Hartford Fire Department 55

Total Incidents for all Stations 55

Doc Id: 1620
emergencyreporting.com

Displays the number and percentage of Incidents attended by each Personnel for each Station in the agency over 
the selected Date Range.  Only Reviewed incidents are included.

Page # 1 of 1
44

Item 9.



Hartford, MI
This report was generated on 4/3/2023 9:55:55 AM

Hartford Fire Department

Incidents per Hour for Incident Type Range for Date Range

HOUR # of CALLS
00:00 - 00:59 2

01:00 - 01:59 1

02:00 - 02:59 2

03:00 - 03:59 1

04:00 - 04:59 2

05:00 - 05:59 1

06:00 - 06:59 1

07:00 - 07:59 1

08:00 - 08:59 5

09:00 - 09:59 4

10:00 - 10:59 4

11:00 - 11:59 2

12:00 - 12:59 1

13:00 - 13:59 2

14:00 - 14:59 4

15:00 - 15:59 1

17:00 - 17:59 3

18:00 - 18:59 4

19:00 - 19:59 5

20:00 - 20:59 3

21:00 - 21:59 3

22:00 - 22:59 1

23:00 - 23:59 2

TOTAL: 55

Start Incident Type: 100 | End Incident Type: 911 | Start Date: 03/01/2023 | End Date: 03/31/2023

Doc Id: 898
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED incidents included.

Page # 1 of 1

45

Item 9.



Hartford, MI
This report was generated on 4/3/2023 9:51:59 AM

Hartford Fire Department

Breakdown by Major Incident Types for Date Range

MAJOR INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS % of TOTAL
Fires 2 3.64%

Rescue & Emergency Medical Service 41 74.55%

Hazardous Condition (No Fire) 4 7.27%

Service Call 3 5.45%

Good Intent Call 4 7.27%

False Alarm & False Call 1 1.82%

TOTAL 55 100%

Zone(s): All Zones | Start Date: 03/01/2023 | End Date: 03/31/2023

Doc Id: 553
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED and/or LOCKED IMPORTED incidents are included.  Summary results for a major incident type are 
not displayed if the count is zero. 

Page # 1 of 2
46

Item 9.



Detailed Breakdown by Incident Type 

INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS % of TOTAL
111 - Building fire 1 1.82%
143 - Grass fire 1 1.82%
311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 15 27.27%
321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 24 43.64%
324 - Motor vehicle accident with no injuries. 1 1.82%
353 - Removal of victim(s) from stalled elevator 1 1.82%
412 - Gas leak (natural gas or LPG) 2 3.64%
442 - Overheated motor 1 1.82%
444 - Power line down 1 1.82%
500 - Service Call, other 2 3.64%
554 - Assist invalid 1 1.82%
611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 4 7.27%
735 - Alarm system sounded due to malfunction 1 1.82%

TOTAL INCIDENTS: 55 100%

Doc Id: 553
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED and/or LOCKED IMPORTED incidents are included.  Summary results for a major incident type are 
not displayed if the count is zero. 

Page # 2 of 2
47

Item 9.



Hartford, MI
This report was generated on 4/3/2023 9:55:18 AM

Hartford Fire Department

Incidents by Day of the Week for Date Range
Start Incident Type: 100 | End Incident Type: 911 | Start Date: 03/01/2023 | End Date: 03/31/2023

DAY OF THE WEEK # INCIDENTS
Sunday 9

Monday 8

Tuesday 6

Wednesday 10

Thursday 7

Friday 10

Saturday 5

TOTAL 55

Doc Id: 1284
emergencyreporting.com

Only Reviewed incidents included.

Page # 1 of 1
48

Item 9.



Proudly Serving Southwest Michigan – Berrien, Cass, Kalamazoo, Van Buren Counties 
5088 Meredith 

Kalamazoo, MI 49002 
Business Office (269) 343.2224     Fax (269) 343.6503 

www.pridecare.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
April 3, 2023 
 
Mr. Yemi Akinwale, City Manager 
Hartford City 
19 West Main Street 
Hartford, MI 49057 
 
Dear Mr. Akinwale, 
 
I am pleased to provide you with our average response times for the month of March 2023.  There were 
ten (10) priority one calls in March with an average response time of 10:22 minutes. 
 
There were thirteen (13) priority two calls run in March with an average response time of 9:14 minutes. 
  
There were four (4) priority three call in March with the average response time of 14:41 minutes. 
 
There was a total of twenty-seven (27) calls run in the month of March with an average response time of 
10:26 minutes. 
 
There was an extended response time for run number 7629 due to a delay by a train that stopped on 
the tracks. There was no alternative route that would have shortened the response time.  
 
There was an extended response time for run number 8008 due to the crew having a hard time finding 
the correct lot number. It was dark and there was low visibility according to the crew.  
 
If you have any questions, comments, and/or concerns, please feel free to contact myself or Glenn at 
the office. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Jimmy Wills 
Pride Care Ambulance 
O: 269.343.3267 
F: 269.343.6503 
 

49

Item 10.



50

Item 11.



51

Item 11.



52

Item 11.



53

Item 11.



54

Item 11.



55

Item 12.



56

Item 12.



Activities Report 

City of Hartford Wastewater Treatment Plant 

April 6th, 2023 

 

The WWTP crew has been decanting off the sludge holding tanks. 

A new door was installed on the lean-to. 

Skirting was installed where the walls of the lean-to meet the ground. 

The second sludge transfer pump was shipped out to be rebuilt. 

Effluent phosphorus levels continue to be acceptable.  The ferric system is still giving the crew a hard 

time.  The lower the tank gets the harder it is to deliver the ferric. 

The WWTP crew sampled effluent from AMHawks pretreatment system.  The phosphorus concentration 

was found to be <8 mg/L 

The WWTP crew sampled effluent from the AMHawk plant.  The phosphorus concentration was found 

to be 32.44 mg/L 

Sampling kits for mercury testing were ordered and received from Trace Labs.  The crew found that the 

bottle containing the field blank solution was leaking.  Trace is going to supply a new kit.  Second quarter 

mercury sampling will occur this month. 

The WWTP crew is preparing to sample the AMHawk plant for their second quarter sampling event.  This 

quarter we only test for phosphorus and pH.  This testing can be done in-house. 

The DMR report for the month of March is in progress.   

Derek Haroldson, with EGLE, was contacted with a question about the status of Application HPE-WXTR-

EQ0XY — Digital EGLE/USACE Joint Permit Application (JPA) for Inland Lakes and Streams, Great Lakes, 

Wetlands, Floodplains, Dams.  Derek said he spoke with an engineer from Wightman on January 20th and 

is waiting for new information. 

Back in February I heard from Thomas Miller, with EGLE, who said Hartford’s new draft NPDES permit 

would likely be available to us in mid to late March.  I spoke with Thomas Miller about an unrelated 

issue for another community last week and he said he was way behind schedule as his department is 

operating on 1/3 staff right now.  For now, I believe we can just wait patiently. 

Peter Ludeman contacted me about a marijuana grow he is intending to operate in the City of Hartford.  

I shared information with Peter about how marijuana facilities can impact the wastewater treatment 

plant. 

 

 

 

57

Item 13.



 
APRIL 24,  2023
LIST OF BILLS 

PAY TO DESCRIPTION SUBTOTAL CHECK TOTAL

1 AMERIGAS PROPANE FOR WWTP LAB AND CONTROL BUILDING 2,147.27               
2 MICHAEL BANIC OCCUPANCY INSPECTIONS 4/19/2023 45.00                    
3 BLOOMINGDALE COMMUNICATIONS PHONE & INTERNET SERVICES FOR APRIL 2023 

     PLUS RE PROGRAM VOICE MAILBOXES ($240.00) 602.60                  
4 BLUE CARE NETWORK OF MI MAY 2023 HEALTH INSURANCE 11,225.79             
5 BS&A SOFTWARE TAX SYSTEM ANNUAL SERVICE/SUPPORT FEE 5/1/23-4/30/24 769.00                  
6 DECATUR LUMBER COMPANY CHOP SAW & BLADE PLUS WEED CUTTER HEAD FOR DPW 1,412.97               
7 DELTA DENTAL MAY 2023 DENTAL INSURANCE 632.54                  
8 EPS SECURITY ALARM SYSTEM MONITORING AGREEMENT 5/1-7/31/2023 375.00                  
9 FBI-LEEDA COMMAND LEADERSHIP TRAINING FOR LIEUTENANT IVY 795.00                  

10 FLEMING BROTHERS OIL CO GASOLINE FOR MARCH 2023 1,024.34               
11 FRONTIER LIFT STATION PHONE 4/7-5/6/23 49.75                    
12 HARTFORD BUILDING AUTHORITY MAY 2023 CITY HALL LEASE PAYMENT 4,166.67               
13 HARTFORD FIRE BOARD MAY 2023 CONTRACTUAL PAYMENT 11,484.76             
14 IAPE EVIDENCE MANAGEMENT TRAINING FOR LIEUTENANT IVY 395.00                  
15 KOTZ SANGSTER WYSOCKI P.C. LEGAL SERVICES - LABOR & EMPLOYMENT 4,775.00               
16 MACNLOW ASSOCIATES LEGAL UPDATE TRAINING FOR SERGEANT LUCAS & LIEUTENANT IVY 300.00                  
17 MI ASSOC OF MUNICIPAL CLERKS SUMMER CONFERENCE & MASTER CLASS FOR ROXANN 575.00                  
18 MI ASSOC. OF CHIEFS OF POLICE NEW CHIEF'S SCHOOL FOR CHIEF PRINCE 1,195.00          

ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP FOR SERGEANT LUCAS 100.00             
ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP FOR LIEUTENANT IVY 100.00             1,395.00               

19 MICHIGAN OFFICE SOLUTIONS INC POLICE COPIER MAINTENANCE 4/24-7/23/2023 215.10             
CITY HALL COPIER MAINTENANCE 4/18-7/17/2023 PLUS OVERAGE 1,498.75          
     CHARGES FROM 1/18-4/17/2023 1,713.85               

20 MILLER THERMOMETER FLAGS 901.80                  
21 TOM NEWNUM CLEAN CITY HALL 4/12/2023 50.00              

CLEAN CITY HALL 4/19/2023 50.00              100.00                  
22 SPECTRUM HEALTH LAKELAND DRUG TESTING FOR NEW HIRE 35.00                    
23 ANGELA STORY ASSESSING SERVICES FOR APRIL 2023 1,233.33               
24 TRACE ANALYTICAL LABORATORIES IRP WATER SAMPLE TESTING - 4/3/2023 119.75             

WWTP HG SAMPLES TESTING - 4/4/2023 267.00             386.75                  
25 UNUM LIFE INSURANCE CO OF AMERICA MAY 2023 LIFE & DISABILITY INSURANCE 524.55                  
26 VANBUREN CONSERVATION DISTRICT 2023 HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE - HOST EVENT 500.00                  
27 VILLAGE OF PAW PAW FEBRUARY 2023 LAB ANALYSIS 120.00                  
28 ANDREW WARNER 10.75 HOURS AS OPERATOR AT WWTP (3/26-4/8/2023) 537.50                  
29 WATER SOLUTIONS UNLIMITED CHEMICALS FOR IRP 1,420.00          

CHEMICALS FOR WWTP 781.74             2,201.74               
30 WEST MI CRIMINAL JUSTICE HARTFORD POLICE DEPARTMENT MEMBERSHIP 

     TRAINING CONSORTIUM      (35% OF PA 302 FUNDS) 226.88                  
31 WIGHTMAN & ASSOCIATES, INC. PROJECT 202307 - DWAM GRANT APPLICATION 2,140.00          

PROJECT 150147 - GENERAL ENGINEERING -
     (WATER & WWTP TESTING AND CONSULTING) 878.58             3,018.58               

          TOTAL OF CHECKS TO BE WRITTEN FOR APRIL 24, 2023 53,670.67$           

3/6/2023 LUMEN LONG DISTANCE TELEPHONE BILL FOR DPW PHONE 0.27                      
3/9/2023 STURGIS BANK & TRUST WIRE IN FEE FOR DRAW FROM JR LEIN REVENUE BOND 10.00                    
3/22/2023 UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE CERTIFIED LETTERS TO AM HAWK 16.26                    
3/24/2023 CHRISTMAS LIGHTS, ETC CHRISTMAS LIGHTS AND FASTENERS FOR DOWNTOWN HARTFORD 1,472.94               
3/24/2023 ALPHABRODER CITY LOGO SHIRTS FOR STAFF & COUNCIL 438.23                  
3/28/2023 UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE MAIL STREETSCAPE PROJECT PAPERWORK 19.60                    
3/30/2023 UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE MAIL CERTIFIED LETTER TO JUSTIN RYAN 8.13                      
4/3/2023 LUMEN LONG DISTANCE TELEPHONE BILL FOR DPW & WWTP PHONES 0.18                      
4/5/2023 UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE MAIL PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING PACKETS 8.94                      
4/14/2023 EASY ID CARD ID CARDS FOR POLICE DEPARTMENT & CITY MANAGER (P.O. #14248)

               TOTAL DEBIT CARD TRANSACTIONS 1,974.55$             

               TOTAL GROSS PAYROLL MAR 15, 2023 THROUGH APR 11, 2023 (4 WEEKS) 65,783.53$           

GRAND TOTAL FOR APRIL 24, 2023 121,428.75$    

58

Item 14.



Page 1 of 4 
 

CITY MANAGER’S WEEKLY UPDATE 
April 14, 2023 

 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES UPDATES We continue to have one employee out on leave.  

 

HPD: I had an initial interview with a retired police officer out of central Indiana this week, who is interested in 
the Code Enforcement position. He will be moving to the area and thinks Hartford would be a nice fit. He will 
be coming in to interview with the Chief next Friday. 

We continue to look for a PT police officer.  

 

DPW: Our new part time staff member, Shaun Sweet, is starting on Monday. 

The new full time staff member is expected to start on April 24th.  

 

WWTP: We continue to look for a Class C Operator at the WWTP. This is posted on Indeed. 

 

CLERK’S OFFICE: We have offered a local Hartford native the part time Deputy Clerk position. We are 
conducting final background checks but expect her to start barring any issues May 1st.  

 

REMINDER: As a gentle reminder to all Commissioners, you should please direct your requests for staff 
support to me and not to individual members of the staff. This includes department heads as well as line staff. 
This is outlined in the City’s Charter under Section 3.9 Restrictions Upon Commission. This section states: The 
Commission and its members shall deal with City Officers, employees and volunteers, who are subject to the 
direction and supervision of the City Manager, solely through the City Manager and neither the Commission 
nor its members shall give orders to a City Officer, employee or volunteer publicly or privately. 
 

BUDGET Roxann has thoroughly reviewed the budget, Pam is working on her final review and we are still 
waiting for final numbers for ACT51. We have estimated income from taxpayers as if we are going to get the 
same amount we received last year.  

This is a THIRD draft- this time I have included percentages of the total budget for consideration; again, we do 
not have actual numbers for our ACT51 (Major and Local Street Funds).  

Here is a short synopsis of the THIRD DRAFT Expected Revenues and Expenses 

FUND 
 PROPOSED 
REVENUE  

% OF TOTAL 
BUDGET 

 PROPOSED 
EXPENSES  

% OF TOTAL 
BUDGET  NET GAIN/LOS  

GEN FUND  $1,366,325.00  43.79%  $1,637,890.77  43.30%  $(271,565.77) 

MAJOR ST  $300,000.00  9.62%  $137,257.00  3.69%  $ 162,743.00  

LOCAL ST  $103,000.00  3.30%  $100,175.00  2.69%  $ 2,825.00  

COMP IMP  $110,000.00  3.53%  $110,000.00  2.96%  $-  

DDA  $13,764.00  0.44%  $2,400.00  0.06%  $ 11,364.00  

BLD DEPT  $63,500.00  2.04%  $51,948.00  1.40%  $ 11,552.00  

BLD AUTH  $63,500.00  2.04%  $45,000.00  1.21%  $ 18,500.00  

SEWER*  $621,350.00  19.92%  $ 1,085,645.71  29.17%  $ (464,295.71) 

WATER*  $478,515.00  15.34%  $612,427.00  16.45%  $ (133,912.00) 

TOTALS  $3,119,954.00    $3,782,743.48    $(662,789.48) 

* These numbers include depreciation 
59

Item 15.



Page 2 of 4 
 

For comparison, here is what the current Amended Budget is for this Fiscal Year 2022/2023. 

FUND 
UNAUDITED 

REVENUE 
% OF ADJUSTED 

BUDGET UNAUDITED EXPENSES 
% OF ADJUSTED 

BUDGET NET GAIN/LOS 

GEN $1,456,119.00 42.16% $1,450,952.00 43.23% $ 5,167.00 

MAJOR ST $301,150.00 8.72% $ 299,454.00 8.92% $ 1,696.00 

LOCAL ST $133,142.00 3.85% $ 127,900.00 3.81% $ 5,242.00 

COM IMP $276,000.00 7.99% $ 229,000.00 6.82% $ 47,000.00 

DDA $12,000.00 0.35% $ 12,000.00 0.36% $- 

BLD DEPT $21,098.00 0.61% $ 21,098.00 0.63% $- 

BLD AUTH $50,000.00 1.45% $48,000.00 1.43% $ 2,000.00 

SEWER* $639,315.00 18.51% $ 650,637.00 19.39% $(11,322.00) 

WATER* $565,337.00 16.37% $ 517,077.00 15.41% $ 48,260.00 

TOTALS $3,454,161.00  $3,356,118.00  $ 98,043.00 

*These numbers do not budget for depreciation, which is anticipated to come in at roughly $450,000 for this 
FY upon audit adjustment. 

 

USDA STREETSCAPE GRANT: I spoke with our grant representative from the USDA. She stated that we can 
request an extension and felt we could ask for a year without any issue at all. When I brought up the work on 
sidewalks strongly suggested that we should avoid sidewalk work except spot repair/replacement otherwise 
we will have to comply with construction requirements which she highly encourages us to avoid. She said we 
can submit a request to amend our project scope, budget and budget narrative, the latter of which would 
allow us to use the Wightman invoices as match. She said the streetscape portion of the project was meant to 
be a “sprucing up” of the downtown and not a full-blown streetscape project. Here is a brief review of the 
project budget, subject to change after review by the Council: 

*If we opt to use funds to plant flowers, we need to let our landscape artist know asap so that she can have 
available stock. 

Activity # Task RDBG Funds Match Total Project Costs 

1 Repaving S Parking Lot $99,000  $21,000  $120,000  

2 Removal of 9 Overgrown Trees   $1,200  $1,200  

3 Purchase and Install 8 Park Benches   $24,000  $24,000  

4* Plant Flowers in 9 flower boxes & planters   $5,000  $5,000  

5 Purchase & replace 20 trash receptacles   $9,977  $9,977  

6 Repair 4 Sections of Broken Sidewalks   $5,000  $5,000  

7 Remove of 9 Planters   $2,700  $2,700  

TOTALS $99,000  $68,877  $167,877  

 

SOUTH PARKING LOT Danny and I participated in the preconstruction meeting today 4/14/23.  

 

RED MED BOX A copy of where Red Med Boxes are located in Van Buren County is attached to this email. This 
does not include the updated Hartford Township site. 

 

AMBULANCE SERVICES UPDATE The Manager from Bangor phoned to say that VBEMS expects to have a 
contract by June 1. I let him know we need one in hand at least by the 26th of May if not by 22nd so that 
Council could take action at their meeting that day. He agreed to reach out and work to push the contracting 
date up. I plan to write my letter, as authorized by Council and send it via registered overnight mail no later 
than April 25th.  

60

Item 15.



Page 3 of 4 
 

 

DEMO- 215 SHEPARD The demo of the gas service has been issued. We are finalizing the paperwork now with 
Consumer’s Energy. I have heard from the demo contractor approved by the Council as well. It sounds like 
they are prepared to do the work, I am waiting on a final agreement. 

 

RFP LEGAL SERVICES The Request for proposals was sent out to the Van Buren County Bar Association 
members as well as being posted by notice to the Tri-City Reporter and to the City’s website.  

 

STRAWBERRY FESTIVAL I met with Patty from the Chamber of Commerce. She manages the Strawberry 
Festival. She provided a map of the event set-up. It is attached to this email. We discussed: 

 Waste Management- The Boy Scouts will be onsite throughout the Festival picking up trash. 
Additionally, there will be receptacles throughout the Festival grounds and a Best Way 
dumpster at the West of Ely Park  

 Restrooms- The Festival will utilize the publicly available restrooms at Ely Park. Additionally, 
they are bringing in 2 standard port-a-johns. Stephanie will make sure that there is hand 
sanitizer in or near those port-a-johns. 

 First Aid- The Festival has a small First Aid kit at the Chamber Tent. I encouraged Stephanie to 
reach out to Chief Harting to ask to have the HFD bring their kit onsite as well. 

 Food Vendors- The VBC Health Department works closely with the Chamber and food vendors 
to ensure compliance with their standards. 

 Carnival Rides- Per Patty, there has not been any reports of the rides ever causing damage to 
the grass or grounds at Ely Park and there will only be 1 mechanical ride this year. Carnival rides 
will begin set-up around noon on Friday of the event and will tear down the day of the event. 

 Camping- Carnival Game Vendors will begin camping at Ely Park on Friday and stay onsite 
throughout the weekend. I have alerted Chief Prince and asked him to share all details with his 
staff. 

 Fire Extinguishers- Patty will have an extinguisher in the Chamber tent and expects all food 
vendors to comply with Health Department requirements for onsite fire safety protocols. 

 City Services- Patty works directly with Danny to get electric, water and cleaning support for 
the restrooms, which are cleaned at least twice during the weekend.  

KEYS: Mr. Kellogg expressed to Danny that he was not prepared to come onsite and rekey the locks. I have 
received two proposals from area locksmiths and will be having the locks changed by the lowest proposer. 

 

RUDELLE’S: Per Chief Prince, Officer Vande Voren followed up at Rudelle’s and learned that there were 3 cars 
there needing LEIN work, 1 of which was a HPD impound. While onsite, however, Officer Vande Voren went 
ahead and took care of the LIEN work on all 3 vehicles. 

 

MAPLE HILL VILLAGE: There was a significant water leak at Maple Hill Village over the last weekend. Per 
Danny, they were leaking enough water that the City was pumping over 400k gallons when we normally pump 
275k gallons. I contacted the property owner, who contacted a contractor and the work to repair the leak took 
place within 48-hours of notification by the City. As this level of water usage is not sustainable during a leak 
like this, I did work out with the property maintenance manager that we can call him directly when we are 
alerted to these situations, even on the weekend. Danny was supplied his phone number.  

 

61

Item 15.



Page 4 of 4 
 

FIRE BOARD I heard from the Township Supervisor this week about working with an attorney on the 501(c)3 
status. He recommended an attorney to work with that he knows worked on a similar project and wanted to 
know when I wanted to meet with him and the attorney. I responded with the name of an attorney I know 
that has worked on a number of projects like this who is willing to represent the Fire Board on this matter and 
asked him when he wanted to meet. He responded “ok” and has not gotten back with me yet. No further 
communication has occurred on the Interlocal Agreement. 

 

BODY WORN CAMERA POLICY Chief Prince was able to secure a copy of the Zeeland PD’s Body Worn Camera 
(BWC) policy and is working to fit it for HPD’s department, BWC system and order of command before 
presenting this to Council for consideration of approval. We hope to bring this for review on the 24th.  

 

WWTP The large sludge haul started today 4/14/23. They hope to have it completed by Monday.  

The Van Buren/Cass County Health Department has requested to place mosquito trapping boxes at the WWTP 
site near the Paw Paw River to track mosquitos and ticks for Eastern equine encephalitis and Lyme disease. I 
am waiting to hear back from them on this process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

62

Item 15.



63

Item 15.



64

Item 15.



City of Hartford Planning Commission  
Regular Meeting, Hartford City Hall 

April 10th, 2023 Minutes 
 

Called to Order:  7:30p.m. by T. Kling 

Members Present:  J. Kling, T. Kling, A. Morales, & N. Spoula 
Members Absent:  S. Ackerman & J. Fuller 
Also Present:  Sanya Vitale, City Manager, and Public Attendee, Sandra Banda  
 
Approval of the Agenda:  Motion made by A. Morales, seconded by N. Spoula, to approve the April 10th, 2023 agenda as 
written. All present in favor, motion carried. 

Approval of the Minutes:  Motion made by N. Spoula, seconded by A. Morales, to approve the December 12th, 2022 
meeting minutes as written. All present in favor, motion carried. 

Public Comments Not on the Agenda:  Sanya Vitale, City Manager, Updates – 
    *Sanya formally introduced herself. She has over 20 years of experience in nonprofit & government operations & 
administration. She has a Master of Public Administration with a concentration in Government Policy & Planning. Her 
specialties are in Community Development, Zoning & Planning, Grant & Contract Research, just to name a few. She was 
previously a Zoning Official for the City of Niles & Zoning Administrator there for 6 years, along with many other held 
positions. We are very happy to welcome her and look forward to working with her.  Her knowledge of Zoning & 
Planning will be very helpful. 
    *S. Parking Lot behind Kellog’s – Meeting being held Fri. 4/14/23 – current plan is to have completed before 
Strawberry Festival but could be after.  
     *Street Scape - update the deteriorating flower boxes on Main St. – discussion to be held at City Council meeting 
Tues. 4/11/23. 
    *Clark & Linden streets project – expected completion late June or July at the latest. 
    *Waste-water Treatment plant – Repairs under way. 
    *Sewer projects are mostly completed  
     *Lead Service Line Testing – cost $6.5 to $7.5 Mil – hoping for a grant to cover cost. 
     *An upcoming comprehensive overhaul of our current Planning & Zoning needs to take place for us to be compliant. 
In 2006/2008 new Michigan Planning & Zoning & Enabling Acts were put into place, and we should have transitioned a 
while ago, by 2011. Our by-laws will have to change a little once the transition to the above Acts takes place. For now, 
we’re okay, keep slowly working towards transition. Sanya provided a copy of our current By-Laws & Procedure for us to 
review.  
     *As a body, we are responsible for writing/updating our Master Plan every 5 years.  
     *We need a comprehensive review of our Zoning Ordinances. We can borrow from another similar community to use 
as a guide. Standards need to be a bit stricter, such as addressing blight ordinance.  
     *Only 1 Planning member can be on the Zoning Board of Appeals.   
 
Public Hearing:  None 
Old Business:   
     *A. Morales asked for update on 5 W. Main - it’s being finished up this week – Land Bank did not sign agreement to 
create apartments – hopefully owner will reach out, issue a request for proposal. 
     *The City Hall roof will be completed as soon as the weather stays warmer.  
     *T. Kling brought up replacing water line to residence – Sanya stated that copper pipes must be used.  

65

Item 16.



New Business:   
     Election of Officers:   
     Briefly discussed current positions. Sanya pointed out that one person cannot hold two positions. Available positions 
are Chairman, Vice Chairman, and Secretary.  
A. Morales made a motion to nominate/keep Tim Kling as Chairman, seconded by N. Spoula. Per roll call, all present in 
favor, motion carried. 
T. Kling made a motion to nominate Nancy Spoula as Vice Chairman, seconded by A. Morales. Per roll call, all present in 
favor, motion carried. 
N. Spoula made a motion to nominate/keep Jenine Kling as Secretary, seconded by A. Morales. Per roll call, all present in 
favor, motion carried.  
     Site Plan Review – 27 West Main Street:  
     Sandra Banda, owner of Taqueria Y Mariscos El Primo LLC restaurant on 27 West Main St., is requesting to add an 
outdoor extension of the restaurant & bar by creating an outdoor patio w/gazebo, concrete floor, tables, & fence. She 
has received a Letter of Exemption from the Van Buren County Drain Commissioner, work being done under an acre will 
not affect the natural environment. A 6-foot fence will be placed on the north and south sides and she will keep the 
grassy area. Sandra would like to have low background music, not too noisy. The patio will close at 10:00pm. She hopes 
to have completed by June, this summer for sure. She did have a question regarding signage. Per Sanya, no temporary 
signage or flags can be placed out front, but an Open sign is okay. Sanya also shared that the City is looking at vacating 
the side walk and following up on liquor license & permits. Sandra answered all questions raised. All looked good and 
everyone felt it will be a nice upgrade for the restaurant, and pleasant setting for their patrons.  After reviewing the site 
plan to verify it met all requirements, T. Kling opened the floor for a nomination to be made.  
A. Morales made a motion to approve the Site Plan for 27 West Main St. as presented, seconded by J. Kling. Per roll call, 
all present in favor, motion carried.   
T. Kling signed the application for the Site Plan & Review. 
     Review of Planning Commission By-Laws: 
     Briefly went over the By-Laws handout. As stated previously, they will need to change a little to comply with the 
current Michigan Planning & Zoning and Enabling Acts. We will work towards this.  
     Donna Langston Resignation:    
     Donna submitted a notice of resignation on March 28, 2023. She’s enjoyed the position for many years and now has 
decided it’s time to step down. T. Kling shared that he had given her a call to thank her, on behalf of all of us, for her 
many years of service and that we will miss her. He suggested that a letter be sent to her from the City thanking her as 
well. Sanya said that would be nice and will make sure it gets sent out. 
     Other business: 
     Added note:  Planning Commissioners are supposed to be reappointed every few years by the City Council.  
     Zoning Board of Appeals – used for Variances and appeals.  
    
Adjournment:   
Motion made by A. Morales, seconded by N. Spoula, to adjourn the meeting. All present in favor, motion carried. 
Meeting adjourned by T. Kling at 8:26 P.M. 
 
Respectfully submitted by:  Jenine Kling, Secretary 

 

66

Item 16.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 27, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

 
Commissioners Present: Ramon Beltran; Jane Danger; Helen Sullivan; Terry Tibbs; Mayor Richard A. Hall 
Commission Members Absent: Frank Dockter; John Miller; 
  
Staff Present:         Rodney-Isbrecht; Shultz; Vitale 
 

Mayor Richard A. Hall called the business meeting to order at 7:30pm. 
 

Pledge of Allegiance was said.   
 
Motion by Commissioner Sullivan, supported by Commissioner Tibbs, as presented.     

Motion carried 5 – 0 
 
Guests:  

 Mickey Bittner Wightman’s updates on projects: Clark/Linden construction to begin with good 
weather; South Parking Lot award contract; DWAM, Drinking Water Service Line Inventory; 
Drinking Water SRF, application due June 1; WWTP SRF contract a waiting on materials, contract b 
to begin in June, contact c about 75% complete; Township Water Main Extension Project, bid 
opening on March 1st and is 100% grant.   

 Sandra Bandara, 27 West Main Street asking for permission to open an outdoor patio on her property 
adjacent to the restaurant however there is a City sidewalk between her two properties.   The City 
Manager has asked the City Attorney to review the request and vacating the sidewalk.   

 Devin Locker, spoke to the Commission on applying for a Class A Micro Business license.    
 

Public Comment:   
 Michael Menck 38 Marion Ave, apologized to the Commission, Mayor and City Manager, the Blight 

Complaint has been addressed but still concerned about noise at 517 West Main Street.        
 

Communications: 
 Hartford Speedway – 2023 Race Schedule, Commission commended the operation.    
 City Hall Closed – April 7 in Observance of Good Friday 
 Decatur Township Public Hearing – April 25, 2023 @ 6pm - Use of Off-Road Vehicles –  
 Van Buren Sportsmen Club – Easter Egg Hunt Ely Park April 1 or Rain Date of April 8 @ 1:00pm 
 Chamber After Hours April 17, 6pm at Rabbit Hole Comics 
 Hartford City Hall Newsletter is available at the City’s website or at City Hall 
 Joint Meeting April 5, 7pm at the Fire Department  

 
Reports of Officers, Boards & Committees; Routine Monthly Reports from Departments: 

A. Police & Ordinance – Chief Prince – Not in Attendance - Family Emergency    
B. Fire Department – Assistant Chief McGrew – Starting in April, monthly testing of siren, CPR Classes, 

Smoke Detectors are now available        
C. Ambulance – Report on file    
D. Van Buren County – Mike Chappell – Not in Attendance 
E. Public Works – Justin Ryan, Superintendent – Not in Attendance 
F. Wastewater Treatment Plant – Report on file 
G. Treasurers, Investment & List of Bills – $925,806.29 
H. City Manager – Attended Training; Wightman Infrastructure Updates; City Hall Roof Project; WWTP, 

Contracted Operator, Maintenance, Brush & Leaf disposal, AmHawk IPP; DPW, address signs in 
downtown, short staff & seeking two part time employees; Water/IRP; Police Department, promotions, 

67

Item 17.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 27, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

inventory, audit, and training; Attorney Update; Marijuana Facilities; 5 West Main St; 215 Shepard & 
106 South Center Street Fire update; Budget;   
 

Approval of Commission Minutes: 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Sullivan, to approve the minutes of the 
February 27, 2023 business meeting of the Hartford City Commission, as presented and place them on 
file.  

                               Motion carried 4 – 1 (Beltran)                                 
 

Motion by Commissioner Beltran, supported by Commissioner Tibbs, to approve the minutes of the 
March 15, 2023 special business meeting of the Hartford City Commission, as presented and place them 
on file.  

                               Motion carried 5 – 0 
 

Motion by Commissioner Beltran, supported by Commissioner Danger, to approve the minutes of the 
March 15, 2023 special closed business meeting of the Hartford City Commission, as presented and 
place them on file.  

                               Motion carried 5 – 0 
 
Approval of Reports:  

Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to accept the February 2023 
departmental reports as presented and place them on file.   

   Motion carried 5 – 0   
 
Goals/Objectives: None Discussed 

 
Old Business:   

 Trash Can Proposal 
 

Discussion:  Council approved the purchase of 10 trash cans at the February meeting, before they were 
ordered a less expensive model was found allowing to double the amount of trash cans to be ordered for 
close to the same cost.    
 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Danger, to approve the purchase of 20 
garbage cans in the amount of $468.85 each. 
  Motion carried 5 – 0   

 
 Ambulance Contract 

 
Ambulance Contract Discussion: The current contract is within the 90-day window to negotiate; The 
City Manager is recommending extending the contract with Pride Care for six months with a 30-day 
written notice and an optional additional six-month extension.  RFP/Ambulance Services was posted: 
One response was received from Life EMS which did not meet the requirements of the RFP.  VBEMS 
sent an email for a 60-day extension on submitting their response to the RFP.  There is a meeting 
tomorrow with Pride Care here at City Hall at 11:30am for the Van Buren County municipalities. 
Council did not take any action until all factors are known.     

 
New Business:  

 Water Main Extension Project – Award Recommendation – Harris ConAg LLC $2,131,854.00 
 

68

Item 17.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 27, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Danger, to award the Hartford Water Main 
Extension Project to Harris ConAg LLC as recommended by Wightman’s in the amount of 
$2,131,854.00 and authorize the City Manager to execute the contract and required documents.    

   Motion carried 5 – 0 
 

 DWAM SRF – Engage bakertilly to provide Municipal Advisory Services - $9,500 
 

Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Sullivan to accept the proposal from 
bakertilly to provide municipal advisory services in the amount of $9,500.00 and authorize the City 
Manager to execute the agreement and required documents.      
   Motion carried 5 – 0 
 

 Approval of City of Hartford Procurement Policy 
 

Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran to table to the April Council 
meeting.   
   Motion carried 5 – 0 
 

 Approval of Employee Handbook 
 

Motion by Commissioner Sullivan, supported by Commissioner Tibbs, to approve the revised City of 
Hartford Employee Handbook as presented.    
   Motion carried 4 – 1 (Beltran) 
 

 Proposal the Rossow Group – Physical Inventory & Procedural Audit of Evidence & Property Controls 
for the Police Department - $10,000 

 
Motion by Commissioner Sullivan, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to accept the proposal from the 
Rossow Group to provide audit & property controls for the police department in the amount of $10,000 
and authorize the City Manager to execute the agreement and required documents.       
   Motion failed 1 – 4 (Beltran; Danger; Sullivan; Tibbs) 
 
Discussion:  Council Requested additional bids. 
 

 Proposed Boring on WWTP Property 
 

Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to authorize the proposed boring 
on WWTP property by Global Remediation Technologies and authorize the City Manager to execute 
any agreement and required documents.      
   Motion carried 5 – 0 
 

 RFP for Recreational Marihuana Licenses 
 

Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to approve the issuance of request 
for recreational marihuana licenses proposals as presented.    
   Motion failed 2 – 3 (Danger; Sullivan; Tibbs) 

 
 Award Demolition Contract for 215 Shepard Street 80-52-705-005-01 

 

69

Item 17.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 27, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to award the demolition proposal 
to Cross Excavating in the amount of $29,701.00 and authorize the City Manager to execute the 
agreement and required documents.    
   Motion carried 5 – 0 

 
 Quote for Flower Box’s –  

Discussion: Commissioner Dockter sought a quote of $35,550 from Bachman Welding for metal flower 
boxes to replace the current boxes as part of the current street scape project.  
Council did not take any action.    

 
 Liability Renewal - $45,594.00 

 
Motion by Commissioner Beltran, supported by Commissioner Tibbs, to accept the liability renewal 
proposal from MML in the amount of $45,594.00 and authorize the City Manager to execute the 
agreement and required documents.    
   Motion carried 5 – 0 
 

 2023/2024 salt Order – Not to Exceed $10,000 
 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to approve the 2023/2024 Salt 
Order in the amount not to exceed $10,000 and authorize the City Manager to execute the agreement and 
required documents.    
   Motion carried 5 – 0 
 

 Proposed Fee & Board Wage Schedule – First Reading –  
 
Discussion: the Mayor appointed a Committee of Commissioners Beltran, Danger & Tibbs to meet with 
the City Manager.  

 
 Disposal of City Property – TV & Entertainment Stand 

 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Danger, to dispose of no longer used City 
Property:  2000 Sony TV & wooden entertainment stand.    
   Motion carried 5 – 0 
 

 Disposal of City Property – Typewriter to Mrs. Halls Classroom 
 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Sullivan, to donate a IBM wheelwriter II 
typewriter to Mrs. Halls classroom at HPS Redwood Elementary.      
   Motion carried 5 – 0 

 
 Discussion – Additional Council Meetings Request by Commissioners Danger & Sullivan 

 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Danger, to set special business meeting 
dates, April 11, May 9 and June 13, 2023 at 7:30pm.  
   Motion carried 5 – 0 

 
 Set Budget Hearing & Truth In Taxation Special Meetings 

 

70

Item 17.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

MARCH 27, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to call a special meeting to set the 
millage rate for the City May 5 @ 2pm to call a special meeting for truth in taxation hearing for May 22 
@ 7pm and call a special meeting for the 2023/2024 budget hearing for May 22 @ 7:15pm 
   Motion carried 5 – 0 

 
Resolutions, Ordinance, Proclamation’s:  

 Resolution 2023 – 007 Vacate South Street – Update Act 51 Map 
 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to adopt resolution 2023 – 007 
vacating W South Street and update the Act 51 Map.   
   Motion carried 5 – 0   

 
 Resolution 2023 – 008 Vacate Shepard Street – Update Act 51 Map 

 
Motion by Commissioner Sullivan, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to adopt resolution 2023 – 008 
vacating W Shepard Street and update the Act 51 Map.  
   Motion carried 5 – 0   
 

 First Reading – Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 52 Sewers Section 52.08 Rates & Charges 
 First Reading – Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 94 Soil, Waste & Fill Material Section 

94.05 Permit Fee 
 First Reading Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 150 Budlings & Budling Regulations Section 

150.52 Fees 
 First Reading – Amendment to Ordinance no. 314-17 Permit & Regulate Mobile Food Vehicle Vendors 
 First Reading – Amendment to Ordinance 320-20 Recreational Marihuana Licensing (MARTMA) 

Section 5 A. Licensing of Marihuana Establishments.  
 First Reading – Amendment to Code of Ordinances 304-07 Anti-blight  
 Second Reading – Amendment to Code of Ordinances 10.99 General Penalties 

 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to adopt the City of Hartford 
Code of Ordinance 10.99 General Penalties.   
  Motion carried 5 – 0  
 

 First Reading – Proposed Ordinance No. 322-2023 – Liquor Licenses & Permits 
 First Reading – Proposed Ordinance No. 323-2023 – Code of Conduct & Ethics 
 First Reading – Amendment to Chapter 52 Sewer Use Ordinance 

 
Adjournment: 

 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to adjourn the meeting at 
10:32pm. 
  Motion carried 5 – 0  

 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted,         
 
 
RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, City Clerk 

71

Item 17.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED SPECIAL BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

APRIL 4, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

 
Commissioners Present: Jane Danger; John Miller; Helen Sullivan; Terry Tibbs; Mayor Richard A. Hall; 
Members Absent:   Ramon Beltran; Frank Dockter 
Staff Present:         Vitale, Rodney-Isbrecht 
 

 
Mayor Richard A. Hall called the special meeting to order at 5:00pm. 

 
 Discuss & Consider Proposed Interlocal Fire Agreement 

 
After Council approved the updated Interlocal Agreement at their January Meeting, Ron Sefcik, Fire 
Board Chairman & Hartford Township Supervisor has come back with additional changes to the 
agreement several times. The City Manager recommended to Mr. Sefcik that he review the agreement 
with his boards and come back to Council with their recommended changes to the agreement. Under the 
current agreement there is nothing to address Fire Board oversite, the Fire Board does not have authority 
to establish policy & procedures. Also missing from the agreement is how grant’s, donations and 
fundraising would be accepted and spent.  The City Manager recommends the Fire Board form as a 
501c3 non-profit.  Council would like to see some additional/stronger language under Termination of 
the Agreement section.      

 
 Discuss & Consider City Attorney of Record 

 
The City Manager met with the Attorney Schuitmaker regarding the Interlocal Agreement in February 
and it was agreed he would work with the Township Attorney to negotiate a proposed Interlocal 
Agreement.  The Township Attorney sent an email to Mr. Sefcik stating the City was interested in 
moving forward with building a new fire station in the Township, according to the City Attorney.    This 
was clearly not what the City Manager discussed with the City Attorney in February, support for this 
claim was provided in the form of emails sent to Attorney Schuitmaker.  Council would like to move 
forward with an RFP for legal services and interview prospective applicants.     

 
 Discuss & Consider Ambulance Service Update 

 
The City Manager has been meeting with other municipalities who have agreements with Pride Care to 
address the concerns of current operations and services being provided.   Pride Care has not addressed 
any of the complaints and concerns to the violations of their agreements.      
 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Danger to authorize the City Manager to 
negotiate the termination of the agreement within the 60 days of the agreements notice to terminate.      

Motion carried 5 – 0 
 
Adjournment: 

 
Motion by Commissioner Miller, supported by Commissioner Tibbs to adjourn the meeting at 6:15pm. 
  Motion carried 5 – 0  

 
Respectfully Submitted,         
 
 
RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, City Clerk 

72

Item 18.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED SPECIAL BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

CITY OF HARTFORD/FIRE BOARD/HARTFORD TOWNSHIP @ 436 W MAIN ST FIRE STATION 
APRIL 5, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

 
Commissioners Present:  Jane Danger; John Miller; Helen Sullivan; Terry Tibbs; Mayor Richard A. Hall; 
Commissioners Absent:   Ramon Beltran; Frank Dockter; 
Staff Present:               Vitale, Rodney-Isbrecht; 
 

 
Mayor Richard A. Hall called the special meeting to order at 7:00pm. 

 
 Discuss & Consider Proposed 2023/2024 Fire Department Operating Budget of $312,026.00. 

 
No Discussion  
 
Motion by Commissioner Miller, supported by Commissioner Danger to approve the 2023/2024 Fire 
Department Operating Budget as presented with the City’s portion in the amount of $127, 074.78  

Motion carried 5 – 0  
 

 Mutual Items of Interest 
 
Ron Sefcik, Fire Board Chair & Township Supervisor brought the following items for discussion: 
 

 Fire Board Treasurer Carlos Ledesma has been named on Fire Board bank accounts & named as 
administrator of benefactor donation accounts.     

 Interlocal Agreement: cleaning up multi-versions of the proposed updated Interlocal agreements; 
Commission Miller asked the Township members if they were pursuing a new fire station.  
Response was not at this time. Commissioner Miller, asked would the township board be open to 
stronger language in the Interlocal agreement section under termination to strengthen the 
Interlocal agreement. Sefcik’ s response, no.    

 Sefcik proposed municipality’s possibly getting together quarterly.     
 Fire Board filing for 501c3 status – will be exploring options as the Fire Board has been using a 

department founding father social security number to apply for payroll tax ID, grants and reports. 
 Seeking an Attorney for the Fire Department Board 

 
Adjournment: 

 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Sullivan to adjourn the meeting at 7:15pm. 
  Motion carried 5 – 0  

 
Respectfully Submitted,         
 
 
RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, City Clerk 

73

Item 19.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED SPECIAL BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

APRIL 11, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

 
Commissioners Present: Ramon Beltran; Jane Danger; Frank Dockter; John Miller; Helen Sullivan; Terry 
Tibbs; Mayor Richard A. Hall 
Commission Members Absent: None 
  
Staff Present:        Prince, Rodney-Isbrecht; Shultz; Staunton, Vitale 
 

Mayor Richard A. Hall called the business meeting to order at 7:30pm. 
 

Pledge of Allegiance was said.   
 
Motion by Commissioner Dockter, supported by Commissioner Beltran, as amended to include 
discussion on the Red Med Box under new business.       

Motion carried 7 – 0 
 
Guests: None 

 
Public Comment:   

 Patty Schroeder, Hartford Chamber Strawberry Festival 
 Devin Locker, Spoke to the proposed Cannabis Ordinance Amendment - Class A Micro-grow, 

 
Communications: 

 AEP Transmission Line Project – Public Notice & Comment Period Link 
 

Reports of Officers, Boards & Committees; Routine Monthly Reports from Departments: 
A. Police & Ordinance – Chief Prince, still interviewing for an ordinance officer, covering shifts for 

officers who have been sick, Commissioner Dockter had concerns about impounded vehicles at 
Ruddell’s, the Chief will follow-up.  

B. Fire Department – None Filed 
C. Ambulance – None Filed 
D. Van Buren County – None Filed 
E. Public Works – Superintendent Staunton, short staffed, hired a part-time person who will start next 

week.  Interviewed someone for full time, waiting to see if they accept the position.    
F. Wastewater Treatment Plant – do not have enough staff to monitor brush drop-off.  Superintendent 

would like to have signs put up and loads must be inspected by Staff. City brush pickup is scheduled for 
the 1st two weeks of May. The City is not recouping the cost to manage the brush pile.        
 
Motion by Commissioner Dockter, supported by Commissioner Miller, to close the WWTP to brush 
drop off for 90 days effective May 1, 2023.     

Motion carried 5 – 2 (Danger, Tibbs) 
 

G. Treasurers, Investment & List of Bills – $130,973.78 
 
Motion by Commissioner Miller, supported by Commissioner Tibbs, to approve the list of bills in the 
amount of $130,973.78.  
                               Motion carried 7 – 0                                 
 

H. City Manager – Weekly Updates: Working to fill open staff positions; Draft 2023/2024 Proposed 
Budget; Bonds & Grant Matching; Insurance – Reserve Officers & Recreation Council; Utility Billing; 
HPD Audit/Inventory; Ambulance Services Update; Demo – 215 Shepard; City Hall Closed in 

74

Item 20.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED SPECIAL BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

APRIL 11, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

Observance of Good Friday; Seeking estimates to have the main doors on all City facilities re-keyed; 
Marijuana Permits update; City Newsletter has been delivered; Spring Storm, DPW managed well and 
commend them for their work to clean up after the storm; Personnel Manual and Collective Bargaining 
Unit’s update; RFP for Legal Services.    

 
Approval of Commission Minutes: No Action 
 
Approval of Reports: No Action 
 
Goals/Objectives:  

 City Manager requested the Council fill out a SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, & Threats) 
Analysis Form beginning with Strengths to bring back for discussion at the next Council Meeting. This 
will help develop goals for the next fiscal year.    

 
Old Business:   

 Discussion:  Mass Casualty Event:  Supplies and how will everyone respond, training & what is the 
coordination plan for the school, police department, sheriff’s department & fire department.  The school 
& sheriff’s department had active shooter training over the summer.   Usually, those plans are not made 
public; there are training opportunities for the Police Department.   The Chief will follow-up with the 
County Coordinator.    

 Discussion:  HPD Update – Insurance coverage for Reserve Officers as long as they are in the presence 
of a sworn officer.  The City Manager recommend to have a policy approved by Council.   
Commissioners requested for the cost of an additional rider for Reserve Officers that have contact but 
not in the presence of a sworn officer; Additional quotes were presented to have an independent audit of 
evidence and procedures in handling evidence.   A risk assessment will protect the Current Police Chief.  
Council took no action; Duty Weapons, all six guns have been accounted for. All of the guns need to be 
reconditioned.  Council asked for additional information to compare reconditioning current weapons 
versus purchasing new weapons.   Council took no action.     

 
New Business:  

 2022/2023 Audit Proposal – not to exceed $25,900 
 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Dockter to accept the proposal from 
Hungerford Nichols 2022/2023 Audit Proposal not to exceed $25,900 and authorize the City Manager to 
sign the agreement.      
   Motion carried 7 – 0 

 
 Hartford Chamber – 2023 Strawberry Festival – Request to Close City Streets 

 
Motion by Commissioner Dockter, supported by Commissioner Beltran to approve the Hartford 
Chamber’s use of City Streets & Resources (Police, DPW, Electric) for the 2023 Strawberry Festival 
June 9 – 11 in Ely Park.      
   Motion carried 7 – 0 
 

 Rural Business Development Grant (RBDG) – Downtown Street Scape 
 

Discussion:  City Manager asked for guidance and direction on what to spend the required match on as a 
design was not part of the plan.  The 59% matching funds were not budgeted for this project. The 
deadline to complete the grant is July 31, 2023.    
    

75

Item 20.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED SPECIAL BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

APRIL 11, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

Motion by Commissioner Dockter, supported by Commissioner Tibbs to not replace the trees in 
downtown.   
   Motion carried 7 – 0 
 
Motion by Commissioner Beltran, supported by Commissioner Danger to increase the line-item 
spending on sidewalks to include sidewalk repair/replace in front of Ely Park.    
   Motion carried 7 – 0 
 
Commissioner Beltran proposed tabling the Streetscape discussion to the April Council meeting. The 
Council took no further action.      
    

 Resignation for the Planning & Zoning Board - Langston 
 

Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Danger, to accept Donna Langston’s 
resignation from the Planning & Zoning Board and thank her for her service to the City.    
   Motion carried 7 – 0 
 

 Resignation from the Board of Review - McCarthy 
 

Motion by Commissioner Dockter, supported by Commissioner Tibbs, to accept Gwen McCarthy’s 
resignation from the Board of Review and thank her to her service to the City.    
   Motion carried 7 – 0 

 
 Discussion – Recreation Council – Liability Insurance 

 
The City can no longer cover the liability for the Recreation Council as they are no longer a non-profit 
organization.  Hartford Township is no longer a part of the Recreation Council and the Interlocal 
Agreement has expired.   Mayor Hall HRC Board Rep gave an update on the Recreation Council 
upcoming activities.  The City will follow-up with a letter notifying the Recreation Council that the City 
is no longer covering the liability for the organization.       

 
 Request for Proposals – Legal Services 

 
Motion by Commissioner Tibbs, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to approve the issuance of request 
for legal services proposal as presented.   
   Motion carried 7 – 0 

 
 Van Buren Conservation District – Recycling Program Contract.   

 
Motion by Commissioner Miller, supported by Commissioner Beltran, to contract with the Van Buren 
Conservation District in the amount of $500.00 for the 2023 Van Buren County Resource Recovery & 
Recycling Program.    
   Motion carried 7 – 0 
 

 Discussion - Red Med Box  
 
The Red Med Box is a program provided by the Van Buren County Sheriff’s Department and is to be 
managed by the Sherriff’s Department Staff. The Red Box has been in the City’s lobby for several years.  
A few weeks ago the Mayor witnessed another jurisdictions off duty police officer reach his hand into 
the red box and remove a bag of medication because it was full.  The Mayor directed the City Manager 

76

Item 20.



CITY OF HARTFORD 
PROPOSED SPECIAL BUSINESS MEETING MINUTES 

APRIL 11, 2023 

County of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 19 West Main St, Hartford, MI 49057 

to have the Red Med Box removed from City Hall.  The Sheriff’s Department has moved the box to 
Hartford Township Hall.  It was determined that it had not been a Council decision to place the Red Med 
Box at City Hall but rather a City Manager decision and no contracts were in place.   Commissioner 
Danger was disappointed and disagreed with the service to the community being removed from City 
property without a discussion of the full Council.    

 
Resolutions, Ordinance, Proclamation’s:  

 
 First Reading – Amendment to Ordinance 320 – 20 Recreational Marihuana Licensing (MARTMA) 

Licensing of Marihuana Establishments  
 First Reading – Amendment to Ordinance 315 – 17 Establishment of Medical Marihuana Facilities  

 
Commissioner Miller was absent from the March Council Business meeting and wanted some clarification on 
why the Council failed to pass the Request for Proposals for Marijuana Licenses when we have an ordinance to 
allow it.  Council would like to bring the RFP back for discussion and consideration.    
 
Adjournment: 

 
Motion by Commissioner Beltran, supported by Commissioner Danger, to adjourn the meeting at 9: 
37pm. 
  Motion carried 7 – 0  

 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted,         
 
 
RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, City Clerk 

77

Item 20.



78

Item 21.



City of Hartford 

Memo 
To: Mayor Hall 

From: Sanya Vitale 

cc: City Council 

Date: April 24, 2023 

Re: USDA Grant Agreement- Streetscape 

Last year, the Council authorized the City Manager to apply for USDA funds for a Downtown 
Streetscape project that included repairing the South Parking Lot and providing for some level of 
streetscape provisions. 

It came to my attention that there was very little discussion of what was written into the grant 
regarding the streetscape provisions and the required local match (dollars the City has to 
leverage for the project). 

The City was awarded a USDA grant in the amount of $99,000 with a local match 
requirement of $68,400 

At the City Council meeting on April 11, 2023, the Council met, discussed and decided on 
several things with regards to the grant and associated Streetscape Project: 

1. Trees would not be replanted 
2. The City would ask for an amended Project Scope, Budget, Timeline and Budget 

Narrative. 

I spoke with our grant representative from the USDA. She stated that we can request an 
extension and felt we could ask for a year without any issue at all.  

When I brought up the work on sidewalks strongly suggested that we should avoid sidewalk 
work except spot repair/replacement otherwise we will have to comply with construction 
requirements which she highly encourages us to avoid.  

She said we can submit a request to amend our project scope, budget and budget narrative, the 
latter of which would allow us to use the Wightman invoices as match. She said the streetscape 
portion of the project was meant to be a “sprucing up” of the downtown and not a full-blown 
streetscape project. I have included a proposed amendment and options for benches with 
planters for review and consideration. 

As a note, If the Council opts to use funds to plant flowers, we need to let our landscape artist 
know asap so that she can have available stock. 

 79

Item 22.



The City of Harƞord formally requests to amend the approved USDA RDBG Contract Case Number 26‐080‐379532186 with the 
Award Date of 08/18/2022 as follows: 
 
Revised Proposed Timeframes 

Removal and repaving of black top of the South Parking Lot as designed and supported by engineer May – June 2023 

Removal of 9 overgrown trees in the flower boxes along Main Street  October – December 2022 

Removal of 9 planters in downtown area October – December 2023 

Purchased and installaƟon of 8 park benches with flower planters along Main Street December 2023 – April 2024 

Plant flowers in 9 flower boxes & planters along Main Street May – June 2023 

Purchase and replace 20 trash receptacles throughout downtown March – April 2023 

Replace broken sidewalks in downtown area.  March 2024 

 
Revised Project Close Out:  
May 31, 2024 
 
Revised Scope of Work 

1. Removal and repaving of black top of the South Parking Lot as designed and supported by engineer. Includes adding one 
downtown business to the City’s sewer system. 

2. Removal of 9 overgrown trees in the flower boxes along Main Street  
3. Removal of 9 deterioraƟng planters in downtown area 
4. Purchased and installaƟon of 8 park benches with flower planters along Main Street 
5. Plant flowers in 9 flower boxes & planters along Main Street 
6. Purchase and replace 20 trash receptacles throughout downtown 
7. Replace broken sidewalks in downtown area.  

 
Revised Budget 

Activity #  Task 
RDBG 
Funds 

Match  Total Project Costs 

1 Repaving S Parking Lot $99,000 $21,000 $120,000 

2 Removal of 9 Overgrown Trees  $1,200 $1,200 

3 Remove of 9 Planters  $2,700 $2,700 

4 Purchase and Install 8 Park Benches w/ flower planters  $24,000 $24,000 

5 Plant Flowers in 9 flower boxes & planters  $5,000 $5,000 

6 Purchase & replace 20 trash receptacles  $9,977 $9,977 

7 Replace Broken Sidewalks in Downtown Area  $5,000 $5,000 

TOTALS  $99,000  $68,877  $167,877 

 
Revised Budget NarraƟve 

The revised budget includes basic costs for each acƟvity. 

Item 1 includes engineering, construcƟon, permiƫng and project management. 

Item 2 includes only the contracted cost to remove the trees. 

Item 3 includes only the contracted cost to remove the planters. 

Item 4 includes the purchase and shipping costs associated with the benches with built in planters. 

Item 5 includes the costs associated with the purchase and labor associated with planƟng flowers in 9 flower boxes and planters. 

Item 6 includes the purchase and shipping costs associated with 20 trash receptacles. 

Item 7 includes only the contracted cost to repair the broken secƟons of sidewalk. 

80

Item 22.



81

Item 22.



82

Item 22.



83

Item 22.



City of Hartford 

Memo 
To: Mayor Hall 

From: Sanya Vitale 

cc: City Council 

Date: 4/24/2023 

Re: Personnel Manual Approved 3/27/23 

Please note that the Hartford Police Department Union requested that the Personnel Manual not 
compete with the language in their currently approved contract; specifically, as their contract 
relates to differing probationary length of time, immediate family members considered for 
bereavement leave and vacation time accumulation.  The approved handbook also uses the 
term "at will" employees for City employees and Union employees are not considered "at will" 
employees because of the contracts in place.   

As such, the Union Steward and Business Agent have asked that the following phrase or 
phrases be added to the beginning: 

Unless otherwise stated in your CBA or if you have a CBA refer to it regarding areas of concern 

As such, you will note that on page 1 of the Handbook, I have added similar language as 
suggested for review and consideration by the Council. 

Additionally, there was some concern about law enforcement officers and the strict no drugs or 
alcohol in anyone’s possession at any time provisions of the handbook.  

As such, I am suggesting that the Council consider allowing the addition of the following 
language: except licensed law enforcement officers in possession of drugs or alcohol while on 
duty as part of their legal responsibilities on pages 15 and 28. 

The areas being suggested for change are highlighted in yellow. There are no suggestions for 
removal of any language. 

84

Item 23.



Revised March 2023 
Adopted 03/27/2023 

 
 

19 West Main Street, Hartford, MI 49057 
 

CITY OF HARTFORD EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 
 

85

Item 23.



 
 

1 

Welcome! 

We are glad that you are a part of the team at the City of Hartford. When you start a new job, 
there is a lot to learn about your new organization such as the culture, the way it operates, and 
your role within it. Starting with a new organization can require an adjustment, so this handbook 
is designed to help you get off to the right start by providing information to help you be 
successful, starting with our Mission: 

  
Mission: To provide high quality services to the residents of the City in an efficient and 
effective way, to make the city inviting for economic growth while maintaining its small-town 
charm. 
  

This handbook explains what you can expect from City of Hartford and what is expected of you.  
Our intent is to administer wages, benefits, and employment policies in a fair and impartial 
manner. We will review, update and improve this Employee Handbook on a regular basis. 

 

Best Regards, 
 

Sanya Vitale 
City Manager 

What is a Handbook? 

This handbook is intended to describe what is expected of employees and what employees can 
expect from City of Hartford.  It does not create an expressed or implied contract between the 
City of Hartford and any employee.  While we hope our employment relationship will be long 
term, either you or City of Hartford can end the relationship at any time, with or without notice, 
with or without reason, consistent with “at will” employment status. 

Unless otherwise stated in your Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA), this handbook 
supersedes and replaces all previous policies and procedures including, but not limited to, all 
memoranda or written policies which may have been issued on the subjects covered in this 
handbook.  Information contained in this handbook is effective as of the date of Commission 
adoption.  Policies, procedures and benefit information contained in this handbook are subject 
to change.  While our intention is to include future policies, procedures and/or benefit 
information in our handbook, some items may be distributed separately. When this happens, the 
most recent policy, procedure or benefit information will take precedence over information 
contained in this handbook, unless otherwise specified in your CBA.   

 

  

86

Item 23.



 
 

2 

Table of Contents 

Welcome! .................................................................................................................................. 0 

What is a Handbook? ................................................................................................................ 1 

Starting at City of Hartford ....................................................................................................... 4 

Communications ....................................................................................................................... 4 

Communications – How We Keep In Touch ............................................................................. 4 

Computer & E-mail Usage Policy .............................................................................................. 5 

Social Media .............................................................................................................................. 5 

Solicitations, Distributions, and Posting of Materials ............................................................... 6 

Working Together ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Employee Relations and Conflict Resolution ............................................................................ 6 

Misconduct, Harassment and Discrimination Policy ................................................................ 7 

Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 7 

Conduct Requirements ............................................................................................................. 7 

Civility Requirements. ............................................................................................................... 7 

Discrimination and Harassment ................................................................................................ 7 

Sexual Harassment .................................................................................................................... 8 

Verbal, visual or physical contact of a sexual nature ......................................................... 9 

Sexual jokes, comments, insults, cartoons or innuendoes ................................................. 9 

Unwelcome sexual flirtations, advances or propositions ................................................... 9 

Pressure or requests for sexual activities ........................................................................... 9 

Unnecessary touching ......................................................................................................... 9 

Sexually degrading words or images used to describe an individual ................................. 9 

Racial/Ethnic Harassment or Discrimination ............................................................................ 9 

Workplace Bullying ................................................................................................................... 9 

Verbal bullying.......................................................................................................... 9 

Physical bullying ....................................................................................................... 9 

Gesture bullying ..................................................................................................... 10 

Exclusion ................................................................................................................. 10 

Complaint Resolution .............................................................................................................. 10 

Non-Retaliation ....................................................................................................................... 11 

Employee Responsibilities ...................................................................................................... 11 

Business Ethics and Standards of Conduct ............................................................................. 12 

Conflicts of Interest ................................................................................................................. 12 

87

Item 23.



 
 

3 

Gifts Influencing Decision-Making ......................................................................... 13 

Gifts from Existing Vendors ................................................................................... 13 

Outside Employment ............................................................................................. 13 

Nepotism ................................................................................................................................. 13 

Employment Information ....................................................................................................... 14 

Dress Code & Personal Appearance Policy ............................................................................. 14 

Progressive Discipline Process ................................................................................................ 14 

Performance Reviews ............................................................................................................. 14 

Job Posting and Transfer Policy .............................................................................................. 14 

Work Rules .............................................................................................................................. 15 

Length of Service ..................................................................................................................... 16 

Employee Classifications ......................................................................................................... 17 

Personnel Files ........................................................................................................................ 18 

Resignations ............................................................................................................................ 19 

Work Schedules and Compensation ....................................................................................... 19 

Work Schedules ...................................................................................................................... 19 

Pay Periods .............................................................................................................................. 19 

Time Reporting ........................................................................................................................ 19 

Overtime Pay........................................................................................................................... 20 

Business Expense Reimbursement ......................................................................................... 20 

Time Away from Work ............................................................................................................ 21 

Paid Sick Leave ........................................................................................................................ 21 

Vacation Policy ........................................................................................................................ 21 

Payroll Deductions .................................................................................................................. 22 

Holidays ................................................................................................................................... 22 

Voting ...................................................................................................................................... 23 

Jury Duty ................................................................................................................................. 23 

Leaves of Absence ................................................................................................................... 23 

Military Leave .......................................................................................................................... 24 

Bereavement Policy ................................................................................................................ 24 

Breaks for Nursing Mothers .................................................................................................... 25 

Benefits ................................................................................................................................... 25 

Safety ...................................................................................................................................... 25 

Emergencies ............................................................................................................................ 25 

88

Item 23.



 
 

4 

Safety in the Workplace .......................................................................................................... 26 

Injuries at Work....................................................................................................................... 26 

Workplace Violence Prevention ............................................................................................. 26 

Possession of Weapons .......................................................................................................... 26 

Inclement Weather ................................................................................................................. 27 

Tobacco Free Policy ................................................................................................................ 27 

Drug and Alcohol Policy .......................................................................................................... 27 

Inspection of Employees and Personal Property for Possession of Alcohol and Drugs ......... 28 

Procedures for Positive Test Results ....................................................................................... 29 

Marijuana ................................................................................................................................ 30 

Compliance with the Drug-Free Workplace Act ..................................................................... 30 

Legal Requirements ................................................................................................................ 31 

Accommodations for Disabilities ............................................................................................ 31 

Medical Files ........................................................................................................................... 31 

Social Security Number Privacy Policy .................................................................................... 31 

Immigration Reform and Control Act ..................................................................................... 32 

Employee Handbook Responsibility- Acknowledgement ....................................................... 33 

 

Starting at City of Hartford 

New employees at City of Hartford begin with a 90-day introductory or training period.  This 
period is designed to give employees time to learn about the City and your job; get acquainted 
with other City employees, and to become familiar with the daily workings of your department. 
During the first three months you should clarify your job responsibilities, make plans, and work 
to establish a positive working relationship with other City employees. Frequent communication 
between employees and their respective leaders is encouraged during this critical period to 
determine if this is the right fit for both parties.  If it is not the right fit, either party can end the 
employment relationship during the introductory period. Successful completion of the 
introductory period does not alter the “at will” employment relationship. 
 
Please note that you are required to submit the enclosed acknowledgement form to the City 
Manager within 3 business days of receiving your copy of the Employee Handbook. Please be 
sure to thoroughly review the contents of the Handbook before signing the acknowledgement. 

Communications 

Communications – How We Keep In Touch 

A regular and continuous flow of communication among all employees is an essential component 
of a successful business. Every City of Hartford Department Head is required to keep employees 

89

Item 23.



 
 

5 

well-informed of the organization’s goals as well as staff’s work performance and expectations. 
The City of Hartford recognizes that good, productive communication is a shared responsibility. 
Employees are encouraged to express their views and discuss questions and/or concerns with 
their Department Head. Written and verbal suggestions are always encouraged and welcomed. 
Employees should contact their respective Department Head or the City Manager when they 
have comments or suggestions. 

Computer & E-mail Usage Policy 

Computers, computer files, the email system, and software furnished to employees are property 
of City of Hartford and intended for business use. The City of Hartford reserves the right to 
monitor its computers, computer files, e-mail system and software. Employees do not have any 
expectation of privacy when using City of Hartford provided resources. Employees should not use 
a password, access a file, or retrieve any stored communication without authorization.  

Internet usage for work related activities is expected in most roles.  Personal internet usage 
during work hours must be limited and should not interfere with employees’ ability to perform 
their duties.  All internet usage is viewable by the City of Hartford and employees should have no 
expectation of privacy while using the internet at work. The use of anonymizers or an anonymous 
proxy to make internet activity untraceable is prohibited.  

City of Hartford strives to maintain a workplace free of harassment and sensitivity to the diversity 
of its employees. Therefore, City of Hartford prohibits the use of computers and the e-mail 
system in ways that are illegal, disruptive, offensive to others, or harmful to morale. For example, 
the display or transmission of sexually explicit images, messages, and cartoons is not allowed. 
Other such misuse includes but is not limited to, ethnic slurs, racial comments, off-color jokes, or 
anything that may be construed as harassment or showing disrespect toward others.  

City of Hartford purchases and licenses the use of various computer software for business 
purposes and does not own the copyright to this software or its related documentation. Unless 
authorized by the software developer, City of Hartford does not have the right to reproduce such 
software for use on more than one computer. Employees may only use the software on local area 
networks or on multiple machines according to the software license agreement. City of Hartford 
prohibits the illegal duplication of software and its related documentation.    

Social Media 

City of Hartford employees, interns and volunteers may responsibly publish or comment via 
social media but are discouraged from identifying themselves as connected to the City of 
Hartford when responding to or commenting on blogs/social media posts regarding personal 
opinions or views.  Employee communications should not compromise the integrity of City of 
Hartford or convey any message that is inconsistent with City of Hartford’s mission and code of 
ethics. Employees are ultimately responsible for the content of their communications and 
conveying that the expressed views are those of the employee and do not reflect the views of 
the City.  

 
It is important that employees abide by laws governing copyright and fair use or fair dealing of 
copyrighted material owned by others, including the Institute’s own copyrights and brands.  

 

90

Item 23.



 
 

6 

Social media policy violations will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination for cause.  

Solicitations, Distributions, and Posting of Materials 

City of Hartford prohibits the solicitation, distribution, and posting of materials on or at the 
organization’s property by any employee or non-employee, except as may be approved in 
advanced by the City Manager. 

• Non-employees may not solicit employees or distribute literature of any kind on 
organization premises at any time. 

• Employees may not solicit other employees in a way that interferes with work. 

• The posting of materials or electronic announcements are permitted only with the 
approval from the City Manager or by vote of the City Council.  

Working Together 

Employee Relations and Conflict Resolution 

The City of Hartford is committed to providing a workplace where employees are treated with 
fairness and respect. To do this, the City of Hartford provides a resolution process that offers a 
neutral solution to workplace conflicts. When concerns are raised, they should be resolved 
between the involved individuals as quickly as possible. 

A conflict between employees in the workplace that remains unresolved for a period of time can 
affect working relationships and employee morale. This is why City of Hartford encourages 
employees to bring concerns to their colleagues, Department Head, or City Manager in a 
constructive manner. Concerns will be taken seriously, kept as confidential as possible, and 
handled fairly. Employees who have a concern that they cannot resolve on their own are 
encouraged to go to their Department Head, or the City Manager.  

While the City of Hartford encourages employees to resolve concerns informally, the City of 
Hartford will provide support for the constructive resolution of disputes in the following manner: 

• Conflict with co-workers: Conflicts between an employee and a co-worker may occur at 
some point. These conflicts should be worked out between the two parties. If a resolution 
cannot be reached, or if the issue is volatile in nature, then involvement of a Department 
Head or City Manager to help resolve the situation is the next step. The City Manager can 
help create a plan for resolution which may include others at their initiative or the 
employee’s request. 

• Open door policy: Employees may consult informally with any leader for help in the form 
of listening, coaching, suggested options, friendly advice or even intervention to resolve 
conflicts, review policies, or to make suggestions for improving business practices. 

When a conflict cannot be resolved via these processes, the employees should clearly explain the 
concern to the City Manager in writing by utilizing the Employee Dispute Form. The City of 
Hartford requests that all concerns be brought up in a timely manner so that they can be resolved 
quickly.  

91

Item 23.



 
 

7 

It may be necessary to talk to others to obtain all the facts in order to conduct a thorough 
investigation. Once all the facts have been reviewed, a decision will be made and communicated 
as quickly as possible. This determination will be communicated in the most appropriate time 
and place. If corrective action is required, it will be taken as soon as possible.  

Any employee, who in good faith, makes a formal complaint will not be subject to reprisal or 
retaliation.  

After necessary corrective actions have been implemented, the City of Hartford will take 
additional action in order to determine if the issue has been addressed by requesting employee 
feedback. Please remember that the City of Hartford cannot share details of any disciplinary 
action with fellow employees.  

Misconduct, Harassment and Discrimination Policy  

Introduction 

The City of Hartford (“City”) is committed to the goal of delivering the highest possible level of 
services to citizens of the City and the community. It is the policy of the City Commission 
(“Commission”) to deliver citizen, vendor/contractor and community services, and maintain 
employment and public services without regard to race, color, religion, sex, pregnancy, sexual 
orientation, gender preference/identity, veteran status, marital status, height, weight, national 
origin, age, disability or any other status protected under local, state, or federal law, and maintain 
an overall environment free of discriminatory, inappropriate, and disrespectful conduct or 
communications. 
 
As further described in this Policy, the City prohibits abuse, discrimination or harassment of or by 
any City elected or appointed officer, appointed City board and commission member, City 
employee, citizen, vendor/contractor, member of the public, or work-related business contact 
(hereinafter “Covered Individual(s)”).  Violation of this Policy will result in such corrective action 
as the City in its sole discretion is authorized to implement.   

Conduct Requirements 

Civility Requirements.   
All Covered Individuals must be treated with respect and in a professional and courteous manner 
at all times and in all in-person, verbal or in written communications (including e-mails, texts, or 
social media).  It is expected that all Covered Individuals will refrain from using profanities, insults, 
or other disparaging remarks.  Covered Individuals must endeavor to make only truthful 
statements and not knowingly misrepresent, mischaracterize, or misquote information received 
from others.  It is also expected that all Covered Individuals will work together in a spirit of 
cooperation toward achieving the goals of the City set out in this Policy.   

Discrimination and Harassment 

The City prohibits discrimination, which includes disparate treatment, directed toward any 
individual or group of individuals based on race, ethnicity, sex, pregnancy, sexual orientation, 
gender preference/identity, color, religion, national origin, physical or mental disability, age, 
marital status, height, weight, status as a veteran or other protected status.  

92

Item 23.



 
 

8 

The City also prohibits harassment that is unwelcome and sufficiently severe or pervasive and 
objectively offensive so as to substantially interfere with a person's work or other environments. 
Harassment may include, but is not limited to, threats; physical contact or violence; pranks; jokes; 
bullying; epithets; coercion; derogatory comments; vandalism; or verbal, graphic, or written 
conduct directed at an individual or group because of race, ethnicity, sex, pregnancy, sexual 
orientation, gender preference/identity, color, religion, national origin, physical or mental 
disability, age, marital status, weight, height, or veteran status.  Even if actions are not directed 
at specific persons, a hostile environment may be created when the conduct is sufficiently severe 
or pervasive and objectively offensive so as to substantially interfere with or limit the ability of 
an individual to work or otherwise to participate in or benefit from City activities or services.  The 
following are examples of types of conduct that the City deems to be violations of this Policy: 

 

• Making or using epithets, threats, derogatory comments, jokes, or slurs 

• Displaying, viewing or transmitting derogatory posters, photographs, electronic mail, 
computer images, cartoons, or drawings 

• Written communications containing statements that may be offensive to individuals 
in a particular protected group, such as racial or ethnic stereotypes or caricatures 

• Unwelcome physical conduct such as assault, touching, gestures, or blocking normal 
movement 

 
The City will take action to prevent unwanted conduct from occurring and will deal with all such 
incidents in an immediate and impartial manner.  

Sexual Harassment 

Sexual harassment includes unwelcome sexual advances, requests to engage in sexual conduct, 
and other physical or expressive behavior of a sexual nature where: (1) submission to such 
conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment 
or participation in or benefit from City activities or operations; (2) submission to or rejection of 
such conduct by an individual is used, threatened or suggested to be used, as the basis for 
employment or other decisions affecting an individual; or (3) such conduct substantially 
interferes with an individual's performance of work or other functions, thus creating an 
intimidating, hostile, or demeaning employment or other environment.   

 
No one will threaten or insinuate, explicitly or implicitly, that another employee’s refusal to 
submit to sexual advances or requests will adversely affect that person’s employment, work 
status, evaluation, wages, advancement, assigned duties, shifts, or any other condition of 
employment. Similarly, no one will promise, imply or grant any preferential treatment in 
connection with another employee or applicant engaging in sexual conduct. 

 
Harassment can be verbal, visual, or physical.  It can be overt, such as a suggestion that a person 
could get a salary increase or receive other City benefits or services by submitting to sexual 
advances or requests.  Sexual harassment can also consist of persistent, unwelcome attempts to 
change a professional, employment or other relationship to a personal one. It can include 
unwelcome sexual flirtations, inappropriate put-downs of individual persons or classes of people, 

93

Item 23.



 
 

9 

or serious physical abuses, such as assault.  Examples of sexual harassment include, but are not 
limited to: 

 

• Verbal, visual or physical contact of a sexual nature 

• Sexual jokes, comments, insults, cartoons or innuendoes  

• Unwelcome sexual flirtations, advances or propositions  

• Pressure or requests for sexual activities 

• Unnecessary touching 

• Sexually degrading words or images used to describe an individual 
 

Racial/Ethnic Harassment or Discrimination 

The City promotes an inclusive work environment that includes people of all backgrounds, 
heritages, color, ethnicity, cultural heritage, and religious beliefs. Harassment that is directed at 
a person or group of persons based on any status described above is covered under this Policy 
and is prohibited. Even if actions are not directed at specific persons, a hostile environment can 
be created when the conduct is sufficiently severe or pervasive and objectively offensive so as to 
substantially interfere with the person's work or other environment. 

 
Examples of racial and religious discrimination include, but are not limited to: 

• Disparaging comments about a person’s heritage, color, ethnicity, or religious beliefs 

• Inconsistent treatment of others based on these factors 

• Failure to consider reasonable requests for accommodation of beliefs based on these 
factors 

• Sharing of cartoons, jokes, comments, or other offensive actions based on these 
factors 

 
Workplace Bullying  

The City defines bullying as behavior, either direct or indirect, whether verbal, physical or 
otherwise, conducted by one or more persons against another or others, in the workplace and/or 
during the course of employment.  Such behavior does nothing to strengthen the organization 
and only serves to negatively impact the morale and mental health of those who are impacted 
by it.  

  
Bullying may be intentional or unintentional. However, it must be noted that when an allegation 
of bullying is made, the intention of the alleged bully is irrelevant, and will not be given 
consideration when implementing discipline. As with sexual harassment, it is the effect of the 
behavior on the individual that is important. The City considers the following types of behavior 
examples of bullying: 

 

• Verbal bullying: Slandering, ridiculing, or maligning a person; persistent name calling that 
is hurtful, insulting or humiliating; using a person as ‘butt of jokes’; abusive and offensive 
remarks. 

• Physical bullying: Pushing, shoving, kicking, poking, tripping, assault or threat of physical 
assault, damage to a person’s work area or property. 

94

Item 23.



 
 

10 

• Gesture bullying: Nonverbal threatening gestures; glances that can convey threatening 
messages. 

• Exclusion: Socially or physically excluding or disregarding a person in work-related 
activities. 

 
Complaint Resolution 

In order to identify and correct conduct prohibited under this Policy, the City has adopted a 
specific process by which a Covered Individual can make his or her complaints known.  It is 
important to identify and remedy prohibited conduct as soon as possible.  All complaints under 
this Policy should be made on the Complaint Form attached to this Policy as Attachment A, 
however oral complaints will be treated in the same manner.   

  
All complaints of violations of this Policy should, if possible, be submitted within twenty-four (24) 
hours or sooner after the alleged violation occurs.  Complaints not submitted as soon as possible 
will be accepted and properly investigated and processed.  However, complainants are advised 
that delays in filing complaints may greatly hamper the City’s ability to effectively investigate and 
remedy any wrongful conduct, because of the passage of time, the loss of memory or 
information, or the inability to contact or interview witnesses.  If the complaint in any way 
involves the City Manager, the complaint must be submitted to the Mayor.   
 

At all times, the investigator will work to maintain confidentiality and individual dignity. All 
complaints under this policy should be in writing include the following information: 

1. A description of the incident(s), including the date(s), location(s), and the names of any 
witnesses.  

2. The name of person(s) conducting the behavior, their department, and position and the 
names and details of any other(s) involved. 

3. The effect of the incident(s) on the complainant’s ability to perform their job, or on other 
terms or conditions of their employment. 

4. The names of the any others who may have been subject to the same or similar behaviors. 
5. Any other information the complainant believes to be relevant to the complaint. 

  
Once a complaint has been filed, the investigator will investigate the complaint as soon as 
practical. In order to maintain workplace safety and the integrity of its investigation, the City may 
suspend employees suspected of workplace harassment or bullying, either with or without pay, 
pending investigation.  

The investigation will include interviews with the complainant and any witnesses concerning the 
alleged discrimination, harassment or bullying activity.  After the completion of the investigation, 
the investigator will determine if the complaint does or does not have justification. Information 
from witnesses that is helpful in determining the validity of a complaint will be documented.  If 
it can be substantiated that discrimination, harassment or bullying activity has taken place, those 
responsible will be disciplined for violation of the City policy. The City will inform the complainant 
and the accused of the findings and results of the investigation.  

Retaliation for the reporting of an alleged discrimination, harassment or bullying activity will 
result in an employment disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. 

95

Item 23.



 
 

11 

Employees who, in good faith, report an alleged incident of harassment or discrimination will 
under no circumstances be subject to reprisal or retaliation of any kind.  Employees who feel they 
have been subjected to such adverse actions should report them immediately.  

Any employee, however, who is found to have knowingly made a false accusation of harassment, 
discrimination, bullying or retaliation, may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination.  

While everyone shares the responsibility to help eliminate all forms of harassment, supervisors 
have the direct responsibility for actively observing and acting to prevent such behavior and 
immediately reporting any incidents they have knowledge of to the City Manager. 

 
Non-Retaliation   

The City not only prohibits abuse, discrimination and harassment as set out in this Policy, but also 
strictly prohibits any retaliation against any Covered Individual who, in good faith, has submitted 
a complaint under this Policy or who has participated in an investigation under this Policy.  The 
City strictly prohibits retaliation against any employee who reports harassment or discrimination, 
opposes unlawful practices, files a complaint, testifies or participates in any manner in any 
investigation or proceeding concerning harassment or discrimination complaints.  
 

Any Covered Individual who, after investigation, is found to have engaged in retaliation 
prohibited under this Policy will be subject to such appropriate corrective action as the City is 
authorized in its sole discretion to implement.  If a Covered Individual believes he or she has been 
subjected to retaliation for exercising his or her rights under this Policy, the individual should 
submit a complaint in accordance with the complaint procedure set out above in this Policy.  
Retaliation may include, but is not limited to: 

• Termination of employment 

• Demotion 

• Suspension 

• Failure to give equal consideration in making employment decisions 

• Failure to make employment recommendations impartially 

• Actions that adversely affect working conditions or otherwise denying employment 
benefit 

 
Any employee found to have retaliated against another employee would be subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.  

 
Employee Responsibilities   

• Recognize harassment and discrimination when it happens. Understand that it is not the 
victim’s fault and that it does not “come with the job.”  

• Remember, harassment and discrimination is against the law. 

• If any employees are harassed, they should tell the harasser to stop and let them know 
that the behavior is offensive. 

• Employees are not to keep it to themselves. If the harassment continues after an 
employee has said “NO” to the harasser, they need to report it to a Department Head or 

96

Item 23.



 
 

12 

the City Manager. If the victim’s Department Head is the harasser, it needs to be reported 
to the City Manager immediately. If the victim’s harasser is the City Manager, it needs to 
be reported to the Mayor. 

• If any employees see harassment or discrimination, they are to report it, even if it does 
not directly affect them. 

Business Ethics and Standards of Conduct 

It is the City of Hartford’s intent and expectation to always work ethically with employees, the 
City Commission, stakeholders, suppliers, and the community. High ethical standards are 
necessary to maintain a competitive position and ensure that City of Hartford remains a valued 
member of the community.  

Ethical behavior means honesty, equity, integrity, and social responsibility. The City of Hartford’s 
commitment to integrity means that the City will not tolerate unethical conduct or conflicts of 
interest. It is the responsibility of all City of Hartford employees to always act responsibly, 
ethically, and honestly. Specifically adhering to the following: 

• Always act in accordance with the law, this policy and other City of Hartford policies and 
procedures. 

• Treat fellow employees, City Commissioners, stakeholders, suppliers, and community 
members with respect and fairness. 

• Report any conduct that may violate the law, this policy, or other City of Hartford policies 
and by filing a written complaint outlining the details, dates, person or persons involved 
and submitting it immediately to the City Manager. 

• Never retaliate against anyone for making a good faith report regarding a potential legal 
or ethics violation or a violation of other City of Hartford policies and procedures. 

• Members of the City of Hartford Department Heads have the additional responsibility, of 
not only adhering to the responsibilities listed above, but of ensuring prompt 
investigation of allegations of illegal or unethical conduct and violation of any City of 
Hartford policies or procedures and administering prompt disciplinary action as needed. 

Meeting the above requirements is vital to the organization. Therefore, violation of these policies 
or the law may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  

Conflicts of Interest 

The City of Hartford is committed to maintaining high standards of ethical business practices. 
Conflicts of Interest arise when the personal interests of an employee, influence or appear to 
influence, that employee’s ability to act in the City of Hartford’s best interest. It is the City of 
Hartford’s expectation that employees will not engage in any activity, practice, or employment 
opportunity which conflicts, or appears to conflict with the business activities or interests of the 
City of Hartford. 

Employees must disclose to the City of Hartford any financial interests or activities they are 
involved in that does business with or competes with City of Hartford. This policy also includes 
employee’s immediate family members. 

97

Item 23.



 
 

13 

• Gifts Influencing Decision-Making:  City of Hartford personnel will not accept from 
anyone gifts, favors, services, entertainment or other things of value to the extent that 
decision-making or actions affecting the City of Hartford might be influenced.  Similarly, 
the offer or giving of money, services or other things of value with the expectation of 
influencing the judgment or decision-making process of any purchaser, supplier, 
customer/member, government official or other person by any City of Hartford personnel 
or the City of Hartford is absolutely prohibited.  Any such conduct should be reported 
immediately. 

• Gifts from Existing Vendors:  City of Hartford personnel may accept gifts from vendors, 
suppliers, contractors or other persons that have values of less than $100.  The City of 
Hartford expects employees to exercise good judgment and discretion in accepting gifts.  
Employees who have concerns regarding whether a gift should be accepted, should ask 
their Department Head or the City Manager.  City of Hartford personnel will not accept 
excessive gifts, meals, expensive entertainment or other offers of goods or services, which 
have more than a $100 value. 

• Outside Employment:  Supplemental employment outside of that which is provided by 
the City of Hartford is not encouraged, however if it is necessary, employees must request 
in writing to the City Manager their desire to seek additional employment with specific 
details. If approved, the hours of work for supplemental employment must not interfere 
with an employee’s regularly scheduled hours. Additionally, the employee’s supplemental 
employment must not conflict with the interests of City of Hartford.  Employees must be 
explicit in their request to the City Manager what position they are contemplating 
accepting and for whom they would be working.   

Nepotism 

The City of Hartford permits the employment of qualified individuals who are related to a current 
employee provided that a direct supervisory/subordinate relationship does not exist as a result 
of that employment. 
  
Family/relatives includes spouse, child, father, mother, sister, brother, stepparents, stepsiblings, 
half-siblings, mother or father in-law, son or daughter in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, and 
brother or sister in-law, and any other relative residing in the employee’s household.  
 
Promotions and transfers will be denied if it creates a nepotism situation.  
 
In the event two co-workers working in the same division become spouse to each other and one 
employee is or becomes a supervisor, then one or the other will be required to transfer to a 
different department or division where this conflict will be resolved. In the event either employee 
does not transfer, the City may transfer the non-supervisor employee to another position for 
which they are qualified. In this situation, the City would try to transfer the employee to a vacant 
position at the same or similar rate of pay however the transfer may result in a lower pay rate. 
 
 

98

Item 23.



 
 

14 

Employment Information 

Dress Code & Personal Appearance Policy 

City of Hartford employees are expected to be well-groomed and to present a professional image 
at all times.  Employees in many positions will be required to wear the City of Hartford provided 
uniform. These are provided at no cost to the employee who is in turn, expected to maintain 
their uniforms in neat conditions. Employees should practice excellent personal hygiene and their 
clothing shall be neat, clean, in good repair, and fit appropriately.  A professional appearance is 
an ongoing requirement of employment. The City of Hartford reserves the right to determine 
appropriateness. Any employee who is improperly dressed will be counseled or may be sent 
home to change clothes. 

Progressive Discipline Process 

Recognizing that everyone makes mistakes from time-to-time, and deserve opportunities for 
correction, the City of Hartford has developed a process for administering discipline in a positive 
manner that is intended to help employees improve. The goal is to change the behavior, not the 
employee. Here is the process that will be followed when an issue arises that requires disciplinary 
action: 

• Step 1: Collaborative Coaching 

• Step 2: Written Warning 

• Step 3: Final Written Warning 

• Step 4: Termination 
The level of discipline issued depends on the severity of the infraction. Minor issues will be 
addressed via the progressive steps, yet more serious issues will receive elevated levels of 
discipline up to and including discharge based on the nature of the offense. Use of progressive 
discipline will in no way affect the “at-will” employment relationship. 

The best way to avoid disciplinary action is to closely follow all of the procedures and work 
instructions. If something does not seem quite right to an employee and/or an employee doesn’t 
understand it, be certain to ask your Department Head for help. By doing this, not only will 
employees stay safe at work, but it helps to ensure that services are of the highest possible 
quality.  

Performance Reviews 

Department Heads are encouraged to discuss job performance and goals informally with 
individual staff on a frequent basis. Newly hired employees will be formally evaluated during their 
90-day introductory period. Upon completion of the 90-day introductory period, employees will 
receive performance evaluations annually. 

Job Posting and Transfer Policy 

The City of Hartford wants employees to have an opportunity to transfer to other departments 
and/or be recognized for their acquired skills and experience by being promoted within the 
organization. Employees may be promoted or transferred to open positions, provided that they 
have the necessary education requirements, certifications, experience and satisfactory work 
performance to meet the needs of the new job.  

99

Item 23.



 
 

15 

When the City of Hartford has an open position, it will be communicated to employees. 
Employees interested in the posted position should apply by completing a Job Posting 
Application. 

Positions that become available will be posted either internally, externally, or both 
simultaneously. While the preference is to promote from within before hiring from the outside 
whenever possible, the City of Hartford reserves the right to select the most qualified candidate 
based upon the knowledge, skills, abilities, and work attitudes of the candidates applying for the 
position. Employees promoted from within the existing work force must complete a six-month 
training period. 

Work Rules 

The following general conduct guidelines are designed to ensure an enjoyable and productive 
work environment for all employees.  Improper employee conduct disrupts such an environment.  
Therefore, offending employees may be subject to appropriate remedial measures including 
discipline up to and including termination.  The following are provided as examples of conduct 
that will result in appropriate employee discipline at the City of Hartford’s sole discretion. These 
rules do not alter, amend, modify or revoke the “at-will” employment relationship between the 
City and its employees and both remain free to terminate the employment relationship at any 
time, with or without cause and with or without prior notice.  These rules do not nor are they 
intended to be a complete or exhaustive list of all activities which are prohibited by the City. 

1. Dishonesty in the performance of duties in any form or degree; 
2. Being in possession of or under the influence of any level of alcoholic beverages, or non-

prescribed or illegal drugs while on duty or while on the City’s premises or in City vehicles 
except licensed law enforcement officers in possession of drugs or alcohol while on duty 
as part of their legal responsibilities.  

3. Failing a drug/controlled substance/alcohol test or refusing City of Hartford requests to 
be tested for alcohol, drugs, or controlled substances. 

4. Wasting, marring, destroying, abusing, or damaging City of Hartford property or the 
property of City employees or customers due to carelessness, negligence or willful acts 
(employees may also be charged for such losses). 

5. Unauthorized removal, misappropriation or use of property belonging to the City of 
Hartford, its customers or another employee. 

6. Leaving the premises during working hours without Department Head or City Manager 
prior permission or without clocking out or time-keeping adjustments. 

7. Distracting the attention of others, or causing confusion by unnecessary talking, shouting, 
horseplay, or demonstrations in any work area. 

8. Inappropriate workplace dress or grooming. 
9. Insubordination or failure to follow instructions or perform assigned work including use 

of abusive language or profanity. 
10. Operating machines, tools, vehicles, or equipment for which an employee has not been 

specifically assigned or not trained to operate. 
11. Wasting time or loitering on the City’s property during working hours or interfering with 

other employee’s work. 

100

Item 23.



 
 

16 

12. Unauthorized solicitation for any cause on City of Hartford premises during working time 
or distribution of literature, written or printed matter of any description in working areas 
on City property or the job site during working time.   

13. Misusing, disclosing, or removing from the premises, without the prior written 
authorization of the City Manager, any confidential or proprietary information of the City, 
employee personnel information (including but not limited to social security number and 
dates of birth), employee or customer lists, electronic or written records, computer 
software, blueprints, City records, or confidential or proprietary information of any 
nature. 

14. Making false, vicious, or malicious statements concerning any customer, employee, or the 
City of Hartford’s conduct of business or services. 

15. Sabotage. 
16. Immoral or indecent conduct. 
17. Littering or contributing to poor housekeeping, unsanitary or unsafe conditions on City of 

Hartford premises or in City vehicles. 
18. Conviction for commission of a felony. 
19. Sleeping during working hours. 
20. Stopping work before or failure to be at work prior to regular or scheduled shift time. 
21. Violation of Sexual Harassment, Bullying and/or Discrimination Policies 
22. Fighting, gambling, horseplay, use of pornographic, profane or obscene language or 

materials, threatening harm to persons or property of others. 
23. Possession of firearms, explosive or weapons of any kind while on the City of Hartford 

premises or in City vehicles, or while on City business. 
24. Careless or inefficient performance of duties, creation of excessive waste, incompetence, 

failure/refusal to perform work as directed, performing other than City work during 
working time, or other neglect of duty. 

25. Negligence or carelessness in observing fire prevention and safety regulations, including 
failing to immediately report job related injuries, tampering with, by-passing or failing to 
use safety equipment/devices or refusal to obey supervisory personnel, civil defense or 
other proper authorities in emergency situations. 

26. Excessive absences, pattern absenteeism, tardiness, leaving work early and/or not 
properly calling in to report the same. 

27. Discourtesy to or creating conflicts with, coworkers, City Commissioners, customers or 
other persons doing business with the City of Hartford. 

28. Falsification or misrepresentation or omission of material information with respect to 
time records or other City personnel, business or other records. 

29. Smoking inside any City building or vehicle.    
30. Any violation of the Policies contained in this Employee Handbook. 
31. Failing to observe hygiene practices or contributing to unsanitary conditions. 
32. Violation of the E-Mail and Computer Usage Code of Conduct. 

Length of Service 

Length of service refers to the amount of uninterrupted time employees have worked at City of 
Hartford since the last date of hire. Length of service determines eligibility for certain benefits 
such as healthcare and Paid Time Off (PTO).  

101

Item 23.



 
 

17 

Length of service shall be considered interrupted or terminated for the following reasons: 

• When an employee quits or is terminated 

• When an employee retires 

• When the employee is absent from work for three (3) consecutive working days without 
notifying the organization (considered a voluntary resignation with no notice) 

• When an employee fails to return to work following an authorized leave of absence 

Employee Classifications 

As a regular employee, you are classified as either a full-time or part-time employee, and you are 
either exempt or not exempt from overtime provisions under the Fair Labor Standards Act based 
on your role within the City.  
 
These classifications do not guarantee employment for any specified period of time. The right to 
terminate the employment relationship at any time is retained by both the employee and the 
City consistent with any collective bargaining agreement (CBA) for represented employees.  
 
All employees are designated as either Non-Exempt or Exempt under State and Federal wage and 
hour laws.  
 
Non-Exempt employees are employees whose work is covered by the Fair Labor Standards Act 
(FLSA). They are NOT exempt from the law’s requirements concerning minimum wage and 
overtime.  
 
Exempt employees are generally managers, professional, administrative, or technical staff who 
are exempt from the overtime provisions of the FLSA. Exempt employees hold jobs which meet 
the standards and criteria established under the FLSA by the US Department of Labor.  
 
In addition to the above categories, each employee will belong to one of the following 
employment categories:  

 
A. Regular Full-Time. A regular full-time employee is one who:  

1) Works in a position classified as full-time.  
2) Is employed for a period of time not limited in duration, and is scheduled to 

work a minimum of forty (40) hours per week, or a full time shift as defined in 
their CBA.  

 
Regular full-time employees are those who are not in a temporary status or in a Probation 
Period and who are regularly scheduled to work the City’s full-time weekly schedule of a 
minimum of forty (40) hours per week or as defined in their CBA. Generally, they are 
eligible for the City’s benefit package subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of 
each benefit program.  

 
B. Regular Part-Time. A regular part-time employee is one who:  

1) Works in a position classified as part-time.  

102

Item 23.



 
 

18 

2) Is employed for a period of time not limited in duration, and is scheduled to work less 
than 1,510 hours per year.  

 
Regular part-time employees are those who are not in a temporary status and who are 
regularly scheduled to work less than the 1,510 hours per year. Regular part-time 
employees are not eligible for participation in the City’s benefit program.  

 
C. Temporary and Seasonal Employees. A temporary or seasonal employee is one who:  
 

1) Works in a position classified as temporary or seasonal.  
2) Is employed for a period of time limited in duration, and is scheduled to work less 

than 1,510 hours per year.  
 
Seasonal/Temporary Employees are employees whose service is intended to be of limited 
duration, such as during summer months only, for temporarily filling of vacancies due to 
absence of regular employees, or for special projects or elections. This classification also 
includes high school and college co-op students and interns. While temporary and 
seasonal employees receive all legally mandated benefits (such as Social Security and 
Workers’ Compensation insurance), they are not eligible to participate in any of the other 
City benefit programs. Any changes in an employee’s employment status must be 
approved by the City Manager or designee. 

 

Personnel Files 

By law, the City of Hartford is required to maintain a personnel file for each employee. Each file 
must include the following personal data: 

• Name 

• Home address, telephone number, and message number 

• Emergency contact 

• Marital status and dependents 

• Federal, state or local tax exemptions 

• Social Security number 

• Date of birth 

It is important to keep this information current for insurance, payroll, and emergency reasons. If 
something happens, the City of Hartford will need to know who to call and how to contact them. 
The City of Hartford may also need to call if there is a change in the work schedule or for some 
other employment matter. Please let the City Manager or City Treasurer know anytime there is 
a change that affects this information.  

To protect employees, only the City Manager is authorized to release information regarding 
employees to individuals outside of the organization. In doing so, the organization abides by all 
right-to-know and privacy laws. Employees who need employment verification need to contact 
the City Manager. 

Employees have the right to view the information located in their personnel files. Employees who 
want to see their record need to request a meeting in writing with the City Manager.  Employees 

103

Item 23.



 
 

19 

who want a copy of anything in their file must request a copy of the items in writing to the City 
Manager. 

Resignations 

In the natural course of business employees may decide to leave employment with the City of 
Hartford. When employees make the decision to leave, the City of Hartford asks that they take 
the following steps: 

• Notify their Department Head promptly and provide a written resignation so that plans 
can be made for a replacement. A minimum of two (2) week notice is required to receive 
payout of benefits. 

• Whenever possible, City of Hartford will attempt to schedule resigning employees for an 
exit interview with the City Manager.  Employee feedback is extremely valuable in an 
effort for the City of Hartford to continue to be a good place to work 

• Employees will be required to turn in all City of Hartford property including keys, phones 
and ID badges, in their possession prior to leaving.  If any City property is not returned by 
an employee leaving the organization, the cost of such property may be deducted from 
the employee’s final paycheck to the extent permitted by law.  

Work Schedules and Compensation 

Work Schedules 

Regular full-time employees will be scheduled forty (40) hours each week.  Part-time employees 
will be scheduled for the appropriate number of hours each week based on their authorized 
schedule. Alternate work schedules may be available with approval by the Department Head and 
City Manager. 

Any changes to an approved work schedule must have prior written approval of the employee’s 
Department Head. These exceptions should occur infrequently and should follow all of the 
guidelines for an acceptable work schedule. Alternative work schedules may be rescinded by 
management for any reason.   

Pay Periods 

Currently, the pay period begins on Wednesday and ends on Tuesday of the following week. 
Employees will be compensated on Fridays, on a weekly basis. Should any payday fall on a holiday 
or when banks are closed, payday will be the preceding day. The pay period may be subject to 
change. 

Time Reporting 

Non-exempt employees are required to report the actual hours that they work on the approved 
timesheets to ensure proper payment.  Accurate tracking and reporting of these hours is 
important because it is essential for the proper payment of employees and accurate expenses 
for the organization. Employees are required to sign and have their Department Head sign their 
timesheet prior to submission. No one should fill out an employee’s timesheet for them. Failure 

104

Item 23.



 
 

20 

to complete your timesheet as described or falsification of reports is a basis for disciplinary 
action, up to and including discharge. 

Overtime Pay 

Sometimes overtime work is required to meet a specific deadline, to cover for an employee who 
is off, or to address an unexpected challenge.  When overtime is worked, it will be paid as follows: 

• Salaried, Exempt Employees Overtime and compensatory time shall not be provided to 
employees who are exempt from the overtime pay requirements of the Fair Labor 
Standards Act. These exempt management employees are expected to work the 
necessary hours to fulfill their assigned duties. 

Exempt employees may be allowed to flex time at the discretion of and with the approval 
of the City Manager. Flex time may include time off in lieu of extraordinary hours worked 
beyond the standard forty (40) hour work week. As allowed by operational needs of the 
City and the nature of the employee’s assignment, flextime may also include a change in 
the expected hours of work for an exempt employee in any given week. Flextime is not 
an accrued benefit (i.e., an hour earned for an hour worked). It is reserved for those peak 
times in which an exempt employee’s workload requires the employee to work an 
inordinate number of hours or where work hours can be modified to allow an employee 
who has worked outside of the normal schedule time off after normal working hours (to 
keep the total hours worked in any given week at or around 40 hours). 

• Hourly, Non-exempt Employees are paid at their regular rate of pay for all hours worked 
up to and including the fortieth (40th) hour in each workweek except as identified in CBAs. 
Hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a given workweek will be paid according to 
the following schedule: 

▪ Any hours over forty (40), except as provided in a CBA, will be paid at an overtime 
rate of one and one-half (1.5) times an employee’s regular hourly rate of pay. 

▪ When it becomes necessary to work on a holiday, all hours worked on a holiday 
will be paid at the rate 1.5 times of the hourly, non-exempt employee’s hourly 
wage, unless otherwise determined by CBA.  

All overtime hours must be pre-approved in writing, in advance, by management, except in 
exigent circumstances.  Employees who don’t obtain prior written approval may be subject to 
discipline. 

The City of Hartford pays overtime to its employees when they work more than is normally 
required, so when calculating overtime, the City of Hartford doesn’t include any unpaid time off 
from work including sick, personal, funeral, or vacation leaves; nor holidays.  

Business Expense Reimbursement 

City of Hartford will reimburse employees for all necessary and reasonable travel expenses 
incurred while traveling to and from approved trainings or conferences, and other business-
related meetings located away from the typical location of work. Employees will receive 
reimbursement for the following business-related travel expenses: mileage (IRS standard rate), 

105

Item 23.



 
 

21 

hotel, and transportation, and meals (excluding alcohol) at the approval of the Department Head 
and/or the City Manager. 

Meals will be paid for only when staff are traveling 4 or more hours away from City Hall or when 
you are at a meeting for 6 or more hours. Total daily meal reimbursement rates may not exceed 
the reimbursement rates for Michigan as assigned by the GSA. Please discuss this limit with the 
City Manager or City Treasurer if you have any questions. 

Time Away from Work 

Paid Sick Leave 

Full-time employees will accumulate one (1), eight (8) hour, sick day leave credit for each month 
of service, beginning with the first full calendar month of service. Employees may accumulate 
(bank) a maximum of 130 days (totaling 1040 hours) of sick leave and upon voluntary resignation 
where they successfully supplied and fulfilled the required 2-week notice obligation outlined 
herein, and a minimum of one year of employment, the employee will be paid at their most 
current wage for 60% of the unused, accumulated sick time. Employees who are terminated or 
who quit without the prescribed notice are not eligible for the sick time payout for any reason.  
 
To receive payment for days missed due to illness, an employee must follow the notification 
requirements outlined in the attendance policy. This policy requires that prior to the start of the 
employee’s workday, he/she must notify their Department Head by calling them directly and 
letting them know they will be absent. Any absence lasting three (3) or more consecutive working 
days requires the employee submit a doctor’s note to excuse their absence. This doctor’s note 
can be submitted to the Department Head or the City Manager upon their return to work.  

Vacation Policy 

Everyone needs time away from work in order to maintain a positive work/life balance.  Common 
reasons for time off include vacations, illness, personal and family obligations, and time to rest, 
relax, and enjoy your interests. Taking time off from work is an important way to maintain good 
mental health. 

To support these needs, City of Hartford provides for employees to start accruing vacation after 
the first year of service.  Here’s how it works: 

1. After one year of service, all full-time employees shall be entitled to the following vacation 
schedule: 

Years of Service Annual Vacation 
Earned 1 year 1 week 

2 years 2 weeks 
3 years 2 weeks 
4 years 3 weeks 
5 years 3 weeks 
6 years 4 weeks 

7 years or more 5 weeks 
 

106

Item 23.



 
 

22 

2. Vacation time will not accumulate from year to year and shall be based on continuous 
service. The only exception to this non-accumulation policy is where the employee first 
receives written approval from the City Manager. 

3. Employees must receive advance written approval from their Department Head to use 
vacation time. Vacations will be approved on a first come, first served basis, and should 
be scheduled as far in advance as possible. 

4. Employees who voluntarily leave City of Hartford after more than a year of service and 
give a minimum of two (2) weeks’ notice will be eligible to receive payment for any 
accrued, unused vacation time up to a maximum of 160 hours.  Payment will be made at 
100% of the employee’s final hourly pay rate.  Employees who are terminated from the 
City of Hartford, who don’t provide a minimum of 2-weeks’ notice, or who have less than 
a year of service with the organization will not be eligible for any vacation time payment.   

Payroll Deductions 

The following required deductions will come out of pay; federal income tax, Social Security Tax/or 
Social Security alternative and state income tax in addition to applicable other local taxes, 
insurance premium shares, authorized retirement contributions, flexible spending plan 
contributions and other required or prior authorized deductions. Voluntary deductions for 
supplemental insurance or donations will be deducted from each paycheck as authorized by the 
employee signing up for these services.  

Please note that the City of Hartford must comply with all writs of garnishment it receives and 
will respond accordingly by submitting the proper paperwork and all fees as calculated according 
to the garnishment. Employees will be notified before any deductions are taken from their 
paychecks if the City of Hartford receives a writ of garnishment requiring the organization to 
withhold and pay a portion of wages to a court or other legitimate agency. Information about 
garnishments will be held in confidence. This also includes child support and alimony as ordered 
by the Court. 

Employees who leave the City of Hartford agree to have any monies due and owed to the City of 
Hartford for items, activities, and services, to be deducted from their last paycheck.  

Holidays 

The City of Hartford knows how important it is to spend time with family and friends during the 
holidays. The City of Hartford offers 11 paid holidays throughout the year. Part-time non-exempt 
and temporary employees are not eligible for holiday pay. Salaried and full-time non-exempt 
employees will be paid at their normal rate. Part-time salaried staff will receive four (4) hours of 
holiday pay; full-time salaried and full-time non-exempt staff will receive eight (8) hours of 
holiday pay for the following observed holidays: 

• New Year’s Eve 

• New Year’s Day 

• Martin Luther King Jr. Day 

• Good Friday  

• Memorial Day 

• Fourth of July 

107

Item 23.



 
 

23 

• Labor Day 

• Thanksgiving Day 

• Day after Thanksgiving 

• Christmas Eve 

• Christmas Day 

• 2 Floating holidays/personal days per calendar year 

The floating holidays are to be used by employees on the day of their choice in each calendar 
year.  City of Hartford encourages employees to save this day for an occasion that is meaningful 
to them.  Examples of potential dates include: Yom Kippur, Kwanzaa, Ramadan, Lunar New Year, 
Juneteenth, Birthdays or Chanukah. Employees can request vacation time if additional time off is 
desired. 

To be paid for these holidays, employees must work the full scheduled day before and after the 
holiday unless the absence has been pre-approved. Excused absences for significant, unusual 
circumstances may be accepted for the day before or after the holiday. These exceptions must 
be reviewed and approved by the City Manager. In no event will holidays, including the floating 
holiday be converted to payroll payments. In the event of employee failure to properly schedule 
the floating holiday in a calendar year that benefit is forfeited for that calendar year and may not 
be carried forward to a subsequent year. 

Voting 

City of Hartford encourages all employees to vote.  Employees are encouraged to take advantage 
of polling hours prior to the beginning or following the end of the workday. If an employee needs 
to take time off during the day to vote, they should seek approval from their Department Head 
or City Manager in advance. 

Jury Duty 

City of Hartford supports employees in fulfilling their civic responsibilities by serving on jury duty. 
City of Hartford compensates them at their normal rate of pay. 

To be eligible, employees need to inform their Department Head as soon as possible after 
receiving a jury summons so that arrangements can be made to accommodate the absence. 
Employees will be expected to report for work during jury service whenever the court schedule 
permits and to turn in records of court attendance and payment received.  

Employees must contact their Department Head daily to inform him/her of their status and the 
expected duration of the jury duty. If an employee is released after serving only a half day, the 
employee is expected to report to work and should be prepared to go directly to work from the 
courthouse. Any additional work time that is missed, but not supported by documentation from 
the court will be considered vacation time. 

Leaves of Absence 

A leave of absence is time provided without pay to permit a full-time employee to be absent from 
work for an approved reason; the granting of which is at City of Hartford’s discretion. Leaves of 
absence may be granted for medical, personal, and military reasons. To submit a leave of absence 
request, please obtain a Leave of Absence Request Form from, and return it to the City Manager.  

108

Item 23.



 
 

24 

A leave of absence shall be for a specified period of time not to exceed limits required by law. 
Where Federal or state law does not provide guidelines, no leave shall exceed thirty (30) days.   

Employees who fail to comply with the terms of their leave or fail to return to work on the 
stipulated date, may be considered to have voluntarily quit.   

Leaves of absence will not be granted to allow an employee to seek other employment. 

Employees will return to the job they held prior to the leave, or one similar. The organization is 
not obligated to return an employee to the same job that was previously held following a leave 
of absence.  

City of Hartford will continue to pay its portion of any of any health insurance premium, provided 
that employees pays their timely portion of the premium also. 

The employee must complete a Leave of Absence Request Form specifying the dates, requested 
length, and other useful information.  

Military Leave 

City of Hartford is committed to complying with all aspects of the Uniformed Services 
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA). 

An employee who is required to participate in annual military training programs or who is called 
up during short term civil or national emergencies, or who leaves work to serve in the military, 
will receive time off from work, as provided by Federal law.   Upon receiving orders, employees 
must immediately notify and make arrangements with the City Manager for the leave. 

The City of Hartford will compensate employees who take a military leave for the difference 
between their regular pay rate and the rate they are paid by the military for up to two weeks as 
long as proper documentation, including proof of military payment, is received.     

City of Hartford abides by all regulations and laws regarding the employment rights of those 
serving in the armed forces, as well as those returning from military service.  

Bereavement Policy 

Losing a loved one is never easy. To help employees through these times, all salaried and full-
time non-exempt employees who have been continuously employed with the City of Hartford for 
at least 30 days are eligible for 3 days of paid bereavement leave when a death in the immediate 
family occurs. Part-time non-exempt and temporary employees will be entitled to an unpaid 
leave of absence of up to 3 days for immediate family. Bereavement leave will be paid at the 
employee’s regular rate of pay.  Immediate family is defined as spouse, mother, father, sibling, 
child (including unborn child), grandparent, or any relative residing at the same place of residence 
as the employee. 

Bereavement leave must be taken within 30 days of the passing of the individual. 

City of Hartford reserves the right to request documentation to confirm compliance with this 
policy. If documentation is not presented upon request, the time away from work will be counted 
as vacation hours.  

 

109

Item 23.



 
 

25 

Breaks for Nursing Mothers 

Nursing mothers will be provided reasonable breaks to express breast milk in order to nurse a 
child for up to one-year after the child’s birth. Nursing mothers may take such a break as 
frequently as needed. 

City of Hartford will provide a place that is shielded from view and free from intrusion from 
coworkers and the public for nursing mothers to use to express breast milk. 

Non-exempt nursing mothers will not be required to clock out for the purpose of expressing milk 
as long as the breaks are reasonable in length. Otherwise, breaks taken pursuant to this policy 
will be unpaid.  

For more information on this procedure, including where nursing mothers may take their break 
to express breast milk, please speak with the City Manager.  

Benefits 

City of Hartford offers a comprehensive benefits program, including medical, dental, and vision 
insurance, short- and long-term disability, life insurance, deferred compensation, payment in lieu 
of insurance, and education assistance. The details of the benefits are described in the individual 
plan documents and during annual open enrollment. Employees who have any questions are 
encouraged to see the City Manager.  

Safety 

Emergencies 

A catastrophic emergency can strike at any time without warning and may put lives and jobs in a 
state of confusion. The severity of a fire, explosion, natural disaster, or other emergency can be 
lessened if everyone knows what to do. Some emergency basics to remember are as follows: 

Plan and Practice before the Emergency: 

• Become familiar with the work area. Know where the nearest exit is located and 
determine which major aisle or corridor is the most direct path to that exit. 

• Review and practice an evacuation plan with a Department Head. 

Execute the Plan during the Emergency: 

• In an emergency, always respond quickly, quietly and in an orderly fashion. Walk quickly; 
do not risk a fall by running. 

• If there is a fire leave the building immediately. Go to the designated gathering point 
outside. Once outside, leaders will take roll call to verify all employees are safely out of 
the building. If someone is missing, a Department Head will notify emergency response 
personnel who can attempt a rescue. Remain outside the building until directed to re-
enter. 

• If there is a potential for a tornado, the situation will be monitored by the City Manager 
and Department Heads.  Employees will be notified if it is necessary to take cover. When 
it is, proceed immediately to the designated shelter area. Stay in the shelter until the 
warning has expired. 

110

Item 23.



 
 

26 

 

Safety in the Workplace 

Working safely is a value and a responsibility shared and accepted by all City of Hartford 
employees. Every member of the City of Hartford team is expected to follow all safety procedures 
and guidelines. Also, employees must report all injuries and any safety, health, or fire hazards 
immediately.  

Injuries at Work 

Any work-related injury or illness that occurs either on or off-site during work hours, must be 
reported immediately to the Department Head or the City Manager. Do not neglect any injury, 
illness, or health problem, however slight it may appear. Failure to report any work-related injury 
or illness within 24 hours may result in disciplinary action and/or a loss of certain workers’ 
compensation coverage. 

When a work-related injury or illness is reported, an Incident Report will be completed by the 
person to whom it was reported and the injured employee. The incident will be thoroughly 
investigated, and the facts will be discussed, reviewed and corrective action will be determined 
and implemented. If medical attention is needed, the employee will be sent immediately to the 
appropriate health care provider.  

Workplace Violence Prevention 

The City of Hartford holds a policy of zero tolerance regarding any form of threats, both verbal 
and physical; including intimidation, and stalking. If employees feel that they are a victim and/or 
witness of any form of violence in the workplace, they are to report it to their Department Head 
or the City Manager.  

The following are examples of inappropriate activity that will result in immediate discharge: 

• Violation of the Weapons Policy outlined below. 

• Use of abusive or threatening language toward any person on City of Hartford property 
or while performing business off property, or threat or use of violence against any 
employee or customer on or off City of Hartford property 

• Willful and malicious damage to equipment and/or property 

• Provoking a fight or fighting during working hours or at any time on City of Hartford 
property 

• Engaging in activities that could bring harm to themselves, to others, or to City of Hartford 
property. 

Possession of Weapons 

City employees are prohibited from carrying, possessing or using firearms, explosives or other 
weapons, at any time on City of Hartford property, or while on duty, regardless of whether or not 
any employee has obtained a license or permit to carry a concealed weapon.  
 

111

Item 23.



 
 

27 

The exception to this rule includes only sworn, licensed law enforcement officers and reserve 
officers, the latter of which may only carry a gun after approval by the Chief of Police and who 
must, at all times be working in conjunction with, and under the direct on-site supervision of, a 
licensed Police Officer of the City of Hartford Police Department, per City of Hartford Police 
Policy. 
 
On duty shall mean the hours between which an employee reports for work and the time the 
employee leaves work, including overtime work and call-outs for special situations, such as 
emergencies, special events, or required attendance at meetings of or on behalf of the City of 
Hartford, regardless of whether or not such special situations occur during or after normal 
working hours.  

Inclement Weather 

The City of Hartford is located in beautiful southwest Michigan, where we are likely going to 
experience some interesting weather from year-to-year. If there is a severe weather condition, 
power outage, or other condition beyond the City’s control, which results in the need to close all 
or a portion of the City’s offices and facilities, employees will be notified as soon as reasonably 
possible.  

Any time the City’s offices and facilities closes or there is a delay, employees will be notified by 
the City of Hartford. If the City Manager closes the City’s offices and facilities, delays start or 
closes the City’s offices and facilities early, employees will be paid for that time.  

In situations where an employee is unable to make it in for their scheduled shift because of 
inclement weather at their home but the City’s offices and facilities remain open; the employee 
should make the decision that is most appropriate for their personal safety. If they opt to stay 
home, they should follow call off procedures. Employees will not be paid when the City’s offices 
and facilities are open and the employee is not able to make it to work due to weather. They may 
take a floating holiday/personal day or vacation time for these absences as available in their leave 
bank.  

Tobacco Free Policy 

To protect the health and well-being of all employees, the City of Hartford is a tobacco free 
employer.  Smoking, smokeless tobacco (snuff, chewing tobacco) and electronic smoking devices 
are prohibited in all City facilities and in all City vehicles. This policy applies to all employees, 
customers, contractors, and visitors.  

Employees who smoke may smoke in designated outside smoking areas only.   

Employees found to be in violation of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action(s) in the 
same manner as violations of other policies.  

Drug and Alcohol Policy 

Employees involved with alcohol and drugs tend to be less dependable, less productive, more 
vulnerable to accidents, and less likely to report regularly in a mental and physical condition fit 
for work. This jeopardizes the reputation of the City, the quality of its service, and the well-being 
of the involved employees, their families and their co-workers. The City of Hartford expects 
employees to report to work on time and in condition to perform their duties throughout their 

112

Item 23.



 
 

28 

workday. The City is committed to strictly enforce this Alcohol and Substance Abuse policy and 
to maintain a safe working environment that is free from the effects of substance abuse. 

We absolutely prohibit the sale, purchase, transfer, or possession of any illegal or non-prescribed 
drugs during work hours on or in City property at any time except licensed law enforcement 
officers in possession of drugs or alcohol while on duty as part of their legal responsibilities. For 
the purpose of this policy, “City property” also applies to property of vendors/contractors, 
recipients of City services, or any locations where you may be performing work for the City. In 
addition, we strictly prohibit any employee from being under the influence of alcohol and/or any 
illegal drug while on duty or performing work activities. Taking legally prescribed medications or 
over-the counter medications are permitted to the extent that use of such medications does not 
adversely affect your job performance or safety, or the safety of others.  

Inspection of Employees and Personal Property for Possession of Alcohol and Drugs  

The City reserves the right to conduct workplace searches of City owned property where the 
search is either for non-investigatory work-related purposes or investigations of work-related 
misconduct. The “workplace” has been defined by the United States Supreme Court as those 
areas that are related to work and are generally within the Employer’s control. Any employee 
who improperly interferes with a workplace search or does not fully cooperate with a workplace 
search is subject to corrective action. 

The policy is intended to comply with all state laws governing drug and alcohol testing and is 
designed to safeguard employee privacy rights to the fullest extent of the law.  

To ensure a workplace that is free from the dangers of the use of drugs and alcohol, City of 
Hartford does the following: 

• Pre-Employment Testing: After receiving a conditional offer of employment, all job 
applicants will be required to successfully pass a pre-employment drug and alcohol test. 
City of Hartford will not hire any job applicant who cannot successfully complete a pre-
employment drug test, refuses to take the pre-employment drug test, or refuses to sign 
the drug test consent form. 

• Random Drug and Alcohol: Employees in safety-sensitive positions requiring a CDL are 
subject to random testing as required by the U.S. Department of Transportation. 

• Reasonable Suspicion: To keep the work environment safe, City of Hartford reserves the 
right to require employees to take a drug test at any time an individual’s behavior or other 
facts and circumstances give rise to reasonable suspicion that the employee is in violation 
of this policy. Employees believed to be in violation of this policy will be monitored and 
City of Hartford may arrange to have them immediately tested by a certified independent 
laboratory. Employees will, at the time they are sent for testing, be removed from work 
and placed on unpaid suspension pending the receipt of the test results. If the result is 
negative, employees will be returned to work and will receive appropriate back-pay for 
the lost time. Failure to consent or comply constitutes basis for disciplinary action, up to 
and including discharge. 

• Post-accident: Employees may be subject to testing when they cause or contribute to an 
accident that damage a company vehicle, machinery, or equipment, and/or result in an 

113

Item 23.



 
 

29 

injury to themselves or another employee requiring off-site medical attention. In any of 
these instances, the investigation and subsequent testing will take place immediately or 
within two (2) hours  

• Post-layoff/Leave-of-Absence: Any employee who has been absent from work for thirty 
(30) consecutive calendar days or more due to layoff or leave of absence may undergo 
drug testing prior to returning to work. This policy does not apply to leave taken pursuant 
to the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) unless the cause of the FMLA leave was related 
to substance abuse. Failure to consent or comply constitutes basis for disciplinary action, 
up to and including discharge. 

Any drug and/or alcohol testing will be conducted by a certified laboratory licensed by the State. 
When a drug and alcohol test or screening is scheduled, employees will be required to submit a 
blood, urine, oral fluid, breathalyzer, or other appropriate test to prove they are not under the 
influence of alcohol, a controlled substance or illegal drugs. Employees must submit to testing as 
directed and consent to the release of test results to City of Hartford, or the City will have to 
assume that they are under the influence and will be discharged. 

If an employee is asked to submit to a drug or alcohol test, City of Hartford will notify the 
employee of the results as soon as possible after the City receives them from the laboratory. City 
of Hartford will make every effort to keep the results of drug and alcohol tests confidential. Only 
persons with a need to know will have access to the results. 

Depending on the circumstances and the employee’s work history/record, the City may offer an 
employee who violates this policy or tests positive the opportunity to return to work on terms 
acceptable to the City through a Last Chance Agreement, which could include follow-up drug 
testing at various times and frequencies for a minimum of one (1) year at the employee’s 
expense. Last Chance Agreements are in place for a minimum of five (5) years from the date of 
execution at the direction of the City Manager.  

Procedures for Positive Test Results  

If an employee tests positive for an illegal drug, marihuana, alcohol or an unreported prescribed 
drug, the following procedure will be followed:  

1. An employee with a positive alcohol and/or drug taken for reasonable suspicion, or as 
part of the MDOT CDL random alcohol/drug screening, will be relieved from all job duties 
immediately.  

2. The employee will be terminated from the City unless they agree to the terms and 
conditions of the City of Hartford’s Last Chance Agreement program which include the 
referral to a Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) and will not be allowed to return to work 
until the completion of the Corrective Plan of Action by the SAP. In order for the employee 
to return to their job duties, they must have a negative drug/or alcohol test result.  

3. The employee will be on an unpaid suspension from the time they are removed from duty 
until such time that they are approved to return to work.  

4. The employee will be responsible for all cost associated with the SAP program.  
5. A written Last Chance Agreement document will provide for the following:  

114

Item 23.



 
 

30 

a. Inform the employee that they will have random testing six (6) times at minimum 
for next 12 months and up to 5 years as recommended by the Substance Abuse 
Professional at the employee’s expense.  

b. The employee must adhere to whatever stipulations that have been made by the 
Substance Abuse Professional.  

c. If the employee does not commence the Substance Abuse Program within 10 days, 
their employment with the City will be terminated effective the last day worked.  

d. Consequences of a second confirmatory positive alcohol or drug test result, within 
five years, will be cause for termination of employment. 

General Provisions: 

• City of Hartford recognizes that employee off-the-job, as well as on-the-job, involvement 
with alcohol and drugs has the potential to adversely impact workplace safety, job 
performance and productivity, and efficiency. Employees who voluntarily request 
assistance in dealing with a personal drug or alcohol problem may do so without 
jeopardizing their continued employment. However, participation in a treatment program 
will not prevent disciplinary action for violations of this policy. 

• All drug and alcohol tests required or contemplated by this policy will be performed by 
qualified personnel. Unless specified otherwise, these tests will be conducted at City of 
Hartford’s expense. The employee will be given a consent form to sign authorizing any of 
the drug and/or alcohol tests reference above. 

• The presence in the body of over-the-counter or prescribed drugs lawfully obtained with 
a prescription and taken in the appropriate manner will not be grounds for disciplinary 
action, so long as the employee discloses the lawful use of those drugs to the medical 
clinic, physician’s office, or hospital designated by the organization before a drug test is 
administered and the use of the drugs does not impair the employee’s judgment, ability, 
or performance while at work. For prescribed drugs, “taken in the appropriate manner” 
means that a physician prescribed the drug for the employee and that the employee used 
the drug according to the prescribed dosage and frequency of use and notified the City 
Manager of any safety implications due to using this medication. 

Any employee who is believed to be in possession of an illegal substance will be reported to the 
proper authorities.  

Marijuana The City’s stance remains unchanged and being under the influence of marihuana or 
being in possession of marihuana is prohibited. The City still has the right to conduct drug testing 
as set forth in this Handbook and take disciplinary action in accordance with the Policy for 
employees who consume, smoke, or are under the influence of marihuana in the workplace. 

 
Compliance with the Drug-Free Workplace Act We comply with the Federal Drug-Free Workplace 
Act. Any employee convicted of violating a criminal drug statute that occurred in the workplace, 
must notify the City Manager of the conviction within five days. Failure to report the conviction 
may result in corrective action up to and including termination of employment.  

 

115

Item 23.



 
 

31 

Legal Requirements 

Accommodations for Disabilities 

City of Hartford does not discriminate against qualified applicants or employees with disabilities 
who, with or without a reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of a job. 

Employees who have a qualifying physical or mental disability that affects their ability to perform 
their job or a job that they would like to have, must ask City of Hartford to try to make a 
reasonable accommodation. Employees will need to tell City of Hartford the type of 
accommodation they believe they need in writing within 182 days of knowing that an 
accommodation is needed, per Michigan’s Persons with Disabilities Civil Rights Act. The City of 
Hartford will work with the employee to either provide the accommodation requested or an 
alternative one at the City’s discretion, as long as it does not cause the organization undue 
hardship. Any request for accommodation must include documentation from a qualified 
physician.  

City of Hartford reserves the right to request a second medical opinion of any accommodation 
request. Written notification must be directed to the attention of the City Manager.  

Medical Files  

At times, City of Hartford may need to request medical information about an employee. This 
information will be treated with care to ensure that it remains confidential. It will not be shared 
outside of the Personnel department unless there is a specific work-related need (like a work 
restriction) and then only to the people who have a work-related reason to know. 

On rare occasions, City of Hartford may obtain information that qualifies as Protected Health 
Information (PHI) as defined by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). 
In those instances that PHI is provided, the employee will be asked to sign an authorization for 
the City to view the information.  All Protected Health Information will be kept confidential in 
accordance with the terms of HIPAA. 

All sensitive data containing medical information will be stored in a separate, secure medical file. 
If employees have any questions regarding the use or storage of medical information, please 
contact the City Manager. 

Social Security Number Privacy Policy 

In order to keep employees safe from the danger of identity theft, City of Hartford will not display 
more than (4) four digits of an employee’s social security number, or: 

• Exhibit, post, or make them visible in a “public manner.” 

• Visibly print a social security number on a badge, insurance card, or any other form of 
identification. 

• Transmit a social security number over the internet or a computer system that isn’t secure 
or encrypted. 

Sometimes City of Hartford is required to use more than (4) four digits of a social security number 
as required by State or Federal law, or by a court rule or legal discovery process, or to administer 
benefit programs. City of Hartford will take every precaution to ensure confidentiality and to 

116

Item 23.



 
 

32 

prevent unlawful disclosure of the social security number. City of Hartford will not include a full 
social security number on any information or document mailed, or if it is visible, on or from the 
outside of the envelope or packaging. 

Documents containing social security numbers will be kept in locked file cabinets and only 
authorized individuals will have access to this information. Obsolete documents containing social 
security numbers will be shredded. 

Anyone who violates this policy by distributing or using social security numbers in an 
unauthorized manner may be disciplined, up to and including termination of employment.  

Immigration Reform and Control Act 

The Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 (IRCA) prohibits City of Hartford from employing 
any person not legally authorized to work in the United States.  In accordance with the 
requirement of IRCA, all persons commencing or resuming work after November 6, 1986, must 
submit documentation evidencing their right to work in the United States.  Anyone submitting 
false documentation shall be immediately terminated.  In fulfilling its obligations under IRCA, City 
of Hartford reaffirms its commitment to comply with both state and Federal non-discrimination 
laws. City of Hartford does not discriminate on the basis of citizenship.  Any questions concerning 
IRCA and the required documentation should be directed to the City Manager. 

U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services I-9 Forms are used to verify identity and employment 
eligibility.  Employees must complete the employee section of the I-9 Form and provide the 
required documentation supporting their identity and employment eligibility before they may 
begin working. 
  

117

Item 23.



 
 

33 

Employee Handbook Responsibility- Acknowledgement  

 

I (Employee’s Name): _______________________________________________________have 
received my copy of the City of Hartford Employee Handbook and understand that I will be 
responsible for knowing and understanding the Handbook. I also acknowledge that I have had a 
chance to ask questions about it.  

I understand that this Handbook will be reviewed periodically by the City of Hartford and that the 
organization reserves the right to alter, amend, modify, or terminate any benefits or provisions 
contained in this Handbook at any time it chooses. I also understand and acknowledge that 
nothing in this Handbook constitutes a contract and that this Handbook incorporates the terms 
and conditions of my employment and supersedes any and all past handbooks, manuals, policies, 
procedures, understandings and standards, written or oral, express or implied.  

I understand and agree that my employment and compensation is “at-will” and can be 
terminated, with or without cause, with or without notice, at any time, by either the organization 
or myself.  

I further understand that no employee or representative, other than the City Manager, has the 
power or authority to enter into any oral or written agreement for employment for any specified 
period of time, or to make any representations or agreements contrary to the foregoing, unless 
that representation is in writing and signed by the City Manager. 

I have received and read the Employee Handbook. I acknowledge that I understand its content 
and agree to abide by the policies and rules stated and described in it. 

 

__________________________________________  _______________________ 
Signature        Date 

118

Item 23.



City of Hartford 

Memo 
To: Mayor Hall 

From: Sanya Vitale 

cc: City Council 

Date: 4/24/2023 

Re: Cannabis Event at Hartford Speedway- July 21-23, 2023 

Big Cloud Farms recently submitted and was approved by Council to host a Music and Arts 
Festival including State Licensed Cannabis Brands event at the Hartford Speedway on July 21-
July 23, 2023. 

Originally, the State of Michigan Cannabis Regulatory Agency (CRA) License Holder was Big 
Bhang Events out of Howell, MI. 

Recently, the event team has requested to change their license holder to Todd Schafer, owner 
of Global Growth Industries, LLC. out of Birmingham, MI.  

This is a simple exchange in license holders for the event, as allowed by the CRA so long as 
they resubmit their documentation to the CRA in a timely manner and have approval by the local 
municipality.    

We have received the necessary documentation to support this request as attached. 

119

Item 24.



120

Item 24.



P a g e | 1 
 

 

City of Hartford, Michigan 
19 West Main Street 
Hartford, MI 49057 

269-621-2477 

Request for Proposals  
Recreational Marihuana Vendors 

 
Proposals are due at the address shown above no later than Monday April 17, 2023, at 4:00pm 

EST City of Hartford Designated Contact: Sanya Vitale, City Manager 
Questions must be submitted electronically only, no telephone calls 

accepted Email: citymanager@cityofhartfordmi.org 

Introduction 
The City of Hartford, Michigan (hereafter referred to as “The City”), a duly organized municipality in the 
State of Michigan, is soliciting proposals from highly qualified marihuana businesses seeking licensure 
within the City limits. The City will seek proposals from those wishing to operate a Marihuana Business 
within the City. 

 
Submission Instructions 
The anticipated schedule for this Request for Proposal is as follows: 
RFP Issued: April 25, 2023 
Last Date for Questions: May 19, 2023 
Proposal Due Date: May 26, 2023 – 10 points 

 

Applications marked “Marihuana Proposal” will be received by the City of Hartford in the Office of the 
City Manager at 19 W. Main St. Hartford, Michigan 49057 no later than May 26th, 2023 at 4:00pm EST. 
Please submit one (1) original and one (1) copy of your response to this RFP. There are no page limits and 
no requirements for font, margin and/or paper size. Respondents must also submit an electronic pdf file 
of their proposal on jump drive with their proposal. 

 

Late submissions will not be accepted for any reason. 
• Applications may be dropped off between 8:00am – 5:00 pm Monday through Thursday and 

8:00am– 4:00pm Friday. Please note that the City of Hartford is closed on most recognized 
holidays. 

 

• All proposals received and date/time stamped by the City of Hartford prior to the proposal 
submittal deadline shall be accepted as timely submitted. No late proposals will be accepted 
or reviewed. Proposals will be opened promptly at the time and date specified. 

 

• The responsibility for submitting a proposal on or before the stated time and date is solely 
and strictly the responsibility of the Proposer. Proposers are responsible for informing any 
commercial delivery service, if used, of all delivery requirements and for ensuring that the 
required address information appears on the outer wrapper or envelope used by such service. 
The City of Hartford will in no way be responsible for the delays caused by mail delivery or 
caused by any other occurrence. All expenses involved with the preparation and submission 

121

Item 25.

mailto:citymanager@cityofhartfordmi.org


P a g e | 2 
 

of proposals to the City of Hartford, or any work performed in connection therewith, shall be 
borne by the Proposer(s). 

 

• The submittal of a proposal by a Proposer will be considered by the City of Hartford as 
constituting an offer by the Proposer to adhere to the marihuana Proposer services in the 
manner outlined in their proposal. A Proposer may submit a modified proposal to replace all 
or any portion of a previously submitted proposal up until the proposal due date. The City of 
Hartford will consider only the latest version of the proposal. 

 

• Requests for additional information or inquiries must be made in writing and received by the City 
of Hartford’ designated contact person for this Solicitation. The City of Hartford will issue 
responses to inquiries and may issue changes to this Solicitation it deems necessary in written 
addenda issued prior to the proposal due date. All respondents should carefully monitor the City’s 
website at https://cityofhartfordmi.org/ for FAQs and updates to the proposal as any updates will 
be posted only to the City’s website and no individual notice will be provided to any proposer. 

 

• Proposals will be reviewed by the City Manager. Any additional information will be gathered by 
the City Manager and a report will be assembled and final recommendations made to the City 
Council at a regular City Council meeting in June. Applicants are encouraged to attend this 
meeting. It will be held the 2nd Tuesday of the month at 7:30pm in Council Chambers located at 
19 W Main St.  

 

Definitions 
• All definitions which can be found within the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act 

Initiated Law 1 of 2018 and other regulated activity authorized by the Rules promulgated by the 
State. 

 

• Proposer means a person who applies for a State operating license. With respect to disclosures in an 
application, or for purposes of eligibility for a license, the term applicant includes an officer, director, 
managerial employee of the applicant and a person who holds any direct or indirect ownership 
interest in the applicant. 

 

Rules, Regulations, and Licensing Requirements 
The Proposer shall comply with all laws, ordinances and regulations applicable to the services 
contemplated herein, especially those applicable to conflict of interest and collusion. Proposers are 
presumed to be familiar with all Federal, State and local laws, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations that 
may in any way affect the goods or services offered, including, but not limited to: 

1. Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act Initiated Law 1 of 2018 
 

2. “Michigan’s Public Health Code 333.7410(2)” states that anyone 18 years or older who delivers a 
Schedule I or II controlled substance or other narcotic drug to another person on or within 1,000 
feet of school property or a library shall be punished by a term of prison for at least two years or 
up to three times the original prison sentence under the law as well as a fine of not more than 
three times the original fine. 

 
Proposal and Contract Expectations and Fees 

• Proposers are requested and advised to be as complete as possible in their 
response. The City reserves the right to: 

1) Contact any proposer to clarify any response; 

122

Item 25.

http://www.nilesmi.org/
https://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(xkl0bkevhazf32ts5en0da25))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Initiated-Law-1-of-2018
https://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(xkl0bkevhazf32ts5en0da25))/mileg.aspx?page=getObject&objectName=mcl-Initiated-Law-1-of-2018


P a g e | 3 
 

2) Contact any current users of the proposer’s services; 
3) Solicit information from any available source concerning any aspect of the proposal; 
4) Check references; 
5) Conduct credit and background checks; and,  
6) Seek and review any other information deemed pertinent to the evaluation process. 
 

• The City reserves the right to cancel this RFP, or to reject, in whole or in part, any and all proposals 
received in response to this RFP, upon its determination that such cancellation or rejection is in the 
best interest of the City. The City further reserves the right to waive any minor informalities or the 
failure of any Proposer to comply therewith, if it is in the public interest to do so. Finally, the City 
reserves the right to terminate the process at any time, if deemed by the City to be in its best 
interests. 

 

• The City reserves the right to reject and not consider any proposal that does not meet the 
requirements of this RFP, including but not necessarily limited to incomplete proposals 
and/or proposals offering alternate or non-requested services. 

 

• The City reserves the right not to award a license pursuant to this RFP. Proposals which 
appear unrealistic in the terms of planning, compliance or economic viability may be 
rejected. 

 

• The City reserves the right to request and evaluate additional information from any 
respondent regarding respondent's responsibility after the submission deadline as the City 
deems necessary. 

 

• The City may award a provisional license on the basis of initial offers received, without 
discussions. Therefore, each initial offer should contain the Proposer's best terms from a 
monetary and technical standpoint. The City reserves the right to enter into negotiations with 
recommended Proposer. 

 

• Negotiations shall be conducted with the top ranked Proposers. If, in the event the City and the top 
ranked Proposer cannot reach an agreement that is in the best interest of the City, the City may 
elect to cancel negotiations. No Proposer shall have any rights against the City arising from such 
negotiations or termination thereof. 

 

• In the event that a Proposer wishes to take an exception to any of the terms of this Solicitation, the 
Proposer shall clearly indicate the exception in its proposal. No exception shall be taken where the 
Solicitation specifically states that exceptions may not be taken. Further, no exception shall be 
allowed that, in the City’s sole discretion, constitutes a material deviation from the requirements of 
the Solicitation. Proposals taking such exceptions may, in the City’s sole discretion, be deemed 
nonresponsive. 

 

• Each proposal will be reviewed to determine if the proposal is responsive to the submission 
requirements outlined in the RFP. A responsive proposal is one which follows the requirements of 
the RFP, includes all documentation, is submitted in the format outlined in the RFP, is of timely 
submission, and has the appropriate signatures as required on each document. Failure to comply 
with these requirements may result in a proposal being deemed non-responsive. 

 

• In submitting a response, the Proposer acknowledges that the City shall not compensate the 

123

Item 25.



P a g e | 4 
 

Proposer for any costs, including and not limited to submission or negotiation costs, costs of 
preparation, appearances for interviews, and/or travel expenses. It is essential that the Proposers 
selected will have the financial resources, necessary knowledge, skills and professional experience 
to implement all aspects of the business operations. All operations are to be performed with the 
highest degree of professional standards, in compliance with local and State laws, policies, 
procedures, criteria and requirements. 

 

• Due care and diligence have been used in preparation of this information, and it is believed to be 
substantially correct. However, the responsibility for determining the full extent of the exposure 
and the verification of all information presented herein shall rest solely with the proposer. The City 
and its representatives will not be responsible for any errors or omissions in these specifications, 
nor for the failure on the part of the proposer to determine the full extent of the exposures. 

 

• Proposers shall be responsible for informing themselves with respect to all conditions, which might 
in any way affect the cost or performance of any of the operation. Failure to do so shall be at the 
sole risk of the Proposer and no relief shall be given for errors or omissions by the Proposer. 

 

• The selected proposer shall furnish the City of Hartford original Certificates of Insurance 
evidencing the required coverage on the effective date of the Agreement(s) resulting from this 
RFP. 

 

• By responding to this RFP, the Proposer acknowledges that for any provisional license issued as a 
result of this RFP, the authority to proceed with the City’s licensure process is contingent upon the 
availability of licenses and verifiable approval from the State of Michigan’s Licensing and Regulatory 
Affairs. 

 

• This RFP does not represent a commitment or offer by the City to enter into contract, or other 
agreement with proposer. The proposal and any information made a part of the proposal will 
become a part of City’s official files without any obligation on City’s part to return it to the 
individual proposer. This RFP and the selected Proposers’ proposals will, by reference, become a 
part of any formal agreement between the Proposer and the City resulting from this solicitation. 

 

• All listed Owners of the company must sign this proposal and all agreements with an original 
signature. 

 

• The Proposer shall not collude in any manner or engage in any practices with any other proposer(s), 
which may restrict or eliminate competition. Violations of this instruction will cause the proposal to 
be rejected. This prohibition is not intended to preclude joint ventures or subcontracts. 

 

• Business owners selected and awarded provisional approval from the City of Hartford may not sell 
their interest in a marihuana license as part of their property exchange. This is only subject to 
change upon full licensing by the State of Michigan and in compliance with the City’s Recreational 
Opt-In Ordinance 

 
 
Submission Requirements 
The following is a description of the minimum information which must be supplied in your proposal. You 
may give supplementary facts or other materials that you consider may be of assistance in the evaluation. 
 

124

Item 25.



P a g e | 5 
 

Fees- 10 points 
Applicants must submit a nonrefundable fee of $2,500 with their proposal for a provisional license. 
Upon approval by the State, a final fee not to exceed $2,500 must be submitted prior to starting 
operations. If selected for provisional licensing by the City of Hartford, additional fees will apply for 
zoning, including special land use, site plan review and/or variances as applies, building, inspection and 
other permitting fees as appropriate including annual renewal and inspection fees if/upon final license. 

 

Prequalification Notice- 10 points 
All applicants must be preapproved for Prequalification with the State of Michigan to operate a Recreational 
Marihuana Establishment as defined in the Acts or other regulated activity authorized by the Rules 
promulgated by the State and submit verification thereof with their application for provisional approval to 
the City of Hartford. 

 

1. Executive Summary- 10 points 
Provide a brief summary of your company’s approach to the business operations associated with 
the requested license(s), demonstrate an understanding of the industry and licensure 
requirements, and approaches to be utilized in performing these services, specifically related to 
the rules, regulations associated with marihuana businesses. 

 

2. Business Plan, Experience & Business History- 70 points 
A. Please provide a description of the type of marihuana establishment; and the anticipated or 

actual number of employees, the anticipated capital being invested and economic outcomes.  
B. Describe how long the company has been in business and current structure.  
C. Provide any other names under which the company and/or principals has done business and 

the dates it operated under each name and the locations at which it operated under each 
name. 

D. Describe the experience of the Proposer conducting comparable services.  
E. Provide a list of municipalities with which your company and/or principal’s is/are currently based 

or has been based within the last five (5) years. If this does not include at least three 
municipalities, then provide the names of the municipalities for which similar services are being 
proposed.  
1. For each municipality include: 

• The timeframe (beginning and ending dates) 

• A brief description your experience 

• Annual revenues and expenditures 

• The name and contact information of the individuals that approved your occupancy 

• Statement or notation of whether Proposer is/was the direct Proposer or subcontractor 
or sub-Proposer. 

 

3. State Application- 10 points 
Please submit a copy of your submitted Phase One State Application minus your financial and tax 
return documents & notice of prequalification. A complete copy of your State application will be 
required to be on file with the City minus your financial and tax return documents should your firm be 
selected for provisional approval. This includes but may not be limited to: Marijuana Establishment 
Plans, Operation Plans, Waste Plan, Air Quality, Safety Plan, Security Plan, and Establishment Plan 

 

 

4. Proof of Insurance- 10 points 
A. Please submit certification of intent to comply with the insurance requirements found within 

the ordinances in the form of a certified statement from the proposed insurance vendor. 

125

Item 25.



P a g e | 6 
 

 

B. The policy shall name the City of Hartford and its officials and employees as additional insureds 
to the limits required by this section. 

 

5. Legal History- 40 points 
A. Please submit those pages of your State Application that indicate whether any applicant has 

been indicted for, charged with, arrested for, or convicted of, plead guilty or nolo contendere to, 
forfeited bail concerning any criminal offense under the laws of any jurisdiction, either felony or 
controlled-substance-related misdemeanor, not including traffic violations, regardless of 
whether the offense has been reversed on appeal or otherwise, including the date, the name 
and location of the court, arresting agency, and prosecuting agency, the case caption, the docket 
number, the offense, the disposition, and the location and length of incarceration. 

 

B. Please submit a certified statement regarding whether an applicant has ever applied for or has 
been granted any commercial license or certificate issued by a licensing authority in Michigan 
or any other jurisdiction that has been denied, restricted, suspended, revoked, or not renewed 
and a Statement describing the facts and circumstances concerning the application, denial, 
restriction, suspension, revocation, or nonrenewal, including the licensing authority, the date 
each action was taken, and the reason for each action. 

 
C. Please submit a certified statement regarding whether an applicant has filed, or been served 

with, a complaint or other notice filed with any public body, regarding the delinquency in the 
payment of, or a dispute over the filings concerning the payment of, any tax required under 
federal, State or local law, including the amount, type of tax, taxing agency, and time period 
intervals involved. 

 

D. Please submit a certified statement of acknowledgement and consent that the City, including 
the Hartford City Police Department, may conduct a background investigation, including a 
criminal history check, and that the City may be entitled to full and complete disclosure of all 
financial records of the marihuana commercial entity, which may include any or all records of 
deposit, withdrawals, balances, and loans upon request. 

 
E. Please note that the City of Hartford may request additional information that the City Clerk, 

Police Chief, Fire Chief, Public Works Superintendent, Building Official, Water Superintendent, 
Wastewater Operator, City Manager and/or City Attorney or their designees reasonably 
determines to be necessary in connection with the investigation and review of the application. 
All requests for additional information must be submitted within the timeframe requested by 
the City Manager. 

126

Item 25.



P a g e | 7 
 

 

Recreational Marihuana Application Cover Sheet 

Company Name:   
 

Owner: _____  Owner Cell:    _______________________ 

Owner: _____  Owner Cell:    _______________________ 

Owner: _____  Owner Cell:    _______________________ 

Please provide a copy of each owner’s legal identification card or passport with this document showing their current legal address. 

 

Corporate Address:    

 

Primary Contact:      

Primary Contact Email:  Cell:    

 

Establishment Type: 
_____ Microbusiness Class ____ 
_____ Retail Establishment 
_____ Grow Facility Class _____ 
_____ Other ________________ 

Initial Requirements: 
   Prequalified with State of Michigan 
   $2,500 License Application Fee 

 

I affirm that by signing this affidavit, I own or am the proven agent of the company outlined in this proposal. I agree 

that the statements and information provided within this document are true and agree that if found not to be true in 

part and/or whole, that any permit that may be issued to me may be voided. Further, I agree to comply with the 

conditions and regulations provided with any permit that may be issued. Further, I agree that the permit that may be 

issued is with the understanding all applicable sections of the City of Hartford, Michigan Code of Ordinances will be 

complied with as applicable and appropriate. 

 

      

Printed Name and Owner Signature  Date 

Must Include Notary Seal and Signature 

Subscribed and sworn to by ________________________________________________ before me on the ________________ day 

of __________________________________, 2023. 

 

My commission expires:  _ Notary Public 
 

Seal Print:    

127

Item 25.



City of Hartford 

Memo 
To: Mayor Hall 

From: Sanya Vitale 

cc: City Council 

Date: 04/24/23 

Re: Procurement Policy 

It has come to my attention that the currently authorized Procurement Policy may not be fully 
compliant with the requirements of 2 CFR Part 200 UNIFORM ADMINISTRATIVE 
REQUIREMENTS, COST PRINCIPLES, AND AUDIT REQUIREMENTS FOR FEDERAL 
AWARDS (https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200?toc=1).  

The current policy is a sample policy provided to MEDC CDBG grantees for compliance with 
CDBG programs from the MEDC Grant Administration Manual 
(https://www.miplace.org/programs/community-development-block-grant/grant-administration-
manual/).  

The City of Hartford receives Federal Funds from a variety of sources, including CDBG and 
should consider including broader language to ensure that the City is compliant with all Federal 
Funding sources with regards to complying with 2 CFR 200.320 Procurement Standards. 

It is my recommendation that the City consider approving the Procurement Policy I have 
presented for consideration which meets the standards outlined in 2 CFR 200.320. 

 

128

Item 26.



129

Item 26.



130

Item 26.



131

Item 26.



132

Item 26.



133

Item 26.



134

Item 26.



135

Item 26.



136

Item 26.



137

Item 26.



138

Item 26.



139

Item 26.



140

Item 26.



141

Item 26.



 
 
 
 

City of Hartford 

Procurement Policy 
 

 

This Procurement Policy complies with Federal Procurement Regulations at 2 CFR Part 200, applicable 

Michigan Compiled Laws, and the procurement standards of the 2 CFR Part 200.317-200.326.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted by the Board of Commissioner’s  

Resolution 

142

Item 26.



 

Table of Contents 

Table of Contents .................................................................................................................................................... 5 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS ....................................................................................................................................... 9 

I. GENERAL PROVISIONS ............................................................................................................................ 12 

A. General ....................................................................................................................................................... 13 

B. Application ................................................................................................................................................. 13 

C. Exclusions .................................................................................................................................................. 13 

D. Changes in Laws and Regulations ............................................................................................................. 13 

E. Public Access to Procurement Information ................................................................................................ 13 

II. ETHICS IN PUBLIC CONTRACTING ....................................................................................................... 13 

A. General ....................................................................................................................................................... 13 

B. Conflicts of Interest .................................................................................................................................... 14 

C. Gratuities, Kickbacks, and Use of Confidential Information .................................................................. 14 

D. Prohibition against Contingent Fees ....................................................................................................... 14 

III. PROCUREMENT AUTHORITY & ADMINISTRATION ...................................................................... 14 

A. Procurement Planning ................................................................................................................................ 14 

B. Independent Cost Estimate ........................................................................................................................ 14 

C. Board Approval of Procurement Actions ............................................................................................... 15 

D. Delegation of Contracting Authority ...................................................................................................... 15 

E. Documentation ........................................................................................................................................... 16 

F. Funding Availability .................................................................................................................................. 16 

G. Policy Modifications .............................................................................................................................. 16 

IV. PROCUREMENT METHODS ................................................................................................................. 16 

A. General ....................................................................................................................................................... 16 

B. Micro Procurement Methods ...................................................................................................................... 17 

C. Small Purchase Procedures ..................................................................................................................... 17 

D. Sealed Bids ............................................................................................................................................. 17 

1. Conditions for Using Sealed Bids. ....................................................................................................... 17 

2. Solicitation and Receipt of Bids. An invitation for bid (IFB) ............................................................. 18 

3. Bid Opening and Award. ..................................................................................................................... 18 

4. Mistakes in Bids. ................................................................................................................................... 18 

E. Competitive Proposals/Negotiated Procurement ........................................................................................ 18 

1. Conditions for Use ................................................................................................................................ 18 

2. Form of Solicitation. ............................................................................................................................. 19 

3. Evaluation ............................................................................................................................................. 19 

4. Negotiations........................................................................................................................................... 19 

5. Award .................................................................................................................................................... 20 

F. Noncompetitive Proposals ......................................................................................................................... 20 

143

Item 26.



 

1. Conditions for Use ................................................................................................................................ 20 

2. Justification ........................................................................................................................................... 20 

3. Price Reasonableness. .......................................................................................................................... 21 

4. Qualifications Based Solicitations & Other Specialized Services ..................................................... 21 

5. Emergencies .......................................................................................................................................... 21 

6. Cooperative Purchasing/Intergovernmental Agreements ................................................................ 21 

V. COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS .................................................................................................................. 22 

A. Micro Purchases. .................................................................................................................................. 22 

B. Small Purchases. ................................................................................................................................... 22 

C. Sealed Bids. ........................................................................................................................................... 22 

D. Competitive Proposals. ........................................................................................................................ 22 

E. Contract Modifications. ....................................................................................................................... 22 

VI. SOLICITATION AND ADVERTISING .................................................................................................. 22 

A. Method of Solicitation ................................................................................................................................ 22 

1. Small Purchases. ................................................................................................................................... 22 

2. Sealed Bids and Competitive Proposals ............................................................................................. 22 

B. Time Frame ................................................................................................................................................ 23 

C. Form ........................................................................................................................................................... 23 

D. Time Period for Submission of Bids .......................................................................................................... 23 

E. Cancellation of Solicitations ...................................................................................................................... 23 

VII.  BONDING & INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS ........................................................................................ 24 

A. Bonds ......................................................................................................................................................... 24 

1. Bid Bond. ............................................................................................................................................... 24 

2. Payment Bonds. .................................................................................................................................... 24 

3. Performance Bonds .............................................................................................................................. 24 

B. Inadequate Surety. ...................................................................................................................................... 24 

C. Insurance. ................................................................................................................................................... 25 

1. General Liability .................................................................................................................................. 25 

2. Automobile Liability ............................................................................................................................ 25 

3. Workers Compensation or Employer’s Liability .............................................................................. 25 

4. Error and Omission Liability .............................................................................................................. 25 

5. Bodily Injury Liability ......................................................................................................................... 25 

VIII. CONTRACTOR QUALIFICATIONS AND DUTIES ............................................................................. 25 

A. Contractor Responsibility ........................................................................................................................... 25 

B. Acceptable Evidence of Responsibility ...................................................................................................... 25 

C. Researching Responsibility ........................................................................................................................ 26 

1. Financial Capability ............................................................................................................................. 26 

2. Compliance with Delivery and Performance Schedules ................................................................... 26 

144

Item 26.



 

3. Performance Record ............................................................................................................................ 26 

4. Integrity and Business Ethics .............................................................................................................. 26 

5. Necessary Organization, Experience, Accounting and Operational Controls, and Technical Skills

 26 

6. Necessary Production, Construction, and Technical Equipment and Facilities ............................ 26 

7. Eligible to Receive a City of Hartford Contract ................................................................................ 26 

D. Responsible at Time of Award ................................................................................................................... 26 

E. Determination of Non-Responsibility ........................................................................................................ 26 

F. Notifying Bidders/Offerors of Non-Responsibility ................................................................................... 26 

G. Suspension and Debarment .................................................................................................................... 26 

H. Vendor Lists ............................................................................................................................................... 27 

IX. CONTRACTS, TYPE, CLAUSES, PRICING ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACT  

ADMINISTRATION ............................................................................................................................................ 27 

Prior to the execution of any contracts, contract modifications, or options, the Board approval requirements of 

the Section III of this Procurement Policy must be met. ...................................................................................... 27 

A. Contract Types ........................................................................................................................................... 27 

B. Options ....................................................................................................................................................... 27 

C. Contract Clauses ..................................................................................................................................... 27 

D. Contract Administration ......................................................................................................................... 28 

X. SPECIFICATIONS, STATEMENT/SCOPE OF WORK ............................................................................. 28 

A. General ....................................................................................................................................................... 29 

B. Limitation ................................................................................................................................................... 29 

1. Geographic Restrictions ...................................................................................................................... 29 

2. Brand Name Specifications ................................................................................................................. 29 

XI. CONTRACT TERMINATIONS ............................................................................................................... 29 

A. Termination of City of Hartford contracts ................................................................................................. 29 

B. Termination Notice .................................................................................................................................... 29 

C. Termination for Convenience ..................................................................................................................... 30 

1. Settlement .............................................................................................................................................. 30 

Compensation............................................................................................................................................... 30 

D. Termination for Default ............................................................................................................................. 30 

1. Notice ..................................................................................................................................................... 30 

2. Alternatives to Termination ................................................................................................................ 30 

3. Repurchase ............................................................................................................................................ 31 

XII. APPEALS AND REMEDIES .................................................................................................................... 31 

A. General ....................................................................................................................................................... 31 

B. Informal Appeals Procedure....................................................................................................................... 31 

C. Formal Appeals Procedure ..................................................................................................................... 31 

1. Bid Protest ............................................................................................................................................. 31 
145

Item 26.



 

2. Contractor Claims ................................................................................................................................ 31 

3. Filing Claims ......................................................................................................................................... 31 

4. Rendering Decisions on Claims ........................................................................................................... 32 

5. Records of Claims................................................................................................................................. 32 

XIII.  ASSISTANCE TO SMALL AND OTHER BUSINESSES ....................................................................... 32 

A. Required Efforts ......................................................................................................................................... 32 

XIV. DISPOSITION OF SURPLUS PROPERTY ............................................................................................. 33 

APPENDIX A ....................................................................................................................................................... 34 

List of Direct Payments ..................................................................................................................................... 34 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

146

Item 26.



 

City of Hartford 

PROCUREMENT POLICY 

 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

 

Acceptance – The act of an authorized representative of the City of Hartford acknowledging that the supplies 

or services delivered to or received by the City of Hartford conform to contract requirements. 

 

Amendment – A written revision made to a solicitation. 

 

Architect/Engineer (A/E) – A licensed person (or company) usually responsible for developing the 

plans and specifications of a building or development and, in some cases, supervising the construction 

effort. 

 

Bid – In the sealed bidding method of procurement, this is the price submitted by a bidder. 

 

Bidder’s List – General list of persons or firms who may be interested in submitting bids in response to an 

Invitation for bid and in contracting opportunities with the City of Hartford. 

 

Bonding (Bid Bonds) – A bid bond or guarantee ensures that, if awarded the contract, the bidder will accept 

and perform the work under the contract; ensures the bidder will not attempt to withdraw or otherwise not 

fulfill the contract; and ensures the bidder will execute the contractual documents that are required within the 

time specified in the solicitation, or forfeit all or part of the guarantee. 

 

Bonding (Performance Bonds) – A performance bond ensures the contract is successfully completed. The 

performance bond also ensures that if a contractor is unable to complete the contract, the surety company, 

which issues the bond, will step in to complete the work. In the case of a letter of credit or cash escrow, City 

of Hartford may use these funds to complete the contract work. 

 

Bonding (Payment Bonds) – A payment bond ensures the contractor pays the subcontractors and suppliers. 

City of Hartford will allow the performance bond and the payment bond to be combined. 

 

Change Order – Modification to the contract that is a unilateral action taken by the City of Hartford City 

Manager within the scope of the contract to modify the drawings, design, specifications, method of shipping 

or packaging, place of inspection, delivery, acceptance, or other such contractual requirement. 

 

Competitive Proposals – Method of procurement used when small purchases and sealed bidding methods are 

not appropriate. The City of Hartford solicits proposals which allows for the selection and award of contracts 

based on technical considerations and the negotiation of price/cost by using either a Request for Proposal 

(RFP) or a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) See definitions of each type of competitive proposal. 

 

Competitive Range – The range of scores of proposals submitted in response to a RFP that, after 

technical evaluation by the City of Hartford’s evaluation panel and considering price, have a reasonable 

chance of receiving the award. 

 

Contract – A mutually binding legal relationship obligating the seller to furnish the supplies, services, or 

construction and the City of Hartford to pay for the supplies, services, or construction. Contracts include all 

types of commitments that obligate the City of Hartford to expend funds and, except as otherwise authorized, 

are in writing. 

 

Contract Administration – All the actions taken with regard to a contract after its award. 

147

Item 26.



 

Administration includes monitoring the contractor’s performance to ensure compliance with the 

contract requirements, terms, and conditions. 

 

Contract Modification – Any written alteration to the specifications, delivery point, date of delivery, 

contract period, price, quantity, or other clause, of an existing contract. All contract modifications must be 

signed and dated by the Executive Director in order to be effective.  

 

City Manager– The official of City of Hartford, officially delegated in writing, to enter into and / or 

administer contracts and make related determinations and findings. 

 

Cost Analysis – An evaluation of the separate elements (e.g., labor, materials, etc.) that make up a 

contractor’s total proposal to determine if they are reasonable, allowable and directly related to the 

requirement. Cost analysis is required whenever there is no price competition. 

 

Cost Reimbursement Contract – Contract in which the City of Hartford and the contractor agree on an 

estimate of contract costs. Under this type of contract, the City of Hartford agrees to reimburse the contractor 

for reasonable, allowable, and allocable costs necessary to complete the work.  

 

Cure Notice – A document originating by the City of Hartford City Manager sent to the contractor stating 

the contract may be terminated for one or more events of default unless performance is corrected within a 

specified number of days. 

 

Exigent Condition – An exigent condition is a situation or condition requiring immediate aid or action. 

Only the City Manager has the authority to declare an exigent condition. 

 

Firm Fixed Price Contract – A contract pricing arrangement under which the price is not subject to 

change or adjustment based on the cost experience of the contractor in performance of the contract. 

 

Independent Cost Estimate (ICE) – An estimate obtained or developed by the City of Hartford prior to 

obtaining offers. 

 

Inspection – The examination and/or testing of supplies and services to determine whether they 

conform to the contract requirements. 

 

Intergovernmental Agreement – An agreement between the City of Hartford and a Federal, State, or 

local government agency for the provision of procuring supplies or services. For the purpose of this 

Policy, the terms Cooperative Agreement, Intergovernmental Agreement, Interagency Agreement, 

Consortium Agreement, or Memorandum of Agreement are interchangeable. 

 

Invitation for bids (IFB) – Solicitation type used under the sealed bidding method of procurement. 

 

Micro-Purchasing – A method of purchasing below $2,000 for federal grants and below $10,000 for all 

other funding sources. This type of purchasing requires one (1) quote. 

 

Minority Owned Business - A minority-owned business is defined as a business which is at least 51% 

owned by one or more minority group members; or, in the case of a publicly-owned business, one in which at 

least 51% of its voting stock is owned by one or more minority group members, and whose management and 

daily business operations are controlled by one or more such individuals. Minority group members include, 

but are not limited to African Americans, Hispanic Americans, Native Americans, Asian Pacific Americans, 

and Subcontinent Asian Americans. 

 
148

Item 26.



 

Negotiation – Discussions with offerors in the competitive range regarding technical and/or price proposals 

to award a contract using the competitive proposals or noncompetitive proposals method of procurement or 

when issuing modifications to existing contracts. 

 

Noncompetitive Proposals – The method of procurement in which proposals are solicited from only one 

source because award of a contract is not feasible under the small purchase procedure, sealed bids or 

competitive procedure as a result of: 1) the item or service is available only from a single source; 2) public 

exigency or emergency will not allow enough time for a competitive procurement; 3) inadequate response to 

a competitive solicitation; or 4) HUD approves the use of noncompetitive proposals. The method is also 

known as “sole source”. 

 

Offer – A response to a solicitation that, if accepted, would bind the offeror to perform the resultant 

contract. 

 

Offeror – The general term for the entity that submits a response to a solicitation. 

 

Price Analysis – The evaluation of a proposed price (bottom line) for reasonableness, without evaluating 

the separate elements of cost. 

 

Procurement - The term “procurement,” includes the procuring, purchasing, leasing, or renting of: 1) goods, 

supplies, equipment, and materials; 2) construction and maintenance; 3) consultant services; 4) Architectural 

and Engineering (A/E) services; 5) Social Services; and 6) other services. The term Procurement also 

includes selling, including concessions and disposal of surplus material and equipment. 

 

Proposal – The offer submitted by a potential contractor in the competitive or noncompetitive 

proposals type of procurement. 

 

Qualifications Based Selection (QBS) – A form of procurement of Architect/Engineering (A/E) or 

development services by competitive proposals in which proposals in which price is not requested in the 

Request for Qualifications (RFQ) or used as an evaluation factor. 

 

Quotation – The price or cost submitted by a vendor in the small purchase procedures method of 

procurement. 

 

Request for Proposal (RFP) – Solicitation method used under both the competitive and noncompetitive 

methods of procurement. Proposal evaluation and contractor selection are based on the evaluation criteria 

and factors, including price, for award as stated in the RFP. Contract award is based on the best approach to 

the requirements of the statement of work resulting in the greatest benefit to the City of Hartford, price and 

other factors considered. 

 

Request for Qualifications (RFQ) – Solicitation method used under the competitive and non-competitive 

methods of procurement. Evaluation and contractor selection are based on the evaluation criteria for award 

as stated in the RFQ. Price is not obtained until the highest-ranking firm(s) is selected based on 

qualifications and negotiations for a fair and reasonable price have started. 

 

Responsible Bidder – A bidder who is able to comply with the required or proposed delivery or performance 

schedule; has a satisfactory performance record; has a satisfactory record of integrity and business ethics; has 

the necessary organization, experience, accounting and operational controls, and technical skills, or the ability 

to obtain them; has the necessary production, construction, and technical equipment and facilities, or the 

ability to obtain them; and is otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award under applicable laws and 

regulations, including the fact that the bidder is not suspended, debarred or under a HUD-imposed Limited 
149

Item 26.



 

Denial of Participation.  

 

Responsive Bid – A bid that conforms to the requirements in the Invitation for bids (IFB). 

 

Sanctions – Measures that may be invoked by the City of Hartford or HUD to exclude or disqualify 

contractors, City of Hartford staff or agents acting on behalf of the City of Hartford from participation in 

federal programs (such as limited denial of participation or debarment), or measures the City of Hartford 

may take regarding employees, officers, agents, or others who violate the ethical standards of the 

Procurement Policy (such as dismissal, reassignment, removal from position, etc.). 

 

Sealed Bidding – A method of procurement inviting sealed bids. This method requires: 

1) specifications that are clear, accurate, and complete; 2) a public bid opening; and 3) evaluation of bids 

and award of the contract based on the lowest price submitted by a responsive and responsible contractor. 

Sealed bidding is the preferred method for construction. 

 

Section 3 Business - A “Section 3 business concern” is defined under 24 CFR Part 135. 

 

Show Cause Letter – A document sent by the City Manager notifying a defaulting contractor that the 

contract may be terminated for default unless the contractor can provide adequate justification for not 

terminating within a specified time period (usually 10 days). 

 

Small Business - A small business is defined as a business that is: 1) independently owned; 2) not dominant in 

its field of operation; and 3) not an affiliate or subsidiary of a business dominant in its field of operation. The 

size standards in 13 CFR 121 should be used to determine business size. 

 

Small Purchase Procedure – A simplified method for acquiring supplies, materials, and services 

(including construction) that do not exceed the City of Hartford threshold of 

$100,000. 

 

Solicitation – The general term for the City of Hartford’s request for offers from potential offerors. 

 

Specifications or Scope – Description of the technical requirements of a solicitation or resulting contract. 

 

Statement of Work (SOW) – Written description of work to be performed that establishes the 

standards sought for the supplies or services furnished under the contract; typically used for service 

contracts. 

 

Termination for Cause – Termination of a contract by the City of Hartford on a unilateral basis when the 

contractor fails to perform, fails to make progress so as to endanger performance, or commits a default as 

specified in the contract. 

 

Termination for Convenience – Termination of a contract by the City of Hartford on a unilateral basis 

when the product or service is no longer needed or when it is in the best interest of the City of Hartford. 

 

Vendor List – List of persons interested in or qualified to do business with the City of Hartford. 

 

Women Business Enterprise - Women’s business enterprise is defined as a business that is at least 51% 

owned by a woman or women who are U.S. citizens and who control and operate the business. 

 

I. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

150

Item 26.



 

 

A. General 

The City of Hartford shall: provide for a procurement system of quality and integrity; provide for the fair and 

equitable treatment of all persons or firms involved in purchasing by the City of Hartford; ensure that 

supplies and services (including construction) are procured efficiently, effectively, and at the most favorable 

prices available to the City of Hartford; promote competition in contracting; and assure that the City of 

Hartford purchasing actions are in full compliance with applicable Federal standards, HUD regulations, State, 

and local laws. The term “procurement,” as used in this Policy, includes the procuring, purchasing, leasing, or 

renting of: (1) goods, supplies, equipment, and materials; (2) construction and maintenance; consulting 

services; (3) architectural and engineering (A/E) services; (4) social services; and (5) other services. 

 

B. Application 

This Procurement Policy applies to all procurement actions of the Commission, regardless of the source of 

funds. However, nothing in this Policy shall prevent the City of Hartford from complying with the terms and 

conditions of any grant, contract, gift, or request that is otherwise consistent with the law. When both federal 

grants and other funds are used for a project, the work to be accomplished with the funds should be separately 

identified prior to procurement so that appropriate requirements can be applied, if necessary. If it is not 

possible to separate the funds, 2CFR 200.320 procurement regulations shall be applied to the total project. If 

funds and work can be separated and work can be completed by a separate contract, then regulations 

applicable to the source of funding may be followed. 

 

C. Exclusions 

The following shall not be governed by this Policy for all funding sources. 

 

1. Real Estate Purchase and Sale Transactions (surveys, appraisals, environmental site assessments, and 

financing analyses are considered Consultant Services and are governed by this Policy). 

2. Loan transactions and documents. 

3. Sub-recipient or sub-grantee agreements and related change orders. 

4. Employment contracts. 

5. Financial institution agreements and contracts. 

6. Direct Payments. (See Appendix A for a list of direct payment examples)  

 

In addition, the following shall not be governed by this Policy for funding that is not a federal grant. 

 

1. Legal services 

2. Health and safety services (for example, HVAC inspections, emergency repairs or 

demolition, hazardous clean-up, boiler maintenance etc.) 

 

D. Changes in Laws and Regulations 

In the event an applicable law or regulation is modified or eliminated, or a new law or regulation is adopted, 

the revised law or regulation shall, to the extent consistent with this Policy, automatically supersede this 

Policy. 

 

E. Public Access to Procurement Information 

Most procurement information shall be available to the public to the extent provided in the Michigan 

Freedom of Information Act. 

 

II. ETHICS IN PUBLIC CONTRACTING 

 

A. General 

The City of Hartford hereby establishes this code of conduct regarding procurement issues and actions and 

151

Item 26.



 

shall implement a system of sanctions for violations. This code of conduct is consistent with applicable 

Federal, State, or local law and the City of Hartford Ethics Policy. 

 

B. Conflicts of Interest 

No employee, officer, Board member, or agent of the City of Hartford shall participate directly or indirectly 

in the selection, award, or administration of any contract if a conflict of interest, either real or apparent, 

would be involved. This type of conflict would exist when one of the persons listed below has a financial or 

any other type of interest in a firm competing for the award: 

 

1) An employee, officer, Board member, or agent involved in making the award; 

2) His/her relative (including father, mother, son, daughter, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, first cousin, 

nephew, niece, husband, wife, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, 

sister-in-law, stepfather, stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, stepsister, half-brother, half-

sister, grandparents, or grandchildren); 

3) His/her partner; or, 

4) An organization which employs or is negotiating to employ, or has an arrangement concerning 

prospective employment of any of the above. 

 

C. Gratuities, Kickbacks, and Use of Confidential Information 

No officer, employee, Board member, or agent shall accept gratuities, favors, or items from any contractor, 

potential contractor, or party to any subcontract, and shall not knowingly use confidential information for 

actual or anticipated personal gain. 

 

D. Prohibition against Contingent Fees 

Contractors wanting to do business with the City of Hartford must not hire a person to solicit or secure a 

contract for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee. 

 

III. PROCUREMENT AUTHORITY & ADMINISTRATION 

 

A. Procurement Planning 

Planning is essential to managing the procurement function properly. Therefore, the City of Hartford will 

annually review its record of prior purchase, as well as future needs, to: 

1. Find patterns of procurement actions that could be performed more efficiently or economically; 

2. Maximize competition and competitive pricing among contracts and decrease the Commission’s 

procurement costs; 

3. Reduce the Commission’s administrative costs; 

4. Ensure that supplies and services are obtained without any need for re- procurement, e.g., resolving 

bid protests; and 

5. Minimize errors that occur when there is inadequate lead time. Consideration should be given to 

storage, security, and handling requirements when planning the most appropriate purchasing actions. 

 

B. Independent Cost Estimate 

For all purchases using federal grants, above the Micro Purchase ($2,000) threshold, the City of Hartford 

shall prepare an independent cost estimate (ICE) prior to solicitation. The level of detail shall be 

commensurate with the cost and complexity of the item to be purchased. 

 

1. The ICE is the City of Hartford’s estimate of the cost of the goods or services to be acquired under a 

contract or a modification for evaluating the reasonableness of the contractor’s proposed costs or 

prices and can be used to determine the method of contracting to be used; 

 

2. The City of Hartford may develop the ICE using its own employees, outside parties, or a 
152

Item 26.



 

combination of the two. The City of Hartford will take appropriate steps to ensure that the outside 

party does not obtain any competitive advantage from its advance knowledge of the City of 

Hartford’s cost estimate. 

 

3. The ICE must be prepared prior to the solicitation of offers. The requirements for ICE ‘s are: 

a. For Micro Purchases (below $2,000), ICE is not required – price reasonableness will be 

based on a comparison with historical prices paid for the item, commercial catalog prices, or 

other offers. 

b. For purchases above $2,000 but less than the City of Hartford small purchase threshold 

($100,000) – the ICE may be based on prior purchases, commercial catalogs, or detailed 

analysis. 

c. For purchases above the City of Hartford’s small purchase threshold – the level of detail shall 

be commensurate with the size, complexity, and commercial nature of the requirement and 

are broken out into major categories of cost including labor materials, travel, overhead, profit 

and etc. 

 

4. The ICE is not relied upon to the exclusion of other sources of pricing information. The City 

Manager or assigned Engineer shall request that an updated ICE be prepared to use in evaluating offers. 

 

C. Board Approval of Procurement Actions 

The City of Hartford Board of Commissioners’ approval, by resolution, is required for all procurement 

actions above $2,000.00. In addition, it is the responsibility of the City Manager or assigned Engineer to 

submit for approval to the Board of Commissioners, during its next regularly scheduled meeting, all change 

orders, addendums and amendments require Board approval. 

 

Although extending a contract after it has expired is discouraged as poor business practice, on the rare 

occasions on which this action is deemed in the best interest of City of Hartford, all such extensions shall be 

submitted to the Board of Commissioners for approval regardless of the length of such extensions. A written 

explanation of the reason the contract was not timely extended shall be submitted to the Board of 

Commissioners. 

 

A contract terminated by City of Hartford for cause or convenience may only be renewed or extended with the 

approval of the Board of Commissioners. 

 

D. Delegation of Contracting Authority 

The City of Hartford Board of Commissioners designates the City of Hartford City Manager to have 

contracting authority for procurement activities, subject to the Board of Commissioners’ review/approval 

requirements of this Procurement Policy. The City Manager is responsible for ensuring that the City of 

Hartford’s procurement actions comply with this Policy. The City Manager may delegate all or some 

procurement authority as is necessary and appropriate to conduct the business of the Commission. The City 

Manager may appoint a delegate of Contract Authority in writing. The appointment shall state the scope and 

limitations of authority. Changes in the scope or limitations shall be made in writing by amendment to the 

existing delegation or by issuance of a new appointment approved by the Board of Commissioners. 

 

Each Delegation of Authority shall clearly state the position’s limit of authority, e.g.: 

1. Award, agree to, or execute any contract, contract modification, or notice of intent; 

2. Obligate, in any way, the payment of grant funds by the government; 

3. Make a final decision on any contract matter subject to disputes; or 

4. Terminate, for any cause, the contractor’s right to proceed. 

 

Further, and in accordance with this delegation of authority, the City Manager shall establish operational 

153

Item 26.



 

procedures (such as a procedures manual or standard operating procedures) to implement this Policy. The 

City Manager shall also establish a system of sanctions for violations of the ethical standards described in this 

policy, consistent with Federal, State, or local law. Proposed procedures will be submitted to the Board for 

review and approval prior to implementation.  

 

The City Manager shall ensure: 

 

1. Contracts and modifications are in writing and clearly specify the desired supplies, services, or 

construction, and are supported by sufficient documentation. 

2. Procurement requirements are subject to review to assure efficient and economical purchasing. 

3. For contracts exceeding $100,000, one (1) or more public advertisement(s) shall be made over a 

minimum of 10 business days. Contractor/vendor preparation and submission of bids or proposals 

shall be allowed a minimum of 10 business days. 

4. Solicitation procedures are conducted in full compliance with the Federal standards set forth at 2 

CFR Part 200.324; or State or local laws that are more stringent, provided they are consistent with 

the Uniform Guidance 2 CFR Part 200.  

5. An independent cost estimate (ICE) shall be prepared before solicitation for all federal grant 

procurement actions that exceed $2,000. 

6. A cost or price analysis is conducted on responses for all federal grant procurement actions that 

exceed $2,000. 

7. Contract awards are made to the lowest responsive responsible bidder. In the case of Requests for 

Proposals or quotes, contract awards are to be made only to the offeror whose proposal or quote 

offers the greatest value to the City of Hartford, considering the evaluation criteria stated in the 

solicitation. 

8. Notice of award is made available to the public if the procurement process was a publicly posted 

process (public IFB, RFP or RFQ). 

9. Unsuccessful firms are notified. 

10. Work, equipment, or service is inspected/reviewed and accepted/approved prior to payment. 

11. The City of Hartford complies with applicable grant review requirements. 

 

E. Documentation 

The City of Hartford must maintain records so that the level of documentation is commensurate with the value 

of the procurement. 

 

All Individual contract records are to be retained for a period of three (3) years after final payment and all 

matters pertaining to that contract are closed, including litigation. Procurement records related to federal grants 

are to be retained a minimum of three (3) years after audit and close out of each grant. 

 

F. Funding Availability 

Before initiating any contract, the City Manager or delegated entity shall ensure that there are sufficient funds 

available to cover the anticipated cost of the contract or modification. 

 

G. Policy Modifications 

This Policy and any subsequent modifications shall be submitted to the Board of Commissioners for approval. 

 

IV. PROCUREMENT METHODS 

 

A. General 

The City of Hartford will select one of the following methods of procurement for all procurement actions 

based on the nature and anticipated dollar value of the total requirement. As previously provided, 

procurement actions exceeding $2,000.00 must have prior approval of the City of Hartford Board of 

Commissioners. 
154

Item 26.



 

 

Procurement Method Federal grants 

Micro Purchase Up to $2,000 
Small Purchase- Board Approval Required $2,001 - $100,000 

Sealed Bids/Proposals- Board Approval Required $100,001 and above 

Competitive Proposal- Board Approval Required  $100,001 and above 

Noncompetitive Purchases- Board Approval Required $100,001 and above 

 

B. Micro Procurement Methods 

1. For Micro Purchases, one (1) quote is required provided the quote is considered reasonable. Accounts 

may be established in an amount sufficient to cover small purchases made during a reasonable period 

(e.g., one month).  

2. The City Manager may authorize the purchase for Micro Purchases after obtaining one (1) quote and 

the price is considered reasonable. However, for amounts above the Micro Purchase level, the City 

Manager shall obtain three quotes before purchasing.  

 

C. Small Purchase Procedures 

Under small purchase procedures, the City of Hartford shall obtain at least three (3) quotes; however, to the 

greatest extent feasible, and to promote competition, small purchases should be distributed among qualified 

sources. 

 

Quotes may be obtained in writing or researched on public websites. Documentation, such as written 

notes, is required to support quotes. Award shall be made to the qualified vendor that provides the best 

value to the City of Hartford. If award is to be made for reasons other than lowest price, documentation shall 

be provided in the contract file. The City of Hartford shall not break down requirements aggregating more 

than the small purchase threshold (or the Micro Purchase threshold) into several purchases that are less than 

the applicable threshold merely to: 

 

1. Permit use of the small purchase procedures or, 

2. Avoid any requirements that apply to purchases exceeding the Micro Purchase threshold. 

 

D. Sealed Bids 

Sealed bidding shall be used for all contracts that exceed the small purchase threshold and that are not 

competitive proposals, non-competitive proposals, or cooperative purchasing, as these terms are defined in 

this document. Under sealed bids, the City of Hartford publicly solicits bids and awards a firm fixed-price 

contract (lump sum) to the responsible bidder whose bid, conforming to all the material terms and conditions 

of the Invitation for bids, is the lowest in price. Sealed bidding is the preferred method for procuring 

construction, supply, and non-complex service contracts that are expected to exceed $100,000. 

 

1. Conditions for Using Sealed Bids. The City of Hartford shall use the sealed bid method if the 

following conditions are present: 

a. Procurement actions exceed the small purchase threshold of $100,000; 

b. A complete, adequate, and realistic statement of work, specification, or purchase 

description is available; 

c. Two or more responsible bidders are willing and able to compete effectively for the work; 

d. The contract can be awarded based on a firm fixed price; and 

e. The selection of the successful bidder can be made principally on the basis of price; 

f. Sealed Bidding is the preferred method for Construction Contracts above the small 

purchase threshold. 

g. Sealed bidding is not recommended for Professional Service Contracts. 

 
155

Item 26.



 

2. Solicitation and Receipt of Bids. An invitation for bid (IFB) is issued which includes the 

specifications and all contractual terms and conditions applicable to the procurement, and a statement 

that award will be made to the lowest responsible and responsive bidder whose bid meets the 

requirements of the IFB. 

 

The IFB must state the time and place for both receiving the bids and the public bid opening. All bids 

received will be date and time-stamped and stored unopened in a secure place until the public bid 

opening. A bidder may withdraw the bid at any time prior to the bid opening. Bids, which, for any 

reason, are not timely delivered, will not be considered and will be returned unopened. 

 

No responsibility will be attached to an officially delegated City of Hartford officer, employee, or 

agent of the City of Hartford for not recognizing or receiving a bid, which is not properly marked, 

addressed or delivered to the submission place, using the required submission method, by the 

submission date and time. 

 

3. Bid Opening and Award. Bids shall be opened publicly. The City of Hartford City Clerk or designee 

shall conduct the bid opening and shall read aloud each bidders name and bid price. All bids received 

shall be recorded on an abstract (tabulation) of bids, and then made available for public inspection. 

Bids shall be evaluated and the award made in writing to the lowest responsive and responsible 

bidder. If equal low bids are received from responsible bidders, selection shall be made by drawing 

lots or other similar random method unless otherwise provided by Michigan State law. The method 

for doing this shall be stated in the IFB. If only one responsive bid is received from a responsible 

bidder, award shall not be made unless the price can be determined to be reasonable, based on a cost 

or price analysis. The successful bidder and all unsuccessful bidders shall be notified in writing upon 

approval from the Board of Commissioners after review and approval and/or acceptance of Bids. 

 

4. Mistakes in Bids. Correction or withdrawal of bids may be permitted, where appropriate, before bid 

opening by written or email notice received in the office designated in the IFB prior to the time set for 

bid opening. After bid opening, no corrections will be permitted. 

 

E. Competitive Proposals/Negotiated Procurement 

Competitive proposals are used to solicit multiple offers and be awarded wither a fixed price or cost-

reimbursement type contract. Competitive Proposals are the primary alternative to the sealed bidding method 

of contracting for amounts over $500,000 purchases and is generally used when conditions are not 

appropriate for the use of sealed bids. Requests for proposals (RFPs) are typically used for competitive 

proposals. For competitive proposals where qualification of the vendor is more important than the price of the 

service, a request for a qualification (RFQ) maybe more appropriate. Unlike sealed bidding, the competitive 

proposal method permits: 

 

1. Consideration of technical factors other than price;  

2. Discussion with offerors concerning offers submitted;  

3. Negotiation of contract price or estimated cost and other contract terms and conditions;  

4. Revision of proposals before the final contractor selection;  

5. The withdrawal of an offer at any time up until the point of award.  

 

Award is normally made on the basis of the proposal that represents the best overall value to the City of 

Hartford, considering price and other factors (e.g. technical expertise, past experience, quality of proposed 

staffing, etc.) set forth in the solicitation and not solely the lowest price. 

 

1. Conditions for Use. Where conditions are not appropriate for the use of sealed bidding, competitive 

proposals may be used. Competitive proposals are the preferred method for procuring 

professional services. Generally, the competitive proposal method should be used whenever any of 
156

Item 26.



 

the following conditions exist. 

a. The work is not definite enough to accurately estimate the total cost of the contract and the 

contract may require contingency cost; 

b. The nature of the requirement is such that City of Hartford needs to evaluate more than just the 

price to ensure the prospective contractor understands City of Hartford’s requirements and can 

successfully complete the contract; or 

c. The requested work or a service lends itself to different approaches from prospective contractors 

in accomplishing the work. 

 

2. Form of Solicitation. Federal grant-funded Competitive proposals, other than Architecture/Engineer 

services, shall be solicited through the issuance of a Request for Proposals (RFP). The RFP shall 

clearly identify the importance and relative value of each of the evaluation factors as well as any sub 

factors and price. A mechanism for fairly and thoroughly evaluating the technical and price 

proposals shall be established before the solicitation is issued. Proposals shall be handled so as to 

prevent disclosure of the number of offerors, identity of the offerors, and the contents of their 

proposals until after award, subject to the Michigan Freedom of Information Act. The City of 

Hartford may assign price as a specific weight in the evaluation criteria, or the City of Hartford may 

consider price in conjunction with technical factors; in either case, the method for evaluating price 

shall be established in the RFP. 

 

The RFP shall state the date and time the proposals are due. Proposals, which for any reason are not 

delivered timely, will not be considered and will be returned unopened. The City of Hartford staff 

designated to receive proposals will determine when the deadline for receipt of proposals has expired. 

No responsibility will be attached to an officially designated City of Hartford officer, employee, or 

agent of City of Hartford for not recognizing or receiving a proposal which is not properly marked, 

addressed, or delivered to the submission place, in the submission method, by the submission date and 

time. 

 

3. Evaluation. The proposals shall be evaluated only on the criteria stated in the RFP. Where not 

apparent from the evaluation criteria, the City of Hartford shall establish an Evaluation Plan for each 

RFP. The City Manager shall be required to disclose any potential conflicts of interest and to sign a 

non-disclosure statement. An Evaluation Report, summarizing the results of the evaluation, shall 

be prepared prior to award of a contract. 

 

4. Negotiations. Negotiations or discussions shall be conducted with all offerors who submit a proposal 

determined to have a reasonable chance of being selected for award, unless it is determined that 

negotiations are not needed with any of the offerors. This determination is based on the relative score 

of the proposals as they are evaluated and rated in accordance with the technical and price factors 

specified in the RFP. These offerors shall be treated fairly and equally with respect to any opportunity 

for negotiation and revision of their proposals. No offeror shall be given any information about any 

other offeror’s proposal, and no offeror shall be assisted in bringing its proposal up to the level of any 

other proposal. 

 

a. A common deadline shall be established for receipt of proposal revisions based on negotiations. 

Negotiations are exchanges (in either competitive or sole source environment) between the City of 

Hartford and offerors undertaken with the intent of allowing the offeror to revise its proposal. 

These negotiations may include bargaining. Bargaining includes persuasion, alteration of 

assumptions and positions, give-and-take, and may apply to price, schedule, technical 

requirements, type of contract or other terms of a proposed contract. When negotiations or 

discussions are conducted, they generally take place after establishment of the competitive range 

and are called discussions. These negotiations/discussions are generally tailored to each offeror’s 

proposal and shall be conducted by the City Manager with each offeror within the competitive 
157

Item 26.



 

range. 

 

b. The primary object of discussions is to maximize the City of Hartford’s ability to obtain best 

value, based on the requirements and the evaluation factors set forth in the solicitation. The City 

Manager may indicate to, or discuss with, each offeror still being considered for award, 

deficiencies, and other aspects of its proposal (such as cost, price, technical approach, past 

performance, and terms and conditions) so that each offeror has a complete understanding of City 

of Hartford’s position or concerns with its proposal. 

 

c. The scope and extent of discussions are a matter of the City Manager’s judgment. The City 

Manager may inform an offeror that its price is considered by the City of Hartford to be too high, 

or too low, and reveal the results of the analysis supporting that conclusion. It is also permissible 

to indicate to all offerors the cost or price that the government’s price analysis, market research, 

and other reviews have identified as reasonable. “Auctioning” (revealing one offeror’s price in an 

attempt to get another offeror to lower their price) is prohibited. 

 

5. Award. After evaluation of the revised proposals, if any, the contract shall be awarded to the 

responsible firm whose technical approach to the project, qualifications, price and/or any other 

factors considered, are most advantageous to the City of Hartford provided that the price is within 

the maximum total project budgeted amount established for the specific service. Award is normally 

made on the basis of the proposal that represents the best overall value to the City of Hartford, 

considering price and other factors (e.g., technical expertise, past experience, quality of proposed 

staffing, etc.) set forth in the solicitation and not solely the lowest price. 

 

F. Noncompetitive Proposals 

1. Conditions for Use. Procurement by noncompetitive proposals (sole-source) may be used only when 

the award of a contract is not feasible using small purchase procedures, sealed bids, cooperative 

purchasing, or competitive proposals, and if one of the following applies: 

a. The item is available only from a single source, based on a good faith review of 

available sources. 

b. An emergency exists that seriously threatens the public health, welfare, or safety, 

or endangers property, or would otherwise cause serious injury to the City of 

Hartford, as may arise by reason of a flood, earthquake, epidemic, riot, equipment 

failure, or similar event. In such cases, there must be an immediate and serious 

need for supplies, services, or construction such that the need cannot be met 

through any of the other procurement methods, and the emergency procurement 

shall be limited to those supplies, services, or construction necessary simply to 

meet the emergency; or 

c. The awarding agency authorizes the use of noncompetitive proposals; or 

d. After solicitation of a number of sources, competition is determined inadequate. 

 

A single response to a competitive procurement, either an RFP or RFQ, does not constitute sole 

source procurement. City of Hartford may award a contract based on a sole response and shall 

document the files to demonstrate that the procurement was appropriately advertised, and the 

procurement was determined to be fair and reasonable. 

 

2. Justification. Each procurement action using federal grants, based on noncompetitive proposals, shall 

be supported by a written justification for the selection of this method. 

 

The City Manager shall approve the justification in writing. Poor planning or lack of planning is not 

justification for emergency or sole-source procurements. The justification, to be included in the 

procurement file. 
158

Item 26.



 

 

3. Price Reasonableness. The reasonableness of the price for all procurements based on 

noncompetitive proposals shall be determined by performing a cost analysis, as described in this 

Policy. 

 

4. Qualifications Based Solicitations & Other Specialized Services 

 

a. A/E Services. If the design warrants the use of an Architect or Engineer, under any federal grant 

funded program, the City of Hartford may solicit A/E services using qualifications-based 

selection (QBS) procedures, utilizing a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) or, as allowable per 

Michigan State law, City of Hartford may solicit A/E Services using the Request for Proposals 

method. Sealed bidding shall not be used for A/E solicitations. 

Under QBS procedures, competitors’ qualifications are evaluated and the most qualified 

competitor is selected, subject to negotiation of fair and reasonable compensation. Price is not 

used as a selection factor under this method. 

 

b. Legal Services. City of Hartford shall obtain required outside legal services through 

procurement contracts when using federal grants. 2 CFR Part 200 permits City of Hartford to 

use any of the following contracting methods, based on the facts surrounding the particular 

situation: 1) Small Purchase Procedures; 2) Sealed Bids (not recommended): 3) Competitive 

Proposals; or 4) Noncompetitive Proposals. 

 

5. Emergencies 

 

An exigent or emergency purchase may be made when an exigent or emergency situation exists. An 

exigent condition is a situation or condition requiring immediate aid or action. This could be the 

result of a pending natural disaster, an equipment failure such as fire safety or HVAC malfunction. 

An emergency condition is an immediate threat to the health and safety of the residents or employees 

of the City of Hartford.  

 

Exigent and/or emergency procurement actions shall be limited to only those supplies, services, or 

major repairs to abate and or cure the exigent condition or emergency. When taking such actions 

the procurer must attempt to get the best product for the least cost while considering the time 

sensitive nature of the situation. 

 

The exigent condition or the emergency should be completed as soon as possible. Within twenty-

four (24) hours after the exigent condition or emergency condition is abated, the City Manager shall 

ensure the proper documentation for the supplies, services, or construction is submitted. 

Documentation of the exigent condition or emergency condition shall be maintained separately in 

the Procurement Division’s files. 

 

6. Cooperative Purchasing/Intergovernmental Agreements 

 

The City of Hartford may enter into cooperative or intergovernmental agreements with State and/or 

local governmental agencies to purchase or use common supplies, equipment, or services. The 

decision to use an intergovernmental agreement instead of conducting a direct procurement shall be 

based on economy and efficiency. If used, the intergovernmental agreement shall stipulate who is 

authorized to purchase on behalf of the participating parties and shall specify inspection, acceptance, 

termination, payment, and other relevant terms and conditions. The City of Hartford may use State 

excess and surplus property instead of purchasing new equipment and property if feasible and if it 

will result in a reduction of project costs. 
159

Item 26.



 

 

V. COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 

The City of Hartford shall require assurance that, before entering into a contract, the price is reasonable, 

in accordance with the following instructions. The reasonableness determination shall be placed into the 

official procurement file. 

 

A. Micro Purchases. No formal cost or price analysis is required. Rather, a review by the City Manager 

shall serve as determination that the price obtained is reasonable, which may be based on the City 

Manager’s prior experience or other factors.  

 

B. Small Purchases. A comparison with other offers shall be sufficient determination of the 

reasonableness of price and no further analysis is required. If a reasonable number of quotes are 

not obtained to establish reasonableness through price competition, the City Manager shall 

document price reasonableness through other means, such as prior purchases of this nature, 

catalog prices, the City Manager’s personal knowledge at the time of purchase, comparison to the 

ICE, or any other reasonable basis. The Official Procurement File shall be documented with the 

appropriate rationale. 

 

C. Sealed Bids. The presence of adequate competition should generally be sufficient to establish price 

reasonableness. Where sufficient bids are not received, and when the bid received is more than 10% 

greater than the ICE, the entity which submitted the ICE must conduct a cost analysis, consistent 

with federal guidelines, to ensure that the price paid is reasonable. Comparison may indicate need for 

verification of Bid. 

 

D. Competitive Proposals. The presence of adequate competition should generally be sufficient to 

establish price reasonableness. Where sufficient bids are not received, the City of Hartford must 

compare the price with the ICE. For competitive proposals where prices cannot be easily compared 

among offerors, where there is not adequate competition, or where the price is substantially greater 

than the ICE, the City of Hartford must conduct a cost or price analysis, consistent with Federal 

guidelines, to ensure that the price paid is reasonable.  

 

E. Contract Modifications. A cost or price analysis, consistent with federal guidelines, shall be 

conducted for all contract modifications for projects that were procured through Sealed Bids, 

Competitive Proposals, or Non-Competitive Proposals, or for projects originally procured through 

Small Purchase procedures and the amount of the contract modification will result in a total contract 

price in excess of $100,000. The only exception to this rule is a contract modification based on 

pricing terms already established in the contract document. 

 

VI. SOLICITATION AND ADVERTISING 

 

A. Method of Solicitation 

 

1. Small Purchases. Oral requests for quotes (documented in writing in the file) shall be the preferred 

method of solicitation; however, the City of Hartford may also use other means, including advertising, 

mailing lists, or e-procurement. 

 

2. Sealed Bids and Competitive Proposals. Solicitation must be done publicly. The City of Hartford 

must use one or more of the following solicitation methods, provided that the method employed 

provides for meaningful competition. 

a. Advertising in newspapers or other print mediums of local or general circulations; 

b. Advertising in various trade journals or publications, such as the Dodge Reports (for 

160

Item 26.



 

construction); 

c. Mailing/Emailing to Vendor Lists; and/or E-Procurement. The City of Hartford may 

conduct its public procurements through the Internet using e-procurement systems. 

However, all e- procurements must otherwise be in compliance with 2 CFR Part 200, State 

and local requirements, and this Procurement Policy. File documentation must be designed 

to be audited. 

 

B. Time Frame 

For purchases of more than $100,000, the public notice/advertisement shall be run once, unless 

dictated otherwise by Michigan State law. 

 

C. Form 

Notices/advertisements should state, at a minimum, the place, date, and time that the bids or 

proposals are due, a contact person who can provide a copy of, and information about, the 

solicitation, and a brief description of the needed supplies and services (including construction). 

 

D. Time Period for Submission of Bids 

A minimum of ten (10) business days shall generally be provided for preparation and submission 

of sealed bids and (10) business days for competitive proposals exceeding $100,000. However, 

the City Manager may allow for a shorter period in response to emergencies or exigencies, as 

allowed for by State and local law. 

 

E. Cancellation of Solicitations 

1. An IFB, RFP, RFQ, or other solicitation may be cancelled before bids/offers are due if: 

a. the supplies, services or construction is no longer required; 

b. the funds are no longer available; and/or 

c. proposed amendments to the solicitation are of such magnitude that a new solicitation 

would be best. 

 

2. A solicitation may be cancelled and all bids or proposals that have already been received may be 

rejected if: 

a. the supplies or services (including construction) are no longer required; 

b. ambiguous or otherwise inadequate specifications were part of the solicitation; 

c. all factors of significance to the City of Hartford were not considered; 

d. prices exceed available funds and it would not be appropriate to adjust quantities to come 

within available funds; 

e. there is reason to believe that bids or proposals may not have been independently 

determined in open competition, may have been collusive, or may have been submitted 

in bad faith; or 

f. for good cause of a similar nature when it is in the best interest of the City of Hartford. 

 

3. The reasons for cancellation shall be documented in the procurement file and the reasons for 

cancellation and/or rejection shall be provided upon request. 

 

4. A notice of cancellation shall be sent to all bidders/offerors solicited and, if appropriate, shall explain 

that they will be given an opportunity to compete on any re-solicitation or future procurement of 

similar items. 

 

5. If all otherwise acceptable bids received in response to an IFB are unreasonable as to price, an 

analysis shall be conducted to review the adequacy and or appropriateness’ of the specifications or the 

accuracy and appropriateness’ of the City of Hartford’s accuracy of cost estimate. If both are 

161

Item 26.



 

determined adequate and if only one bid is received and the price is unreasonable, the City Manager 

may cancel the solicitation and either: 

 

a. Re-solicit using an RFP; 

 

b. Complete the procurement by using the competitive proposal method. (The City Manager 

must determine, in writing, that such action is appropriate, must inform all bidders of the 

City of Hartford’s intent to negotiate, and must give each bidder a reasonable opportunity 

to negotiate.); or 

 

c. If problems are found with the specifications, shall cancel the solicitation, revise 

the specifications and re-solicit using an IFB. 

 

VII.  BONDING & INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

The standards under this section generally apply to construction contracts that exceed $100,000. There are no 

bonding requirements for small purchases or for competitive proposals. The City of Hartford may require 

bonds and/or insurance for other services when deemed appropriate to protect the interest of City of Hartford; 

non-construction contracts should generally not require bid bonds. 

 

A. Bonds 

 

1. Bid Bond. For construction contracts exceeding $100,000, offerors shall be required to submit a bid 

guarantee/bid bond from each bidder equivalent to 5% of the bid price. A bid guarantee/bid bond may 

be acceptable in the form of a cash equivalent. 

 

2. Payment Bonds. For construction contracts exceeding $100,000, and in addition to the bid 

guarantee/bid bond required, the successful bidder shall furnish an assurance of completion. This 

assurance may be met and provided below: A performance and payment bond in a penal sum of 100% 

of the contract price for contracts exceeding $100,000; or 

 

a. Separate performance and payment bonds, each for 50% or more of the contract price 

for contracts exceeding $100,000; or 

b. A 20% cash escrow; or 

c. A 25% irrevocable letter of credit. 

 

3. Performance Bonds are required for all construction or service contracts exceeding $100,000. 

 

a. These bonds must be obtained from guarantee companies acceptable to the U.S. 

Government and authorized to do business in the State of Michigan. Individual sureties 

shall not be considered. 

 

b. U.S. Treasury Department Circular No. 570 lists companies approved to act as surety on 

bonds securing Government contracts, the maximum underwriting limits on each contract 

bonded, and the State of Michigan. 

 

B. Inadequate Surety. 

If the low bidder fails to provide an acceptable assurance of completion (payment and performance bonds) 

after award of the contract, the City of Hartford should consider the bid guarantee forfeited and notify the 

surety company. The contract is then terminated for default. The amount to be recovered from the bid bond 

or guarantee should equal at least the difference between the defaulted bid and the next high acceptable bid 

or the amount by which the bid accepted by resoliciting exceed the defaulted contract. 

162

Item 26.



 

 

C. Insurance. 

All contracts shall contain insurance provisions appropriate to the project or service and/or as may be required 

by Federal, State and or local laws and ordinances. 

 

The successful contractor, before start of work, must submit a certificate of insurance, name the City of 

Hartford as an additional insured. The insurance requirement will be noted in each procurement method 

where bidder/offerors shall provide a copy of their current insurance certificate. In general, each successful 

contractor must carry: 

 

1. General Liability - $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property 

damage, and an aggregate limit of $2,000,000; and/or 

 

2. Automobile Liability - $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage (if necessary 

and applicable to the contract); and/or 

 

3. Workers Compensation or Employer’s Liability - $500,000 per accident for bodily injury or 

disease; and/or 

 

4. Error and Omission Liability (if necessary) - $1,000,000 per occurrence and an aggregate limit of 

$1,000,000; and/or 

 

5. Bodily Injury Liability (if the contract involves motor vehicles or mechanized equipment) - 

$1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and/or personal injury and/or property damage. 

 

VIII. CONTRACTOR QUALIFICATIONS AND DUTIES 

 

A. Contractor Responsibility 

The City of Hartford will not award any contract until the prospective contractor (i.e., low responsive bidder 

or successful offeror) has been determined to be responsible. A responsible bidder/offeror must: 

1. Have adequate financial resources to perform the contract, or the ability to obtain them; 

2. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery or performance schedule, taking into 

consideration all the bidder’s/offeror’s existing commercial and governmental business 

commitments; 

3. Have a satisfactory performance record; 

4. Have a satisfactory record of integrity and business ethics; 

5. Have the necessary organization, experience, accounting and operational controls, and 

technical skills, or the ability to obtain them; 

6. Have the necessary production, construction, and technical equipment and facilities, or the 

ability to obtain them; and 

7. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award under applicable laws and regulations, 

including not be suspended, debarred or under a HUD-imposed Limited Denial of Participation. 

 

If a prospective contractor is found to be non-responsible, a written determination of non-responsibility 

shall be prepared and included in the official contract file, and the prospective contractor shall be 

advised of the reasons for the determination. 

 

B. Acceptable Evidence of Responsibility 
It is incumbent upon bidders/offerors to provide acceptable evidence of their ability to meet the requirements. 
Acceptable evidence normally consists of a commitment or explicit arrangement that will be in existence at 
the time of contract award to rent, purchase, or otherwise acquire the needed facilities, equipment, financing, 
personnel, or other resources. 

163

Item 26.



 

C. Researching Responsibility 
The City Manager will need to conduct research to determine that a prospective contractor is responsible. 
Only that information deemed necessary to determine the offeror’s responsibility will be requested, obtained, 
and reviewed, some methods include: 

1. Financial Capability such as credit bureau reports, lines of credit, account balances etc; 

2. Compliance with Delivery and Performance Schedules such as information on all other active 

contracts the offeror is performing and verify their status with those buyers; 

3. Performance Record such as information for recent contracts that the offeror has performed to 

ascertain the quality of performance, including timeliness of delivery/completion, quality of work, 

compliance with terms and conditions of the contract, and cost control, if applicable; 

4. Integrity and Business Ethics such as information from recent and previous customers to verify their 

dealings with the offeror, verification from the BBB, local offices of Code Compliance and Business 

Licenses, or other regularly agencies, including but not limited to the compliance with payments, 

wages rates, and affirmative action requirements; 

5. Necessary Organization, Experience, Accounting and Operational Controls, and Technical 

Skills such as verification of experience with other customer, copies of audit reports and availability 

of necessary personnel. 

6. Necessary Production, Construction, and Technical Equipment and Facilities such as verification 

of all necessary equipment and facilitates needed or capability to obtain; 

7. Eligible to Receive a City of Hartford Contract such as verification that the offeror has not been 

suspended or debarred as applicable 

D. Responsible at Time of Award 
Bidders/offerors must be determined to be responsible at the time of award. For sealed bidding this means at 
the point where the low, responsive bidder has been determined. For the competitive proposal method, this 
means after the successful offeror has been selected for award. Bidder/offeror may be afforded the 
opportunity to provide acceptable evidence of their ability to meet the stated requirements after bid opening 
(sealed bidding) or contractor selection (competitive proposal method). The City Manager must clearly 
indicate to potential bidders/offerors the time frame in which they are required to submit evidence that they 
meet the above requirements. 

 

E. Determination of Non-Responsibility 

A determination of non-responsibility will be a matter of judgment on the part of the City of Hartford, given 

the preponderance of the evidence. If the facts indicate that the bidder/offeror fails to meet the requirements 

for responsibility, the City Manager shall document the finding of fact that led him/her to make the 

determination. 

 

F. Notifying Bidders/Offerors of Non-Responsibility 

The City Manager should notify low bidders or otherwise successful offeror who are determined to be non-

responsible. The City Manager shall document the results in the procurement file. 

 

 

G. Suspension and Debarment 

When using Federal Funds, the City of Hartford will determine whether contractors have been restricted from 

participation in Government Services Administration (GSA) contracts. 

1. Suspension and Debarment – City of Hartford will not make award any contractor or individual who 

has been suspended or debarred and who name appears on the GSA list of Parties excluded from 

Procurement and Non-procurement programs. 

2. City of Hartford Responsibility in Debarment, and Suspension – City of Hartford will determine if a 

contractor or individual has been debarred or suspended 

3. City of Hartford will advise potential contractors of their responsibility to confirm in their proposals 

the acceptability of their subcontractors. 
164

Item 26.



 

 

H. Vendor Lists 

All interested businesses shall be given the opportunity to be included on vendor mailing lists. Any lists of 

persons, firms, or products which are used in the purchase of supplies and services (including construction), 

shall be kept current and include enough sources to ensure competition. 

 

IX. CONTRACTS, TYPE, CLAUSES, PRICING ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACT  

ADMINISTRATION  

 

Prior to the execution of any contracts, contract modifications, or options, the Board approval requirements of 

the Section III of this Procurement Policy must be met.  

 

A. Contract Types 

Any type of contract which is appropriate to the procurement, and which will promote the best interests of the 

City of Hartford may be used, provided the cost-plus-a-percentage-of- cost and percentage-of-

construction-cost methods are prohibited. All procurements and contracts shall include the clauses and 

provisions necessary to define the rights and responsibilities of both the contractor and the City of Hartford. 

A cost reimbursement contract shall not be used unless: 

1. it is likely to be less costly or it is impracticable to satisfy the City of Hartford’s 

requirements otherwise; 

2. the proposed contractor’s accounting system is adequate to allocate costs in accordance with 

applicable cost principles (see OMB 2 CFR 200); and 

3. the contractor is paid only reasonable allowable and allocable costs. 

 

A time and materials contract may be used only if a written determination is made that no other contract 

type is suitable, and the contract includes a ceiling price that the contractor exceeds at its own risk. A time 

and materials contract is a cost reimbursement contract. The contract must include a ceiling price which the 

contractor exceeds at its own risk; and includes reasonable, allowable, and allocable (labor and materials) 

costs necessary to complete the work. Time and materials contracts shall have fixed hourly rates. Fee or profit 

from materials is prohibited in a time and materials contract. 

 

B. Options 

Options for additional supplies or performance periods may be included in contracts, provided that: 

1. the option is contained in the solicitation; 

2. the option is a unilateral right of the City of Hartford; 

3. the contract states a limit on the additional quantities and the overall term of the contract; 

4. the options are evaluated as part of the initial competition; 

5. the contract states the period within which the options may be exercised; 

6. the options may be exercised only at the price specified in or reasonably determinable from 

the contract; and 

7. the options may be exercised only if determined to be more advantageous to the City of Hartford 

than conducting a new procurement. 

 

C. Contract Clauses 

All contracts should identify the contract pricing arrangement as well as other pertinent terms and 

conditions, as determined by the City of Hartford.  

 

In addition to containing a clause identifying the contract type, all contracts shall include any clauses 

required by Federal statutes, executive orders, and their implementing regulations, such as the following: 

1. Administrative, contractual, or legal remedies in instances where contractors violate or 

breach contract terms and provide for such sanctions and penalties as may be appropriate. 

165

Item 26.



 

(Contracts more than the simplified acquisition threshold); 

2. Termination for cause and for convenience by the City of Hartford including the manner by 

which it will be affected and the basis for settlement. (All contracts in excess of $10,000); 

3. Compliance with Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, entitled "Equal 

Employment Opportunity", as amended by Executive Order 11375 of October 13, 1967, and 

as supplemented in Department of Labor regulations (41 CFR chapter 60). (All construction 

contracts awarded in excess of $10,000 by grantees and their contractors or sub grantees); 

4. Compliance with the Copeland "Anti-Kickback" Act (18 U.S.C. 874) as supplemented in 

Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR part 3). (All contracts and sub grants for 

construction or repair); 

5. Compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 276a to 276a-7) as supplemented by 

Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR part 5). (Construction contracts in excess of 

$2,000 awarded by City of Hartford when required by Federal grant program legislation); 

6. Compliance with Sections 103 and 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards 

Act (40 U.S.C. 327A 330) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR 

part 5). (Construction contracts awarded by City of Hartford in excess of $2,000, including 

other contracts which involve the employment of mechanics or laborers); 

7. Notice of awarding agency requirements and regulations pertaining to reporting; 

8. Notice of awarding agency requirements and regulations pertaining to patent rights with 

respect to any discovery or invention which arises or is developed in the course of or under 

such contract; 

9. Awarding agency requirements and regulations pertaining to copyrights and rights in data; 

10. Access by the grantee, the sub grantee, the Federal grantor agency, the Comptroller General 

of the United States, or any of their duly authorized representatives to any books, documents, 

papers, and records of the contractor which are directly pertinent to that specific contract for 

the purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts, and transcriptions; 

11. Retention of all required records for three years after grantees or sub grantees make final 

payments and all other pending matters are closed; 

12. Compliance with all applicable standards, orders, or requirements issued under section 306 

of the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 1857 (h)), section 508 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 

1368), Executive Order 11738, and Environmental Protection Agency regulations (40 CFR 

part 15). (Contracts, subcontracts, and sub grants of amounts in excess of $100,000); 

13. Mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency which are contained in the 

state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation 

Act (Pub. L. 94A 163, 89 Stat. 871); 

14. Bid protests and contract claims; 

15. Value engineering; and 

16. Payment of funds to influence certain Federal transactions. 

 

 D. Contract Administration 

The City of Hartford shall maintain a system of contract administration designed to ensure that contractors 

perform in accordance with their contracts. These systems shall provide for inspection of supplies, services, 

or construction, as well as monitoring contractor performance, status reporting on major projects including 

construction contracts, and similar matters. For cost-reimbursement contracts, costs are allowable only to the 

extent that they are consistent with the cost principles in OMB 2 CFR Part 200. Operational Procedures shall 

contain guidelines for inspection and acceptance of supplies, services and construction. 

 

All contracts above specified value will be reviewed by the Board of Commissioners prior to the execution of 

any contracts.  

 

X. SPECIFICATIONS, STATEMENT/SCOPE OF WORK 

 
166

Item 26.



 

A. General 

All specifications shall be drafted so as to promote overall economy for the purpose intended and to 

encourage competition in satisfying the City of Hartford’s needs. Specifications shall be reviewed by the City 

Manager or assigned Engineer prior to issuing any solicitation to ensure that they are not unduly restrictive or 

represent unnecessary or duplicative items. Function or performance specifications are preferred. Detailed 

product specifications shall be avoided whenever possible. 

 

Consideration shall be given to consolidating or breaking out procurements to obtain a more economical 

purchase. For equipment purchases, a lease versus purchase analysis should be performed to determine the 

most economical form of procurement. 

 

B. Limitation 

The following types of specifications shall be avoided: 

 

1. Geographic Restrictions not mandated or encouraged by applicable Federal law (except for 

architect/engineer contracts, which may include geographic location as a selection factor if adequate 

competition is available); 

 

2. Brand Name Specifications (unless the specification is a standardized material used throughout 

the City of Hartford properties). 

 

Nothing in this procurement policy shall preempt any State licensing laws. Specifications shall be reviewed 

to ensure that organizational conflicts of interest do not occur. 

 

XI. CONTRACT TERMINATIONS 

 

A. Termination of City of Hartford contracts 

The City of Hartford shall terminate contracts for default or convenience, as prescribed in the termination 

clauses on 2 CFR Part 200.339. 

 

B. Termination Notice 

After review and approval, the Board of Commissioner’s shall terminate contracts either for convenience or 

default only by a written notice to the contractor. The notice shall be sent by certified mail with a return 

receipt requested. The notice shall state, at a minimum, the following: 

 

1. The contract is being terminated for the convenience of the City of Hartford or for default under the 

cited contract clause authorizing the  termination; 

 

2. Whether the contract is being terminated in whole or in part (for partial terminations, City of Hartford 

shall identify the specific items being terminated); 

 

3. If terminated for default, the acts or omissions constituting the default, the City Manager or 

assigned Engineer’s determination that failure to perform is not excusable, City of Hartford’s 

rights to charge excess costs of re-procurement to the contractor, and the contractor’s appeal rights; 

 

4. The effective date of termination; 

 

5. The contractor’s right to proceed under the non-terminated portion of the contract; 

 

6. Any special instructions; and 

 
167

Item 26.



 

7. Copies of the notice shall be sent to the contractor’s surety, if any, and any assignee. 

 

C. Termination for Convenience 

Contracts may be terminated for convenience when the City of Hartford no longer needs or desires the 

supplies or services under contract or can no longer fund the procurement. 

 

1. Settlement – Following prior Board of Commissioners’ review and approval, contracts terminated for 

convenience may be settled through negotiations or by unilateral determination by the Board. The 

contractor shall submit a settlement proposal promptly to the City Manager for any amounts claimed 

as a result of the termination. Whenever possible, the City Manager should negotiate a fair and 

prompt settlement with the contractor only upon approval from the Board of Commissioners and 

should settle by determination only when mutual agreement cannot be reached. 

 

Compensation – A settlement should compensate the contractor fairly for work performed, for other 

cost incurred under the contract, and for preparations made for the terminated portions of the contract, 

including a reasonable allowance for profit.  However, no profit shall be allowed for settlement 

expenses.  In addition, the City Manager shall not allow profit if it appears that the contractor would 

have incurred a loss had the entire contract been completed. Fair compensation is a matter of 

judgment and cannot be measured exactly. The City Manager shall use prudent business judgment in 

the settlement process, as opposed to strict accounting principles. The parties may agree to a total 

amount to be paid to the contractor without agreeing on individual cost items or profit. 

 

D. Termination for Default 

A contract may be terminated for default because of a contractor’s actual or anticipated failure to perform its 

contractual obligations. Under a termination for default, the City of Hartford is not liable for the contractor’s 

costs on undelivered work and may be entitled to the repayment of progress payments. If the contractor fails 

to make progress so as to endanger performance of the contract, the City Manager shall draft a written notice 

to the contractor (generally called a “Cure Notice”) specifying the failure and providing a period of 10 days 

in which to cure the failure.  

 

Cure Notice shall not be issued until presented to the Board of Commissioners for prior review and approval. 

Upon approval of the notice the City Manager may issue the written notice to the contractor. After the 10 

days, the City Manager may issue a notice of termination for default, unless the failure to perform has been 

cured. 

 

1. Notice – If the contractor has failed to perform within the required time and a termination for default 

appears appropriate, the City Manager shall notify the contractor in writing of the possibility of 

termination. This notice shall call the contractor’s attention to the contractual liabilities if the contract 

is terminated for default and request the contractor to “show cause” why the contract should not be 

terminated. If the response to this “show cause” notice is inadequate or insufficient, the contract shall 

be terminated for default. 

 

2. Alternatives to Termination – Alternatives to termination for default include the following (at City 

of Hartford’s discretion): 

a. Allow alternative dispute resolution (arbitration or mediation) as agreed to by both parties; 

 

b. Allow the contractor or the surety to continue performance of the contract under a 

revised delivery schedule (in exchange for a reduced contract price or other 

consideration); 

 

c. Permit the contractor to continue the performance of the contract by means of a 

168

Item 26.



 

subcontract or other business arrangement with an acceptable third party, provide the 

rights of the City of Hartford are adequately protected; or 

 

d. If the contractor is not liable to the City of Hartford for damages, execute a co- cost 

termination settlement agreement. 

 

3. Repurchase – When the supplies, services, or construction activities are still required after the 

termination, the City Manager shall seek to contract for the same or similar items as soon as 

possible. The City Manager may use any appropriate contracting method for the procurement, 

providing competition is solicited to the maximum extent practicable to secure the lowest price 

obtainable under the circumstances in order to mitigate damages. 

 

XII. APPEALS AND REMEDIES 

 

A. General 

It is the City of Hartford’s policy to resolve all contractual issues informally and without litigation. When 

deemed necessary by the Board of Commissioners, a mediator may be used to help resolve differences. 

 

B. Informal Appeals Procedure 

The City of Hartford shall adopt an informal bid protest/appeal procedure for contracts of less than $100,000. 

Under these procedures, the bidder/contractor must request to meet with the City Manager within ten (10) 

days calendar days from receipt of the appeal. 

 

The decision of the Board of Commissioners shall be the final determination. For solicitations/contracts over 

$100,000, the Board of Commissioner’s decision shall inform the contractor of its formal appeal rights to the 

Executive Director. 

 

C. Formal Appeals Procedure 

A formal appeals procedure shall be established for solicitations/contracts of more than $100,000. Under these 

procedures, the bidder/contractor must request to meet with the City Manager. Decisions of the City Manager 

may be appealed to the Board of Commissioners for resolution. The Board of Commissioners shall be the 

final authority of City of Hartford disputes and or claims. 

 

1. Bid Protest. Any actual or prospective contractor may protest the solicitation or award of a contract 

for serious violations of the principles of this Policy. Any protest against a solicitation must be 

received before the due date for the receipt of bids or proposals, and any protest against the award of a 

contract must be received within ten (10) calendar days after contract award, or the protest will not be 

considered. All bid protests shall be in writing, submitted to the Executive Director or Procurement 

Officer, who shall issue a written decision on the matter. The City Manager may, at his/her discretion, 

suspend the procurement pending resolution of the protest if the facts presented so warrant. 

 

2. Contractor Claims. All claims by a contractor relating to performance of a contract shall be 

submitted in writing to the City Manager with in ten (10) calendar days of the date of the event(s) 

giving rise to the claim(s), for a written decision. The contractor may request a conference on the 

claim. The City Manager’s decision shall inform the contractor of its appeal rights to the City 

Manager and or the City of Hartford Board of Commissioners.  

 

3. Filing Claims. The City of Hartford should make every effort to resolve claims informally and 

expeditiously to avoid time losses or expensive delays. However, if the dispute cannot be resolved 

by mutual agreement, the following steps must be taken: 

 
169

Item 26.



 

a. The contractor must submit the claim to the City of Hartford’s City Manager in writing 

within the timeframe specified in the contract documents. 

b. The claim must identify the nature and scope of the claim, including an itemized list of 

damages and the cost of each item and time sought by the contractor. 

 

4. Rendering Decisions on Claims. The City Manager shall review the facts pertinent to the claim 

and secure any necessary assistance from legal, technical, or other advisors and shall issue a final 

written decision promptly and within the timeframe stated in the contract documents. (If the City 

Manager does not issue a final decision within 60 days after written request by the contractor for a 

final decision, or longer period if mutually agreed upon by both parties, then the contractor may 

proceed as if an adverse decision has been received.) The written decision should include: 

a. A description of the claim; 

b. A reference to the pertinent contract clauses; 

c. A statement of the factual areas of agreement or disagreement; 

d. A statement of the City Manager’s decision with support rationale; and 

e. A statement referencing appeal rights as provided in the City of Hartford’s Procurement 

Policy. 

 

5. Records of Claims. The City Manager shall immediately furnish a copy of the decision to the 

contractor by certified mail, with return receipt requested upon approval from the Board of 

Commissioners. 

 

The City of Hartford shall maintain a complete written and dated record of any actions that may result in 

a dispute or claim for damages. An example would be records of weather conditions during the course of 

a contract, delays in receiving materials ordered by the City of Hartford, or other items that may result in 

requests for time delays that may be disputed. These records protect the City of Hartford’s interests 

during any litigation that may arise later. At a minimum, the City of Hartford should maintain records of 

the following: 

 

a. A complete and detailed job record; and 

b. A disputes and claims file, including a cross-reference to other pertinent files (such as a 

separate file for a particular subcontractor), any correspondence related to a dispute, written 

minutes of meetings between the City of Hartford and architects, or job meetings where 

decisions or agreements were made regarding disputes. 

 

XIII.  ASSISTANCE TO SMALL AND OTHER BUSINESSES 

 

A. Required Efforts 

Consistent with Presidential Executive Orders 11625, 12138, and 12432, all efforts shall be made to ensure 

that small and minority-owned businesses, women’s business enterprises, and other individuals or firms 

located in or owned in substantial part by persons residing in the area of the City of Hartford’s project are 

used when required by law. Such efforts can include, but shall not be limited to: 

 

1. Including such firms, when qualified, on solicitation mailing lists; 

 

2. Encouraging their participation through direct solicitation of bids or proposals whenever they are 

potential sources; 

 

3. Dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or quantities to 

permit maximum participation by such firms; 

 

170

Item 26.



 

4. Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage 

participation by such firms; 

 

5. Using the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration, and the Minority Business 

Development Agency of the Department of Commerce; 

 

6. Requiring prime contractors, when subcontracting is anticipated, to take the positive steps listed 

above. 

 

Goals shall be established periodically for participation by small businesses, minority- owned businesses, 

women-owned business enterprises, and labor surplus area businesses, in the City of Hartford prime contracts 

and subcontracting opportunities. 

 

XIV. DISPOSITION OF SURPLUS PROPERTY 

Property no longer necessary for the City of Hartford’s purposes (personal property) shall be transferred, sold, 

or disposed of in accordance with applicable Federal, state, and local laws and regulations.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
171

Item 26.



 

APPENDIX A 

 

List of Direct Payments 

The following is a list of direct payments that are exempt from competitive procurement. 

 

1. Utility bills (water, sewer, electricity, natural gas, and other regulated utility expenses), 

2. Postage and other purchases from the U.S. Postal Service. 

3. Licenses, permits, and fees from governmental or regulatory entities at the federal, state, or local level. 

4. Purchases from other governmental entities where the City of Hartford provides goods or services not 

available from the private sector. 

5. Service or user fees paid to governmental cooperative purchasing organizations. 

6. Credit card charges for gasoline and emergencies while on travel status. 

7. Legal services such as arbitration fees, litigation fees, expert witness fees, witness fees, court costs, and 

related expenses (but not the cost of outside counsel, investigations or related matters if funded by a federal 

grant). 

8. Payments of litigation/administrative settlements and judgment and claims against the City of Hartford. 

9. Renewal of existing annual proprietary maintenance or support agreements, and software license renewals 

for computer and telecommunication-related services. 

10. Travel expenses for City of Hartford’s employees, residents, program participants, volunteers, or members 

of the Board necessary to conduct City of Hartford’s business. 

11. Training registration fees and tuition for pre-established, non-City of Hartford specific, off- site classes, 

seminars, workshops, etc. for the City of Hartford employees, Board and Committee Members, program 

participants, and volunteers. 

12. Testing and travel expenses of employment applicants (including moving expenses for eligible personnel). 

This includes travel expenses of certain out-of- state job applicants. 

13. Conference and convention expenses and fees for City of Hartford employees, Board and Committee 

Members, program participants, or volunteers conducting City of Hartford business. 

14. Advertisements for employment opportunities, purchasing and contracting solicitations, sale of surplus 

items, public announcements, and outreach, etc. This exception does not include printing, design, or 

graphics services. 

15. Freight bills, express shipping, common carriers, and delivery services. 

16. Honoraria and stipends. 

17. Insurance deductible and/or retained losses. 

18. Taxi, public transportation, and toll fares; mileage and incidental parking expenses. 

19. Publications and subscriptions. 

20. Mailing lists. 

21. Professional association membership dues, fees, licenses accreditation, and certifications. 

22. Financial Institutions 

172

Item 26.



173

Item 30.



174

Item 31.



175

Item 32.



176

Item 32.



177

Item 32.



178

Item 32.



179

Item 32.



180

Item 32.



181

Item 32.



182

Item 32.



183

Item 32.



184

Item 32.



185

Item 32.



186

Item 32.



187

Item 32.



188

Item 32.



189

Item 32.



190

Item 32.



191

Item 32.



192

Item 32.



193

Item 32.



194

Item 32.



195

Item 32.



196

Item 32.



197

Item 32.



198

Item 32.



199

Item 32.



200

Item 32.



201

Item 32.



202

Item 32.



203

Item 32.



204

Item 32.



205

Item 32.



206

Item 32.



207

Item 32.



208

Item 32.



209

Item 32.



210

Item 32.



211

Item 32.



212

Item 32.



213

Item 32.



214

Item 32.



215

Item 32.



216

Item 32.



217

Item 32.



218

Item 32.



219

Item 32.



220

Item 32.



221

Item 32.



222

Item 32.



223

Item 32.



224

Item 32.



225

Item 32.



226

Item 32.



City of Hartford 

Memo 
To: Mayor Hall 

From: Sanya Vitale 

cc: City Council 

Date: 04/11/2023 

Re: Planning Commission Compliance 

Under the current set of Ordinances, the City’s Planning Commission and associated zoning powers are 
authorized through Public Act 207 of 1921. 

This Act was repealed and replaced by two new acts: 

1. The Michigan Planning Enabling Act 33 of 2008 
2. The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act 110 of 2006 

Per our colleagues at MSU Extension, the Michigan Planning Enabling Act changes how various planning 
procedures are done and provides new duties and power to planning commissions in the state. The purpose of 
this act was to create a single set of procedures to follow regardless of whether planning is being done by a 
city, village, township, or county. After September 1, 2008 (the effective date of the act) only the procedures in 
the Michigan Planning Enabling Act should be used as the act replaced the former authorizing legislation used 
by the City of Hartford (PA 207 of 1921 as well as two other Acts used by County and Townships). 

Communities were provided time to transition their ordinances and planning commissions to the new legislation 
and while most finalized the work prior to the July 1, 2011, deadline, there are still communities, like Hartford, 
that still need to transition. The good news is that while we have not transitioned to the new laws, our 
colleagues at the MSU Extension have shared that this should not undermine the planning commission’s day-
to-day decision-making. We can break this process of transitioning towards compliance into 2 phases as 
outlined below. 

Phase 1: I have utilized best practice guidance provided by the MSU Extension in creating a draft Planning 
Commission ordinance for review and consideration, my comments are in blue. The attached draft Planning 
Commission ordinance was provided by MSU Extension with an algorithm on how to prepare the document 
dependent on if your municipality is a city, township or county. 

1. The ordinance or resolution creating the local unit of government’s planning commission, will need to 
be updated. This will need to be done by July 1, 2011, or sooner if the ordinance, or resolution, is 
updated/amended for any other reason at any point sooner than July 1, 2011. (I am attaching a draft 
Planning Commission ordinance to comply with this provision. We will need to amend Section 151.290 
of the current Code of Ordinances to comply with the MPEA.) 

227

Item 33.



2 

2. The planning commission’s bylaws, will need to be updated. This will need to be done by July 1, 2011, 
or sooner, if the bylaws are updated/amended for any other reason at any point sooner than July 1, 
2011. (I have spoken to the Planning Commission and will take a draft of compliant Bylaws to the next 
meeting for review and consideration) 

3. Any existing plan (like the City’s Master Plan) adopted prior to the effective date of the Michigan 
Planning Enabling Act, continues to be the adopted plan(s) for a local unit of government. Any 
amendments to those plan(s) must be done in conformance with the new act. Once the plan(s) are five 
or more years old, the planning commission shall conduct a five-year review of the plan(s). (Because 
the City’s Master Plan is more than 5-years old, we need to reconsider it for approval it under the 
MPEA or begin working on a new one as outlined in the MPEA- this is a function of the Planning 
Commission) 

4. Any ordinance or rules which govern subdivisions of land (under authority of §105 of the Land Division 
Act (M.C.L. 560.105)) does not need to be readapted or amended. If a local unit of government does 
choose to amend or re-adopt an ordinance or rules, then it must do so following the new act. (The 
City’s Ordinances do govern subdivisions of land but at this time, there is no recommendation to 
change the Zoning Ordinance. The Planning Commission will conduct a complete review of the Zoning 
Ordinance this year and make recommendations for changes based on the MPEA and MZEA) 

5. If the planning commission has had zoning powers and duties transferred to it (which ours does), those 
powers and duties continue. Even if amendments or updates to ordinances, rules, or bylaws are not 
done, that authority continues. However, the updating of ordinances, rules, and bylaws still must be 
completed by July 1, 2011.  

6. Since the ordinance or resolution creating the planning commission must comply with the Michigan 
Planning Enabling Act prior to any change to the adopted plan, including amendments to the 
amendments, it is recommended that local governments update the Planning Commission Ordinance 
sooner rather than later. (See attached recommended draft Planning Commission ordinance) 

Phase 2: With regards to the City’s Zoning Ordinance and compliance with the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, 
the process for compliance is a bit different. The process for amending the Zoning Ordinance is outlined as 
follows with guidance from our colleagues at the MSU Extension: 

Step 1: Propose to amend the Zoning Ordinance CHAPTER 151 of the CITY OF HARTFORD CODE OF 
ORDINANCES. I recommend that the City Council recommend that the Planning Commission start work on 
preparing changes to the Zoning Ordinance as outlined below: 

Step 2: The Planning Commission should cause preparation of a draft of (1) the text of a zoning amendment 

Step 3: The planning commission should review existing procedure, policy for the administration and 
enforcement of the zoning ordinance to determine if the proposed amendments require any modification to 
those procedures and policies 

Generally, we must update certain sections of the City’s current Zoning Ordinance which are built into 
the City’s General Code of Ordinances to comply with the MZEA. 

a. Legal Basis for formation must be amended to comply with P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, 
(being the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3101 et seq. 

b. Zoning Commission duties must be transferred to the Planning Commission (our ordinance 
reads Zoning Commission 151.290) 

c. Public Notice requirements change as follows: 
i. Zoning amendments by §306 (M.C.L. 125.3306) with cross reference to §202 (M.C.L. 

125.3202), and by §401(2) (M.C.L. 125.3401(2) with cross reference to §202 (M.C.L. 
125.3202) (currently outlined at 151.253, 151.291, 151.293);  

ii. Special use permits by §502(2)-502(3) (M.C.L. 125.3502(2)-125.3502(3)) (currently 
outlined at 151.292);  

iii. Planned unit developments by §503(5) (M.C.L. 125.3503(5));  

228

Item 33.



3 

iv. Planned unit development as a zoning amendment by §306 (M.C.L. 125.3306) with 
cross reference to §202 (M.C.L. 125.3202);  

v. Purchase of a development rights by §508(4), (M.C.L. 125.3508(4)); and  
vi. Appeals board hearings by §604(4) (M.C.L. 125.3604(4) and §604(5) (M.C.L. 

125.3604(5)) (151.308.B.2.f) 
d. Removal of a Planning Commission Member or Zoning Board of Appeals member for conflict of 

interest, misfeasance, malfeasance or nonfeasance 
i. The legislative body shall provide for the removal of a member of a zoning commission 

for misfeasance, malfeasance or nonfeasance in office upon written charges and after 
public hearing.” (§301(9) (M.C.L. 125.3301(9))) 

ii. A member shall disqualify himself or herself from a vote in which the member has a 
conflict of interest. Failure of a member to disqualify himself or herself from a vote in 
which the member has a conflict of interest constitutes malfeasance in office.” (§601(9) 
(M.C.L. 125.3601(9))) 

e. Special Use Changes: 
i. Review the zoning ordinance requirements for special uses with §502 (M.C.L. 125.3502) 

and §504 (M.C.L. 125.3504) (151.292). If there are any discrepancies between what 
your zoning ordinance reads and what the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act requires, then 
prepare an amendment to the zoning ordinance to comply with the statute. It is likely the 
discrepancy which will be found is the notice requirements for hearings or when a 
decision on a special use will be made. 

ii. The new Act has incorporated the Michigan Appellate Court distinction that a use 
variance requires a showing of “unnecessary hardship” while a dimensional variance 
(non-use variance) requires a showing of “practical difficulty” (§604(7) (M.C.L. 
125.3604(7))). If your ordinance requires a showing of either or both, an ordinance 
change will be needed. 

iii. A written “statement of findings and conclusions relative to the special land use which 
specifies the basis for the decision and any conditions imposed” (§502(4) (M.C.L. 
125.3502(4))) is now required with any special land use decision. The “findings” 
language is new. The zoning ordinance should be amended to include this requirement. 

f. Planned Unit Development (PUD) Review the zoning ordinance requirements for planned unit 
developments (PUD) with §503 (M.C.L. 125.3503) and §504 (M.C.L. 125.3504). 

g. Zoning Board of Appeals: 
i. Review the zoning ordinance requirements for zoning board of appeals with §601-607 

(M.C.L. 125.3601- 125.3607) (151.313) 
ii. As our ZBA has not met in several years, we will have to reorganize it. Reorganized 

appeals boards shall have a membership of: (151.305) 
1. Three or more members if the local unit of government has a population of less 

than 5,000 (§601(3) (M.C.L. 125.3601(3)).  
2. The fixed number of members shall be specified in the zoning ordinance.  
3. One member shall be a member of the planning commission in counties and 

townships. It continues to be optional in cities and villages. (§601(4) (M.C.L. 
125.3601(4)). (It was always required in counties and townships.)  

4. The remaining members shall be selected from the electors residing in the 
zoning jurisdiction. (For a county members shall not live in a city or village.)  

5. Membership shall be representative of the population distribution and of the 
various interests present in the local unit of government.  

6. Terms are for three years, staggered. (Unless they are the member from the 
planning commission or legislative body. In those cases the term of office on the 
appeals board is the same as their term of office on the planning commission or 
legislative body.)  

7. Appointments to vacancies must be made within one month after the preceding 
member’s term has expired. This is a new requirement for everyone. (§601(10) 
(M.C.L. 125.3601(10))  

229

Item 33.



4 

8. Up to two alternate members may be selected from the electors residing in the 
zoning jurisdiction. (Having the same term as regular members. Alternates are 
called to serve for the duration of a case when a regular member is absent for 
one or more meetings (absent due to illness, vacation, conflict of interest, etc.).) 
(§601(7) (M.C.L. 125.3601(7)))  

9. One member may be a member of the legislative body (but cannot be chair of the 
appeals board).  

10. Any member, or alternate member can be removed from office by the legislative 
body for misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance upon written charges and a 
public hearing. 

iii. Requirements for appeals/variances hearings must comply as follows: (151.307) 
1. The notices shall be given not less than 15 days before the date of the hearing 

on an appeal. Notice is considered to be given when personally delivered or 
when deposited during normal business hours for delivery with the U.S. Postal 
Service or other public or private delivery service.  

a. Notices shall be sent to: (151.311) 
i. The individual demanding the appeal.  
ii. The owner (or other owners) of the property, if different.  
iii. The owners of all real property within 300 feet of the boundary for 

the property for which the approval has been requested, as shown 
by the latest assessment roll, regardless of whether the owner and 
property is located in the zoning jurisdiction or not.  

iv. One occupant of each structure, or each unit within multiple-unit 
structures, within 300 feet of the boundary for the property for 
which the approval has been requested, regardless of whether the 
owner and property is located in the zoning jurisdiction or not. (For 
multiple-unit structures containing more than four dwelling units, 
only the manager of the structure needs to be notified and post 
the information at the main entrance to the structure.)  

v. The general public by publication in a newspaper which circulates 
in the City of Hartford.  

vi. Members of the appeals board. 
b. The notice shall include:  

i. The nature of the appeal being requested.  
ii. The property(ies) for which the appeal or variance has been 

made.  
iii. A listing of all existing street addresses within the property(ies) 

which is(are) subject of the appeal. (Street addresses do not need 
to be created and listed if no such addresses currently exist. If 
there are no street addresses another means of identification may 
be used.)  

iv. The location where the demand for appeal can be viewed and 
copied prior to the date of the hearing.  

v. The date, time and location of when the hearing before the 
appeals board will take place.  

vi. The address at which written comments should be directed prior 
to the hearing.  

vii. For members of the appeals board only, a copy of the demand for 
appeal being requested.  

iv. Use Variances: Under no circumstances shall the Appeals Board grant a variance to 
allow a use not permissible under the terms of this Ordinance in the district involved, or 
any use expressly or by implication prohibited by the terms of this Ordinance in said 
district. 

230

Item 33.



5 

v. If the demand for appeal is for a variance the appeals board shall either grant, grant with 
conditions, or deny the application. The appeals board may reverse or affirm, wholly or 
partly, or modify the order, requirement, decision or determination and may issue or 
direct the issuance of a permit. A majority vote of the membership of the appeals board 
is necessary to grant a dimensional variance and rule on an interpretation of the 
ordinance. The decision shall be in writing and reflect the reasons for the decision.  

1. At a minimum the record of the decision shall include:  
a. Formal determination of the facts,  
b. The conclusions derived from the facts (reasons for the decision)  
c. The decision.  

2. Within eight days of the decision the record of the decision shall be certified and 
a copy delivered by first class mail to the person demanding the appeal, the 
administrator, and other parties.  

vi. Any person having an interest affected by such decision shall have a right to appeal to 
Circuit Court within 30 days of the certified decision of the appeals board, as provided by 
law. 

h. Zoning Amendments: Review the zoning ordinance requirements for zoning amendments 
(151.292) with §306 (M.C.L. 125.3306) with cross reference to §202 (M.C.L. 125.3202), and by 
§401(2) (M.C.L. 125.3401(2) with cross reference to §202 (M.C.L. 125.3202) 

i. The notices shall be given not less than 15 days before the date of the hearing on a 
proposed zoning amendment. Notice is considered to be given when personally 
delivered or when deposited during normal business hours for delivery with the U.S. 
Postal Service or other public or private delivery service. Notices shall be sent to:  

1. The applicant 
2. The owner (or other owners) of the property, if different.  
3. If the zoning amendment is for less than 11 adjacent properties: the owners of all 

real property within 300 feet of the boundary for the property for which the 
approval has been requested, as shown by the latest assessment roll, regardless 
of whether the owner and property is located in the zoning jurisdiction or not.  

4. If the zoning amendment involves less than 11 adjacent properties: One 
occupant of each structure, or each unit within multiple-unit structures, within 300 
feet of the boundary for the property for which the approval has been requested, 
regardless of whether the owner and property is located in the zoning jurisdiction 
or not. (For multiple-unit structures containing more than four dwelling units, only 
the manager of the structure needs to be notified and post the information at the 
main entrance to the structure.)  

5. The general public by publication in a newspaper which circulates in the [name of 
local government].  

6. Members of the planning commission. 
ii. The notice shall include:  

1. The nature of the zoning amendment being requested.  
2. The property(ies) for which the zoning amendment has been made.  
3. If the zoning amendment is for less than 11 adjacent properties: a listing of all 

existing street addresses within the property(ies) which is(are) subject of the 
zoning amendment. (Street addresses do not need to be created and listed if no 
such addresses currently exist. If there are no street addresses another means of 
identification may be used.)  

4. The location where the application documents can be viewed and copied prior to 
the date the zoning amendment hearing.  

5. The date, time when and location where the hearing on the zoning amendment 
will take place.  

6. The address at which written comments should be directed prior to the hearing 
on the zoning amendment.  

231

Item 33.



6 

7. For members of the planning commission only, a copy of the request for the 
zoning amendment, the draft of the zoning amendment, and supporting 
documents in the record. 

i. Nonconformities: Review the zoning ordinance requirements for nonconformities with §208 
(M.C.L. 125.3208) (151.201) 

j. Site Plans: Review the zoning ordinance requirements for site plans with §501 (M.C.L. 
125.3501) (151.250-151.257) 

k. Discretionary Decisions: Review the zoning ordinance requirements for discretionary decisions 
with §504 (M.C.L. 125.3504) 

l. Performance Guarantees: Review the zoning ordinance requirements for performance 
guarantees with §505 (M.C.L. 125.3505) 

m. Update Resolution/Ordinance Creating Planning Commission: See previous section 
n. Update Rules of Procedure (Bylaws): Compare rules of procedure to MZEA. 

Step 4 Submit the proposed ordinance for an informal review to a third party like MSU Extension and review 
by an attorney is strongly recommended. 

Step 5. The planning commission shall hold at least one public hearing on the zoning ordinance (§306(1), 
M.C.L. 125.3306(1)). Notices for the public hearing are required. 

Step 6. After the hearing, the planning commission should consider adoption of the zoning amendment. Action 
may be to recommend to the legislative body adoption, or not. The determination as to if the zoning 
amendment should be recommended for adoption, or not, is based mainly on if the amendment complies with, 
or furthers, the plan upon which the zoning ordinance is based. 

Step 7: The planning commission should adopt a resolution recommending to the legislative body to adopt the 
zoning amendment, or to not adopt the zoning amendment, and file with the legislative body (§305, M.C.L. 
125.3305). 

Step 8: The legislative body shall review the proposed zoning amendment. 

Step 9: (Optional, which may or may not happen) The legislative body may hold an additional hearing on the 
proposed ordinance/amendment if it considers it necessary (§401(1), M.C.L. 125.3401(1). Notices for the 
public hearing are required (§401(2), M.C.L. 125.3401(2)). The notice shall include the following information 

Step 10: If the legislative body considers changes, additions or amendments to the proposed zoning 
amendment; the changes, etc., may be referred back to the planning commission for consideration and 
comment within the legislative body’s specified period of time. (§401(3), M.C.L. 125.3401(3)) 
 
Step 11: Protest petition (abutter’s challenge) concerning the proposed zoning amendment may be filed with 
the city or village. The protest petition shall be signed by one or more of the following:  

• Be signed by owners of at least 20% of the area of land included in the proposed zoning amendment.  

• Be signed by owners of at least 20% of the area of land included within an area extending outward 100 
feet from any point on the boundary of the land included in the proposed change (not including publicly 
owned land).  

• (§202(4), M.C.L. 125.3202(4) and §403, M.C.L. 125.3403) 
 
Step 12: The legislative body shall vote on the adoption of the proposed zoning amendment, with or without 
amendments. The vote to adopt is done with a majority vote of the members of the legislative body (unless 
subject to a protest petition in a village or city, see step 11b) (§401(5), M.C.L. 125.3401(5)). The zoning 
amendment shall take effect (§401(6), M.C.L. 125.3401(6)) seven days after a "notice of adoption" has been 
published. 
 

232

Item 33.



7 

Step 13: A copy of the zoning amendment, amendments, supplements, and maps shall be filed with the local 
unit of government’s clerk (§401(7), M.C.L. 125.3401(7)) 
 
Step 14. One notice of “ordinance adoption”, within 15 days of adoption (step 12), shall be published in a local 
newspaper (§401(7), M.C.L. 125.3401(7). (Note: “General circulation” means a newspaper which has a paid 
subscription, and does not mean a free-distribution advertiser or similar type publication.) The notice shall 
include (§401(9), M.C.L. 125.3401(9)):  

• Either:  

• A summary of the regulatory effect of the amendment, including the geographic area affected, 
or  

• The text of the amendment.  

• The effective date of the ordinance or amendment.  

• The place where and the time when a copy of the ordinance or amendment may be purchased or 
inspected. 

 

 

 

 

233

Item 33.



MICHIGAN ZONING ENABLING ACT
Act 110 of 2006

AN ACT to codify the laws regarding local units of government regulating the development and use of
land; to provide for the adoption of zoning ordinances; to provide for the establishment in counties,
townships, cities, and villages of zoning districts; to prescribe the powers and duties of certain officials; to
provide for the assessment and collection of fees; to authorize the issuance of bonds and notes; to prescribe
penalties and provide remedies; and to repeal acts and parts of acts.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

The People of the State of Michigan enact:

ARTICLE I
GENERAL PROVISIONS

125.3101 Short title.
Sec. 101. This act shall be known and may be cited as the "Michigan zoning enabling act".
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3102 Definitions.
Sec. 102. As used in this act:
(a) "Agricultural land" means substantially undeveloped land devoted to the production of plants and

animals useful to humans, including, but not limited to, forage and sod crops, grains, feed crops, field crops,
dairy products, poultry and poultry products, livestock, herbs, flowers, seeds, grasses, nursery stock, fruits,
vegetables, Christmas trees, and other similar uses and activities.

(b) "Airport" means an airport licensed under section 86 of the aeronautics code of the state of Michigan,
1945 PA 327, MCL 259.86.

(c) "Airport approach plan" and "airport layout plan" mean a plan, or an amendment to a plan, filed with
the zoning commission under section 151 of the aeronautics code of the state of Michigan, 1945 PA 327,
MCL 259.151.

(d) "Airport manager" means that term as defined in section 2 of the aeronautics code of the state of
Michigan, 1945 PA 327, MCL 259.2.

(e) "Airport zoning regulations" means airport zoning regulations under the airport zoning act, 1950 (Ex
Sess) PA 23, MCL 259.431 to 259.465, for an airport hazard area that lies in whole or part in the area affected
by a zoning ordinance under this act.

(f) "Conservation easement" means that term as defined in section 2140 of the natural resources and
environmental protection act, 1994 PA 451, MCL 324.2140.

(g) "Coordinating zoning committee" means a coordinating zoning committee as described under section
307.

(h) "Development rights" means the rights to develop land to the maximum intensity of development
authorized by law.

(i) "Development rights ordinance" means an ordinance, which may comprise part of a zoning ordinance,
adopted under section 507.

(j) "Family child care home" and "group child care home" mean those terms as defined in section 1 of 1973
PA 116, MCL 722.111, and only apply to the bona fide private residence of the operator of the family or
group child care home.

(k) "Greenway" means a contiguous or linear open space, including habitats, wildlife corridors, and trails,
that links parks, nature reserves, cultural features, or historic sites with each other, for recreation and
conservation purposes.

(l) "Improvements" means those features and actions associated with a project that are considered
necessary by the body or official granting zoning approval to protect natural resources or the health, safety,
and welfare of the residents of a local unit of government and future users or inhabitants of the proposed
project or project area, including roadways, lighting, utilities, sidewalks, screening, and drainage.
Improvements do not include the entire project that is the subject of zoning approval.

(m) "Intensity of development" means the height, bulk, area, density, setback, use, and other similar
characteristics of development.

(n) "Legislative body" means the county board of commissioners of a county, the board of trustees of a
township, or the council or other similar elected governing body of a city or village.

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 1 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

234

Item 33.



(o) "Local unit of government" means a county, township, city, or village.
(p) "Other eligible land" means land that has a common property line with agricultural land from which

development rights have been purchased and is not divided from that agricultural land by a state or federal
limited access highway.

(q) "Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, association, governmental entity, or other legal
entity.

(r) "Population" means the population according to the most recent federal decennial census or according
to a special census conducted under section 7 of the Glenn Steil state revenue sharing act of 1971, 1971 PA
140, MCL 141.907, whichever is later.

(s) "Qualified residential treatment program" means that term as defined in section 1 of 1973 PA 116,
MCL 722.111.

(t) "Site plan" includes the documents and drawings required by the zoning ordinance to ensure that a
proposed land use or activity is in compliance with local ordinances and state and federal statutes.

(u) "State licensed residential facility" means a structure constructed for residential purposes that is
licensed by the state under the adult foster care facility licensing act, 1979 PA 218, MCL 400.701 to 400.737,
or 1973 PA 116, MCL 722.111 to 722.128, and provides residential services for 6 or fewer individuals under
24-hour supervision or care.

(v) "Undeveloped state" means a natural state preserving natural resources, natural features, scenic or
wooded conditions, agricultural use, open space, or a similar use or condition. Land in an undeveloped state
does not include a golf course but may include a recreational trail, picnic area, children's play area, greenway,
or linear park. Land in an undeveloped state may be, but is not required to be, dedicated to the use of the
public.

(w) "Zoning commission" means a zoning commission as described under section 301.
(x) "Zoning jurisdiction" means the area encompassed by the legal boundaries of a city or village or the

area encompassed by the legal boundaries of a county or township outside the limits of incorporated cities and
villages. The zoning jurisdiction of a county does not include the areas subject to a township zoning
ordinance.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2007, Act 219, Imd. Eff. Dec. 28, 2007;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29,
2008;Am. 2022, Act 206, Imd. Eff. Oct. 7, 2022.

125.3103 Notice; publication; mail or personal delivery; requirements.
Sec. 103. (1) Except as otherwise provided under this act, if a local unit of government conducts a public

hearing required under this act, the local unit of government shall publish notice of the hearing in a newspaper
of general circulation in the local unit of government not less than 15 days before the date of the hearing.

(2) Notice required under this act shall be given as provided under subsection (3) to the owners of property
that is the subject of the request. Notice shall also be given as provided under subsection (3) to all persons to
whom real property is assessed within 300 feet of the property that is the subject of the request and to the
occupants of all structures within 300 feet of the subject property regardless of whether the property or
structure is located in the zoning jurisdiction. Notification need not be given to more than 1 occupant of a
structure, except that if a structure contains more than 1 dwelling unit or spatial area owned or leased by
different persons, 1 occupant of each unit or spatial area shall be given notice. If a single structure contains
more than 4 dwelling units or other distinct spatial areas owned or leased by different persons, notice may be
given to the manager or owner of the structure, who shall be requested to post the notice at the primary
entrance to the structure.

(3) The notice under subsection (2) is considered to be given when personally delivered or when deposited
during normal business hours for delivery with the United States postal service or other public or private
delivery service. The notice shall be given not less than 15 days before the date the request will be considered.
If the name of the occupant is not known, the term "occupant" may be used for the intended recipient of the
notice.

(4) A notice under this section shall do all of the following:
(a) Describe the nature of the request.
(b) Indicate the property that is the subject of the request. The notice shall include a listing of all existing

street addresses within the property. Street addresses do not need to be created and listed if no such addresses
currently exist within the property. If there are no street addresses, other means of identification may be used.

(c) State when and where the request will be considered.
(d) Indicate when and where written comments will be received concerning the request.
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008.

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 2 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

235

Item 33.



ARTICLE II
ZONING AUTHORIZATION AND INITIATION

125.3201 Regulation of land development and establishment of districts; provisions;
uniformity of regulations; designations; limitations.
Sec. 201. (1) A local unit of government may provide by zoning ordinance for the regulation of land

development and the establishment of 1 or more districts within its zoning jurisdiction which regulate the use
of land and structures to meet the needs of the state's citizens for food, fiber, energy, and other natural
resources, places of residence, recreation, industry, trade, service, and other uses of land, to ensure that use of
the land is situated in appropriate locations and relationships, to limit the inappropriate overcrowding of land
and congestion of population, transportation systems, and other public facilities, to facilitate adequate and
efficient provision for transportation systems, sewage disposal, water, energy, education, recreation, and other
public service and facility requirements, and to promote public health, safety, and welfare.

(2) Except as otherwise provided under this act, the regulations shall be uniform for each class of land or
buildings, dwellings, and structures within a district.

(3) A local unit of government may provide under the zoning ordinance for the regulation of land
development and the establishment of districts which apply only to land areas and activities involved in a
special program to achieve specific land management objectives and avert or solve specific land use
problems, including the regulation of land development and the establishment of districts in areas subject to
damage from flooding or beach erosion.

(4) A local unit of government may adopt land development regulations under the zoning ordinance
designating or limiting the location, height, bulk, number of stories, uses, and size of dwellings, buildings, and
structures that may be erected or altered, including tents and recreational vehicles.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3202 Zoning ordinance; determination by local legislative body; amendments or
supplements; notice of proposed rezoning.
Sec. 202. (1) The legislative body of a local unit of government may provide by ordinance for the manner

in which the regulations and boundaries of districts or zones shall be determined and enforced or amended or
supplemented. Amendments or supplements to the zoning ordinance shall be adopted in the same manner as
provided under this act for the adoption of the original ordinance.

(2) Except as provided in subsection (3), the zoning commission shall give a notice of a proposed rezoning
in the same manner as required under section 103.

(3) For any group of adjacent properties numbering 11 or more that is proposed for rezoning, the
requirements of section 103(2) and the requirement of section 103(4)(b) that street addresses be listed do not
apply to that group of adjacent properties.

(4) An amendment to a zoning ordinance by a city or village is subject to a protest petition under section
403.

(5) An amendment to conform a provision of the zoning ordinance to the decree of a court of competent
jurisdiction as to any specific lands may be adopted by the legislative body and the notice of the adopted
amendment published without referring the amendment to any other board or agency provided for under this
act.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008.

125.3203 Zoning ordinance; plan; incorporation of airport layout plan or airport approach
plan; zoning ordinance adopted before or after March 28, 2001; applicability of public
transportation facilities.
Sec. 203. (1) A zoning ordinance shall be based upon a plan designed to promote the public health, safety,

and general welfare, to encourage the use of lands in accordance with their character and adaptability, to limit
the improper use of land, to conserve natural resources and energy, to meet the needs of the state's residents
for food, fiber, and other natural resources, places of residence, recreation, industry, trade, service, and other
uses of land, to ensure that uses of the land shall be situated in appropriate locations and relationships, to
avoid the overcrowding of population, to provide adequate light and air, to lessen congestion on the public
roads and streets, to reduce hazards to life and property, to facilitate adequate provision for a system of
transportation including, subject to subsection (5), public transportation, sewage disposal, safe and adequate
water supply, education, recreation, and other public requirements, and to conserve the expenditure of funds
for public improvements and services to conform with the most advantageous uses of land, resources, and

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 3 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

236

Item 33.



properties. A zoning ordinance shall be made with reasonable consideration of the character of each district,
its peculiar suitability for particular uses, the conservation of property values and natural resources, and the
general and appropriate trend and character of land, building, and population development.

(2) If a local unit of government adopts or revises a plan required under subsection (1) after an airport
layout plan or airport approach plan has been filed with the local unit of government, the local unit of
government shall incorporate the airport layout plan or airport approach plan into the plan adopted under
subsection (1).

(3) In addition to the requirements of subsection (1), a zoning ordinance adopted after March 28, 2001
shall be adopted after reasonable consideration of both of the following:

(a) The environs of any airport within a district.
(b) Comments received at or before a public hearing under section 306 from the airport manager of any

airport.
(4) If a zoning ordinance was adopted before March 28, 2001, the zoning ordinance is not required to be

consistent with any airport zoning regulations, airport layout plan, or airport approach plan. A zoning
ordinance amendment adopted or variance granted after March 28, 2001 shall not increase any inconsistency
that may exist between the zoning ordinance or structures or uses and any airport zoning regulations, airport
layout plan, or airport approach plan. This section does not limit the right to petition for submission of a
zoning ordinance amendment to the electors under section 402 or the right to file a protest petition under
section 403.

(5) The reference to public transportation facilities in subsection (1) only applies to a plan that is adopted
or substantively amended more than 90 days after the effective date of the amendatory act that added this
subsection.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2010, Act 305, Imd. Eff. Dec. 17, 2010.

125.3204 Single-family residence; instruction in craft or fine art as home occupation.
Sec. 204. A zoning ordinance adopted under this act shall provide for the use of a single-family residence

by an occupant of that residence for a home occupation to give instruction in a craft or fine art within the
residence. This section does not prohibit the regulation of noise, advertising, traffic, hours of operation, or
other conditions that may accompany the use of a residence under this section.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3205 Zoning ordinance subject to certain acts; regulation or control of oil or gas wells;
prohibition; extraction of valuable natural resource; challenge to zoning decision; serious
consequences resulting from extraction; factors; regulations not limited.
Sec. 205. (1) A zoning ordinance is subject to all of the following:
(a) The electric transmission line certification act, 1995 PA 30, MCL 460.561 to 460.575.
(b) The regional transit authority act, 2012 PA 387, MCL 124.541 to 124.558.
(c) The small wireless communications facilities deployment act.
(2) A county or township shall not regulate or control the drilling, completion, or operation of oil or gas

wells or other wells drilled for oil or gas exploration purposes and shall not have jurisdiction with reference to
the issuance of permits for the location, drilling, completion, operation, or abandonment of such wells.

(3) An ordinance shall not prevent the extraction, by mining, of valuable natural resources from any
property unless very serious consequences would result from the extraction of those natural resources. Natural
resources shall be considered valuable for the purposes of this section if a person, by extracting the natural
resources, can receive revenue and reasonably expect to operate at a profit.

(4) A person challenging a zoning decision under subsection (3) has the initial burden of showing that
there are valuable natural resources located on the relevant property, that there is a need for the natural
resources by the person or in the market served by the person, and that no very serious consequences would
result from the extraction, by mining, of the natural resources.

(5) In determining under this section whether very serious consequences would result from the extraction,
by mining, of natural resources, the standards set forth in Silva v Ada Township, 416 Mich 153 (1982), shall
be applied and all of the following factors may be considered, if applicable:

(a) The relationship of extraction and associated activities with existing land uses.
(b) The impact on existing land uses in the vicinity of the property.
(c) The impact on property values in the vicinity of the property and along the proposed hauling route

serving the property, based on credible evidence.
(d) The impact on pedestrian and traffic safety in the vicinity of the property and along the proposed

hauling route serving the property.
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 4 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

237

Item 33.



(e) The impact on other identifiable health, safety, and welfare interests in the local unit of government.
(f) The overall public interest in the extraction of the specific natural resources on the property.
(6) Subsections (3) to (5) do not limit a local unit of government's reasonable regulation of hours of

operation, blasting hours, noise levels, dust control measures, and traffic, not preempted by part 632 of the
natural resources and environmental protection act, 1994 PA 451, MCL 324.63201 to 324.63223. However,
such regulation shall be reasonable in accommodating customary mining operations.

(7) This act does not limit state regulatory authority under other statutes or rules.
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2011, Act 113, Imd. Eff. July 20, 2011;Am. 2012, Act 389, Eff. Mar. 28, 2013;

Am. 2018, Act 366, Eff. Mar. 12, 2019.

125.3205a Amateur radio service station antenna structures.
Sec. 205a. (1) 47 CFR 97.15 provides that owners of certain amateur radio service station antenna

structures more than 60.96 meters (200 feet) above ground level at the site or located near or at a public use
airport must notify the federal aviation administration and register with the federal communications
commission as required by 47 CFR part 17.

(2) An amateur radio service station antenna structure may be erected at heights and dimensions sufficient
to accommodate amateur radio service communications. Regulation of an amateur radio service station
antenna structure by a local unit of government must not preclude amateur radio service communications.
Rather, it must reasonably accommodate those communications and must constitute the minimum practicable
regulation to accomplish the local unit of government's legitimate purpose.

(3) To obtain information about the regulation of amateur radio service station antenna structures, a person
may contact any advisory board that is jointly established by the Michigan section of the American radio relay
league and 1 or more state organizations representing local units of government.

History: Add. 2014, Act 556, Imd. Eff. Jan. 15, 2014.

125.3205d Zoning ordinance; prohibition or regulation of commemorative signs.
Sec. 205d. (1) A zoning ordinance shall not regulate or prohibit a sign that is located on or within a

building and that commemorates any of the following:
(a) Any of the following who die in the line of duty:
(i) Police officers.
(ii) Firefighters.
(iii) Medical first responders.
(iv) Members of the United States Armed Forces.
(v) Corrections officers.
(b) Veterans of the United States Armed Forces.
(2) As used in this section, "medical first responder" means that term as defined in section 20906 of the

public health code, 1978 PA 368, MCL 333.20906.
History: Add. 2018, Act 506, Eff. Mar. 28, 2019.

125.3206 Residential use of property; adult foster care facilities; family, group child care
homes, or qualified residential treatment programs.
Sec. 206. (1) Except as provided in subsection (2), each of the following is a residential use of property for

the purposes of zoning and a permitted use in all residential zones and is not subject to a special use or
conditional use permit or procedure different from those required for other dwellings of similar density in the
same zone:

(a) A state licensed residential facility.
(b) A facility in use as described in section 3(4)(k) of the adult foster care facility licensing act, 1979 PA

218, MCL 400.703.
(c) A qualified residential treatment program that provides services for 10 or fewer individuals.
(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to adult foster care facilities licensed by a state agency for care and

treatment of persons released from or assigned to adult correctional institutions.
(3) For a county or township, a family child care home is a residential use of property for the purposes of

zoning and a permitted use in all residential zones and is not subject to a special use or conditional use permit
or procedure different from those required for other dwellings of similar density in the same zone.

(4) For a county or township, a group child care home shall be issued a special use permit, conditional use
permit, or other similar permit if the group child care home meets all of the following standards:

(a) Is located not closer than 1,500 feet to any of the following:
(i) Another licensed group child care home.

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 5 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

238

Item 33.



(ii) An adult foster care small group home or large group home licensed under the adult foster care facility
licensing act, 1979 PA 218, MCL 400.701 to 400.737.

(iii) A facility offering substance use disorder services to 7 or more people that is licensed under part 62 of
the public health code, 1978 PA 368, MCL 333.6230 to 333.6251.

(iv) A community correction center, resident home, halfway house, or other similar facility that houses an
inmate population under the jurisdiction of the department of corrections.

(b) Has appropriate fencing for the safety of the children in the group child care home as determined by the
local unit of government.

(c) Maintains the property consistent with the visible characteristics of the neighborhood.
(d) Does not exceed 16 hours of operation during a 24-hour period. The local unit of government may limit

but not prohibit the operation of a group child care home between the hours of 10 p.m. and 6 a.m.
(e) Meets regulations, if any, governing signs used by a group child care home to identify itself.
(f) Meets regulations, if any, requiring a group child care home operator to provide off-street parking

accommodations for his or her employees.
(5) For a city or village, a group child care home may be issued a special use permit, conditional use

permit, or other similar permit.
(6) A licensed or registered family or group child care home that operated before March 30, 1989 is not

required to comply with this section.
(7) This section does not prohibit a local unit of government from inspecting a family or group child care

home for the home's compliance with and enforcing the local unit of government's zoning ordinance. For a
county or township, an ordinance shall not be more restrictive for a family or group child care home than
1973 PA 116, MCL 722.111 to 722.128.

(8) The establishment of any of the facilities listed under subsection (4)(a) after issuance of a special use
permit, conditional use permit, or other similar permit pertaining to the group child care home does not affect
renewal of that permit.

(9) This section does not prohibit a local unit of government from issuing a special use permit, conditional
use permit, or other similar permit to a licensed group child care home that does not meet the standards listed
under subsection (4).

(10) The distances required under subsection (4)(a) shall be measured along a road, street, or place
maintained by this state or a local unit of government and generally open to the public as a matter of right for
the purpose of vehicular traffic, not including an alley.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2007, Act 219, Imd. Eff. Dec. 28, 2007;Am. 2018, Act 513, Eff. Mar. 28, 2019;
Am. 2022, Act 206, Imd. Eff. Oct. 7, 2022.

125.3207 Zoning ordinance or decision; effect as prohibiting establishment of land use.
Sec. 207. A zoning ordinance or zoning decision shall not have the effect of totally prohibiting the

establishment of a land use within a local unit of government in the presence of a demonstrated need for that
land use within either that local unit of government or the surrounding area within the state, unless a location
within the local unit of government does not exist where the use may be appropriately located or the use is
unlawful.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3208 Nonconforming uses or structures.
Sec. 208. (1) If the use of a dwelling, building, or structure or of the land is lawful at the time of enactment

of a zoning ordinance or an amendment to a zoning ordinance, then that use may be continued although the
use does not conform to the zoning ordinance or amendment. This subsection is intended to codify the law as
it existed before July 1, 2006 in section 16(1) of the former county zoning act, 1943 PA 183, section 16(1) of
the former township zoning act, 1943 PA 184, and section 3a(1) of the former city and village zoning act,
1921 PA 207, as they applied to counties, townships, and cities and villages, respectively, and shall be
construed as a continuation of those laws and not as a new enactment.

(2) The legislative body may provide in a zoning ordinance for the completion, resumption, restoration,
reconstruction, extension, or substitution of nonconforming uses or structures upon terms and conditions
provided in the zoning ordinance. In establishing terms for the completion, resumption, restoration,
reconstruction, extension, or substitution of nonconforming uses or structures, different classes of
nonconforming uses may be established in the zoning ordinance with different requirements applicable to
each class.

(3) The legislative body may acquire, by purchase, condemnation, or otherwise, private property or an
interest in private property for the removal of nonconforming uses and structures. The legislative body may
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 6 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

239

Item 33.



provide that the cost and expense of acquiring private property may be paid from general funds or assessed to
a special district in accordance with the applicable statutory provisions relating to the creation and operation
of special assessment districts for public improvements in local units of government. Property acquired under
this subsection by a city or village shall not be used for public housing.

(4) The elimination of the nonconforming uses and structures in a zoning district is declared to be for a
public purpose and for a public use. The legislative body may institute proceedings for condemnation of
nonconforming uses and structures under 1911 PA 149, MCL 213.21 to 213.25.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008;Am. 2010, Act 330, Imd. Eff. Dec. 21,
2010.

125.3209 Township zoning ordinance not subject to county ordinance, rule, or regulation.
Sec. 209. Except as otherwise provided under this act, a township that has enacted a zoning ordinance

under this act is not subject to an ordinance, rule, or regulation adopted by a county under this act.
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3210 Ordinance as controlling.
Sec. 210. Except as otherwise provided under this act, an ordinance adopted under this act shall be

controlling in the case of any inconsistencies between the ordinance and an ordinance adopted under any
other law.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3211 Appointment of zoning commission by legislative body; purposes; petition;
initiation of action to formulate zoning commission and zoning ordinance.
Sec. 211. (1) The legislative body may proceed with the adoption of a zoning ordinance containing land

development regulations and establishing zoning districts under this act upon appointment of a zoning
commission as provided in section 301.

(2) The legislative body may appoint a zoning commission for purposes of formulating a zoning ordinance
on its own initiative or upon receipt of a petition requesting that action as provided under subsection (3).

(3) Upon receipt of a petition signed by a number of qualified and registered voters residing in the zoning
jurisdiction equal to not less than 8% of the total votes cast within the zoning jurisdiction for all candidates for
governor at the last preceding general election at which a governor was elected, filed with the clerk of the
local unit of government requesting the legislative body to appoint a zoning commission for purposes of
formulating a zoning ordinance, the legislative body, at the next regular meeting, may initiate action to
formulate a zoning commission and zoning ordinance under this act.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

ARTICLE III
ZONING COMMISSION

125.3301 Zoning commission; creation; transfer of powers to planning commission;
resolution; membership; terms; successors; vacancy; limitation; removal of member;
officers.
Sec. 301. (1) Each local unit of government in which the legislative body exercises authority under this act

shall create a zoning commission unless 1 of the following applies:
(a) A county zoning commission created under former 1943 PA 183, a township zoning board created

under former 1943 PA 184, or a city or village zoning commission created under former 1921 PA 207 was in
existence in the local unit of government as of June 30, 2006. Unless abolished by the legislative body, that
existing board or commission shall continue as and exercise the powers and perform the duties of a zoning
commission under this act, subject to a transfer of power under subsection (2).

(b) A planning commission was, as of June 30, 2006, in existence in the local unit of government and
pursuant to the applicable planning enabling act exercising the powers and performing the duties of a county
zoning commission created under former 1943 PA 185, of a township zoning board created under former
1943 PA 184, or of a city or village zoning commission created under former 1921 PA 207. Unless abolished
by the legislative body, that existing planning commission shall continue and exercise the powers and perform
the duties of a zoning commission under this act.

(c) The local unit of government has created a planning commission on or after July 1, 2006 and
transferred the powers and duties of a zoning commission to the planning commission pursuant to the
applicable planning enabling act.

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 7 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

240

Item 33.



(2) Except as otherwise provided under this subsection, if the powers and duties of the zoning commission
have been transferred to the planning commission as provided by law, the planning commission shall function
as the zoning commission of the local unit of government. By July 1, 2011, the legislative body shall transfer
the powers and duties of the zoning commission to the planning commission. Except as provided under this
subsection, beginning July 1, 2011, a zoning commission's powers or duties under this act or an ordinance
adopted under this act shall only be exercised or performed by a planning commission.

(3) If a zoning commission is created on or after July 1, 2006, the zoning commission shall be created by
resolution and be composed of not fewer than 5 or more than 11 members appointed by the legislative body.
Not fewer than 2 of the members of a county zoning commission shall be recommended for membership by
the legislative bodies of townships that are, or will be, subject to the county zoning ordinance. This
requirement may be met as vacancies occur on a county zoning commission that existed on June 30, 2006.

(4) The members of a zoning commission shall be selected upon the basis of the members' qualifications
and fitness to serve as members of a zoning commission.

(5) The first zoning commission appointed under subsection (3) shall be divided as nearly as possible into
3 equal groups, with terms of each group as follows:

(a) One group for 1 year.
(b) One group for 2 years.
(c) One group for 3 years.
(6) Upon the expiration of the terms of the members first appointed, successors shall be appointed in the

same manner for terms of 3 years each. A member of the zoning commission shall serve until a successor is
appointed and has been qualified.

(7) A vacancy on a zoning commission shall be filled for the remainder of the unexpired term in the same
manner as the original appointment.

(8) An elected officer of a local unit of government shall not serve simultaneously as a member or an
employee of the zoning commission of that local unit of government, except that 1 member of the legislative
body may be a member of the zoning commission.

(9) The legislative body shall provide for the removal of a member of a zoning commission for
misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance in office upon written charges and after public hearing.

(10) A zoning commission shall elect from its members a chairperson, a secretary, and other officers and
establish such committees it considers necessary and may engage any employees, including for technical
assistance, it requires. The election of officers shall be held not less than once in every 2-year period.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008.

125.3302 Expenses; compensation.
Sec. 302. Members of the zoning commission may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses actually

incurred in the discharge of their duties and may receive compensation as fixed by the legislative body.
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3303 Planning expert; compensation.
Sec. 303. (1) With the approval of the legislative body, the zoning commission may engage the services of

a planning expert. Compensation for the planning expert shall be paid by the legislative body.
(2) The zoning commission shall consider any information and recommendations furnished by appropriate

public officials, departments, or agencies.
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3304 Regular meetings; notice; zoning commission subject to open meetings act.
Sec. 304. The zoning commission shall hold a minimum of 2 regular meetings annually, giving notice of

the time and place by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the zoning jurisdiction. Notice shall
be given not less than 15 days before the meeting. The zoning commission is subject to the open meetings act,
1976 PA 267, MCL 15.261 to 15.275.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3305 Recommendations of zoning commission; adoption and filing.
Sec. 305. The zoning commission shall adopt and file with the legislative body the following

recommendations:
(a) A zoning plan for the areas subject to zoning of the local unit of government.
(b) The establishment of zoning districts, including the boundaries of those districts.
(c) The text of a zoning ordinance with the necessary maps and zoning regulations to be adopted for a

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 8 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

241

Item 33.



zoning district or the zoning jurisdiction as a whole.
(d) The manner of administering and enforcing the zoning ordinance.
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3306 Recommendations of zoning commission; submission to legislative body; public
hearing; notice; examination of proposed text and maps.
Sec. 306. (1) Before submitting its recommendations for a proposed zoning ordinance to the legislative

body, the zoning commission shall hold at least 1 public hearing. Notice of the time and place of the public
hearing shall be given in the same manner as required under section 103(1) for the initial adoption of a zoning
ordinance or section 202 for any other subsequent zoning text or map amendments.

(2) Notice of the time and place of the public hearing shall also be given by mail to each electric, gas, and
pipeline public utility company, each telecommunication service provider, each railroad operating within the
district or zone affected, and the airport manager of each airport, that registers its name and mailing address
with the clerk of the legislative body for the purpose of receiving the notice of public hearing.

(3) The notices required under this section shall include the places and times at which the proposed text
and any maps of the zoning ordinance may be examined.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3307 Review and recommendations after hearing; submission to township; submission
to coordinating zoning committee; waiver of right to review.
Sec. 307. (1) Following the hearing required in section 306, a township shall submit for review and

recommendation the proposed zoning ordinance, including any zoning maps, to the zoning commission of the
county in which the township is situated if a county zoning commission has been appointed as provided under
this act.

(2) If there is not a county zoning commission or county planning commission, the proposed zoning
ordinance shall be submitted to the coordinating zoning committee. The coordinating zoning committee shall
be composed of either 3 or 5 members appointed by the legislative body of the county for the purpose of
coordinating the zoning ordinances proposed for adoption under this act with the zoning ordinances of a
township, city, or village having a common boundary with the township.

(3) The county will have waived its right for review and recommendation of an ordinance if the
recommendation of the county zoning commission, planning commission, or coordinating zoning committee
has not been received by the township within 30 days from the date the proposed ordinance is received by the
county.

(4) The legislative body of a county by resolution may waive its right to review township ordinances and
amendments under this section.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3308 Summary of public hearing comments; transmission to legislative body by zoning
commission; report.
Sec. 308. (1) Following the required public hearing under section 306, the zoning commission shall

transmit a summary of comments received at the hearing and its proposed zoning ordinance, including any
zoning maps and recommendations, to the legislative body of the local unit of government.

(2) Following the enactment of the zoning ordinance, the zoning commission shall at least once per year
prepare for the legislative body a report on the administration and enforcement of the zoning ordinance and
recommendations for amendments or supplements to the ordinance.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

ARTICLE IV
ZONING ADOPTION AND ENFORCEMENT

125.3401 Public hearing to be held by legislative body; conditions; notice; approval of
zoning ordinance and amendments by legislative body; filing; notice of ordinance
adoption; notice mailed to airport manager; information to be included in notice; other
statutory requirements superseded.
Sec. 401. (1) After receiving a zoning ordinance under section 308(1) or an amendment under sections 202

and 308(1), the legislative body may hold a public hearing if it considers it necessary or if otherwise required.
(2) Notice of a public hearing to be held by the legislative body shall be given in the same manner as

required under section 103(1) for the initial adoption of a zoning ordinance or section 202 for any zoning text

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 9 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

242

Item 33.



or map amendments.
(3) The legislative body may refer any proposed amendments to the zoning commission for consideration

and comment within a time specified by the legislative body.
(4) The legislative body shall grant a hearing on a proposed ordinance provision to an interested property

owner who requests a hearing by certified mail, addressed to the clerk of the legislative body. A hearing under
this subsection is not subject to the requirements of section 103, except that notice of the hearing shall be
given to the interested property owner in the manner required in section 103(3) and (4).

(5) After any proceedings under subsections (1) to (4), the legislative body shall consider and vote upon
the adoption of a zoning ordinance, with or without amendments. A zoning ordinance and any amendments
shall be approved by a majority vote of the members of the legislative body.

(6) Except as otherwise provided under section 402, a zoning ordinance shall take effect upon the
expiration of 7 days after publication as required by subsection (7) or at such later date after publication as
may be specified by the legislative body or charter.

(7) Following adoption of a zoning ordinance or any subsequent amendments by the legislative body, the
zoning ordinance or subsequent amendments shall be filed with the clerk of the legislative body, and a notice
of ordinance adoption shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the local unit of government
within 15 days after adoption.

(8) A copy of the notice required under subsection (7) shall be mailed to the airport manager of an airport
entitled to notice under section 306.

(9) The notice required under this section shall include all of the following information:
(a) In the case of a newly adopted zoning ordinance, the following statement: "A zoning ordinance

regulating the development and use of land has been adopted by the legislative body of the [county, township,
city, or village] of __________.".

(b) In the case of an amendment to an existing zoning ordinance, either a summary of the regulatory effect
of the amendment, including the geographic area affected, or the text of the amendment.

(c) The effective date of the ordinance or amendment.
(d) The place where and time when a copy of the ordinance or amendment may be purchased or inspected.
(10) The filing and publication requirements under this section supersede any other statutory or charter

requirements relating to the filing and publication of county, township, city, or village ordinances.
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008.

125.3402 Notice of intent to file petition.
Sec. 402. (1) Within 7 days after publication of a zoning ordinance under section 401, a registered elector

residing in the zoning jurisdiction of a county or township may file with the clerk of the legislative body a
notice of intent to file a petition under this section.

(2) If a notice of intent is filed under subsection (1), the petitioner shall have 30 days following the
publication of the zoning ordinance to file a petition signed by a number of registered electors residing in the
zoning jurisdiction not less than 15% of the total vote cast within the zoning jurisdiction for all candidates for
governor at the last preceding general election at which a governor was elected, with the clerk of the
legislative body requesting the submission of a zoning ordinance or part of a zoning ordinance to the electors
residing in the zoning jurisdiction for their approval.

(3) Upon the filing of a notice of intent under subsection (1), the zoning ordinance or part of the zoning
ordinance adopted by the legislative body shall not take effect until 1 of the following occurs:

(a) The expiration of 30 days after publication of the ordinance, if a petition is not filed within that time.
(b) If a petition is filed within 30 days after publication of the ordinance, the clerk of the legislative body

determines that the petition is inadequate.
(c) If a petition is filed within 30 days after publication of the ordinance, the clerk of the legislative body

determines that the petition is adequate and the ordinance or part of the ordinance is approved by a majority of
the registered electors residing in the zoning jurisdiction voting on the petition at the next regular election or
at any special election called for that purpose. The legislative body shall provide the manner of submitting the
zoning ordinance or part of the zoning ordinance to the electors for their approval or rejection and
determining the result of the election.

(4) A petition and an election under this section are subject to the Michigan election law, 1954 PA 116,
MCL 168.1 to 168.992.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3403 Amendment to zoning ordinance; filing of protest petition; vote.
Sec. 403. (1) An amendment to a zoning ordinance by a city or village is subject to a protest petition as

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 10 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

243

Item 33.



required by this subsection. If a protest petition is filed, approval of the amendment to the zoning ordinance
shall require a 2/3 vote of the legislative body, unless a larger vote, not to exceed a 3/4 vote, is required by
ordinance or charter. The protest petition shall be presented to the legislative body of the city or village before
final legislative action on the amendment and shall be signed by 1 or more of the following:

(a) The owners of at least 20% of the area of land included in the proposed change.
(b) The owners of at least 20% of the area of land included within an area extending outward 100 feet from

any point on the boundary of the land included in the proposed change.
(2) Publicly owned land shall be excluded in calculating the 20% land area requirement under subsection

(1).
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3404 Interim zoning ordinance.
Sec. 404. (1) To protect the public health, safety, and general welfare of the inhabitants and the lands and

resources of a local unit of government during the period required for the preparation and enactment of an
initial zoning ordinance under this act, the legislative body of a local unit of government may direct the
zoning commission to submit, within a specified period of time, recommendations as to the provisions of an
interim zoning ordinance.

(2) Before presenting its recommendations to the legislative body, the zoning commission of a township
shall submit the interim zoning ordinance, or an amendment to the ordinance, to the county zoning
commission or the coordinating zoning committee, for the purpose of coordinating the zoning ordinance with
the zoning ordinances of a township, city, or village having a common boundary with the township. The
ordinance shall be considered approved 15 days from the date the zoning ordinance is submitted to the
legislative body.

(3) After approval, the legislative body, by majority vote of its members, may give the interim ordinance or
amendments to the interim ordinance immediate effect. An interim ordinance and subsequent amendments
shall be filed and published as required under section 401.

(4) The interim ordinance, including any amendments, shall be limited to 1 year from the effective date
and to not more than 2 years of renewal thereafter by resolution of the local unit of government.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3405 Use and development of land as condition to rezoning.
Sec. 405. (1) An owner of land may voluntarily offer in writing, and the local unit of government may

approve, certain use and development of the land as a condition to a rezoning of the land or an amendment to
a zoning map.

(2) In approving the conditions under subsection (1), the local unit of government may establish a time
period during which the conditions apply to the land. Except for an extension under subsection (4), if the
conditions are not satisfied within the time specified under this subsection, the land shall revert to its former
zoning classification.

(3) The local government shall not add to or alter the conditions approved under subsection (1) during the
time period specified under subsection (2) of this section.

(4) The time period specified under subsection (2) may be extended upon the application of the landowner
and approval of the local unit of government.

(5) A local unit of government shall not require a landowner to offer conditions as a requirement for
rezoning. The lack of an offer under subsection (1) shall not otherwise affect a landowner's rights under this
act, the ordinances of the local unit of government, or any other laws of this state.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3406 Zoning permits; fees; effect of delinquent payment of fine, costs, or assessment.
Sec. 406. (1) The legislative body may charge reasonable fees for zoning permits as a condition of granting

authority to use, erect, alter, or locate dwellings, buildings, and structures, including tents and recreational
vehicles, within a zoning district established under this act.

(2) A zoning ordinance adopted by a city may provide that a person is not eligible to apply for a rezoning,
site plan approval, special land use approval, planned unit development approval, variance, or other zoning
authorization if the person is delinquent in paying a civil fine, costs, or a justice system assessment imposed
by an administrative hearings bureau established in that city pursuant to section 4q of the home rule city act,
1909 PA 279, MCL 117.4q.

(3) A zoning ordinance provision adopted under subsection (2) does not apply to an applicant for a zoning
authorization if the applicant became the owner of the property by foreclosure or by taking a deed in lieu of

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 11 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

244

Item 33.



foreclosure and is 1 of the following:
(a) A government-sponsored enterprise. As used in this subdivision, "government-sponsored enterprise"

means that term as defined in 2 USC 622(8), or the Michigan state housing development authority created
under the state housing development authority act of 1966, 1966 PA 346, MCL 125.1401 to 125.1499c.

(b) A financial institution. As used in this subdivision, "financial institution" means that term as defined in
section 4(c) of the Michigan strategic fund act, 1984 PA 270, MCL 125.2004.

(c) A mortgage servicer, as that term is defined in section 1a of the mortgage brokers, lenders, and
servicers licensing act, 1987 PA 173, MCL 445.1651a, that is subject to the mortgage brokers, lenders, and
servicers licensing act, 1987 PA 173, MCL 445.1651 to 445.1684.

(d) A credit union service organization that is organized under the laws of this state or the United States.
(4) Subsection (2) does not apply to a zoning authorization if the authorization will correct, in whole or in

part, the blight violation that was the subject of the delinquent payment referred to in subsection (2).
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2013, Act 189, Eff. Mar. 14, 2014.

125.3407 Certain violations as nuisance per se.
Sec. 407. Except as otherwise provided by law, a use of land or a dwelling, building, or structure, including

a tent or recreational vehicle, used, erected, altered, razed, or converted in violation of a zoning ordinance or
regulation adopted under this act is a nuisance per se. The court shall order the nuisance abated, and the owner
or agent in charge of the dwelling, building, structure, tent, recreational vehicle, or land is liable for
maintaining a nuisance per se. The legislative body shall in the zoning ordinance enacted under this act
designate the proper official or officials who shall administer and enforce the zoning ordinance and do 1 of
the following for each violation of the zoning ordinance:

(a) Impose a penalty for the violation.
(b) Designate the violation as a municipal civil infraction and impose a civil fine for the violation.
(c) Designate the violation as a blight violation and impose a civil fine or other sanction authorized by law.

This subdivision applies only to a city that establishes an administrative hearings bureau pursuant to section
4q of the home rule city act, 1909 PA 279, MCL 117.4q.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008.

ARTICLE V
SPECIAL ZONING PROVISIONS

125.3501 Submission and approval of site plan; procedures and requirements.
Sec. 501. (1) The local unit of government may require the submission and approval of a site plan before

authorization of a land use or activity regulated by a zoning ordinance. The zoning ordinance shall specify the
body or official responsible for reviewing site plans and granting approval.

(2) If a zoning ordinance requires site plan approval, the site plan, as approved, shall become part of the
record of approval, and subsequent actions relating to the activity authorized shall be consistent with the
approved site plan, unless a change conforming to the zoning ordinance is agreed to by the landowner and the
body or official that initially approved the site plan.

(3) The procedures and requirements for the submission and approval of site plans shall be specified in the
zoning ordinance. Site plan submission, review, and approval shall be required for special land uses and
planned unit developments.

(4) A decision rejecting, approving, or conditionally approving a site plan shall be based upon
requirements and standards contained in the zoning ordinance, other statutorily authorized and properly
adopted local unit of government planning documents, other applicable ordinances, and state and federal
statutes.

(5) A site plan shall be approved if it contains the information required by the zoning ordinance and is in
compliance with the conditions imposed under the zoning ordinance, other statutorily authorized and properly
adopted local unit of government planning documents, other applicable ordinances, and state and federal
statutes.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008.

125.3502 Special land uses; review and approval; application; notice of request; public
hearing; incorporation of decision in statement of findings and conclusions.
Sec. 502. (1) The legislative body may provide in a zoning ordinance for special land uses in a zoning

district. A special land use shall be subject to the review and approval of the zoning commission, the planning
commission, an official charged with administering the zoning ordinance, or the legislative body as required

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 12 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

245

Item 33.



by the zoning ordinance. The zoning ordinance shall specify all of the following:
(a) The special land uses and activities eligible for approval and the body or official responsible for

reviewing and granting approval.
(b) The requirements and standards for approving a request for a special land use.
(c) The procedures and supporting materials required for the application, review, and approval of a special

land use.
(2) Upon receipt of an application for a special land use which requires a discretionary decision, the local

unit of government shall provide notice of the request as required under section 103. The notice shall indicate
that a public hearing on the special land use request may be requested by any property owner or the occupant
of any structure located within 300 feet of the property being considered for a special land use regardless of
whether the property or occupant is located in the zoning jurisdiction.

(3) At the initiative of the body or official responsible for approving the special land use or upon the
request of the applicant, a real property owner whose real property is assessed within 300 feet of the property,
or the occupant of a structure located within 300 feet of the property, a public hearing shall be held before a
discretionary decision is made on the special land use request.

(4) The body or official designated to review and approve special land uses may deny, approve, or approve
with conditions a request for special land use approval. The decision on a special land use shall be
incorporated in a statement of findings and conclusions relative to the special land use which specifies the
basis for the decision and any conditions imposed.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3503 Planned unit development.
Sec. 503. (1) As used in this section, "planned unit development" includes such terms as cluster zoning,

planned development, community unit plan, and planned residential development and other terminology
denoting zoning requirements designed to accomplish the objectives of the zoning ordinance through a land
development project review process based on the application of site planning criteria to achieve integration of
the proposed land development project with the characteristics of the project area.

(2) The legislative body may establish planned unit development requirements in a zoning ordinance that
permit flexibility in the regulation of land development, encourage innovation in land use and variety in
design, layout, and type of structures constructed, achieve economy and efficiency in the use of land, natural
resources, energy, and the provision of public services and utilities, encourage useful open space, and provide
better housing, employment, and shopping opportunities particularly suited to the needs of the residents of
this state. The review and approval of planned unit developments shall be by the zoning commission, an
individual charged with administration of the zoning ordinance, or the legislative body, as specified in the
zoning ordinance.

(3) Within a land development project designated as a planned unit development, regulations relating to the
use of land, including, but not limited to, permitted uses, lot sizes, setbacks, height limits, required facilities,
buffers, open space areas, and land use density, shall be determined in accordance with the planned unit
development regulations specified in the zoning ordinance. The planned unit development regulations need
not be uniform with regard to each type of land use if equitable procedures recognizing due process principles
and avoiding arbitrary decisions are followed in making regulatory decisions. Unless explicitly prohibited by
the planned unit development regulations, if requested by the landowner, a local unit of government may
approve a planned unit development with open space that is not contiguous with the rest of the planned unit
development.

(4) The planned unit development regulations established by the local unit of government shall specify all
of the following:

(a) The body or official responsible for the review and approval of planned unit development requests.
(b) The conditions that create planned unit development eligibility, the participants in the review process,

and the requirements and standards upon which applicants will be reviewed and approval granted.
(c) The procedures required for application, review, and approval.
(5) Following receipt of a request to approve a planned unit development, the body or official responsible

for the review and approval shall hold at least 1 public hearing on the request. A zoning ordinance may
provide for preapplication conferences before submission of a planned unit development request and the
submission of preliminary site plans before the public hearing. Notification of the public hearing shall be
given in the same manner as required under section 103.

(6) Within a reasonable time following the public hearing, the body or official responsible for approving
planned unit developments shall meet for final consideration of the request and deny, approve, or approve
with conditions the request. The body or official shall prepare a report stating its conclusions, its decision, the
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 13 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

246

Item 33.



basis for its decision, and any conditions imposed on an affirmative decision.
(7) If amendment of a zoning ordinance is required by the planned unit development regulations of a

zoning ordinance, the requirements of this act for amendment of a zoning ordinance shall be followed, except
that the hearing and notice required by this section shall fulfill the public hearing and notice requirements of
section 306.

(8)If the planned unit development regulations of a zoning ordinance do not require amendment of the
zoning ordinance to authorize a planned unit development, the body or official responsible for review and
approval shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny a request.

(9)Final approval may be granted on each phase of a multiphased planned unit development if each phase
contains the necessary components to insure protection of natural resources and the health, safety, and welfare
of the users of the planned unit development and the residents of the surrounding area.

(10)In establishing planned unit development requirements, a local unit of government may incorporate by
reference other ordinances or statutes which regulate land development. The planned unit development
regulations contained in zoning ordinances shall encourage complementary relationships between zoning
regulations and other regulations affecting the development of land.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3504 Special land uses; regulations and standards; compliance; conditions; record of
conditions.
Sec. 504. (1) If the zoning ordinance authorizes the consideration and approval of special land uses or

planned unit developments under section 502 or 503 or otherwise provides for discretionary decisions, the
regulations and standards upon which those decisions are made shall be specified in the zoning ordinance.

(2) The standards shall be consistent with and promote the intent and purpose of the zoning ordinance and
shall insure that the land use or activity authorized shall be compatible with adjacent uses of land, the natural
environment, and the capacities of public services and facilities affected by the land use. The standards shall
also insure that the land use or activity is consistent with the public health, safety, and welfare of the local unit
of government.

(3) A request for approval of a land use or activity shall be approved if the request is in compliance with
the standards stated in the zoning ordinance, the conditions imposed under the zoning ordinance, other
applicable ordinances, and state and federal statutes.

(4) Reasonable conditions may be required with the approval of a special land use, planned unit
development, or other land uses or activities permitted by discretionary decision. The conditions may include
conditions necessary to insure that public services and facilities affected by a proposed land use or activity
will be capable of accommodating increased service and facility loads caused by the land use or activity, to
protect the natural environment and conserve natural resources and energy, to insure compatibility with
adjacent uses of land, and to promote the use of land in a socially and economically desirable manner.
Conditions imposed shall meet all of the following requirements:

(a) Be designed to protect natural resources, the health, safety, and welfare, as well as the social and
economic well-being, of those who will use the land use or activity under consideration, residents and
landowners immediately adjacent to the proposed land use or activity, and the community as a whole.

(b) Be related to the valid exercise of the police power and purposes which are affected by the proposed
use or activity.

(c) Be necessary to meet the intent and purpose of the zoning requirements, be related to the standards
established in the zoning ordinance for the land use or activity under consideration, and be necessary to insure
compliance with those standards.

(5) The conditions imposed with respect to the approval of a land use or activity shall be recorded in the
record of the approval action and remain unchanged except upon the mutual consent of the approving
authority and the landowner. The approving authority shall maintain a record of conditions which are
changed.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3505 Performance guarantee.
Sec. 505. (1) To ensure compliance with a zoning ordinance and any conditions imposed under a zoning

ordinance, a local unit of government may require that a cash deposit, certified check, irrevocable letter of
credit, or surety bond acceptable to the local unit of government covering the estimated cost of improvements
be deposited with the clerk of the legislative body to insure faithful completion of the improvements. The
performance guarantee shall be deposited at the time of the issuance of the permit authorizing the activity or
project. The local unit of government may not require the deposit of the performance guarantee until it is
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 14 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

247

Item 33.



prepared to issue the permit. The local unit of government shall establish procedures by which a rebate of any
cash deposits in reasonable proportion to the ratio of work completed on the required improvements shall be
made as work progresses.

(2) This section shall not be applicable to improvements for which a cash deposit, certified check,
irrevocable bank letter of credit, or surety bond has been deposited under the land division act, 1967 PA 288,
MCL 560.101 to 560.293.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3506 Open space preservation.
Sec. 506. (1) Subject to subsection (4) and section 402, a qualified local unit of government shall provide

in its zoning ordinance that land zoned for residential development may be developed, at the option of the
landowner, with the same number of dwelling units on a smaller portion of the land than specified in the
zoning ordinance, but not more than 50% for a county or township or 80% for a city or village, that could
otherwise be developed, as determined by the local unit of government under existing ordinances, laws, and
rules on the entire land area, if all of the following apply:

(a) The land is zoned at a density equivalent to 2 or fewer dwelling units per acre or, if the land is served
by a public sewer system, 3 or fewer dwelling units per acre.

(b) A percentage of the land area specified in the zoning ordinance, but not less than 50% for a county or
township or 20% for a city or village, will remain perpetually in an undeveloped state by means of a
conservation easement, plat dedication, restrictive covenant, or other legal means that runs with the land, as
prescribed by the zoning ordinance.

(c) The development does not depend upon the extension of a public sewer or public water supply system,
unless development of the land without the exercise of the option provided by this subsection would also
depend upon the extension.

(d) The option provided under this subsection has not previously been exercised with respect to that land.
(2) After a landowner exercises the option provided under subsection (1), the land may be rezoned

accordingly.
(3) The development of land under subsection (1) is subject to other applicable ordinances, laws, and rules,

including rules relating to suitability of groundwater for on-site water supply for land not served by public
water and rules relating to suitability of soils for on-site sewage disposal for land not served by public sewers.

(4) Subsection (1) does not apply to a qualified local unit of government if both of the following apply:
(a) On or before October 1, 2001, the local unit of government had in effect a zoning ordinance provision

providing for both of the following:
(i) Land zoned for residential development may be developed, at the option of the landowner, with the

same number of dwelling units on a smaller portion of the land that, as determined by the local unit of
government, could otherwise be developed under existing ordinances, laws, and rules on the entire land area.

(ii) If the landowner exercises the option provided by subparagraph (i), the portion of the land not
developed will remain perpetually in an undeveloped state by means of a conservation easement, plat
dedication, restrictive covenant, or other legal means that runs with the land.

(b) On or before December 15, 2001, a landowner exercised the option provided under the zoning
ordinance provision referred to in subdivision (a) with at least 50% of the land area for a county or township
or 20% of the land area for a city or village, remaining perpetually in an undeveloped state.

(5) The zoning ordinance provisions required by subsection (1) shall be cited as the "open space
preservation" provisions of the zoning ordinance.

(6) As used in this section, "qualified local unit of government" means a county, township, city, or village
that meets all of the following requirements:

(a) Has adopted a zoning ordinance.
(b) Has a population of 1,800 or more.
(c) Has land that is not developed and that is zoned for residential development at a density described in

subsection (1)(a).
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3507 Purchase of development rights program; adoption of ordinance; limitations;
agreements with other local governments.
Sec. 507. (1) As used in this section and sections 508 and 509, "PDR program" means a purchase of

development rights program.
(2) The legislative body may adopt a development rights ordinance limited to the establishment, financing,

and administration of a PDR program, as provided under this section and sections 508 and 509. The PDR
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 15 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

248

Item 33.



program may be used only to protect agricultural land and other eligible land. This section and sections 508
and 509 do not expand the condemnation authority of a local unit of government as otherwise provided for in
this act.

(3) A PDR program shall not acquire development rights by condemnation. This section and sections 508
and 509 do not limit any authority that may otherwise be provided by law for a local unit of government to
protect natural resources, preserve open space, provide for historic preservation, or accomplish similar
purposes.

(4) A legislative body shall not establish, finance, or administer a PDR program unless the legislative body
adopts a development rights ordinance. If the local unit of government has a zoning ordinance, the
development rights ordinance may be adopted as part of the zoning ordinance under the procedures for a
zoning ordinance under this act. A local unit of government may adopt a development rights ordinance in the
same manner as required for a zoning ordinance.

(5) A legislative body may promote and enter into agreements with other local units of government for the
purchase of development rights, including cross-jurisdictional purchases, subject to applicable development
rights ordinances.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3508 PDR program; purchase of development rights by local unit of government;
conveyance; notice; requirements for certain purchases.
Sec. 508. (1) A development rights ordinance shall provide for a PDR program. Under a PDR program, the

local unit of government purchases development rights, but only from a willing landowner. A development
rights ordinance providing for a PDR program shall specify all of the following:

(a) The public benefits that the local unit of government may seek through the purchase of development
rights.

(b) The procedure by which the local unit of government or a landowner may by application initiate
purchase of development rights.

(c) The development rights authorized to be purchased subject to a determination under standards and
procedures required by subdivision (d).

(d) The standards and procedures to be followed by the legislative body for approving, modifying, or
rejecting an application to purchase development rights, including the determination of all the following:

(i) Whether to purchase development rights.
(ii) Which development rights to purchase.
(iii) The intensity of development permitted after the purchase on the land from which the development

rights are purchased.
(iv) The price at which development rights will be purchased and the method of payment.
(v) The procedure for ensuring that the purchase or sale of development rights is legally fixed so as to run

with the land.
(e) The circumstances under which an owner of land from which development rights have been purchased

under a PDR program may repurchase those development rights and how the proceeds of the purchase are to
be used by the local unit of government.

(2) If the local unit of government has a zoning ordinance, the purchase of development rights shall be
consistent with the plan referred to in section 203 upon which the zoning ordinance is based.

(3) Development rights acquired under a PDR program may be conveyed only as provided under
subsection (1)(e).

(4) A county shall notify each township, city, or village, and a township shall notify each village, in which
is located land from which development rights are proposed to be purchased of the receipt of an application
for the purchase of development rights and shall notify each township, city, or village of the disposition of
that application.

(5) A county shall not purchase development rights under a development rights ordinance from land
subject to a township, city, or village zoning ordinance unless all of the following requirements are met:

(a) The development rights ordinance provisions for the PDR program are consistent with the plan upon
which the township, city, or village zoning is based.

(b) The legislative body of the township, city, or village adopts a resolution authorizing the PDR program
to apply in the township, city, or village.

(c) As part of the application procedure for the specific proposed purchase of development rights, the
township, city, or village provides the county with written approval of the purchase.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 16 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

249

Item 33.



125.3509 PDR program; financing sources; bonds or notes; special assessments.
Sec. 509. (1) A PDR program may be financed through 1 or more of the following sources:
(a) General appropriations by the local unit of government.
(b) Proceeds from the sale of development rights by the local unit of government subject to section 508(3).
(c) Grants.
(d) Donations.
(e) Bonds or notes issued under subsections (2) to (5).
(f) General fund revenue.
(g) Special assessments under subsection (6).
(h) Other sources approved by the legislative body and permitted by law.
(2) The legislative body may borrow money and issue bonds or notes under the revised municipal finance

act, 2001 PA 34, MCL 141.2101 to 141.2821, subject to the general debt limit applicable to the local unit of
government. The bonds or notes may be revenue bonds or notes, general obligation limited tax bonds or
notes, or, subject to section 6 of article IX of the state constitution of 1963, general obligation unlimited tax
bonds or notes.

(3) The legislative body may secure bonds or notes issued under this section by mortgage, assignment, or
pledge of property, including, but not limited to, anticipated tax collections, revenue sharing payments, or
special assessment revenues. A pledge made by the legislative body is valid and binding from the time the
pledge is made. The pledge immediately shall be subject to the lien of the pledge without a filing or further
act. The lien of the pledge shall be valid and binding as against parties having claims in tort, contract, or
otherwise against the local unit of government, irrespective of whether the parties have notice of the lien.
Filing of the resolution, the trust agreement, or another instrument by which a pledge is created is not
required.

(4) Bonds or notes issued under this section are exempt from all taxation in this state except inheritance
and transfer taxes, and the interest on the bonds or notes is exempt from all taxation in this state.

(5) The bonds and notes issued under this section may be invested in by the state treasurer and all other
public officers, state agencies, and political subdivisions, insurance companies, financial institutions,
investment companies, and fiduciaries and trustees and may be deposited with and received by the state
treasurer and all other public officers and the agencies and political subdivisions of this state for all purposes
for which the deposit of bonds or notes is authorized. The authority granted by this section is in addition to all
other authority granted by law.

(6) A development rights ordinance may authorize the legislative body to finance a PDR program by
special assessments. In addition to meeting the requirements of section 508, the development rights ordinance
shall include in the procedure to approve and establish a special assessment district both of the following:

(a) The requirement that there be filed with the legislative body a petition containing all of the following:
(i) A description of the development rights to be purchased, including a legal description of the land from

which the purchase is to be made.
(ii) A description of the proposed special assessment district.
(iii) The signatures of the owners of at least 66% of the land area in the proposed special assessment

district.
(iv) The amount and duration of the proposed special assessments.
(b) The requirement that the legislative body specify how the proposed purchase of development rights

will specially benefit the land in the proposed special assessment district.
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3513 Biofuel production facility as permitted use of property; requirements; special land
use approval; application; hearing; conditions; applicability of subsections (2) to (5);
authority of local unit of government; definitions.
Sec. 513. (1) A biofuel production facility with an annual production capacity of not more than 100,000

gallons of biofuel is a permitted use of property and is not subject to special land use approval if all of the
following requirements are met:

(a) The biofuel production facility is located on a farm.
(b) The biofuel production facility is located not less than 100 feet from the boundary of any contiguous

property under different ownership than the property on which the biofuel production facility is located and
meets all applicable setback requirements of the zoning ordinance.

(c) On an annual basis, not less than 75% of the feedstock for the biofuel production facility is produced on
the farm where the biofuel production facility is located, and not less than 75% of the biofuel or another
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 17 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

250

Item 33.



product or by-product produced by the biofuel production facility is used on that farm.
(2) Subject to subsections (6) and (7), each of the following is a permitted use of property if it receives

special land use approval under subsections (3) to (5):
(a) A biofuel production facility with an annual production capacity of not more than 100,000 gallons of

biofuel that meets the requirements of subsection (1)(a) and (b) but that does not meet the requirements of
subsection (1)(c).

(b) A biofuel production facility with an annual production capacity of more than 100,000 gallons but not
more than 500,000 gallons of biofuel that meets the requirements of subsection (1)(a) and (b).

(3) An application for special land use approval for a biofuel production facility described in subsection (2)
shall include all of the following:

(a) A site plan as required under section 501, including a map of the property and existing and proposed
buildings and other facilities.

(b) A description of the process to be used to produce biofuel.
(c) The number of gallons of biofuel anticipated to be produced annually.
(d) An emergency access and fire protection plan that has been reviewed and approved by the appropriate

responding police and fire departments.
(e) For an ethanol production facility that will produce more than 10,000 proof gallons annually,

completed United States department of the treasury, alcohol and tobacco tax and trade bureau, forms 5000.29
(environmental information) and 5000.30 (supplemental information on water quality considerations under 33
USC 1341(a)), or successor forms, required to implement regulations under the national environmental policy
act of 1969, 42 USC 4321 to 4347, and the federal water pollution control act, 33 USC 1251 to 1387.

(f) Information that demonstrates that the biofuel production facility will comply with the requirements of
subsections (2) and (5).

(g) Any additional information requested by the body or official responsible for granting special land use
approval and relevant to compliance with a zoning ordinance provision described in section 502(1) or 504.

(4) A local unit of government shall hold a hearing on an application for special land use approval under
subsection (2) not more than 60 days after the application is filed. For the purposes of this section, the notice
required under section 502(2) shall provide notice of the hearing, rather than notice of a right to request a
hearing.

(5) Special land use approval of a biofuel production facility described in subsection (2) shall be made
expressly conditional on the facility's meeting all of the following requirements before the facility begins
operation and no additional requirements:

(a) Buildings, facilities, and equipment used in the production or storage of biofuel comply with local,
state, and federal laws.

(b) The owner or operator of the biofuel production facility provides the local unit of government with
proof that all necessary approvals have been obtained from the department of environmental quality and other
state and federal agencies that are involved in permitting any of the following aspects of biofuel production:

(i) Air pollution emissions.
(ii) Transportation of biofuel or additional products resulting from biofuel production.
(iii) Use or reuse of additional products resulting from biofuel production.
(iv) Storage of raw materials, fuel, or additional products used in, or resulting from, biofuel production.
(c) The biofuel production facility includes sufficient storage for both of the following:
(i) Raw materials and fuel.
(ii) Additional products resulting from biofuel production or the capacity to dispose of additional products

through land application, livestock consumption, sale, or other legal use.
(6) Subsections (2) to (5) do not apply to a biofuel production facility if the zoning ordinance provides

different criteria for special land use approval of a biofuel production facility located on a farm. An
amendment to a zoning ordinance adopted only to provide such criteria is not subject to a protest petition
under section 403.

(7) A local unit of government may authorize a biofuel production facility described in subsection (2) as a
permitted use of property not subject to a special land use approval.

(8) This section does not affect the authority of a local unit of government to prohibit or authorize biofuel
production facilities that are not located on farms.

(9) As used in this section:
(a) "Biofuel" means any renewable fuel product, whether solid, liquid, or gas, that is derived from recently

living organisms or their metabolic by-products and meets applicable quality standards, including, but not
limited to, ethanol and biodiesel. Biofuel does not include methane or any other fuel product from an
anaerobic digester.
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 18 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

251

Item 33.



(b) "Ethanol" means a substance that meets the ASTM international standard in effect on the effective date
of this section as the D-4806 specification for denatured fuel grade ethanol for blending with gasoline.

(c) "Farm" means that term as defined in section 2 of the Michigan right to farm act, 1981 PA 93, MCL
286.472.

(d) "Proof gallon" means that term as defined in 27 CFR 19.907.
History: Add. 2011, Act 97, Imd. Eff. July 19, 2011.

125.3514 Wireless communications equipment as permitted use of property; application for
special land use approval; approval or denial; authorization by local unit of government;
definitions; applicability to small cell wireless communications facilities.
Sec. 514. (1) Wireless communications equipment is a permitted use of property and is not subject to

special land use approval or any other approval under this act if all of the following requirements are met:
(a) The wireless communications equipment will be collocated on an existing wireless communications

support structure or in an existing equipment compound.
(b) The existing wireless communications support structure or existing equipment compound is in

compliance with the local unit of government's zoning ordinance or was approved by the appropriate zoning
body or official for the local unit of government.

(c) The proposed collocation will not do any of the following:
(i) Increase the overall height of the wireless communications support structure by more than 20 feet or

10% of its original height, whichever is greater.
(ii) Increase the width of the wireless communications support structure by more than the minimum

necessary to permit collocation.
(iii) Increase the area of the existing equipment compound to greater than 2,500 square feet.
(d) The proposed collocation complies with the terms and conditions of any previous final approval of the

wireless communications support structure or equipment compound by the appropriate zoning body or official
of the local unit of government.

(2) Wireless communications equipment that meets the requirements of subsection (1)(a) and (b) but does
not meet the requirements of subsection (1)(c) or (d) is a permitted use of property if it receives special land
use approval under subsections (3) to (6).

(3) An application for special land use approval of wireless communications equipment described in
subsection (2) shall include all of the following:

(a) A site plan as required under section 501, including a map of the property and existing and proposed
buildings and other facilities.

(b) Any additional relevant information that is specifically required by a zoning ordinance provision
described in section 502(1) or 504.

(4) After an application for a special land use approval is filed with the body or official responsible for
approving special land uses, the body or official shall determine whether the application is administratively
complete. Unless the body or official proceeds as provided under subsection (5), the application shall be
considered to be administratively complete when the body or official makes that determination or 14 business
days after the body or official receives the application, whichever is first.

(5) If, before the expiration of the 14-day period under subsection (4), the body or official responsible for
approving special land uses notifies the applicant that the application is not administratively complete,
specifying the information necessary to make the application administratively complete, or notifies the
applicant that a fee required to accompany the application has not been paid, specifying the amount due, the
running of the 14-day period under subsection (4) is tolled until the applicant submits to the body or official
the specified information or fee amount due. The notice shall be given in writing or by electronic notification.
A fee required to accompany any application shall not exceed the local unit of government's actual,
reasonable costs to review and process the application or $1,000.00, whichever is less.

(6) The body or official responsible for approving special land uses shall approve or deny the application
not more than 60 days after the application is considered to be administratively complete. If the body or
official fails to timely approve or deny the application, the application shall be considered approved and the
body or official shall be considered to have made any determination required for approval.

(7) Special land use approval of wireless communications equipment described in subsection (2) may be
made expressly conditional only on the wireless communications equipment's meeting the requirements of
other local ordinances and of federal and state laws before the wireless communications equipment begins
operation.

(8) If a local unit of government requires special land use approval for wireless communications equipment
that does not meet the requirements of subsection (1)(a) or for a wireless communications support structure,
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 19 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

252

Item 33.



subsections (4) to (6) apply to the special land use approval process, except that the period for approval or
denial under subsection (6) is 90 days.

(9) A local unit of government may authorize wireless communications equipment as a permitted use of
property not subject to a special land use approval.

(10) This section does not apply to an activity or use that is regulated by the small cell wireless
communications facilities deployment act.

(11) As used in this section:
(a) "Colocate" means to place or install wireless communications equipment on an existing wireless

communications support structure or in an existing equipment compound. "Collocation" has a corresponding
meaning.

(b) "Equipment compound" means an area surrounding or adjacent to the base of a wireless
communications support structure and within which wireless communications equipment is located.

(c) "Wireless communications equipment" means the set of equipment and network components used in
the provision of wireless communications services, including, but not limited to, antennas, transmitters,
receivers, base stations, equipment shelters, cabinets, emergency generators, power supply cables, and coaxial
and fiber optic cables, but excluding wireless communications support structures.

(d) "Wireless communications support structure" means a structure that is designed to support, or is
capable of supporting, wireless communications equipment, including a monopole, self-supporting lattice
tower, guyed tower, water tower, utility pole, or building.

History: Add. 2012, Act 143, Imd. Eff. May 24, 2012;Am. 2018, Act 366, Eff. Mar. 12, 2019.

ARTICLE VI
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS

125.3601 Zoning board of appeals; appointment; procedural rules; membership;
composition; alternate member; per diem; expenses; removal; terms of office; vacancies;
conduct of meetings; conflict of interest.
Sec. 601. (1) A zoning ordinance shall create a zoning board of appeals. A zoning board of appeals in

existence on June 30, 2006 may continue to act as the zoning board of appeals subject to this act. Subject to
subsection (2), members of a zoning board of appeals shall be appointed by majority vote of the members of
the legislative body serving.

(2) The legislative body of a city or village may act as a zoning board of appeals and may establish rules to
govern its procedure as a zoning board of appeals.

(3) A zoning board of appeals shall be composed of not fewer than 5 members if the local unit of
government has a population of 5,000 or more or not fewer than 3 members if the local unit of government
has a population of less than 5,000. The number of members of the zoning board of appeals shall be specified
in the zoning ordinance.

(4) In a county or township, 1 of the regular members of the zoning board of appeals shall be a member of
the zoning commission, or of the planning commission if the planning commission is functioning as the
zoning commission. In a city or village, 1 of the regular members of the zoning board of appeals may be a
member of the zoning commission, or of the planning commission if the planning commission is functioning
as the zoning commission, unless the legislative body acts as the zoning board of appeals under subsection
(2). A decision made by a city or village zoning board of appeals before February 29, 2008 is not invalidated
by the failure of the zoning board of appeals to include a member of the city or village zoning commission or
planning commission, as was required by this subsection before that date.

(5) The remaining regular members of a zoning board of appeals, and any alternate members under
subsection (7), shall be selected from the electors of the local unit of government residing within the zoning
jurisdiction of that local unit of government or, in the case of a county, residing within the county but outside
of any city or village. The members selected shall be representative of the population distribution and of the
various interests present in the local unit of government.

(6) Subject to subsection (2), 1 regular or alternate member of a zoning board of appeals may be a member
of the legislative body. Such a member shall not serve as chairperson of the zoning board of appeals. An
employee or contractor of the legislative body may not serve as a member of the zoning board of appeals.

(7) The legislative body may appoint to the zoning board of appeals not more than 2 alternate members for
the same term as regular members. An alternate member may be called as specified in the zoning ordinance to
serve as a member of the zoning board of appeals in the absence of a regular member if the regular member
will be unable to attend 1 or more meetings. An alternate member may also be called to serve as a member for
the purpose of reaching a decision on a case in which the member has abstained for reasons of conflict of
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 20 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

253

Item 33.



interest. The alternate member appointed shall serve in the case until a final decision is made. An alternate
member serving on the zoning board of appeals has the same voting rights as a regular member.

(8) A member of the zoning board of appeals may be paid a reasonable per diem and reimbursed for
expenses actually incurred in the discharge of his or her duties.

(9) A member of the zoning board of appeals may be removed by the legislative body for misfeasance,
malfeasance, or nonfeasance in office upon written charges and after a public hearing. A member shall
disqualify himself or herself from a vote in which the member has a conflict of interest. Failure of a member
to disqualify himself or herself from a vote in which the member has a conflict of interest constitutes
malfeasance in office.

(10) The terms of office for an appointed member of the zoning board of appeals shall be 3 years, except
for a member serving because of his or her membership on the zoning commission or legislative body, whose
term shall be limited to the time he or she is a member of that body. When members are first appointed,
appointments may be for less than 3 years to provide for staggered terms. A successor shall be appointed not
more than 1 month after the term of the preceding member has expired.

(11) A vacancy on the zoning board of appeals shall be filled for the remainder of the unexpired term in the
same manner as the original appointment.

(12) A zoning board of appeals shall not conduct business unless a majority of the regular members of the
zoning board of appeals are present.

(13) A member of the zoning board of appeals who is also a member of the zoning commission, the
planning commission, or the legislative body shall not participate in a public hearing on or vote on the same
matter that the member voted on as a member of the zoning commission, the planning commission, or the
legislative body. However, the member may consider and vote on other unrelated matters involving the same
property.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008;Am. 2010, Act 330, Imd. Eff. Dec. 21,
2010.

125.3602 Meetings; call of the chairperson; oaths; attendance of witnesses; record of
proceedings.
Sec. 602. (1) Meetings of the zoning board of appeals shall be held at the call of the chairperson and at

other times as the zoning board of appeals in its rules of procedure may specify. The chairperson or, in his or
her absence, the acting chairperson may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses.

(2) The zoning board of appeals shall maintain a record of its proceedings which shall be filed in the office
of the clerk of the legislative body.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3603 Zoning board of appeals; powers; concurring vote of majority of members.
Sec. 603. (1) The zoning board of appeals shall hear and decide questions that arise in the administration of

the zoning ordinance, including the interpretation of the zoning maps, and may adopt rules to govern its
procedures sitting as a zoning board of appeals. The zoning board of appeals shall also hear and decide on
matters referred to the zoning board of appeals or upon which the zoning board of appeals is required to pass
under a zoning ordinance adopted under this act. It shall hear and decide appeals from and review any
administrative order, requirement, decision, or determination made by an administrative official or body
charged with enforcement of a zoning ordinance adopted under this act. For special land use and planned unit
development decisions, an appeal may be taken to the zoning board of appeals only if provided for in the
zoning ordinance.

(2) The concurring vote of a majority of the members of the zoning board of appeals is necessary to
reverse an order, requirement, decision, or determination of the administrative official or body, to decide in
favor of the applicant on a matter upon which the zoning board of appeals is required to pass under the zoning
ordinance, or to grant a variance in the zoning ordinance.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3604 Zoning board of appeals; procedures.
Sec. 604. (1) An appeal to the zoning board of appeals may be taken by a person aggrieved or by an

officer, department, board, or bureau of this state or the local unit of government. In addition, a variance in
the zoning ordinance may be applied for and granted under section 4 of the uniform condemnation procedures
act, 1980 PA 87, MCL 213.54, and as provided under this act. The zoning board of appeals shall state the
grounds of any determination made by the board.

(2) An appeal under this section shall be taken within such time as prescribed by the zoning board of

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 21 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

254

Item 33.



appeals by general rule, by filing with the body or officer from whom the appeal is taken and with the zoning
board of appeals a notice of appeal specifying the grounds for the appeal. The body or officer from whom the
appeal is taken shall immediately transmit to the zoning board of appeals all of the papers constituting the
record upon which the action appealed from was taken.

(3) An appeal to the zoning board of appeals stays all proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed.
However, if the body or officer from whom the appeal is taken certifies to the zoning board of appeals after
the notice of appeal is filed that, by reason of facts stated in the certificate, a stay would in the opinion of the
body or officer cause imminent peril to life or property, proceedings may be stayed only by a restraining order
issued by the zoning board of appeals or a circuit court.

(4) Following receipt of a written request for a variance, the zoning board of appeals shall fix a reasonable
time for the hearing of the request and give notice as provided in section 103.

(5) If the zoning board of appeals receives a written request seeking an interpretation of the zoning
ordinance or an appeal of an administrative decision, the zoning board of appeals shall conduct a public
hearing on the request. Notice shall be given as required under section 103. However, if the request does not
involve a specific parcel of property, notice need only be published as provided in section 103(1) and given to
the person making the request as provided in section 103(3).

(6) At a hearing under subsection (5), a party may appear personally or by agent or attorney. The zoning
board of appeals may reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or modify the order, requirement, decision, or
determination and may issue or direct the issuance of a permit.

(7) If there are practical difficulties for nonuse variances as provided in subsection (8) or unnecessary
hardship for use variances as provided in subsection (9) in the way of carrying out the strict letter of the
zoning ordinance, the zoning board of appeals may grant a variance in accordance with this section, so that
the spirit of the zoning ordinance is observed, public safety secured, and substantial justice done. The
ordinance shall establish procedures for the review and standards for approval of all types of variances. The
zoning board of appeals may impose conditions as otherwise allowed under this act.

(8) The zoning board of appeals of all local units of government shall have the authority to grant nonuse
variances relating to the construction, structural changes, or alteration of buildings or structures related to
dimensional requirements of the zoning ordinance or to any other nonuse-related standard in the ordinance.

(9) The authority to grant variances from uses of land is limited to the following:
(a) Cities and villages.
(b) Townships and counties that as of February 15, 2006 had an ordinance that uses the phrase "use

variance" or "variances from uses of land" to expressly authorize the granting of use variances by the zoning
board of appeals.

(c) Townships and counties that granted a use variance before February 15, 2006.
(10) The authority granted under subsection (9) is subject to the zoning ordinance of the local unit of

government otherwise being in compliance with subsection (7) and having an ordinance provision that
requires a vote of 2/3 of the members of the zoning board of appeals to approve a use variance.

(11) The authority to grant use variances under subsection (9) is permissive, and this section does not
require a local unit of government to adopt ordinance provisions to allow for the granting of use variances.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008.

125.3605 Decision as final; appeal to circuit court.
Sec. 605. The decision of the zoning board of appeals shall be final. A party aggrieved by the decision may

appeal to the circuit court for the county in which the property is located as provided under section 606.
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3606 Circuit court; review; duties.
Sec. 606. (1) Any party aggrieved by a decision of the zoning board of appeals may appeal to the circuit

court for the county in which the property is located. The circuit court shall review the record and decision to
ensure that the decision meets all of the following requirements:

(a) Complies with the constitution and laws of the state.
(b) Is based upon proper procedure.
(c) Is supported by competent, material, and substantial evidence on the record.
(d) Represents the reasonable exercise of discretion granted by law to the zoning board of appeals.
(2) If the court finds the record inadequate to make the review required by this section or finds that

additional material evidence exists that with good reason was not presented, the court shall order further
proceedings on conditions that the court considers proper. The zoning board of appeals may modify its
findings and decision as a result of the new proceedings or may affirm the original decision. The
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 22 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

255

Item 33.



supplementary record and decision shall be filed with the court. The court may affirm, reverse, or modify the
decision.

(3) An appeal from a decision of a zoning board of appeals shall be filed within whichever of the following
deadlines comes first:

(a) Thirty days after the zoning board of appeals issues its decision in writing signed by the chairperson, if
there is a chairperson, or signed by the members of the zoning board of appeals, if there is no chairperson.

(b) Twenty-one days after the zoning board of appeals approves the minutes of its decision.
(4) The court may affirm, reverse, or modify the decision of the zoning board of appeals. The court may

make other orders as justice requires.
History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008;Am. 2010, Act 330, Imd. Eff. Dec. 21,

2010.

125.3607 Party aggrieved by order, determination, or decision; circuit court review; proper
party.
Sec. 607. (1) Any party aggrieved by any order, determination, or decision of any officer, agency, board,

commission, zoning board of appeals, or legislative body of any local unit of government made under section
208 may obtain a review in the circuit court for the county in which the property is located. The review shall
be in accordance with section 606.

(2) Any person required to be given notice under section 604(4) of the appeal of any order, determination,
or decision made under section 208 shall be a proper party to any action for review under this section.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

ARTICLE VII
STATUTORY COMPLIANCE AND REPEALER

125.3701 Compliance with open meetings act; availability of writings to public.
Sec. 701. (1) All meetings subject to this act shall be conducted in compliance with the open meetings act,

1976 PA 267, MCL 15.261 to 15.275.
(2) A writing prepared, owned, used, in the possession of, or retained as required by this act shall be made

available to the public in compliance with the freedom of information act, 1976 PA 442, MCL 15.231 to
15.246.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006.

125.3702 Repeal of MCL 125.581 to 125.600, 125.201 to 125.240, and 125.271 to 125.310;
construction of section.
Sec. 702. (1) The following acts and parts of acts are repealed:
(a) The city and village zoning act, 1921 PA 207, MCL 125.581 to 125.600.
(b) The county zoning act, 1943 PA 183, MCL 125.201 to 125.240.
(c) The township zoning act, 1943 PA 184, MCL 125.271 to 125.310.
(2) This section does not alter, limit, void, affect, or abate any pending litigation, administrative

proceeding, or appeal that existed on June 30, 2006 or any ordinance, order, permit, or decision that was
based on the acts repealed under subsection (1). The zoning ordinance need not be readopted but is subject to
the requirements of this act, including, but not limited to, the amendment procedures set forth in this act.

History: 2006, Act 110, Eff. July 1, 2006;Am. 2008, Act 12, Imd. Eff. Feb. 29, 2008.

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 23 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

256

Item 33.



MICHIGAN PLANNING ENABLING ACT
Act 33 of 2008

AN ACT to codify the laws regarding and to provide for county, township, city, and village planning; to
provide for the creation, organization, powers, and duties of local planning commissions; to provide for the
powers and duties of certain state and local governmental officers and agencies; to provide for the regulation
and subdivision of land; and to repeal acts and parts of acts.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

The People of the State of Michigan enact:

ARTICLE I.
GENERAL PROVISIONS

125.3801 Short title.
Sec. 1. This act shall be known and may be cited as the "Michigan planning enabling act".
History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3803 Definitions.
Sec. 3. As used in this act:
(a) "Chief administrative official" means the manager or other highest nonelected administrative official of

a city or village.
(b) "Chief elected official" means the mayor of a city, the president of a village, the supervisor of a

township, or, subject to section 5, the chairperson of the county board of commissioners of a county.
(c) "County board of commissioners", subject to section 5, means the elected county board of

commissioners, except that, as used in sections 39 and 41, county board of commissioners means 1 of the
following:

(i) A committee of the county board of commissioners, if the county board of commissioners delegates its
powers and duties under this act to the committee.

(ii) The regional planning commission for the region in which the county is located, if the county board of
commissioners delegates its powers and duties under this act to the regional planning commission.

(d) "Ex officio member", in reference to a planning commission, means a member, with full voting rights
unless otherwise provided by charter, who serves on the planning commission by virtue of holding another
office, for the term of that other office.

(e) "Legislative body" means the county board of commissioners of a county, the board of trustees of a
township, or the council or other elected governing body of a city or village.

(f) "Local unit of government" or "local unit" means a county or municipality.
(g) "Master plan" means either of the following:
(i) As provided in section 81(1), any plan adopted or amended before September 1, 2008 under a planning

act repealed under section 85.
(ii) Any plan adopted or amended under this act. This includes, but is not limited to, a plan prepared by a

planning commission authorized by this act and used to satisfy the requirement of section 203(1) of the
Michigan zoning enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3203, regardless of whether it is entitled a master
plan, basic plan, county plan, development plan, guide plan, land use plan, municipal plan, township plan,
plan, or any other term.

(h) "Municipality" or "municipal" means or refers to a city, village, or township.
(i) "Planning commission" means either of the following, as applicable:
(i) A planning commission created pursuant to section 11(1).
(ii) A planning commission retained pursuant to section 81(2) or (3), subject to the limitations on the

application of this act provided in section 81(2) and (3).
(j) "Planning jurisdiction" for a county, city, or village refers to the areas encompassed by the legal

boundaries of that county, city, or village, subject to section 31(1). Planning jurisdiction for a township refers
to the areas encompassed by the legal boundaries of that township outside of the areas of incorporated villages
and cities, subject to section 31(1).

(k) "Population" means the population according to the most recent federal decennial census or according
to a special census conducted under section 7 of the Glenn Steil state revenue sharing act of 1971, 1971 PA
140, MCL 141.907, whichever is the more recent.

(l) "Public transportation agency" means a governmental entity that operates or is authorized to operate

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 1 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

257

Item 33.



intercity or local commuter passenger rail service in this state or a public transit authority created under 1 of
the following acts:

(i) The metropolitan transportation authorities act of 1967, 1967 PA 204, MCL 124.401 to 124.426.
(ii) The public transportation authority act, 1986 PA 196, MCL 124.451 to 124.479.
(iii) 1963 PA 55, MCL 124.351 to 124.359.
(iv) The home rule city act, 1909 PA 279, MCL 117.1 to 117.38.
(v) The revenue bond act of 1933, 1933 PA 94, MCL 141.101 to 141.140.
(vi) The charter township act, 1947 PA 359, MCL 42.1 to 42.34.
(vii) The urban cooperation act of 1967, 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 7, MCL 124.501 to 124.512.
(m) "Public transportation facility" means that term as defined in section 2 of the metropolitan

transportation authorities act of 1967, 1967 PA 204, MCL 124.402.
(n) "Street" means a street, avenue, boulevard, highway, road, lane, alley, viaduct, or other public way

intended for use by motor vehicles, bicycles, pedestrians, and other legal users.
History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008;Am. 2010, Act 134, Imd. Eff. Aug. 2, 2010;Am. 2010, Act 306, Imd. Eff. Dec. 17,

2010.

125.3805 Assignment of power or duty to county officer or body.
Sec. 5. The assignment of a power or duty under this act to a county officer or body is subject to 1966 PA

293, MCL 45.501 to 45.521, or 1973 PA 139, MCL 45.551 to 45.573, in a county organized under 1 of those
acts.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3807 Master plan; adoption, amendment, and implementation by local government;
purpose.
Sec. 7. (1) A local unit of government may adopt, amend, and implement a master plan as provided in this

act.
(2) The general purpose of a master plan is to guide and accomplish, in the planning jurisdiction and its

environs, development that satisfies all of the following criteria:
(a) Is coordinated, adjusted, harmonious, efficient, and economical.
(b) Considers the character of the planning jurisdiction and its suitability for particular uses, judged in

terms of such factors as trends in land and population development.
(c) Will, in accordance with present and future needs, best promote public health, safety, morals, order,

convenience, prosperity, and general welfare.
(d) Includes, among other things, promotion of or adequate provision for 1 or more of the following:
(i) A system of transportation to lessen congestion on streets and provide for safe and efficient movement

of people and goods by motor vehicles, bicycles, pedestrians, and other legal users.
(ii) Safety from fire and other dangers.
(iii) Light and air.
(iv) Healthful and convenient distribution of population.
(v) Good civic design and arrangement and wise and efficient expenditure of public funds.
(vi) Public utilities such as sewage disposal and water supply and other public improvements.
(vii) Recreation.
(viii) The use of resources in accordance with their character and adaptability.
History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008;Am. 2010, Act 134, Imd. Eff. Aug. 2, 2010.

ARTICLE II.
PLANNING COMMISSION CREATION AND ADMINISTRATION

125.3811 Planning commission; creation; adoption of ordinance by local unit of government;
notice required; exception; adoption of charter provision by city or home rule village;
effect of repeal of planning act; continued exercise or transfer of powers and duties of
zoning board or zoning commission.
Sec. 11. (1) A local unit of government may adopt an ordinance creating a planning commission with

powers and duties provided in this act. The planning commission of a local unit of government shall be
officially called "the planning commission", even if a charter, ordinance, or resolution uses a different name
such as "plan board" or "planning board".

(2) Within 14 days after a local unit of government adopts an ordinance under subsection (1) creating a
planning commission, the clerk of the local unit shall transmit notice of the adoption to the planning

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 2 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

258

Item 33.



commission of the county where the local unit is located. However, if there is not a county planning
commission or if the local unit adopting the ordinance is a county, notice shall be transmitted to the regional
planning commission engaged in planning for the region within which the local unit is located. Notice under
this subsection is not required when a planning commission created before the effective date of this act
continues in existence under this act, but is required when an ordinance governing or creating a planning
commission is amended or superseded under section 81(2)(b) or (3)(b).

(3) If, after the effective date of this act, a city or home rule village adopts a charter provision providing for
a planning commission, the charter provision shall be implemented by an ordinance that conforms to this act.
Section 81(2) provides for the continuation of a planning commission created by a charter provision adopted
before the effective date of this act.

(4) Section 81(3) provides for the continuation of a planning commission created under a planning act
repealed under section 85.

(5) Section 83 provides for the continued exercise by a planning commission, or the transfer to a planning
commission, of the powers and duties of a zoning board or zoning commission.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3813 Planning commission; effect of township ordinance; number of days; petition
requesting submission of ordinance to electors; filing; petition subject to Michigan
election law; violation.
Sec. 13. (1) Subject to subsection (2), a township ordinance creating a planning commission under this act

shall take effect 63 days after the ordinance is published by the township board in a newspaper having general
circulation in the township.

(2) Subject to subsection (3), before a township ordinance creating a planning commission takes effect, a
petition may be filed with the township clerk requesting the submission of the ordinance to the electors
residing in the unincorporated portion of the township for their approval or rejection. The petition shall be
signed by a number of qualified and registered electors residing in the unincorporated portion of the township
equal to not less than 8% of the total vote cast for all candidates for governor, at the last preceding general
election at which a governor was elected. If such a petition is filed, the ordinance shall not take effect until
approved by a majority of the electors residing in the unincorporated portion of the township voting thereon at
the next regular or special election that allows reasonable time for proper notices and printing of ballots or at
any special election called for that purpose, as determined by the township board. The township board shall
specify the language of the ballot question.

(3) Subsection (2) does not apply if the planning commission created by the ordinance is the successor to
an existing zoning commission or zoning board as provided for under section 301 of the Michigan zoning
enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3301.

(4) If a township board does not on its own initiative adopt an ordinance under this act creating a planning
commission, a petition may be filed with the township clerk requesting the township board to adopt such an
ordinance. The petition shall be signed by a number of qualified and registered electors as provided in
subsection (2). If such a petition is filed, the township board, at its first meeting following the filing shall
submit the question to the electors of the township in the same manner as provided under subsection (2).

(5) A petition under this section, including the circulation and signing of the petition, is subject to section
488 of the Michigan election law, 1954 PA 116, MCL 168.488. A person who violates a provision of the
Michigan election law, 1954 PA 116, MCL 168.1 to 168.992, applicable to a petition described in this section
is subject to the penalties prescribed for that violation in the Michigan election law, 1954 PA 116, MCL 168.1
to 168.992.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3815 Planning commission; membership; appointment; terms; vacancy; representation;
qualifications; ex-officio members; board serving as planning commission; removal of
member; conditions; conflict of interest; additional requirements.
Sec. 15. (1) In a municipality, the chief elected official shall appoint members of the planning commission,

subject to approval by a majority vote of the members of the legislative body elected and serving. In a county,
the county board of commissioners shall determine the method of appointment of members of the planning
commission by resolution of a majority of the full membership of the county board.

(2) A city, village, or township planning commission shall consist of 5, 7, or 9 members. A county
planning commission shall consist of 5, 7, 9, or 11 members. Members of a planning commission other than
ex officio members under subsection (5) shall be appointed for 3-year terms. However, of the members of the
planning commission, other than ex officio members, first appointed, a number shall be appointed to 1-year or
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 3 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

259

Item 33.



2-year terms such that, as nearly as possible, the terms of 1/3 of all the planning commission members will
expire each year. If a vacancy occurs on a planning commission, the vacancy shall be filled for the unexpired
term in the same manner as provided for an original appointment. A member shall hold office until his or her
successor is appointed.

(3) The membership of a planning commission shall be representative of important segments of the
community, such as the economic, governmental, educational, and social development of the local unit of
government, in accordance with the major interests as they exist in the local unit of government, such as
agriculture, natural resources, recreation, education, public health, government, transportation, industry, and
commerce. The membership shall also be representative of the entire territory of the local unit of government
to the extent practicable.

(4) Members of a planning commission shall be qualified electors of the local unit of government, except
that the following number of planning commission members may be individuals who are not qualified
electors of the local unit of government but are qualified electors of another local unit of government:

(a) 3, in a city that on September 1, 2008 had a population of more than 2,700 but less than 2,800.
(b) 2, in a city or village that has, or on September 1, 2008 had, a population of less than 5,000, except as

provided in subdivision (a).
(c) 1, in local units of government other than those described in subdivision (a) or (b).
(5) In a township that on September 1, 2008 had a planning commission created under former 1931 PA

285, 1 member of the legislative body or the chief elected official, or both, may be appointed to the planning
commission, as ex officio members. In any other township, 1 member of the legislative body shall be
appointed to the planning commission, as an ex officio member. In a city, village, or county, the chief
administrative official or a person designated by the chief administrative official, if any, the chief elected
official, 1 or more members of the legislative body, or any combination thereof, may be appointed to the
planning commission, as ex officio members, unless prohibited by charter. However, in a city, village, or
county, not more than 1/3 of the members of the planning commission may be ex officio members. Except as
provided in this subsection, an elected officer or employee of the local unit of government is not eligible to be
a member of the planning commission. The term of an ex officio member of a planning commission shall be
as follows:

(a) The term of a chief elected official shall correspond to his or her term as chief elected official.
(b) The term of a chief administrative official shall expire with the term of the chief elected official that

appointed him or her as chief administrative official.
(c) The term of a member of the legislative body shall expire with his or her term on the legislative body.
(6) For a county planning commission, the county shall make every reasonable effort to ensure that the

membership of the county planning commission includes a member of a public school board or an
administrative employee of a school district included, in whole or in part, within the county's boundaries. The
requirements of this subsection apply whenever an appointment is to be made to the planning commission,
unless an incumbent is being reappointed or an ex officio member is being appointed under subsection (5).

(7) Subject to subsection (8), a city or village that has a population of less than 5,000, and that has not
created a planning commission by charter, may by an ordinance adopted under section 11(1) provide that 1 of
the following boards serve as its planning commission:

(a) The board of directors of the economic development corporation of the city or village created under the
economic development corporations act, 1974 PA 338, MCL 125.1601 to 125.1636.

(b) The board of a downtown development authority created under 1975 PA 197, MCL 125.1651 to
125.1681, if the boundaries of the downtown district are the same as the boundaries of the city or village.

(c) A board created under the tax increment finance authority act, 1980 PA 450, MCL 125.1801 to
125.1830, if the boundaries of the authority district are the same as the boundaries of the city or village.

(8) Subsections (1) to (5) do not apply to a planning commission established under subsection (7). All
other provisions of this act apply to a planning commission established under subsection (7).

(9) The legislative body may remove a member of the planning commission for misfeasance, malfeasance,
or nonfeasance in office upon written charges and after a public hearing. Before casting a vote on a matter on
which a member may reasonably be considered to have a conflict of interest, the member shall disclose the
potential conflict of interest to the planning commission. The member is disqualified from voting on the
matter if so provided by the bylaws or by a majority vote of the remaining members of the planning
commission. Failure of a member to disclose a potential conflict of interest as required by this subsection
constitutes malfeasance in office. Unless the legislative body, by ordinance, defines conflict of interest for the
purposes of this subsection, the planning commission shall do so in its bylaws.

(10) An ordinance creating a planning commission may impose additional requirements relevant to the
subject matter of, but not inconsistent with, this section.
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 4 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

260

Item 33.



History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008;Am. 2010, Act 105, Imd. Eff. June 29, 2010.

125.3817 Chairperson, secretary, and other offices; election; terms; appointment of advisory
committees.
Sec. 17. (1) A planning commission shall elect a chairperson and secretary from its members and create

and fill other offices as it considers advisable. An ex officio member of the planning commission is not
eligible to serve as chairperson. The term of each officer shall be 1 year, with opportunity for reelection as
specified in bylaws adopted under section 19.

(2) A planning commission may appoint advisory committees whose members are not members of the
planning commission.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3819 Bylaws; adoption; public record requirements; annual report by planning
commission.
Sec. 19. (1) A planning commission shall adopt bylaws for the transaction of business, and shall keep a

public record of its resolutions, transactions, findings, and determinations.
(2) A planning commission shall make an annual written report to the legislative body concerning its

operations and the status of planning activities, including recommendations regarding actions by the
legislative body related to planning and development.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3821 Meetings; frequency; time; place; special meeting; notice; compliance with open
meetings act; availability of writings to public.
Sec. 21. (1) A planning commission shall hold not less than 4 regular meetings each year, and by

resolution shall determine the time and place of the meetings. Unless the bylaws provide otherwise, a special
meeting of the planning commission may be called by the chairperson or by 2 other members, upon written
request to the secretary. Unless the bylaws provide otherwise, the secretary shall send written notice of a
special meeting to planning commission members not less than 48 hours before the meeting.

(2) The business that a planning commission may perform shall be conducted at a public meeting of the
planning commission held in compliance with the open meetings act, 1976 PA 267, MCL 15.261 to 15.275.
Public notice of the time, date, and place of a regular or special meeting shall be given in the manner required
by that act.

(3) A writing prepared, owned, used, in the possession of, or retained by a planning commission in the
performance of an official function shall be made available to the public in compliance with the freedom of
information act, 1976 PA 442, MCL 15.231 to 15.246.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3823 Compensation; expenses; preparation of budget; acceptance of gifts.
Sec. 23. (1) Members of a planning commission may be compensated for their services as provided by the

legislative body. A planning commission may adopt bylaws relative to compensation and expenses of its
members and employees for travel when engaged in the performance of activities authorized by the legislative
body, including, but not limited to, attendance at conferences, workshops, educational and training programs,
and meetings.

(2) After preparing the annual report required under section 19, a planning commission may prepare a
detailed budget and submit the budget to the legislative body for approval or disapproval. The legislative body
annually may appropriate funds for carrying out the purposes and functions permitted under this act, and may
match local government funds with federal, state, county, or other local government or private grants,
contributions, or endowments.

(3) A planning commission may accept gifts for the exercise of its functions. However, in a township,
other than a township that on the effective date of this act had a planning commission created under former
1931 PA 285, only the township board may accept such gifts, on behalf of the planning commission. A gift of
money so accepted in either case shall be deposited with the treasurer of the local unit of government in a
special nonreverting planning commission fund for expenditure by the planning commission for the purpose
designated by the donor. The treasurer shall draw a warrant against the special nonreverting fund only upon
receipt of a voucher signed by the chairperson and secretary of the planning commission and an order drawn
by the clerk of the local unit of government. The expenditures of a planning commission, exclusive of gifts
and grants, shall be within the amounts appropriated by the legislative body.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 5 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

261

Item 33.



125.3825 Employment of planning director and other personnel; contract for services; use of
information and advice provided by public officials, departments, and agencies.
Sec. 25. (1) A local unit of government may employ a planning director and other personnel as it considers

necessary, contract for the services of planning and other technicians, and incur other expenses, within a
budget authorized by the legislative body. This authority shall be exercised by the legislative body, unless a
charter provision or ordinance delegates this authority to the planning commission or another body or official.
The appointment of employees is subject to the same provisions of law as govern other corresponding civil
employees of the local unit of government.

(2) For the purposes of this act, a planning commission may make use of maps, data, and other information
and expert advice provided by appropriate federal, state, regional, county, and municipal officials,
departments, and agencies. All public officials, departments, and agencies shall make available public
information for the use of planning commissions and furnish such other technical assistance and advice as
they may have for planning purposes.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

ARTICLE III.
PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF MASTER PLAN

125.3831 Master plan; preparation by planning commission; meetings with other
governmental planning commissions or agency staff; powers.
Sec. 31. (1) A planning commission shall make and approve a master plan as a guide for development

within the planning jurisdiction subject to section 81 and the following:
(a) For a county, the master plan may include planning in cooperation with the constituted authorities for

incorporated areas in whole or to the extent to which, in the planning commission's judgment, they are related
to the planning of the unincorporated area or of the county as a whole.

(b) For a township that on September 1, 2008 had a planning commission created under former 1931 PA
285, or for a city or village, the planning jurisdiction may include any areas outside of the municipal
boundaries that, in the planning commission's judgment, are related to the planning of the municipality.

(2) In the preparation of a master plan, a planning commission shall do all of the following, as applicable:
(a) Make careful and comprehensive surveys and studies of present conditions and future growth within

the planning jurisdiction with due regard to its relation to neighboring jurisdictions.
(b) Consult with representatives of adjacent local units of government in respect to their planning so that

conflicts in master plans and zoning may be avoided.
(c) Cooperate with all departments of the state and federal governments, public transportation agencies,

and other public agencies concerned with programs for economic, social, and physical development within
the planning jurisdiction and seek the maximum coordination of the local unit of government's programs with
these agencies.

(3) In the preparation of the master plan, the planning commission may meet with other governmental
planning commissions or agency staff to deliberate.

(4) In general, a planning commission has such lawful powers as may be necessary to enable it to promote
local planning and otherwise carry out the purposes of this act.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008;Am. 2010, Act 306, Imd. Eff. Dec. 17, 2010.

125.3833 Master plan; land use and infrastructure issues; inclusion of maps, plats, charts,
and other related matter; recommendations for physical development; additional subjects;
implementation of master street plan or certain elements; specifications; section subject
to MCL 125.3881(1); public transportation facilities.
Sec. 33. (1) A master plan shall address land use and infrastructure issues and may project 20 years or

more into the future. A master plan shall include maps, plats, charts, and descriptive, explanatory, and other
related matter and shall show the planning commission's recommendations for the physical development of
the planning jurisdiction.

(2) A master plan shall also include those of the following subjects that reasonably can be considered as
pertinent to the future development of the planning jurisdiction:

(a) A land use plan that consists in part of a classification and allocation of land for agriculture, residences,
commerce, industry, recreation, ways and grounds, subject to subsection (5), public transportation facilities,
public buildings, schools, soil conservation, forests, woodlots, open space, wildlife refuges, and other uses
and purposes. If a county has not adopted a zoning ordinance under former 1943 PA 183 or the Michigan

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 6 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

262

Item 33.



zoning enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3101 to 125.3702, a land use plan and program for the county
may be a general plan with a generalized future land use map.

(b) The general location, character, and extent of all of the following:
(i) All components of a transportation system and their interconnectivity including streets and bridges,

public transit including public transportation facilities and routes, bicycle facilities, pedestrian ways, freight
facilities and routes, port facilities, railroad facilities, and airports, to provide for the safe and efficient
movement of people and goods in a manner that is appropriate to the context of the community and, as
applicable, considers all legal users of the public right-of-way.

(ii) Waterways and waterfront developments.
(iii) Sanitary sewers and water supply systems.
(iv) Facilities for flood prevention, drainage, pollution prevention, and maintenance of water levels.
(v) Public utilities and structures.
(c) Recommendations as to the general character, extent, and layout of redevelopment or rehabilitation of

blighted areas; and the removal, relocation, widening, narrowing, vacating, abandonment, change of use, or
extension of streets, grounds, open spaces, buildings, utilities, or other facilities.

(d) For a local unit of government that has adopted a zoning ordinance, a zoning plan for various zoning
districts controlling the height, area, bulk, location, and use of buildings and premises. The zoning plan shall
include an explanation of how the land use categories on the future land use map relate to the districts on the
zoning map.

(e) Recommendations for implementing any of the master plan's proposals.
(3) If a master plan is or includes a master street plan or 1 or more elements described in subsection (2)(b)(

i), the means for implementing the master street plan or elements in cooperation with the county road
commission and the state transportation department shall be specified in the master street plan in a manner
consistent with the respective powers and duties of and any written agreements between these entities and the
municipality.

(4) This section is subject to section 81(1).
(5) The reference to public transportation facilities in subsection (2)(a) only applies to a master plan that is

adopted or substantively amended more than 90 days after the effective date of the amendatory act that added
this subsection.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008;Am. 2010, Act 134, Imd. Eff. Aug. 2, 2010;Am. 2010, Act 306, Imd. Eff. Dec. 17,
2010.

125.3835 Subplan; adoption.
Sec. 35. A planning commission may, by a majority vote of the members, adopt a subplan for a geographic

area less than the entire planning jurisdiction, if, because of the unique physical characteristics of that area,
more intensive planning is necessary for the purposes set forth in section 7.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3837 Metropolitan county planning commission; designation; powers.
Sec. 37. (1) A county board of commissioners may designate the county planning commission as the

metropolitan county planning commission. A county planning commission so designated shall perform
metropolitan and regional planning whenever necessary or desirable. The metropolitan county planning
commission may engage in comprehensive planning, including, but not limited to, the following:

(a) Preparation, as a guide for long-range development, of general physical plans with respect to the pattern
and intensity of land use and the provision of public facilities, together with long-range fiscal plans for such
development.

(b) Programming of capital improvements based on relative urgency, together with definitive financing
plans for the improvements to be constructed in the earlier years of the program.

(c) Coordination of all related plans of local governmental agencies within the metropolitan area or region.
(d) Intergovernmental coordination of all related planning activities among the state and local

governmental agencies within the metropolitan area or region.
(2) In addition to the powers conferred by other provisions of this act, a metropolitan county planning

commission may apply for, receive, and accept grants from any local, regional, state, or federal governmental
agency and agree to and comply with the terms and conditions of such grants. A metropolitan county planning
commission may do any and all things necessary or desirable to secure the financial aid or cooperation of a
regional, state, or federal governmental agency in carrying out its functions, when approved by a 2/3 vote of
the county board of commissioners.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 7 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

263

Item 33.



125.3839 Master plan; adoption; procedures; notice; submittals; use of electronic mail.
Sec. 39. (1) A master plan shall be adopted under the procedures set forth in this section and sections 41

and 43. A master plan may be adopted as a whole or by successive parts corresponding with major
geographical areas of the planning jurisdiction or with functional subject matter areas of the master plan.

(2) Before preparing a master plan, a planning commission shall send to all of the following, by first-class
mail or personal delivery, a notice explaining that the planning commission intends to prepare a master plan
and requesting the recipient's cooperation and comment:

(a) For any local unit of government undertaking a master plan, the planning commission, or if there is no
planning commission, the legislative body, of each municipality located within or contiguous to the local unit
of government.

(b) For a county undertaking a master plan, the regional planning commission for the region in which the
county is located, if any.

(c) For a county undertaking a master plan, the county planning commission, or if there is no county
planning commission, the county board of commissioners, for each county located contiguous to the county.

(d) For a municipality undertaking a master plan, the regional planning commission for the region in which
the municipality is located, if there is no county planning commission for the county in which that
municipality is located. If there is a county planning commission, the municipal planning commission may
consult with the regional planning commission but is not required to do so.

(e) For a municipality undertaking a master plan, the county planning commission, or if there is no county
planning commission, the county board of commissioners, for the county in which that municipality is
located.

(f) For any local unit of government undertaking a master plan, each public utility company, railroad
company, and public transportation agency owning or operating a public utility, railroad, or public
transportation system within the local unit of government, and any government entity that registers its name
and mailing address for this purpose with the planning commission.

(g) If the master plan will include a master street plan, the county road commission and the state
transportation department.

(3) A submittal under section 41 or 43 by or to an entity described in subsection (2) may be made by
personal or first-class mail delivery of a hard copy or by electronic mail. However, the planning commission
preparing the plan shall not make such submittals by electronic mail unless, in the notice described in
subsection (2), the planning commission states that it intends to make such submittals by electronic mail and
the entity receiving that notice does not respond by objecting to the use of electronic mail. Electronic mail
may contain a link to a website on which the submittal is posted if the website is accessible to the public free
of charge.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008;Am. 2010, Act 306, Imd. Eff. Dec. 17, 2010.

125.3841 Preparation of proposed master plan; submission to legislative body for review and
comment; approval required; notice; submission of comments; statements as advisory.
Sec. 41. (1) After preparing a proposed master plan, a planning commission shall submit the proposed

master plan to the legislative body for review and comment. The process of adopting a master plan shall not
proceed further unless the legislative body approves the distribution of the proposed master plan.

(2) If the legislative body approves the distribution of the proposed master plan, it shall notify the secretary
of the planning commission, and the secretary of the planning commission shall submit, in the manner
provided in section 39(3), a copy of the proposed master plan, for review and comment, to all of the
following:

(a) For any local unit of government proposing a master plan, the planning commission, or if there is no
planning commission, the legislative body, of each municipality located within or contiguous to the local unit
of government.

(b) For a county proposing a master plan, the regional planning commission for the region in which the
county is located, if any.

(c) For a county proposing a master plan, the county planning commission, or if there is no county
planning commission, the county board of commissioners, for each county located contiguous to the county.

(d) For a municipality proposing a master plan, the regional planning commission for the region in which
the municipality is located, if there is no county planning commission for the county in which that local unit
of government is located. If there is a county planning commission, the secretary of the municipal planning
commission may submit a copy of the proposed master plan to the regional planning commission but is not
required to do so.
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 8 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

264

Item 33.



(e) For a municipality proposing a master plan, the county planning commission, or if there is no county
planning commission, the county board of commissioners, for the county in which that municipality is
located. The secretary of the municipal planning commission shall concurrently submit to the county planning
commission, in the manner provided in section 39(3), a statement that the requirements of subdivision (a)
have been met or, if there is no county planning commission, shall submit to the county board of
commissioners, in the manner provided in section 39(3), a statement that the requirements of subdivisions (a)
and (d) have been met. The statement shall be signed by the secretary and shall include the name and address
of each planning commission or legislative body to which a copy of the proposed master plan was submitted
under subdivision (a) or (d), as applicable, and the date of submittal.

(f) For any local unit of government proposing a master plan, each public utility company, railroad
company, and public transportation agency owning or operating a public utility, railroad, or public
transportation system within the local unit of government, and any government entity that registers its name
and address for this purpose with the secretary of the planning commission. An entity described in this
subdivision that receives a copy of a proposed master plan, or of a final master plan as provided in section
43(5), shall reimburse the local unit of government for any copying and postage costs thereby incurred.

(g) If the proposed master plan is or includes a proposed master street plan, the county road commission
and the state transportation department.

(3) An entity described in subsection (2) may submit comments on the proposed master plan to the
planning commission in the manner provided in section 39(3) within 63 days after the proposed master plan
was submitted to that entity under subsection (2). If the county planning commission or the county board of
commissioners that receives a copy of a proposed master plan under subsection (2)(e) submits comments, the
comments shall include, but need not be limited to, both of the following, as applicable:

(a) A statement whether the county planning commission or county board of commissioners considers the
proposed master plan to be inconsistent with the master plan of any municipality or region described in
subsection (2)(a) or (d).

(b) If the county has a county master plan, a statement whether the county planning commission considers
the proposed master plan to be inconsistent with the county master plan.

(4) The statements provided for in subsection (3)(a) and (b) are advisory only.
History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008;Am. 2010, Act 306, Imd. Eff. Dec. 17, 2010.

125.3843 Proposed master plan; public hearing; notice; approval by resolution of planning
commission; statement; submission of copy of master plan to legislative body; approval
or rejection by legislative body; procedures; submission of adopted master plan to certain
entities.
Sec. 43. (1) Before approving a proposed master plan, a planning commission shall hold not less than 1

public hearing on the proposed master plan. The hearing shall be held after the expiration of the deadline for
comment under section 41(3). The planning commission shall give notice of the time and place of the public
hearing not less than 15 days before the hearing by publication in a newspaper of general circulation within
the local unit of government. The planning commission shall also submit notice of the public hearing in the
manner provided in section 39(3) to each entity described in section 39(2). This notice may accompany the
proposed master plan submitted under section 41.

(2) The approval of the proposed master plan shall be by resolution of the planning commission carried by
the affirmative votes of not less than 2/3 of the members of a city or village planning commission or not less
than a majority of the members of a township or county planning commission. The resolution shall refer
expressly to the maps and descriptive and other matter intended by the planning commission to form the
master plan. A statement recording the planning commission's approval of the master plan, signed by the
chairperson or secretary of the planning commission, shall be included on the inside of the front or back cover
of the master plan and, if the future land use map is a separate document from the text of the master plan, on
the future land use map. Following approval of the proposed master plan by the planning commission, the
secretary of the planning commission shall submit a copy of the master plan to the legislative body.

(3) Approval of the proposed master plan by the planning commission under subsection (2) is the final step
for adoption of the master plan, unless the legislative body by resolution has asserted the right to approve or
reject the master plan. In that case, after approval of the proposed master plan by the planning commission,
the legislative body shall approve or reject the proposed master plan. A statement recording the legislative
body's approval of the master plan, signed by the clerk of the legislative body, shall be included on the inside
of the front or back cover of the master plan and, if the future land use map is a separate document from the
text of the master plan, on the future land use map.

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 9 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

265

Item 33.



(4) If the legislative body rejects the proposed master plan, the legislative body shall submit to the planning
commission a statement of its objections to the proposed master plan. The planning commission shall
consider the legislative body's objections and revise the proposed master plan so as to address those
objections. The procedures provided in subsections (1) to (3) and this subsection shall be repeated until the
legislative body approves the proposed master plan.

(5) Upon final adoption of the master plan, the secretary of the planning commission shall submit, in the
manner provided in section 39(3), copies of the adopted master plan to the same entities to which copies of
the proposed master plan were required to be submitted under section 41(2).

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3845 Extension, addition, revision, or other amendment to master plan; adoption;
procedures; review and findings.
Sec. 45. (1) An extension, addition, revision, or other amendment to a master plan shall be adopted by

following the procedure under sections 39, 41, and 43, subject to all of the following:
(a) Any of the following amendments to a master plan may be made without following the procedure under

sections 39, 41, and 43:
(i) A grammatical, typographical, or similar editorial change.
(ii) A title change.
(iii) A change to conform to an adopted plat.
(b) Subject to subdivision (a), the review period provided for in section 41(3) shall be 42 days instead of 63

days.
(c) When a planning commission sends notice to an entity under section 39(2) that it intends to prepare a

subplan, the notice may indicate that the local unit of government intends not to provide that entity with
further notices of or copies of proposed or final subplans otherwise required to be submitted to that entity
under section 39, 41, or 43. Unless the entity responds that it chooses to receive notice of subplans, the local
unit of government is not required to provide further notice of subplans to that entity.

(2) At least every 5 years after adoption of a master plan, a planning commission shall review the master
plan and determine whether to commence the procedure to amend the master plan or adopt a new master plan.
The review and its findings shall be recorded in the minutes of the relevant meeting or meetings of the
planning commission.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3847 Part of county master plan covering incorporated area; adoption by appropriate
city or village required; exception.
Sec. 47. (1) Subject to subsection (2), a part of a county master plan covering an incorporated area within

the county shall not be recognized as the official master plan or part of the official master plan for that area
unless adopted by the appropriate city or village in the manner prescribed by this act.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply if the incorporated area is subject to county zoning pursuant to the
Michigan zoning enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3101 to 125.3702, and a contract under the urban
cooperation act, 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 7, MCL 124.501 to 124.512, or 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 8, MCL 124.531 to
124.536.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3849 City or village planning department; authority to submit proposed master plan, or
proposed extension, addition, revision, or other amendment.
Sec. 49. (1) This act does not alter the authority of a planning department of a city or village created by

charter to submit a proposed master plan, or a proposed extension, addition, revision, or other amendment to a
master plan, to the planning commission, whether directly or indirectly as provided by charter.

(2) Subsection (1) notwithstanding, a planning commission described in subsection (1) shall comply with
the requirements of this act.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3851 Public interest and understanding; promotion.
Sec. 51. (1) To promote public interest in and understanding of the master plan, a planning commission

may publish and distribute copies of the master plan or of any report, and employ other means of publicity
and education.

(2) A planning commission shall consult with and advise public officials and agencies, public utility
companies, civic, educational, professional, and other organizations, and citizens concerning the promotion or

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 10 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

266

Item 33.



implementation of the master plan.
History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

ARTICLE IV.
SPECIAL PROVISIONS, INCLUDING CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS AND SUBDIVISION REVIEW

125.3861 Construction of certain projects in area covered by municipal master plan;
approval; initiation of work on project; requirements; report and advice.
Sec. 61. (1) A street; square, park, playground, public way, ground, or other open space; or public building

or other structure shall not be constructed or authorized for construction in an area covered by a municipal
master plan unless the location, character, and extent of the street, public way, open space, structure, or utility
have been submitted to the planning commission by the legislative body or other body having jurisdiction
over the authorization or financing of the project and has been approved by the planning commission. The
planning commission shall submit its reasons for approval or disapproval to the body having jurisdiction. If
the planning commission disapproves, the body having jurisdiction may overrule the planning commission by
a vote of not less than 2/3 of its entire membership for a township that on the enactment date of this act had a
planning commission created under former 1931 PA 285, or for a city or village, or by a vote of not less than
a majority of its membership for any other township. If the planning commission fails to act within 35 days
after submission of the proposal to the planning commission, the project shall be considered to be approved
by the planning commission.

(2) Following adoption of the county plan or any part of a county plan and the certification by the county
planning commission to the county board of commissioners of a copy of the plan, work shall not be initiated
on any project involving the expenditure of money by a county board, department, or agency for the
acquisition of land, the erection of structures, or the extension, construction, or improvement of any physical
facility by any county board, department, or agency unless a full description of the project, including, but not
limited to, its proposed location and extent, has been submitted to the county planning commission and the
report and advice of the planning commission on the proposal have been received by the county board of
commissioners and by the county board, department, or agency submitting the proposal. However, work on
the project may proceed if the planning commission fails to provide in writing its report and advice upon the
proposal within 35 days after the proposal is filed with the planning commission. The planning commission
shall provide copies of the report and advice to the county board, department, or agency sponsoring the
proposal.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3863 Approval of construction project before effective date of act; rescission of
authorization; failure of planning commission to act within certain period of time.
Sec. 63. If the opening, widening, or extension of a street, or the acquisition or enlargement of any square,

park, playground, or other open space has been approved by a township planning commission that was
created before the effective date of this act under former 1931 PA 285 or by a city or village planning
commission and authorized by the legislative body as provided under section 61, the legislative body shall not
rescind its authorization unless the matter has been resubmitted to the planning commission and the rescission
has been approved by the planning commission. The planning commission shall hold a public hearing on the
matter. The planning commission shall submit its reasons for approval or disapproval of the rescission to the
legislative body. If the planning commission disapproves the rescission, the legislative body may overrule the
planning commission by a vote of not less than 2/3 of its entire membership. If the planning commission fails
to act within 63 days after submission of the proposed rescission to the planning commission, the proposed
rescission shall be considered to be approved by the planning commission.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3865 Capital improvements program of public structures and improvements;
preparation; basis.
Sec. 65. (1) To further the desirable future development of the local unit of government under the master

plan, a planning commission, after adoption of a master plan, shall annually prepare a capital improvements
program of public structures and improvements, unless the planning commission is exempted from this
requirement by charter or otherwise. If the planning commission is exempted, the legislative body either shall
prepare and adopt a capital improvements program, separate from or as a part of the annual budget, or shall
delegate the preparation of the capital improvements program to the chief elected official or a nonelected
administrative official, subject to final approval by the legislative body. The capital improvements program

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 11 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

267

Item 33.



shall show those public structures and improvements, in the general order of their priority, that in the
commission's judgment will be needed or desirable and can be undertaken within the ensuing 6-year period.
The capital improvements program shall be based upon the requirements of the local unit of government for
all types of public structures and improvements. Consequently, each agency or department of the local unit of
government with authority for public structures or improvements shall upon request furnish the planning
commission with lists, plans, and estimates of time and cost of those public structures and improvements.

(2) Any township may prepare and adopt a capital improvement program. However, subsection (1) is only
mandatory for a township if the township, alone or jointly with 1 or more other local units of government,
owns or operates a water supply or sewage disposal system.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3867 Programs for public structures and improvements; recommendations.
Sec. 67. A planning commission may recommend to the appropriate public officials programs for public

structures and improvements and for the financing thereof, regardless of whether the planning commission is
exempted from the requirement to prepare a capital improvements program under section 65.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3869 Copy of zoning ordinance and amendments; request by county planning
commission for submission by municipal planning commission.
Sec. 69. If a municipal planning commission has zoning duties pursuant to section 83 and the municipality

has adopted a zoning ordinance, the county planning commission, if any, may, by first-class mail or personal
delivery, request the municipal planning commission to submit to the county planning commission a copy of
the zoning ordinance and any amendments. The municipal planning commission shall submit the requested
documents to the county planning commission within 63 days after the request is received and shall submit
any future amendments to the zoning ordinance within 63 days after the amendments are adopted. The
municipal planning commission may submit a zoning ordinance or amendment under this subsection
electronically.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3871 Recommendations for ordinances or rules governing subdivision of land; public
hearing; notice; action on proposed plat; approval, approval with conditions, or
disapproval by planning commission; approval of plat as amendment to master plan.
Sec. 71. (1) A planning commission may recommend to the legislative body provisions of an ordinance or

rules governing the subdivision of land authorized under section 105 of the land division act, 1967 PA 288,
MCL 560.105. If a township is subject to county zoning consistent with section 209 of the Michigan zoning
enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3209, or a city or village is subject to county zoning pursuant to the
Michigan zoning enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3101 to 125.3702, and a contract under the urban
cooperation act of 1967, 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 7, MCL 124.501 to 124.512, or 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 8, MCL
124.531 to 124.536, the county planning commission may recommend to the legislative body of the
municipality provisions of an ordinance or rules governing the subdivision of land authorized under section
105 of the land division act, 1967 PA 288, MCL 560.105. A planning commission may proceed under this
subsection on its own initiative or upon request of the appropriate legislative body.

(2) Recommendations for a subdivision ordinance or rule may address plat design, including the proper
arrangement of streets in relation to other existing or planned streets and to the master plan; adequate and
convenient open spaces for traffic, utilities, access of firefighting apparatus, recreation, light, and air; and the
avoidance of congestion of population, including minimum width and area of lots. The recommendations may
also address the extent to which streets shall be graded and improved and to which water and sewer and other
utility mains, piping, or other facilities shall be installed as a condition precedent to the approval of a plat.

(3) Before recommending an ordinance or rule described in subsection (1), the planning commission shall
hold a public hearing on the proposed ordinance or rule. The planning commission shall give notice of the
time and place of the public hearing not less than 15 days before the hearing by publication in a newspaper of
general circulation within the local unit of government.

(4) If a municipality has adopted a master plan or master street plan, the planning commission of that
municipality shall review and make recommendations on plats before action thereon by the legislative body
under section 112 of the land division act, 1967 PA 288, MCL 560.112. If a township is subject to county
zoning consistent with section 209 of the Michigan zoning enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3209, or a
city or village is subject to county zoning pursuant to the Michigan zoning enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL
125.3101 to 125.3702, and a contract under the urban cooperation act of 1967, 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 7, MCL

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 12 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

268

Item 33.



124.501 to 124.512, or 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 8, MCL 124.531 to 124.536, and the municipality has adopted a
master plan or master street plan, the county planning commission shall also review and make
recommendations on plats before action thereon by the legislative body of the municipality under section 112
of the land division act, 1967 PA 288, MCL 560.112.

(5) A planning commission shall not take action on a proposed plat without affording an opportunity for a
public hearing thereon. A plat submitted to the planning commission shall contain the name and address of
the proprietor or other person to whom notice of a hearing shall be sent. Not less than 15 days before the date
of the hearing, notice of the date, time, and place of the hearing shall be sent to that person at that address by
mail and shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the municipality. Similar notice shall be
mailed to the owners of land immediately adjoining the proposed platted land.

(6) A planning commission shall recommend approval, approval with conditions, or disapproval of a plat
within 63 days after the plat is submitted to the planning commission. If applicable standards under the land
division act, 1967 PA 288, MCL 560.101 to 560.293, and an ordinance or published rules governing the
subdivision of land authorized under section 105 of that act, MCL 560.105, are met, the planning commission
shall recommend approval of the plat. If the planning commission fails to act within the required period, the
plat shall be considered to have been recommended for approval, and a certificate to that effect shall be issued
by the planning commission upon request of the proprietor. However, the proprietor may waive this
requirement and consent to an extension of the 63-day period. The grounds for any recommendation of
disapproval of a plat shall be stated upon the records of the planning commission.

(7) A plat approved by a municipality and recorded under section 172 of the land division act, 1967 PA
288, MCL 560.172, shall be considered to be an amendment to the master plan and a part thereof. Approval of
a plat by a municipality does not constitute or effect an acceptance by the public of any street or other open
space shown upon the plat.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

ARTICLE V.
TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS AND REPEALER

125.3881 Plan adopted or amended under planning act repealed under MCL 125.3885; effect;
city or home rule village charter provision creating planning commission or ordinance
implementing provision before effective date of act; ordinance creating planning
commission under former law; ordinance or rules governing subdivision of land.
Sec. 81. (1) Unless rescinded by the local unit of government, any plan adopted or amended under a

planning act repealed under section 85 need not be readopted under this act but continues in effect as a master
plan under this act, regardless of whether it is entitled a master plan, basic plan, county plan, development
plan, guide plan, land use plan, municipal plan, township plan, plan, or any other term. This includes, but is
not limited to, a plan prepared by a planning commission and adopted before the effective date of this act to
satisfy the requirements of section 1 of the former city and village zoning act, 1921 PA 207, section 3 of the
former township zoning act, 1943 PA 184, section 3 of the former county zoning act, 1943 PA 183, or section
203(1) of the Michigan zoning enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3203. The master plan is subject to the
requirements of this act, including, but not limited to, the requirement for periodic review under section 45(2)
and the amendment procedures set forth in this act. However, the master plan is not subject to the
requirements of section 33 until it is first amended under this act.

(2) Unless repealed, a city or home rule village charter provision creating a planning commission before
the effective date of this act and any ordinance adopted before the effective date of this act implementing that
charter provision continues in effect under this act, and the planning commission need not be newly created
by an ordinance adopted under this act. However, both of the following apply:

(a) The legislative body may by ordinance increase the powers and duties of the planning commission to
correspond with the powers and duties of a planning commission created under this act. Provisions of this act
regarding planning commission powers and duties do not otherwise apply to a planning commission created
by charter before the effective date of this act and provisions of this act regarding planning commission
membership, appointment, and organization do not apply to such a planning commission. All other provisions
of this act, including, but not limited to, provisions regarding planning commission selection of officers,
meetings, rules, records, appointment of employees, contracts for services, and expenditures, do apply to such
a planning commission.

(b) The legislative body shall amend any ordinance adopted before the effective date of this act to
implement the charter provision, or repeal the ordinance and adopt a new ordinance, to fully conform to the
requirements of this act made applicable by subdivision (a), by the earlier of the following dates:
Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 13 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

269

Item 33.



(i) The date when an amendatory or new ordinance is first adopted under this act for any purpose.
(ii) July 1, 2011.
(3) Unless repealed, an ordinance creating a planning commission under former 1931 PA 285 or former

1945 PA 282 or a resolution creating a planning commission under former 1959 PA 168 continues in effect
under this act, and the planning commission need not be newly created by an ordinance adopted under this
act. However, all of the following apply:

(a) Beginning on the effective date of this act, the duties of the planning commission are subject to the
requirements of this act.

(b) The legislative body shall amend the ordinance, or repeal the ordinance or resolution and adopt a new
ordinance, to fully conform to the requirements of this act by the earlier of the following dates:

(i) The date when an amendatory or new ordinance is first adopted under this act for any purpose.
(ii) July 1, 2011.
(c) An ordinance adopted under subdivision (b) is not subject to referendum.
(4) Unless repealed or rescinded by the legislative body, an ordinance or published rules governing the

subdivision of land authorized under section 105 of the land division act, 1967 PA 288, MCL 560.105, need
not be readopted under this act or amended to comply with this act but continue in effect under this act.
However, if amended, the ordinance or published rules shall be amended under the procedures of this act.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3883 Transfer of powers, duties, and records.
Sec. 83. (1) If, on the effective date of this act, a planning commission had the powers and duties of a

zoning board or zoning commission under the former city and village zoning act, 1921 PA 207, the former
county zoning act, 1943 PA 183, or the former township zoning act, 1943 PA 184, and under the Michigan
zoning enabling act, 2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3101 to 125.3702, the planning commission may continue to
exercise those powers and duties without amendment of the ordinance, resolution, or charter provision that
created the planning commission.

(2) If, on the effective date of this act, a local unit of government had a planning commission without
zoning authority created under former 1931 PA 285, former 1945 PA 282, or former 1959 PA 168, the
legislative body may by amendment to the ordinance creating the planning commission, or, if the planning
commission was created by resolution, may by resolution, transfer to the planning commission all the powers
and duties provided to a zoning board or zoning commission created under the Michigan zoning enabling act,
2006 PA 110, MCL 125.3101 to 125.3702. If an existing zoning board or zoning commission in the local unit
of government is nearing the completion of its draft zoning ordinance, the legislative body shall postpone the
transfer of the zoning board's or zoning commission's powers, duties, and records until the completion of the
draft zoning ordinance, but is not required to postpone the transfer more than 1 year.

(3) If, on or after the effective date of this act, a planning commission is created in a local unit of
government that has had a zoning board or zoning commission since before the effective date of this act, the
legislative body shall transfer all the powers, duties, and records of the zoning board or zoning commission to
the planning commission before July 1, 2011. If the existing zoning board or zoning commission is nearing
the completion of its draft zoning ordinance, the legislative body may, by resolution, postpone the transfer of
the zoning board's or zoning commission's powers, duties, and records until the completion of the draft zoning
ordinance, but not later than until 1 year after creation of the planning commission or July 1, 2011, whichever
comes first.

History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

125.3885 Repeal of certain acts.
Sec. 85. (1) The following acts are repealed:
(a) 1931 PA 285, MCL 125.31 to 125.45.
(b) 1945 PA 282, MCL 125.101 to 125.115.
(c) 1959 PA 168, MCL 125.321 to 125.333.
(2) Any plan adopted or amended under an act repealed under subsection (1) is subject to section 81(1).
History: 2008, Act 33, Eff. Sept. 1, 2008.

Rendered Wednesday, April 5, 2023 Page 14 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 10 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

270

Item 33.



CITY OF HARTFORD 

COUNTY OF VAN BUREN 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

SECOND READING 

 

THE CITY OF HARTFORD ORDAINS: 

Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 94 SOIL WASTE AND FILL MATERIAL 

Section 94.05 PERMIT FEE. 

Each application for a permit shall be accompanied by a fee in the amount of $3 set by Council from time to 

time for each acre or fraction, thereof described therein; provided, however, that the minimum fee shall be $30 

set by Council from time to time and provided further that in the event that the permit is denied, the permit fee 

shall be refunded to the applicant. 

 

Ordinance amendment declared adopted upon publication. 

 

The City of Hartford 

 

_______________________________   

RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, Clerk  

 

First Reading:  March 27, 2023 

Second Reading:  April 24, 2023   

Adopted:     

Published:   

 

271

Item 35.



CITY OF HARTFORD 

COUNTY OF VAN BUREN 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

SECOND READING 

 

THE CITY OF HARTFORD ORDAINS: 

Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 150 BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS 

Section 150.52 Fees 

(A) There will be a charge of $5 dollars as set by Council from time to time for initial registration required 

under this subchapter; however, there shall be a $25 fee assessed for late registration in an amount as set 

by Council from time to time. 

 

(B) No fees shall be charged by There will be a fee charged, as set by Council from time to time for 

inspections contemplated by this subchapter to determine that any violations of this subchapter have 

been corrected by the owner or property manager; however There shall be a $75 to be assessed fee as set 

by Council from time to time to be assessed against the property and thereby the property owner or 

designated local property manager for each additional inspection required because of violations not 

being corrected. Additional inspections shall mean inspections required after the initial and follow-up 

compliance inspections. 

 

Ordinance amendment declared adopted upon publication. 

 

The City of Hartford 

 

_______________________________   

RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, Clerk  

 

First Reading:  March 27, 2023 

Second Reading:  April 24, 2023   

Adopted:     

Published:   

 

272

Item 36.



 

CITY OF HARTFORD 

COUNTY OF VAN BUREN 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

SECOND READING 

 

THE CITY OF HARTFORD ORDAINS: 

Amendment to Code of Ordinances Chapter 52 Sewer Use Section 52.68 G. 2. 

Section 52.68 G. 2. Surcharges 

Pollutant Unit 

Surcharge 

(per lb) 

X Pollutant in 

Discharge 

(ppm) 

- Baseline 

Concentration 

Limit (ppm) 

X Conversion 

Factor (lb/gal) 

X Glow 

in MG 

Suspended $0.115/lb 

over 350 

mg/L 

X SS - 350 X 8.34 X MG 

BOD $0.147/lb 

over 220 

mg/lb 

X BOD - 300  X 8.34 X MG 

Phosphorus $0.807/lb 
over 12 mg/L 

X P - 12 X 8.34 X MG 

Oil & 

Grease 

$0.10/lb over 

75 mg/L 

X O&G - 75 X 8.34 X MG 

COD $0.05/lb over 

700 mg/L 

X COD - 700 X 8.34 X MG 

 

Ordinance amendment declared adopted upon publication.  

 

The City of Hartford 

 

_______________________________   

RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, Clerk  

 

First Reading:  March 27, 2023 

Second Reading:  April 24, 2023   

Adopted:     

Published:   

 

273

Item 37.



 

 

CITY OF HARTFORD 

COUNTY OF VAN BUREN 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT to Code of Ordinances Section 91 NUISANCES 

Section 91.15 – 91.17  

SECOND READING 

 
ANTI BLIGHT ORDINANCE 304 – 07  

 

An ordinance to prevent, reduce or eliminate blight, blighting factors or causes of blight within the City of 

Hartford, Van Buren County, Michigan; to provide for the enforcement hereof; and to provide penalties for the 

violation hereof. Pursuant to the enacting authority therefore provided by Public Act 344 of 1945, as amended, 

the Blighted Area Rehabilitation Act (MCL 125.71, et seq.), 

 

THE CITY OF HARTFORD ORDAINS: 

 

Section 1: Purpose 
 

Consistent with the letter and spirit of Public Act 344 of 1945, as amended, it is the purpose of this ordinance 

chapter to prevent, reduce or eliminate blight or potential blight in the City of Hartford by the prevention or 

elimination of certain environmental causes of blight or blighting factors which exist or which may in the future 

exist in the City of Hartford. to prevent or eliminate certain causes of blight or blighting factors which exist or 

which may in the future exist in said City, in order to keep the properties within the City well maintained and to 

keep property values high. 

 

Add Section: Intent. 

It is the intent of these regulations to establish reasonable guidelines and standards concerning the storage of 

materials and/or vehicles on properties that, if not regulated, would have the potential to cause blight and 

devalue property. The exercise of these regulations in the City of Hartford shall give full consideration to the 

property's neighborhood environment, the intention of the landowner with respect to materials stored, the period 

of time that the storage is to be maintained, the zoning classification of the property, the environmental features 

of the property and adjoining properties, the impact on tourism, and in general, the impact on the character of 

the City of Hartford. 

 

Section 2: Causes of Blight or Blighting Factors 
 

It is hereby determined that the following uses, structures and activities are causes of blight or blighting factors 

which, if allowed to exist, will tend to result in blighted and undesirable neighborhoods. On and after the effective 

date of this ordinance, no person, firm or corporation of any kind shall maintain or permit to be maintained any 

of these causes of blight or blighting factors upon any property in the City of Hartford owned, leased, rented or 

occupied by such person, firm or corporation. 

 

 

A                    In any area zoned for residential purposes, the storage upon any property of junk automobiles, 

except in a completely enclosed building. For the purpose of this ordinance, the term “junk automobiles” shall 

include any motor vehicle which is not licensed for use upon the highways of the State of Michigan, and shall 

also include, whether so licensed or not, any motor vehicle which is inoperative. Junk automobiles. No person 

shall park or store, or knowingly allow another person to park or store for a period of more than 14 days, one or 

more dismantled, partially dismantled or inoperable motor vehicle(s) outside a fully enclosed building such that 

the dismantled, partially dismantled, or inoperable motor vehicle can be seen from any public street or seen from 

adjoining land owned by another person. For the purpose of this chapter, the term "junk automobiles" shall include 

274

Item 38.



 

 

any motor vehicle which does not have a valid license plate for use upon public roads and shall also include, 

whether licensed or not, any motor vehicle which is inoperative for a period of one month or longer. 

 

B.  In any area zoned for residential purposes, unless approved by the City,  the storage of any building 

materials other than in a completely enclosed building.  Building materials shall include but shall not be limited 

to lumber, bricks, concrete or cinder blocks, plumbing materials, electrical wiring or equipment, heating ducts or 

equipment, shingles, mortar, concrete or cement, nails, screws, steel, or any other materials commonly used in 

constructing any structure. This definition shall not apply to building materials temporarily on a site when there 

is in force a valid building permit. Automobile parts, equipment, and machinery. The storage upon any 

property of any automobile parts; equipment or machinery in disrepair; boats or trailers in disrepair; parts of 

machinery or motor vehicles; unused, dilapidated, unlicensed or disassembled snowmobile(s); ATV, farm tractor, 

lawn tractor, trailer or semi-trailer; motorcycle except to the extent such items are kept in a completely enclosed 

building; such that the dismantled, partially dismantled, or inoperable motor vehicle can be seen from any public 

highway or seen from adjoining land owned by another person. 

 

C.  In any area, the storage or accumulation of junk, trash, rubbish or refuse of any kind, except 

domestic refuse stored in such a manner as not to create a nuisance for a period not to exceed ten (10) days.  The 

term “junk” shall include, but is not limited to: parts of machinery or motor vehicles; unused, dilapidated, 

unlicensed or disassembled snowmobile, ATV, farm tractor, lawn tractor, trailer or semi-trailer, motorcycle; 

unused stoves or other appliances stored in the open; remnants of wood, metal or any other material or other cast-

off material of any kind whether or not the same could be put to any reasonable use. Building materials. The 

storage upon any property, of building materials, unless there is in force a valid building permit issued for 

construction upon said property and said materials are intended for use in connection with such construction. 

Building materials shall include but not be limited to lumber, bricks, concrete, cement, cinder blocks, plumbing 

and drainage materials, electrical wiring or heating ducts or equipment, roofing materials, builder's hardware, or 

any other materials made to be used in constructing any structure. Neatly piled building materials, however, may 

be stored on property on a 6-month basis, if the City Ordinance Enforcement Officer determines in writing: 

1) That the materials, as stored, will not be unsightly or cause blight; and 

2) How long such materials can be stored at such property. 

 

 

D  In any area, the existence of any structure or part of any structure which, because of fire, wind or 

other natural disaster, or physical deterioration is no longer habitable, if a dwelling, nor useful for any other 

purpose of which it may have been intended, or as may be prohibited by the Michigan Building Code.  Junk, 

trash and rubbish. The storage or accumulation of junk, trash, rubbish or refuse of any kind, except in a 

completely enclosed building or completely shielded from view from adjoining properties or a public road by 

means of one or more of the following which has been approved by the City: plantings, natural vegetation, 

topography or structure approved by the City.  

The term “garbage” means organic refuse or rejected food wastes in the form of putrescible animal, poultry, 

fish, fruit or vegetable wastes resulting from the handling, preparation, cooking or consumption of foods, 

including animal, poultry or fish carcasses or parts thereof.  

 

The term "junk" shall include but not be limited to stoves, refrigerators or other appliances, rubble, used 

building materials, waste from razed structures, trees and tree stumps, remnants of wood (except firewood 

neatly stacked and those materials approved by the City Manager or City Ordinance Enforcement Officer), 

metal or other cast off or scrap materials of any kind stored in the open, whether or not such materials could 

be put to any reasonable use.  

 

The term “rubbish” or “trash” means nonputrescible solid waste, consisting of either combustible and/or 

noncombustible materials, of the following types:  

(1) Ashes. The residue left from burning of paper, leaves, wood, coal or other combustible materials. 

275

Item 38.



 

 

(2) Household. Materials used or accumulated in the operation or maintenance of a household which 

are customarily discarded after use, including but not limited to newspapers, magazines, books, 

wrappings, cartons, boxes, crates, rags, or sweepings, or materials which are customarily 

discarded after becoming unusable due to wear or damage, such as clothing, bedding, floor 

coverings, wallpaper, or articles of metal, plastic, cloth or leather. 

(3) Kitchen. Food containers or wrappings (whether damaged or undamaged) including but not 

limited to cans, bottles, jars, glass, crockery, bags, sacks or plastics, or paper, plastic, wood, or 

metal cartons or boxes, or other similar or like articles or materials. 

(4) Personal. Articles or materials used for medical or hygienic purposes or for infant care. 

(5) Yard. The products of vegetation grown on a property, or which are brought onto a property, 

including but not limited to grass clippings, weeds, leaves, plants, tree branches, clippings from 

shrubs, bushes or hedges, or roots and stumps. 

 

 

E  In any area, the existence of any vacant dwelling, garage or other out-building unless such 

buildings are kept securely locked, windows kept glazed or neatly boarded up and otherwise protected to prevent 

entrance thereto by vandals, or other unauthorized persons. Incomplete building. The existence of any partially 

completed structure, unless such structure is in the course of construction or demolition in accordance with a valid 

existing building or demolition permit. 

 

F  In any area, the existence of any partially completed structure unless such structure is in the course 

of construction in accordance with a valid and subsisting building permit issued by the City and unless such 

construction is completed within a reasonable time. Damaged or unused buildings. The existence of any structure 

or part of any structure which because of fire, wind, natural disaster, or physical deterioration, which in the 

judgment of the City Building Inspector is an unusable structure as defined in the International Property 

Maintenance Code and is no longer habitable as a dwelling or useful for any other purpose for which it may have 

been intended. 

 

ADD:   

G. Dangerous buildings. The existence of any structure which has one or more of the following characteristics: 

(1) The building is damaged such that the structural strength or stability is appreciably less than before 

damage and does not meet minimum requirements of the International Property Maintenance Code. 

(2) The building or pPart of the building is likely to fall, become detached, dislodged or collapse and injure 

persons or damage property. 

(3) Part of the building has settled to the extent that the walls have materially less resistance to wind than 

new construction. 

(4) The building is manifestly unsafe for the purpose for which it is intended to be used. 

(5) The building is damaged and deteriorated and it has become an attractive nuisance for children, 

vagrants, or a place for committing nuisance or unlawful activity. 

(6) The building is in a condition that is unsanitary or unfit for human habitation and is in a condition that is 

likely to cause sickness or injure the safety, health or general welfare of people living or doing business 

in the structure. 

(7) Any building which is defined as a "dangerous building" under the State Construction Code or the 

International Property Maintenance Code. 

 

H. Residence in a travel trailer. The occupancy of travel trailers, mobile homes, campers, or recreational 

vehicles for more than 72 hours as a temporary dwelling is prohibited except in designated camping areas. 

 

I. Dumping of household rubbish and storage of trash receptacles. No person, firm, or corporation shall 

store, dump, or cause to be dumped any garbage, tin or aluminum cans, household refuse, papers, or waste 

materials of any kind or description in or on any land, public or private. The storage or dumping of garbage 

anywhere in the City is expressly prohibited as a menace to the public health. The dumping of brush and tree 
276

Item 38.



 

 

limbs at the City’s Wastewater Treatment Facility is only allowed by permit during regular operation hours. 

Any dumping without a permit and/or outside of the stated operational hours is expressly prohibited.  

 

J. Dumping of rubble, building materials, and related items. The dumping of rubble, used building 

materials, waste from razed structures, trees and tree stumps, is expressly prohibited on any public or private 

land including the City’s Wastewater Treatment Facility; provided, however, that nothing in this section shall 

preclude the use of such materials for fill or in approved sites for the purposes of preventing erosion. 

 

K. Screening of dumpsters. Self-unloading trash receptacles (defined as "dumpsters") shall only be permitted in 

multifamily, commercial and industrial districts, provided that the same are of substantial construction and 

designed to prevent the scattering of materials stored therein. All requests for a self-unloading trash receptacles 

in other districts must comply with Section 50.18 of the City’s Code of Ordinances.  

 

L. Open burning prohibited. Open burning not otherwise allowed by City Ordinance is prohibited within the 

City of Hartford. 

 

Section 3: Enforcement and Penalties  

 

A  This ordinance shall be enforced by such persons who shall be so designated by the City Council. This 

chapter shall be enforced by the Ordinance Enforcement Officer or City police officers, acting under the 

authority of the City Manager, or by any other official designated by the City Commission. 

 

B  The owner, if possible, and the occupant of any property upon which any of the causes of blight or blighting 

factors set forth in Section 2 hereof is found to exist shall be notified in writing to remove or eliminate such causes 

of blight or blighting factors from such property within ten (10) days after service of the notice upon him or her.  

Such notice may be served personally, by first class mail postage prepaid, or by posting the notice in a conspicuous 

place on the property.  Additional time may be granted by the enforcement officer where bonafide efforts to 

remove or eliminate such causes of blight or blighting factors are in progress. A violation of this chapter is a 

municipal civil infraction, for which the fine shall be not less than $150 and not more than $500, in addition to 

all other costs, damages, expenses, and other fees and remedies provided or allowed by law. Each day that a 

violation occurs shall be considered a separate violation. 

 

C  Failure by the owner and/or occupant to comply with terms of the notice required by Section 3(B) within the 

time allowed shall constitute a violation of this ordinance. The issuance of a citation for a municipal civil 

infraction shall not in any way limit the City from seeking enforcement of this chapter in any other manner, 

including, but not limited to, an action to abate any nuisance created by a violation of this chapter and to recover 

any costs, expenses, damages, and fees, including attorney fees, that may be permitted or allowed by law in 

connection with such abatement and the enforcement of this chapter. 

 

D  Violation of this ordinance shall be a misdemeanor which shall be punishable upon conviction thereof by a 

fine not exceeding Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) or by imprisonment not exceeding Ninety Three (93) days or 

by both such fine and imprisonment in the discretion of the Court of competent jurisdiction. In the event that the 

City requests to enter onto the property and abate the nuisance, the City shall be authorized to have the expenses 

of such abatement be certified in writing by the City Treasurer and added to the next tax bill of the violating 

property. 

  

E. Injunctive Relief.  The foregoing penalties shall not prohibit the City from seeking injunctive relief against a 

violator, or such other appropriate relief as may be provided by law.  Costs of prosecution and/or enforcement 

and/or repair, alteration, razing may be assessed to anyone, jointly and severally, in violation thereof.  Said costs 

may be added to the tax roll of the defendant as a special assessment. 

 

277

Item 38.



 

 

F  Cost Recovery.  That in addition to all other penalties, the City of Hartford may bring an action for costs of 

enforcement and prosecution expense upon any person(s), corporation(s) and/or  firm(s)  that have violated the 

City’s Ordinances.  The cost of enforcement and prosecution shall be the actual amount of attorney fees and out-

of-pocket expense for enforcement of the ordinance.  An itemized list of fees and costs shall be given under oath 

and shall be prime facia evidence of the fees and costs. 

 

ADD Section: Severability. 

 

This chapter and its various sections, subsections, sentences, phrases, and clauses are severable. If any section, 

subsection, sentence, phrase or clause is adjudged unconstitutional or invalid, the remainder of this chapter shall 

not be affected thereby. 

 

Section 3: Repeal  

 

(1) Any and all anti-blight ordinances previously adopted by The City of Hartford, as amended, are hereby 

repealed. 

 

(2) All ordinances or provisions of ordinances in conflict with any of the provisions of this ordinance are 

hereby repealed.  All prior blight ordinances and any other ordinances or parts thereof that are in conflict in 

whole or in part with any provisions of this chapter as of its effective date are hereby repealed, but only to the 

extent that there is a direct conflict. 

 

Section 4: Effective Date and Adoption 

 

This ordinance amendment shall become effective upon its publication. 

 

 

The City of Hartford 

 

_______________________________   

RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, Clerk  

 

First Reading:  March 27, 2023 

Second Reading:  April 24, 2023   

Adopted:     

Published:   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

278

Item 38.



CITY OF HARTFORD 

COUNTY OF VAN BUREN 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

SECOND READING 

 

THE CITY OF HARTFORD ORDAINS: 

Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 52 SEWERS 

Section 52.08 RATES AND CHARGES.  

 

A. Rate/connection fee chart.  the city shall charge fees as set from time to time 

Non-commercial    

Meter Ready Service Charge $17.00 as set from 

time to time 

$5.92 as set from 

time to time 

$7.83 as set from 

time to time 

Per 1,000 Gal $1.95 as set from 

time to time 

$3.80 as set from 

time to time 

 

Non-metered  $62.50 as set from   

time to time 

 

Commercial    

First 2,000,000 per 1,000 Gal $1.95 as set from 

time to time 

$3.80 as set from 

time to time 

 

Over 2,000,000 per 1,000 Gal $0.65 as set from 

time to time 

  

Inspection and/or Connection 

Fees 

$500.00 as set from 

time to time 

$400.00 as set from 

time to time 

 

 

B. Deposits: If delinquent more than twice per calendar year, $150 a fee as set from time to time, 

 and a lien will be placed on land owners property if total delinquent amount not paid. 

C. Shut-off charge: $15 as set from time to time plus time and materials. 

D. Turn-on or Turn-off charge: $15 as set from time to time and the service will only be turned on during 

normal work hours. Emergency rates as set from time to time will apply to all requests received for turn 

on or shut off after 4:00PM EST and before 7:00AM EST.  

E. Meter calibrations: No charge if meter is malfunctioning. Ten dollars A fee as set from time to time if 

meter is working properly. 

F. Transfer of service: Free one time per calendar year. Ten dollars fee as set from time to time each time 

thereafter per calendar year. 

G. The township or non-city rate for services is one and ½ times the city rate. 

 

Ordinance amendment declared adopted upon publication.  

 

The City of Hartford 

 

_______________________________   

RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, Clerk  

 

First Reading:  March 27, 2023 

Second Reading:  April 24, 2023   

Adopted:     

Published:   

279

Item 39.



CITY OF HARTFORD 

COUNTY OF VAN BUREN 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

SECOND READING 

 

THE CITY OF HARTFORD ORDAINS: 

Amendment to Ordinance no. 314-17 

AN ORDINANCE TO PERMIT AND REGULATE MOBILE FOOD VEHICLE VENDORS 

SECTION 4 License Required C. 

C.  Mobile Food Service Provider receiving a license under this ordinance shall pay the annual fee of $150.00 for the 

ready to eat food for individual and $25.00 for Farm Produce or as set from time to time by the City Commission. 

 

Ordinance amendment declared adopted upon publication. 

 

The City of Hartford 

 

_______________________________   

RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, Clerk  

 

First Reading:  March 27, 2023 

Second Reading:  April 24, 2023   

Adopted:     

Published:   

 

280

Item 40.



Ordinance 323 
 

 pg. 1 of 10 

CITY OF HARTFORD 
COUNTY OF VAN BUREN 
STATE OF MICHIGAN 
PROPOSED 
SECOND READING 

ORDINANCE No. 323 – 2023  
 

AN ORDINANCE TO ESTABLISH A CODE OF CONDUCT & ETHICS 
 
 
THE CITY OF HARTFORD, VAN BUREN COUNTY, MICHIGAN, HEREBY ORDAINS: 
 
Section 1. Intent and Purpose 
 

The purpose of this Code is to establish standards of conduct for all City elected or appointed officers, 
board and commission members, and employees of the City (except those employees subject to a collective 
bargaining agreement (hereinafter "Covered Individual(s)"). This Code shall be interpreted and enforced so 
as to avoid even the appearance of impropriety by the Covered Individual or the City. All Covered 
Individuals have a fiduciary duty of care to the City and additional duties under Michigan law and City 
Ordinance. These duties require Covered Individuals to faithfully pursue the interests of the City, rather 
than individual financial or other interests or the interests of another person, business entity or organization. 

 
As such, each Covered Individual shall have the fiduciary duty to be attentive to the City’s activities and 
finances. Covered Individuals shall oversee the way in which the City’s funds, assets and affairs are disposed of 
and managed. The fiduciary duty includes attending, being prepared for and participating in all meetings; reading 
and understanding financial statements and reports; asking appropriate questions, and exercising sound 
judgment. Breach of any duty under this Code may subject the Covered Individual to the sanctions set out in this 
Code and other financial or legal consequences. 

 
Section 2.  Definitions  
 

As used in this Code, the words or phrases below shall have the following meanings: 
 

"Business Entity”:  Any corporation, company, limited liability company, foreign or domestic corporation or 
company, partnership, sole proprietorship, joint venture, unincorporated entity or association, social 
organization, or any form of commercial or business entity. 

 
"City”:  The City of Hartford, a municipal corporation organized and operated under the laws of the State of 
Michigan. 
 
"Commercial Benefit":  Any contract, permit, license, business engagement, agreement, profit, sale of products 
or services, collection of or entitlement to current or future payments of money or any exchange of value or barter 
that, directly or indirectly, in any way benefits any Business Entity, including any Business Entity doing business 
with the City or within the boundaries of the City or gives any Business Entity a competitive advantage over any 
competing Business Entity. 
 
"Commission":  The Commission of the City of Hartford. 
"Confidential Information":  Any information that has been obtained by or is in the possession of a Covered 

281

Item 41.



Ordinance 323 
 

 pg. 2 of 10 

Individual in the course of his or her duties for the City, which is exempt from disclosure to the public 
pursuant to the Michigan Freedom of Information Act, MCLA § 15.231 et seq., as amended, or pursuant to 
other privileges, privacy requirements, law, regulation, or policy. 

 
"Decision":  A deliberation, review or consideration of, determination, action, advice, vote, or other 
disposition upon an ordinance, a motion, proposal, recommendation, resolution or any other City action. 

 
"Gift":  Except as otherwise provided in this Code and regardless of value, any gratuity, discount, 
entertainment, hospitality, loan, forbearance, property or other tangible or intangible item having any 
monetary value including, but not limited to, cash, jewelry, food and drink, travel, lodging, and 
honoraria for speaking engagements, any of which are related to or attributable to an individual's status 
as a Covered Individual. 

 
"Immediate Family" 

A. A Covered Individual's spouse, significant other, civil union partner or domestic partner; 
 

B. A Covered Individual's relatives by marriage, lineal descent or adoption, including but not 
limited to grandparents, parents, aunts, uncles, nieces or nephews, cousins, siblings, children, step-
children, and grandchildren. 

 
C. An individual claimed by a Covered Individual or the Covered Individual's spouse, 

significant other, civil union partner, or domestic partner as a dependent under on any tax 
return filed under federal or state tax law. 

 
"Ownership Interest":  A direct or indirect financial, ownership or pecuniary interest that a Covered Individual 
currently has or will have in: 
 

A. Any Business Entity in which the Covered Individual or a member of his or her Immediate 
Family is currently or will be an officer, executive, manager, partner, shareholder, director, member, 
employee, or agent; 

 
B. Any Business Entity in which the Covered Individual or a member of his or  her immediate 

family controls or will control, or directly or indirectly owns or will own, any stock, membership, 
investment interest, ownership, or partnership interest, regardless of value; or 

 
C. Any person or Business Entity with which the Covered Individual currently has or will have any 

oral or written contract, employment contract, agency contract, a sales or purchaser relationship, or 
any commercial or employment relationship of any kind whatsoever. 

 
"Private Gain": A Covered Individual's use of any City resources, including but not limited to the City's 
equipment, computers, copiers/printers, facilities, supplies, or staff, which results in or is intended to result in 
gain or benefit of any kind for the Covered Individual. Also, any benefit which is accepted or received by a 
Covered Individual, or is reasonably perceived to be accepted by a Covered Individual, as payment, 
remuneration or a reward for the purpose of influencing a Covered Individual's decision or vote in a specific 
matter or for refraining from a decision, vote or the performance of an official action in a specific matter, or as 
an inducement for the Covered Individual to act in favor of some interest other than the public interest. Unless 
this standard is violated, the following types of benefits, monetary payments or reimbursements, gifts, or 
awards may be received by a Covered Individual: 

 

282

Item 41.



Ordinance 323 
 

 pg. 3 of 10 

A. Payment of salary, compensation, or benefits to the from the City, or the payment of salary, compensation, 
or benefits to the Covered Individual by an employer or Business Entity other than the City pursuant to a contract 
or agreement where the payment is unrelated to the Covered Individual's elected or appointed position with the 
City; 

 
B. Authorized reimbursement by the City for actual and necessary expenses incurred by the Covered 
Individual in the course of City related business; 

 
C. Fees, expenses, or income, including those resulting from outside employment, which are permitted to be 
earned by, or reimbursed to, the Covered Individual in accordance with Michigan law, City ordinance, policies, 
rules, and/or regulations; 

 
D. Campaign or political contributions that are made and reported by the Covered Individual in accordance 
with Michigan law; 

 
E. Admission or registration  fees, travel  expenses,  entertainment, meals, or refreshments  of  a value of 
$100.00 or less that are furnished to a Covered Individual by the sponsor of an event, appearance, or ceremony 
which is related to official City business in connection  with such an  event, appearance, or ceremony and to 
which one or more members of the public are  invited, or  that are furnished to a Covered Individual  in  
connection  with  a speaking  engagement,  teaching, or the provision of assistance to an organization or another 
governmental entity, provided the City does not compensate or reimburse the Covered Individual for 
admission or registration fees, travel expenses, entertainment, meals, refreshments, costs or expenses for the 
same activity; 

 
F. Admission, of $100.00 or less value, to a charitable or civic event to which a Covered Individual is 
invited in his or her official capacity where any admission required of all persons attending the event is 
waived or paid for by a party other than the City; 

 
G. An award of $100.00 or less value publicly presented to a Covered Individual by an individual or a 
nongovernmental entity or organization in recognition of public service, acts of heroism, or crime solving; 

 
H. An award, gift, or other token of recognition of $100.00 or less value presented to the Covered 
Individual by representatives of a governmental body or political subdivision who are acting in their 
official capacities; 

 
I. A gift received from a Covered Individual's Immediate Family member, provided that the relative or 
immediate family member is not acting as a third party’s intermediary or an agent in an attempt to 
circumvent this Code; 

 
J. A registration fee for a seminar or other informational conference that a Covered Individual attends 
in a capacity other than as a speaker, panelist, or moderator, where such registration fee that is charged for 
the Covered Individual's attendance is waived or paid for by a party other than the City; 

 
K. Expenses or gratuities, including but not limited to admission fees, lodging, meals, or 
transportation, that are paid for the Covered Individual and are related to the Covered Individual's 
participation at a seminar, conference, speaking engagement, or presentation in his or her official 
capacity as a speaker, panelist, or moderator where such expenses are waived or paid for by a party 
other than the City, provided that, within ten (10) business days after the conclusion of the seminar, 
conference, speaking engagement, or presentation, the Covered Individual files with the Commission a 

283

Item 41.



Ordinance 323 
 

 pg. 4 of 10 

statement which contains the following information for each expense that is paid for or waived or for 
each gratuity that is provided: 

 
(1) A description of the expense or the gratuity; 
(2) The amount of the expense or the gratuity; 
(3) The date that the expense was incurred, or that the gratuity was received; 
(4) The date that the expense was paid or waived, or that the gratuity was received; and 
(5) The name and address of the party that paid or waived the expense or provided the gratuity; 

 
L. Meals or beverages of $100.00 or less value provided to a Covered Individual by an individual 
or a nongovernmental organization during a meeting related to City business; 

 
M. Anything of any value presented to or received by a Covered Individual on behalf of the City where the 
thing of value is offered to, and accepted by, the City; 

 
N. Complimentary single copies of trade publications, books, reports, pamphlets, calendars, periodicals, or 
other informational materials that are received by a Covered Individual; 

 
0.      Compensation paid to a Covered Individual for a published work that did not involve the use of the City's 
time, equipment, computers, printer/copiers, facilities, supplies, staff, or other resources and where the payment 
is arranged or paid for by the publisher of the work; or 

 
P. Receipt of a devise, bequest, or inheritance by a Covered Individual. 

 
"Relative": A person who is related to the Covered Individual as spouse, domestic partner, civil union 
partner, or as any of the following, whether by marriage, blood, or adoption: parent, child, brother, sister, 
uncle, aunt, cousin, nephew, niece, grandparent, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, 
daughter-in-law, stepfather, stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, stepsister, half-brother, half-
sister, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law. 

 
Section 3.    Standards of Conduct  

 
A. Gift Ban. 

 
Except as permitted by this Code, no Covered Individual shall intentionally solicit or accept  any 
gift, regardless of value, from any individual or Business Entity  that: (1) is seeking official action 
by a Covered Individual or by a public official or employee working  at  the  direction  of  a  
Covered Individual; (2) is currently doing business or seeking to do business with the City; or (3) 
has interests that may be affected in any way by the performance  or  nonperformance  of  the 
official duties of a Covered Individual. 

 
B. Conflicts of Interest. 

 
(1) A Covered Individual shall not intentionally take or refrain from taking any action, vote or 
decision, or induce or attempt to induce any other Covered Individual or employee to take or 
refrain from taking any action, vote or decision on any matter pending before the City that would 
result in a Private Gain or Commercial Benefit for any of the following: 

 

284

Item 41.



Ordinance 323 
 

 pg. 5 of 10 

(a) The Covered Individual; 
(b) A member of the Covered Individual's Immediate Family; 
(c) The Covered Individual's employer; 
(d) Any Business Entity in which the Covered Individual, a member of the Covered 

Individual's Immediate Family has or will have an Ownership Interest, financial, equity 
or ownership interest; or 

(e) Any Business Entity with which the Covered Individual, the Covered Individual's 
Immediate Family is negotiating for or seeking employment or any other business, 
professional relationship, private gain or Commercial Benefit. 

 
(2) A Covered Individual must inform herself/himself of any ownership interest or investment in 
any City customer, patron, franchisee, vendor, or product/service supplier that could or does 
create a conflict of interest under this Code. A Covered Individual must avoid personal interests, 
Ownership Interests and investments that influence the objectivity or independence of their 
judgment or conduct in carrying out their duties and responsibilities. Covered Individuals must 
disqualify themselves from any deliberations, decision-making, or action on behalf of the City 
regarding such transactions. 

 
(3) A Covered Individual who, either directly or through the City, deals with City vendors, 
customers, franchisees, suppliers, banks, insurance companies, investment companies, finance 
companies, or other financial institutions or service providers in the course of  performing  any 
duties on behalf of the City must not use their position as a Covered Individual to influence the 
terms on which they transact personal business with such vendors, customers,  franchisees, 
suppliers, banks, insurance companies, investment companies, financial institutions or service 
providers. 

 
(4) A Covered Individual who is aware or reasonably should be aware that he or she has a 
conflict of interest under this Code shall disclose the conflict on the public record, abstain from 
deliberating, voting or making any decision on a related matter, and refrain from making 
statements which may influence the votes of other Covered Individuals on the matter. 

 
C. Compliance with Other Standards. 

 
A Covered Individual shall comply with the letter and spirit of all applicable local, state and 
federal laws, and the standards set forth in this Code and any additional ethical standards set forth 
by organizations relevant to the particular profession(s) of a Covered Individual. In case of any 
conflict or inconsistency between this Code and any other relevant ethical standards or laws, a 
Covered Individual shall comply with the more stringent standards in order to ensure the highest 
level of integrity. 

 
D. Disclosure. 

 
Within 30 calendar days of the effective date of this Code, all Covered Individuals shall complete 
and file a written disclosure with the City Commission identifying any violations of this Code or 
direct or indirect Ownership Interest in any Business Entity or any ownership interest that the 
Covered Individual expects to have. At any time after the effective date of this Code, each 

285

Item 41.



Ordinance 323 
 

 pg. 6 of 10 

Covered Individual shall file a required written dated disclosure with the City Commission within 
thirty (30) calendar days of election, employment or appointment or within thirty (30) calendar 
days after a violation of this Code or Ownership Interest or arises. The City Manager shall serve 
copies of all such disclosures to all members of the City Commission immediately upon receipt of 
a disclosure. 

 
E. Impartiality. 

 
A Covered Individual shall treat all members of the public with professional courtesy, 
impartiality, fairness, and equality. 

 
F. Improper Use of Position. 

 
A Covered Individual shall not use or attempt to use his or her position to secure, request, or grant 
any privilege, exemption, advantage, or preferential treatment for himself or herself, an 
Immediate Family member, or any other person or business entity.  A Covered Individual shall 
not act as an agent, attorney, representative or advocate (whether compensated or not 
compensated) for another person, Immediate Family member or Business Entity in any matter 
pending before the City or any current or future business proposal of any nature. 

 
G. Incompatible Employment. 

 
A Covered Individual shall not engage in employment, or render services, for a public or 
private interest or Business Entity where such employment or service is incompatible or in 
conflict with the proper discharge or performance of the Covered Individual's duties and 
responsibilities, or where such employment or service can be reasonably expected to impair 
the Covered Individual's independence of judgment or action in the discharge of his or her 
official duties and responsibilities. 

 
H. Nepotism. 

 
A Covered Individual shall not cause the employment or any favorable employment action as to 
any member of the Covered Individual's Immediate Family or participate in any employment 
decision regarding a member of his or her Immediate Family or relative. This section shall not 
prohibit a Covered Individual from recommending or approving a comprehensive City budget for 
all employees that includes compensation or fringe benefits for an Immediate Family member. 

 
I. Political Activity. 

 
A Covered Individual shall not use any City equipment, computers, printer/copiers, facilities, 
supplies, or staff for his or her own political benefit, to seek any elective or appointive office, or 
for the political benefit of any other person seeking elective or appointive office, other than the 
use of property or facilities made available to the general public on an equal basis for fair market 
value and payment. 

 

286

Item 41.



Ordinance 323 
 

 pg. 7 of 10 

J. Confidential Information. 
 

(1) A Covered Individual shall not knowingly use Confidential Information for actual or 
anticipated political purposes, personal gain or for the actual or anticipated personal gain of 
any other person, Immediate Family or Business Entity. 

 
(2) A Covered Individual shall not knowingly disclose to any person or business entity any 
confidential information that is acquired in the course of his or her position with the City, 
including but not limited to employee personnel file or medical information or information 
provided, obtained, or discussed in a closed session of the Commission. 

 
K. Public property and personnel. 

 
Except as provided by law, a Covered Individual shall not, directly or indirectly, use, attempt 
to use, or permit another to use any City equipment, facilities, supplies, or staff for private 
gain, commercial gain or Commercial Benefit. 

 
Section 4. Media Communications and Professionalism Standards 
 

For the purposes of this Code, media includes traditional media, such as television, radio, 
newspapers and electronic or social media. Social media includes internet and mobile-based 
applications, websites and email, for sharing and discussing information, where users can 
post photos, video, comments and links to other information to create content on any topic.  
Social media includes web-based platforms, such as but not limited to Facebook, Twitter, 
blogs, You Tube, subscription sites, Instagram, SnapChat, etc. 

 
A. Media Regulations. 

 
(1) Covered Individuals are discouraged from identifying themselves as connected to the 
City of Hartford when responding to or commenting on blogs regarding personal opinions or 
views. If a Covered Individual chooses to identify him or herself with the City and makes or 
posts a media statement on a matter related to City business, the following disclaimer must 
be made: "These comments are my own and do not represent the position of the City of 
Hartford." 

 
(2) The following types of media statements or releases by a Covered Individual 

are prohibited: 
(a) Cyber-bullying, stalking or harassment. 
(b) Release of confidential or private data. ff there are questions 

about what constitutes confidential or private data, contact the 
City Manager before release. 

(c) Inappropriate use of the City's name, logo or the Covered Individual's 
position or title. 

(d) Comments that are profane, obscene, vulgar, denigrating, threatening, 

287

Item 41.



Ordinance 323 
 

 pg. 8 of 10 

insulting, bullying, or harassing or that contain or link to pornographic 
content. 

(e) Content that promotes, fosters, or constitutes harassment or discrimination 
on the basis of race, color, gender, gender identity or orientation, national 
origin, religion, ancestry, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, 
pregnancy or pregnancy-related conditions, genetic information, active 
military status, or any other status protected by state or federal law. 

(f) Sexual content or links to sexual content. 
(g) Conduct or encouragement of illegal activity. 
(h) Information that does or may tend to compromise the safety or security of the 

public, public systems or law enforcement. 
(i) Content that violates legal ownership rights of any other party (e.g. 

copyright, trademark or trade name). 
(j) Content disclosing protected health information. 
(k) Content pertaining to or disclosing confidential or privileged information or 

pending litigation involving the City. 
 
B. Professionalism Standards. 

 
All Covered Individuals must treat others with respect and in a professional and courteous manner 
at all times, whether in person or in written communications, including media communications. 
Covered Individuals shall refrain from using profanities, insults, or other disparaging remarks 
regarding others. Covered Individuals shall make truthful, factual statements and not knowingly 
misrepresent, mischaracterize, or misquote information.  False and/or defamatory statements are 
prohibited. 

 
Section 5. Validity of Decisions; Recovery of Value.  

A. A violation of this Code shall not constitute a basis for a third party challenge the validity 
of any decision of the Commission. 

 
B. The value of anything transferred or received in breach of the standards set forth in this 
Code may be recovered by and on behalf of the City. 

 
Section 6. Notification. 

 
A. The City Manager shall deliver, by regular mail or email, a copy of this Code to any newly 
elected or appointed Covered Individual prior to the time that the Covered Individual takes office. 

 
B. Any time that this Code is amended, the City Manager shall deliver, by mail or otherwise, 
a copy of the amended Code to all current Covered Individuals prior to the effective date of the 
amendment. 

 
Section 7. Hearings. 

A. Upon acquiring a report or reasonable suspicion of a violation of this Code by a Covered 
Individual the Mayor and one Commission Member or any two Commission Members may call 

288

Item 41.



Ordinance 323 
 

 pg. 9 of 10 

for a hearing to be held at a regular or special meeting of the Commission to determine, by the 
vote of a simple majority, whether or not a violation of this Code occurred, and if so, what 
sanctions shall be imposed or other actions taken for the violation. The Covered Individual 
charged with a violation of this Code shall not in any way participate in any review, 
investigation, consideration, discussion or votes concerning the alleged violation or any 
sanctions. 

 
B. Hearings under Subsection A may also be held upon the Commission's receipt of a 
detailed, signed complaint filed against a Covered Individual by a citizen or other third party. 

 
C. All individuals subject to hearing proceedings under this Code shall be afforded due 
process of law, including notice of charges, an opportunity to respond, hearing regarding the 
charges, and the right to representation of their choice before, during and after any hearings. 

 
D. When a Commissioner reasonably believes that a Covered Individual has a conflict of 
interest that has not been declared, the Commission Member may request the entire Commission 
to hold a hearing to determine whether a conflict of interest exists under the provisions of this 
Code. 

 
Section 8. Sanctions for Violations. 

 
A. The City Commission, following a hearing and finding of a violation under this Code, 
may, by a simple majority, vote to impose sanctions or take such other actions to address 
violations of this Code. Sanctions or actions may include reprimand, censure, termination of 
employment or appointment, removal from office, or change of a business relationship or 
contract with an individual or Business Entity, or such other sanctions or actions as provided by 
this Code, City Ordinance, the Commission's Bylaws or Michigan law. 

 
B. Any sanctions imposed under this Code shall not be construed to limit, diminish or 
impair the rights of the City to enforce any and all contract or other laws and bring suit or seek 
any other remedies, penalties, fines, restitution, or forfeitures available under any applicable 
Michigan law. 

 
 
 
This Ordinance shall become effective upon publication as required by law.    
 
 
Motion by Commissioner _____________supported by Commissioner_________, to adopt the resolution. 
 
Ayes:   Commissioners’  
Nays:   Commissioners’     
Absent:    
 
Ordinance declared adopted upon publication.  
 

289

Item 41.



Ordinance 323 
 

 pg. 10 of 10 

The City of Hartford 
 
 
 
_______________________________   
RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, Clerk  
 
First Reading:  March 27, 2023 
Second Reading:  April 24, 2023 
Adopted:   
Published:    

290

Item 41.



Ordinance 322 
 

 pg. 1 of 4 

CITY OF HARTFORD 
COUNTY OF VAN BUREN 
STATE OF MICHIGAN 
PROPOSED 
SECOND READING 

ORDINANCE No. 322 – 2023  
 

AN ORDINANCE TO REQUIRE LIQUOR LICENSES AND PERMITS 
 
State Law reference— Local recommendations on issuance or revocation of alcoholic liquor licenses, MCL 
436.1501. 
 
THE CITY OF HARTFORD, VAN BUREN COUNTY, MICHIGAN, HEREBY ORDAINS: 
 
Section 1. Applications; Contents; Fees. 
 

A. Whenever a person, partnership, or corporation which is in the process of obtaining a license or 
related permit to the Michigan Liquor Control Commission to sell alcoholic liquors requests approval 
from the city for the issuance of the license or permit from the state liquor control commission, the 
person, partnership, or corporation shall file a formal application for approval with the city clerk. 

 
B.  The initial application for a local liquor license or permit to be filed with the city clerk shall contain 

the following information: 
 

1. The name, age, and address of the applicant in the case of an individual; or, in the case of a 
partnership, the persons entitled to share in the profits thereof; in the case of a corporation, the 
names and addresses of the officers, directors, and shareholders. 

2. The location and description of the premises or place of business which is to be operated under 
such license. 

3. Type of license, permit, or alcoholic liquor-related approval desired, the type of establishment 
proposed, and for on-premises licenses, include the type of location and seating capacity. 

4. A statement whether applicant has made application for a similar or other license on premises 
other than described in this application, and the disposition of such application. 

5. A statement that applicant has never been convicted of a felony and is not disqualified to 
receive a license by reason of any matter or thing contained in this article or the laws of the 
state. 

6. A statement that the applicant will not violate any of the laws of the state or of the United 
States or any ordinances of the city in the conduct of its business. 

7. A plan of operation that contains an operational statement outlining the proposed manner in 
which the establishment will be operated, including, but not limited to, the format, schedule of 
the hours of operation, crowd control, security, alcohol management, use of the facilities, plan 
for interior use and layout (including the location of any bar and the number of bar seats), and 
any other pertinent information as requested by the City. 

8. The application shall be accompanied by building and plat plans showing the entire structure 
and premises and in particular the specific areas where the license is to be utilized. The plans 
shall demonstrate adequate off-street parking, lighting, refuse disposal facilities and where 
appropriate, adequate plans for screening, noise control and ADA compliance. The premises at 
which the license is to be located shall be inspected by the appropriate city official prior to the 
public hearing set forth in Section 2. The premises shall comply with all ordinances of the city. 

291

Item 42.



Ordinance 322 
 

 pg. 2 of 4 

 
C. In addition to the items outlined in Section 1B, applications for Outdoor Service must include the 

signed and dated Liquor Control Commission Form 204 Outdoor Service Permanent Permission 
Application and all required attachments. 

 
D.  Along with the application, the applicant shall pay a processing fee which shall be set by the City 

Commission by resolution from time to time. 
 
Section 2.  Public Hearing; Approval.  
 

The city clerk shall set a date for a public hearing before the City Commission at which time 
comments can be received from the general public in regard to the application or permit and at which 
time the application or its agents can be questioned by the council. The city clerk shall cause notice of 
the hearing to be published in a local newspaper in general circulation in the city at least five business 
days prior to the hearing. Approval of the application or permit shall be by a majority of the council. 

 
Section 3.    Refusal To Approval.  

 
If the City Commission refuses to approve the application or permit, the applicant shall be 
advised in writing and shall be advised as to the basis for the refusal. 
 

Section 4. Annual License and Permit Review. 
 

A. The City Commission may undertake a review of any license or permit for the purpose of 
making a recommendation to the Michigan Liquor Control Commission regarding renewal of 
said license or permit. The Commission shall consider whether a licensed establishment has 
been operated in a manner consistent with the provisions of this article and all other applicable 
laws and regulations of the City of Hartford and the State of Michigan. 
 

B. Each year, the City Manager shall cause an investigation to be made relative to each existing 
on-premises licensed establishment. The investigation shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 

1. An inspection of the premises to determine whether the licensee is in compliance with 
all applicable City and state codes.  

2. An inspection of the premises to determine whether the licensee is in compliance with 
the license itself, its approved permits and plan of operation, as well as any conditions 
imposed by the City or the Michigan Liquor Control Commission or representations 
made by the licensee at the time of issuance or transfer of the license. 

3. An inspection to determine the general condition of the premises, both interior and 
exterior. 

4. An inspection of City records to determine whether all taxes and other monies due the 
City are timely paid. An inspection of police files or other sources of information to 
determine total calls for service and whether any activity in connection with the 
licensed premise is in violation of the law, disturbs the public peace and tranquility, 
constitutes a nuisance, or contributes to the disruption of the normal activities of those 
in the neighborhood of the licensed premises. 

5. A review of the operation of the licensed establishment to determine whether the 

292

Item 42.



Ordinance 322 
 

 pg. 3 of 4 

business is being operated in compliance with any and all representations made by the 
licensee to the City or the City Commission. 

 
Section 5. Standards and Guidelines For Objection To Renewal Of Or Request For 

Revocation To State Liquor Control Commission. 
 
The City Commission may object to the annual renewal of the license or permit by the state 
liquor control commission or may request that the license be revoked upon a determination 
based on a preponderance of the evidence presented at the public hearing described hereafter, 
that any of the following exist: 

 
1. Violation of any law of the state or United States, or violation of any ordinance of the 

city. 
2. Maintaining of a nuisance upon the premises, including, but not limited to, any of the 

following: 
a) A pattern of patron conduct in the neighborhood of the licensed 

establishment which is in violation of the law and/or disturbs the peace, 
order, and tranquility of the neighborhood. 

b) Entertainment which disturbs the peace, order, and tranquility of the 
neighborhood. 

3. Making a false or fraudulent statement or answer in the application described in section 
1. 

4. Nonpayment of real property taxes and/or personal property taxes as such taxes come 
due. 

 
Section 6. Public Hearing. 

 
The public hearing referenced in section 5 shall be conducted by the City Commission as a 
whole at a regular or special meeting. The city clerk shall serve the license holder, by first 
class mail, mailed not less than ten days prior to the public hearing, which notice shall contain 
the following information: 
 

1. Notice of proposed action; 
2. Date, time, and location of the public hearing; 
3. A detailed statement as to the reasons for the proposed action citing specific standards 

and guidelines the licensee has not complied with or has otherwise violated; 
4. A statement as to the licensee's rights at the hearing, including the opportunity to 

defend against the allegations by confronting any adverse witness and by presenting 
witnesses, evidence, and arguments; 

5. A statement that the licensee has the right to be represented by an attorney. 
 
 
Section 7. Procedure At Public Hearing; Findings and Determination; Notification. 
 

A. At the public hearing the mayor shall act as the presiding official. The city representative shall 
present witnesses and evidence in support of the proposed action; the witnesses called by or on 

293

Item 42.



Ordinance 322 
 

 pg. 4 of 4 

behalf of the city may be cross examined by the licensee or the licensee's attorney. The 
licensee shall thereafter present any witnesses, evidence or argument against the proposed 
action; the city representative may thereafter cross examine the licensee's witnesses. Any 
individual councilmember may question witnesses called by either the licensee or the city. 
There shall be an opportunity for comments from the general public. 
 

B. Following the public hearing the City Commission shall make specific findings of fact and 
determinations in regard to the proposed action. 
 

C. If the City Commission passes a resolution to request that the license or permit not be renewed 
by the state liquor control commission or to have the license or permit revoked, a certified 
copy of the resolution and a certified copy of the separate statement of findings and 
determinations shall be delivered to the licensee and to the state liquor control commission. 
 

This Ordinance shall become effective upon publication as required by law.    
 
 
Motion by Commissioner _____________supported by Commissioner_________, to adopt the resolution. 
 
Ayes:   Commissioners’  
Nays:   Commissioners’     
Absent:    
 
Ordinance declared adopted:  
 
The City of Hartford 
 
 
 
_______________________________   
RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, Clerk  
 
First Reading:  March 27, 2023 
Second Reading:  April 24, 2023 
Adopted:   
Published:    

294

Item 42.



CITY OF HARTFORD 

COUNTY OF VAN BUREN 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

FIRST READING 

 
THE CITY OF HARTFORD ORDAINS: 

Amendment to Ordinance no. 134 SECTION 151.290 TRANSFER OF ZONING POWERS 

AN ORDINANCE PLANNING COMMISSION 

SECTION 151.290 TRANSFER OF ZONING POWERS. 

 The City Planning Commission is hereby designated as the Zoning Commission specified in Public Act 

207 of 1921, M.C.L.A. 125.581 through 125.590, as amended, and shall perform the duties of the Commission 

as provided in the statute in connection with the amendment of this chapter.  (Ord. 134, passed--; Am. Ord. 194, 

2000, passed 2-24-1997) 

Section 1.  Creation 

 

There shall be a City of Hartford Planning Commission pursuant to P.A. 33 of 2008, as amended, being the 

Michigan Planning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3801 et. seq., hereinafter referred to as the Commission with the 

powers and duties as therein set forth and as hereinafter provided and staffed Planning Department. This 

ordinance shall be officially known and described as the “City of Hartford Planning Commission Ordinance.”  

 

Section 2.  Membership  

 

Members shall be appointed for three-year terms. However, when first appointed a number of members shall be 

appointed to one-year, two-year, or three-year terms such that, as nearly as possible, the terms of ⅓ of all 

commission members will expire each year. If a vacancy occurs, the vacancy shall be filled for the unexpired 

term in the same manner as provided for an original appointment such that, as nearly as possible, the terms of ⅓ 

of all commission members continue to expire each year.  

 

A. The Commission shall consist of seven (7) members appointed by the City of Hartford, City Council. To be 

qualified to be a member and remain a member of the Commission, the individual shall meet the following 

qualifications:  

1. Shall be a qualified elector of the City of Hartford except two (2) non-qualified elector(s) may 

be member(s) of the Commission;  

 2. Shall not hold employment with the local unit of government, unless an ex officio member;  

 3. Shall not be a declared candidate for any political office, except this condition shall not apply 

to the City Council representative to the Commission;  

 4. After an individual’s first appointment and before reappointment shall have attended training 

for Commission members, pursuant to section 104 of this ordinance;  

 

B. Shall meet the conditions provided for each individual member in sections 102.B, 102.D, 102.E, and 102.F 

of this Ordinance, except the geographical location of the individual’s residency may be considered optional.  

 

C. The membership shall be representative of the important geographic and interest segments of the of the City 

of Hartford as follows.  

295

Item 43.



D. Members shall be appointed for three-year terms. However, when first appointed a number of members shall 

be appointed to one-year, two-year, or three-year terms such that, as nearly as possible, the terms of ⅓ of all 

commission members will expire each year. If a vacancy occurs, the vacancy shall be filled for the unexpired 

term in the same manner as provided for an original appointment such that, as nearly as possible, the terms of ⅓ 

of all commission members continue to expire each year.  

 

E. Ex officio members shall include the chief administrative official, or a person designated by him or her; the 

chief elected official; and one (1) member(s) of the City Council.  

 

F. The terms of office of ex officio members shall coincide with their elected terms of office on the legislative 

body or the term of office of the chief elected official who appointed him or her.  

 

G. The membership shall be representative of the important segments of the of community, such as the 

economic, governmental, educational, and social development of the [local unit of government], in accordance 

with the major interests as they exist in the City of Hartford, as follows:  

1. Natural Resources & Recreation;  

2. Education;  

3. Public Health;  

4. Government;  

5. Transportation;  

6. Industry & Commerce;  

7. Culture  

 

H. The membership shall also be representative of the entire geography of the City of Hartford to the extent 

practicable, and as a secondary consideration to the representation of the major interests.  

 

I. A member of the City Council, Chief Administrative Officer, person designated by the chief administrative 

officer, and chief elected official of the City of Hartford, shall not be chair of the Commission.  

 

J. Not more than ⅓ of the total membership of the Commission shall consist of, collectively, a member of the 

City Council, Chief Administrative Officer, person designated by the chief elected officer, or chief elected 

official of the City of Hartford.  

1.  Planning Department staff, and their agents and consultants.  

2.  City of Hartford Administrator.  

3.  City of Hartford Attorney  

 

Section 3.  Liaisons  

 

The Commission, in its Bylaws, may name “liaisons” to the Commission. The purpose of liaisons is to provide 

certain City of Hartford and quasi-City of Hartford officials ability to participate in discussion with the 

Commission in addition to speaking in public participation, and nothing else. At a minimum, liaisons shall 

include:  

 

Section 4.  Training  

 

Appointed members of the Commission shall attend educational programs designed for training members of 

Michigan planning commissions if the adopted City of Hartford budget for that fiscal year includes funds to pay 

for tuition, registration, and travel expenses for the training. Nothing in this paragraph shall deem a member 

who has not had training from finishing his term of office unless the member resigns or is removed by action of 

the City Council. The member shall be ineligible for reappointment at the conclusion of the term of office if 
296

Item 43.



they did not attend training. The Commission shall include in its Bylaws what training programs qualify to meet 

this requirement.  

 

Section 5.  Members, Appointment and Terms  

 

A. In October of each year the City of Hartford City Clerk shall determine which members’ terms of office 

expire, shall determine what organizations qualify to nominate members and shall contact, by first class mail, 

those organizations to solicit nominations.  

 

B. In November of each year if the City Clerk has not received at least two nominations for each office, then the 

Clerk shall discard those applications and shall place an advertisement(s) in a newspaper with paid circulation 

City of Hartford to seek different applications.  

 

C. In December of each year the City Council shall consider the applications and nominations received, and 

appoint members to the Commission by a majority vote for a three-year term of office which shall end 

December 30, at 9:00 a.m. of the respective year.  

 

Section 6.  Removal from Office:  

 

A. The City Council may remove a member of the Commission for misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance 

in office upon written charges and after a public hearing. Failure to disclose a potential conflict of interest shall 

be considered malfeasance in office. Failure to repeatedly attend Commission meetings shall be considered 

nonfeasance in office.  

 

B. The secretary of the Planning Commission shall report any member who has missed three regular meetings 

in a row to the City Council.  

 

Section 7.  Membership; Vacancies  

 

The City Council shall fill any vacancy in the membership of the Commission for the unexpired terms in the 

same manner as the initial appointment.  

 

Section 8.  Membership Transition  

 

A. The transition from the previous City of Hartford Planning Commission and the Commission established in 

this ordinance shall be gradual and shall take place over the next three years. The City Council shall continue to 

make annual appointments, appointing approximately ⅓ of the membership of the Commission as specified in 

this Ordinance, so that three years from the effective date of this ordinance the membership, membership 

representation, and number of members have completed the transition to fully comply with this Ordinance.  

 

B. All other aspects of this ordinance shall have immediate effect.  

 

Section 9.  Membership; Compensation 

 

All members of the Planning Commission shall serve as such with compensation equal to, or less than, the per 

diem as set by the City Council from time to time per meeting.  

 

Section 10.  Meetings  

 

297

Item 43.



A. The Commission shall meet at least once every month and a majority of the Commission shall constitute a 

quorum for the transaction of the ordinary business of said Commission and all questions which shall arise at 

their meetings shall be determined by a vote of the majority of the members of the Planning Commission.  

 

B. The affirmative vote of ⅔ of the total number of seats for members of the Commission, regardless if 

vacancies or absences exist or not, shall be necessary for the adoption, or recommendation for adoption, of any 

plan or amendment to a plan.  

 

Section 11.  Powers and Duties  

 

The Commission shall have their powers and duties as set forth in P.A. 33 of 2008, as amended, being the 

Michigan Planning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3801 et seq.; and P.A. 110 of the Public Acts of 2006, as 

amended, being the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, (M.C.L. 125.3101 et seq.).  

 

Section 12.  Meetings; Records  

 

The Commission shall adopt Bylaws for the transaction of business and shall keep a record of its resolutions, 

transactions, findings, and determinations, which records shall be a public record.  

 

Section 13.  Approval, Ratification, and Reconfirmation 

 

All official actions taken by all City of Hartford Planning Commissions preceding the Commission created by 

this ordinance are hereby approved, ratified and reconfirmed. Any project, review, or process taking place at the 

effective date of this Ordinance shall continue with the Commission created by this ordinance, subject to the 

requirements of this Ordinance, and shall be deemed a continuation of any previous City of Hartford Planning 

Commission.  

 

Ordinance amendment declared adopted upon publication. 

 

The City of Hartford 

 

_______________________________   

RoxAnn Rodney-Isbrecht, Clerk  

 

First Reading:  April 24, 2023 

Second Reading:     

Adopted:     

Published:   

 

298

Item 43.


	Top
	Item 1.	I & M - Notice of Hearing April 27, 2023
	2023aprilnoticeofhearing

	Item 2.	I & M Notice of Hearing May 10, 2023 @ 9:30am
	I_M_noticeofhearing2023may10

	Item 3.	Michigan State Police - News Release HazMat Teams
	MIStatePoliceNotice_HazMatTeams

	Item 4.	Van Buren County Road Commission - News Release Work Zone Safety
	2023-06 - Work Zone Safety

	Item 5.	Area Agency on Aging Event May 24, 10am
	areaagencyonagingcommunication

	Item 6.	Hartford Council For Recreation Meeting Minutes - 2023 March
	HCR March 2023 Meeting Minutes

	Item 7.	HPD 2023 March
	HPD2023March

	Item 8.	HFD - Board
	2023april_fireboard

	Item 9.	HFD - 2023March - Chief
	Incident Type Count per Zone
	Priority Calls Lift Assist
	Response Percentage Personnel
	Incidents per Hour for Incident Type
	Breakdown by Major Incident Types
	Incidents by Day of the Week

	Item 10.	AMB - 2023March
	hartford city 03-23

	Item 11.	VBC - December 2022 Winter Storm Report
	2022decemberwinterstormreport

	Item 12.	DPW - 2023 March
	DPW2023march (2)

	Item 13.	WWTP - 2023April
	Hartford WWTP Activities Report.04052023

	Item 14.	List of Bills - 2023 April 24
	ListofBills2023april24

	Item 15.	CM - 2023 April 14 - Weekly Update
	City Manager Weekly Update 041423
	Strawberry Festival Map 2023
	Red Med Box Locations VBC

	Item 16.	PZ - 2023April10
	2023april10pz

	Item 17.	2023 March 27 Business Meeting
	2023march27meetingmin

	Item 18.	2023 April 4 Special Meeting
	2023april4minmin

	Item 19.	2023 April 5 Special Joint Meeting
	2023april5meetingmin

	Item 20.	2023 April 11 Special Business Meeting
	2023april11meetingmin

	Item 21.	SWOT Analysis - Strengths
	Xerox Scan_04202023090559

	Item 22.	Streetscape - USDA RDBG - Request to Amend
	Memo- Council re- USDA Downtown Streetscape Grant 042423
	Request to Amend- USDA RDBG
	Planter Benches

	Item 23.	Employee Handbook - Update
	Memo- Council re Personnel Manual Updates PD Union
	City of Hartford Personnel Manual Approved 032723

	Item 24.	Application for Special Use Engagement at 301 Bowie Street
	Memo- Council re- Cannabis Event July 21-23 Lic Holder
	Xerox Scan_04172023162145

	Item 25.	Request for Proposals - Recreational Marihuana Licenses
	RFP for Recreational Marihuana Licenses

	Item 26.	Procurement Policy
	Memo- Council re- Procurement Policy
	procurementpolicyapproved2021august
	proposedProcurementPolicy2023march

	Item 30.	Ely Park Request Special Event - Picnic in the Park with Police & Fire June 2, 2023
	Xerox Scan_04182023151222

	Item 31.	Consider - Med Leaf Commercial adult Use Recreational Marihuana Facility Provisioning/Retail Center Renewal Application
	Xerox Scan_04182023152721

	Item 32.	2023/2024 Preliminary Budget - Discussion
	2023_2024ProposedBudget

	Item 33.	Planning Commission Compliance
	Memo- Council re- MPEA MZEA
	MZEA- mcl-Act-110-of-2006
	MPEA- mcl-Act-33-of-2008

	Item 35.	2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 94 Soil, Waste & Fill Material Section 94.05 Permit Fee
	Amendment to Ordinance 94 Proposed 2023april242023MARCH27_RRI

	Item 36.	2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 150 Buildings & Building Regulations Section 150.52 Fees
	Amendment to Ordinance 150 BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS Proposed 2023april242023march27_rri

	Item 37.	2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Chapter 52 Sewer Use Ordinance
	Amendment to Sewer Use Ordinance Proposed 2023april242023march27_rri - for merge

	Item 38.	2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Code of Ordinances Anti Blight Ordinance 304-07
	Code of Ordinances- Anti-Blight Proposed Update2023april242023MARCH27_RRI

	Item 39.	2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Code of Ordinances Section 52 Sewers Section 52.08 Rates & Charges
	Amendment CHAPTER 52 Proposed2ndreading2023april24 2023march27_rri

	Item 40.	2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Amendment to Ordinance no. 314-17 Permit & Regulate Mobile Food Vehicle Vendors
	Amendment to Ordinance 314_17mobilefoodvendors2023april24

	Item 41.	2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Proposed Ordinance No. 323-2023 To Establish A Code of Conduct & Ethics
	ordinance323_2023CodeofConductandEthics2ndreading2023april24

	Item 42.	2nd Reading & Consider Adoption - Proposed Ordinance No. 322-2023 To Require Liquor Licenses & Permits
	ordinance322_2023LiquorLicensepermit2ndreading2023april24

	Item 43.	1st Reading - Proposed Amendment Chapter 151.290 Planning Commission Transfer of Zoning Power
	AmendmenttoOrdinance134section150_290_planningcommission

	Bottom

